THE MYSORE JOURNAL OF AGRICULTURAL SCIENCES

Vol 51(A)

Special Issue

December 2017

ISSN-0047-8539





UNIVERSITY OF AGRICULTURAL SCIENCES BENGALURU, INDIA

THE MYSORE JOURNAL OF AGRICULTURAL SCIENCES

EDITORIAL COMMITTEE

Chairman

Dr. H. Shivanna

Vice-Chancellor

Members

Dr. M. S. Nataraju, Director of Extension, UAS, Bengaluru

Dr. Y. G. Shadakshari, Director of Research, UAS, Bengaluru

Dr. Shailaja Hittalamani, Dean (PGS), UAS, Bengaluru

Dr. T. Shivashankar, Dean (Agri.), College of Agriculture, GKVK, Bengaluru

Dr. B. N. Manjunatha, Editor, Communication Centre - Convenor

Editor : Dr. B. N. Manjunatha

Frequency of Publications : Quality

Special Issue

MJAS 50 (A) 2016 : 1-218

SUBSCRIPTION RATES

			Foreign					
Membership		L	IS	L	IK			
		SM *	AM **	SM *	AM **			
Annual Membership								
Individual	400.00	60.00	80.00	30.00	40.00			
Institution	500.00							
Life Membership								
Individual	3000.00							
Institution	5000.00							
Single copy	100.00							

* SM - Surface Mail

** AM - Air Mail

- Note: 1. All correspondence should be addressed to the Editor, Communication Centre, UAS, GKVK, Bengaluru 560-065, India. E-mail: editor@uasbangalore.edu.in
 - 2. Subscription Amount should be sent to the Editor through Demand Draft drawn in favour of the Editor, Communication Centre, UAS, GKVK, Bengaluru 560 065.
 - 3. All the authors should be subscribers to the Journal and Processing fee of Rs. 100.00 sould be paid per article for publishing the articles in the Jorunal.
 - 4. Authors should submit the article through proper channel along with the duly signed declaration stating that the article has neither been published nor sent for publication in anyother Journal.

Edited and Published by Dr. T. N. Anand

Communication Centre, University of Agricultural Sciences, Bengaluru - 560 065, India Availbable at UAS Website : www.uasbangalore.edu.in

Proceedings

The VII International Workshop on Management of the Diamondback Moth and other Crucifer Insect Pests

23-27 March 2015 University of Agricultural Sciences Bengaluru, India

Issue Editors:

Srinivasan, R., Zalucki, M.P., Shelton, A.M., Kumar, A.R.V., Chandrashekara, K.

Organisers





University of Agricultural Sciences Bengaluru, India



Cornell University New York, USA

Please cite this publication as :

Srinivasan, R., Zalucki, M.P., Shelton, A.M., Kumar, A.R.V., Chandrashekara, K., (eds.), 2017. Proceedings of the Seventh International Workshop on Management of the Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Insect Pests, 23-27 March 2015, Mysore Journal of Agricultural Sciences, 51 (A). p.1-218.

Foreword

The diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* (L.) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) is an insect herbivore of plants in the Brassicaceae. The diamondback moth (DBM) is a consummate survivor in Darwinian terms and its ability to rapidly multiply under ideal conditions virtually makes it pre-adapted to exploit the increased resource availability in cropping systems. Not surprisingly, DBM is the single most important pest of several crops like cabbage (*Brassica oleracea* L. var. *capitata*), cauliflower (*B. oleracea* var. *botrytis*), broccoli (*B. oleracea* var. *italica*), kale (*B. oleracea* var. *alboglabra*), mustard (*Brassica juncea* (L.) Czern. and *Sinapis alba* L.) and canola (*Brassica napus* L. and *Brassica rapa* L.). DBM along with other pests has kept a legion of entomologists busy for over fifty years and continues to inflict heavy economic loss on crucifer based vegetable and oil cropping systems estimated at about four to five billion USD.

Current approaches to manage DBM and other insect pests of crucifers, worldwide, rely heavily on chemical pesticides in combination with cultural and biological methods. However, DBM has rapidly evolved resistance to insecticides and even *Bacillus thuringiensis* (Bt) toxin leading to an intensification of pesticide use in crucifers. The increased cost of production of crucifers coupled with unstable market prices has plunged cultivation of crucifers into a serious crisis. As a short-term measure, avocation and promotion of integrated approaches for managing DBM and other crucifer pests has been reasonably successful. In the long run however, the success of developing effective management strategies against DBM critically hinges on addressing the following important challenges: mechanism of insecticide resistance in DBM and its management; improving the efficacy of biological control; using genomics to identify targets for chemical control and host-plant resistance; meta-population dynamics, migration and dispersal, and genetic manipulation of DBM.

The progress achieved in addressing these challenges was discussed at the 7th International Workshop on Management of the Diamondback Moth and other Crucifer Insect Pests held from 23 to 27 March, 2015 by the University of Agricultural Sciences, Bengaluru in association with World Vegetable Center, Taiwan, Republic of China and Cornell University, New York, USA. The workshop was attended by entomologists and plant protection experts from across the world and comprised a total of 68 papers including lead talks and poster presentations. The workshop on DBM and other crucifer pests was divided into seven sections: (i), Global challenges, (ii) Biology, ecology and behavior of pests, (iii) host plant resistance and chemical ecology, (iv) insecticides and insecticide resistance, (v) biological control, (vi) biotechnological tools and other novel approaches and innovations and (vii) IPM at the farm level. The proceedings of the workshop have been brought out as a special issue of the Mysore Journal of Agricultural Sciences with full papers highlighting the major advances made in the management of DBM and other crucifer insect pests. The editors are thankful to all the authors for submitting the full version of their papers for compilation of the proceedings.

This volume would not have been possible but for the unstinted support from University of Agricultural Sciences, Bengaluru, AVRDC- World Vegetable Center, Taiwan, Cornell University, Ithaca, New York and our sponsors who facilitated the workshop.

CONTENTS

Sl. No.	Particulars	Page No.
Introdu	action	
1	Quo Vadis: Diamondback Moth Management- The Next Installment - Srinivasan, R., Zalucki, M.P. and Shelton, A. M.	1
Session	1 : Diamondback moth and other crucifer pests : Global Challenges	
2	THE TALEKAR CHALLENGE: WHAT HAVE WE LEARNED AND WHERE ARE WE GOING WITH PRACTICAL DBM RESEARCH AND EXTENSION SINCE 1985? - Shelton, A. M.	5
3	Modelling the Population Dynamics & Management of Diamondback Moth: the Role of Climate, Natural Enemies & Cropping Patterns - Zalucki, M.P., Li, Z.Y., Yonow, T., Kriticos, D., Furlong, M.J. and Feng, X.	9
4	GENOME-WIDE SNP DISCOVERY IN FIELD AND LABORATORY COLONIES OF AUSTRALIAN PLUTELLA SPECIES - Perry, K.D., Pederson, S.M. and Baxter, S.W.	18
Session	2: Biology, ecology and behavior of diamondback moth and other crucifer pests	
5	Comparison of Biological and Chemical Control Methods in Suppressing <i>Plutella xylostella</i> (L.) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) On Cabbage in South Africa - <i>Bopape, M.J., Nofemela, R.S., Mosiane, M.S. and Modise, D.M.</i>	33
6	EFFECT OF HOST AND TEMPERATURE ON REPRODUCTION OF <i>Diadegma semiclausum</i> Hellen - <i>Chen, F.S.H., Wang, Y., Zhang, H.M., Yang, Y.X. and Chen, Z.Q.</i>	43
7	Longevity and Release Rate of Sex Pheromone Component in Field Exposed Diamondback Moth Lures Across Different Seasons in Cabbage - Topagi, S.C., Bhanu, K. R. M. and Ashok Kumar, C. T.	47
8	ECOLOGICAL AND FORAGING ASPECTS OF THE CABBAGE WEBWORM, Hellula undalis Fabricius - Sivapragasam, A.	53
Session diamon	3 : Insect plant interactions, host plant resistance and chemical ecology of adback moth and other crucifer pests	
9	POTENTIAL OF <i>BARBAREA</i> AS A TRAP CROP FOR THE DIAMONDBACK MOTH: DEVELOPMENTAL CHANGES IN GLUCOSINOLATE AND SAPONIN CONTENT IN RELATION TO INSECT BEHAVIOUR AND PERFORMANCE - <i>Badenes-Pérez, F.R., Reichelt, M., Parrado Márquez, B., Gershenzon, J. and Heckel, D.</i>	59 9. <i>G</i> .
10	 ATTRACTION OF NAIVE <i>DIADEGMA SEMICLAUSUM</i> HELLEN (HYMENOPTERA:ICHNEUMONIDAE) FEMALES AND <i>COTESIA VESTALIS</i> (HALIDAY) (HYMENOPTERA: BRACONIDAE) TO CABBAGE (<i>BRASSICA OLERACEA</i>) PLANT VOLATILE ORGANIC COMPOUNDS USING THE OLFACTOMETER AND SCREEN-CAGE METHODS <i>Ismail, A., Mansour, S., Mohamed Roff, M.N., Nadia M. Kermani,</i> <i>Mohd Hanaifh Yahaya and Idris, A.B.</i> 	63

Session	4 : Insecticides and insecticide resistance in diamondback moth and other crucifer pests	
11	MUTATIONS IN Ace1 ASSOCIATED WITH AN ORGANOPHOSPHATE INSECTICIDE RESISTANT POPULATION OF PLUTELLA XYLOSTELLA Kim Luil Los Yoo Boo Kuyon Min Kim Cil Lloh and Los Si Llugoch	69
12	 Kim Juli, Job Too Kee, Kwon Min, Kim Gil-Han and Lee St Hyeock Effectiveness of New Anthranilic Diamide Insecticide Cyantraniliprole 10% OD Against Diamondback Moth and Sucking Insect Pests of Cruciferous Vegetables Kodandaram, M. H., Rai, A.B. and Jaydeep Haldhar 	77
13	Synergistic Effects of Oils With Flubendamide and Indoxacarb Against Diamondback Moth, <i>Plutella xylostella</i> (L.) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) on Cabbage - Onkaranaik, S., Sridhar, V., Jayashankar, M. and Chakravarthy, A.K.	83
14	CHANGING TRENDS IN RESISTANCE OF <i>PLUTELLA XYLOSTELLA</i> FIELD POPULATION TO CHLORANTRANILIPROLE IN YUNNAN PROVINCE, P. R. CHINA - Yin, Y.Q., Zhao, X.Q., Chen, A.D., Li, X.Y., Wu, Q.J. and Zhang, Y.J.	88
15	Synergistic Effect of Neem and Pongamia oils on the Bioefficacy of Deltamethrin Against Diamondback Moth, <i>Plutella xylostella</i> (L.) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) on Cabbage - Sridhar V. and Chakravarthy, A.K.	94
16	Assessment of Resistance Development in Field Populations of Diamondback Moth, <i>Plutella xylostella</i> (L.) from Andhra Pradesh to Insecticides and Cry2Ab Toxin - <i>Sunitha, V., Singh, T.V.K. and Satyanarayana, J.</i>	99
17	MUTATION AND DOWN-REGULATION OF <i>NACHR BETA1</i> SUBUNIT IS ASSOCIATED WITH IMIDACLOPRID RESISTANCE IN THE APHIS GOSSYPII - Kim Juil, Cha Deok Jea, Kwon Min, Kim Gil-Hah, Lee Si Hyeock	108
Session other c	5 : Biology and non-chemical methods of management of diamondback moth and rucifer pests	
18	BIOLOGICAL CONTROL OF DIAMONDBACK MOTH IN A CLIMATE OF CHANGE - M.J. Furlong, M.P. Zalucki, A. Shabbir and D.C. Adamson	115
19	FIELD VALIDATION OF INTEGRATED PEST MANAGEMENT PACKAGE AGAINST LEAF EATING CATERPILLARS OF CABBAGE IN BANGLADESH - S.N. Alam, D. Sarker, R. Srinivasan, M.A. Monim and G.M.M. Bari	125
20	EFFECT OF CABBAGE PLANT AGE ON PARASITISM OF PLUTELLA XYLOSTELLA (L.) BY COTESIA VESTALIS (HALIDAY): IMPLICATIONS FOR IPM - S. Amalina, Y. Mohd Hanifah, M.N. Mohamad Roff and A.B. Idris	128
21	INSECTICIDAL ACTIVITY OF TWELVE COMMON AMAZON ECUADORIAN PLANTS AGAINST <i>PLUTELLA XYLOSTELLA</i> (LEPIDOPTERA: PLUTELLIDAE): LABORATORY RESULTS - Cerda, H., Ledezma-Carrizalez, A.C., Andino, M., Chiurato, M.A. and Carpio, C.	132
22	INUNDATIVE RELEASE OF EGG AND LARVAL PARASITOIDS AS A COMPONENT OF IPM OF LEAF EATING CATERPILLARS OF CABBAGE - <i>M.F. Khatun, S.N. Alam, N.K. Dutta and D. Sarker</i>	136
23	EFFECT OF NOSEMA BOMBYCIS ON THE PREFERENCE AND PERFORMANCE OF Plutella xylostella (L.) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) - M.K. Nadia and A.B. Idris	140
24	MANAGEMENT OF DIAMONDBACK MOTH, <i>Plutella Xylostella</i> L. Through Biorationals in Cabbage - <i>R.H. Patil, H.M. Shaila and J.S. Awaknavar</i>	148

Session 6 : Biotechnological tools and novel approaches to manage diamondback moth and other crucifer pests

25	TOXICITY AND SUBLETHAL EFFECTS OF <i>BACILLUS THURINGIENSIS</i> B. δ-ENDOTOXIN CRY1AB ON THE BIOLOGICAL PARAMETERS OF DIAMOND BACK MOTH, <i>PLUTELLA XYLOSTELLA</i> L. - <i>M. Kannan, S. Lokesh, J.N. Prithiva and M. Mohan</i>	153
26	 PROGRESS IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF TRANSGENIC CABBAGE, CAULIFLOWER AND CANOLA EXPRESSING STACKED BTS FOR CATERPILLAR CONTROL AND RNAI FOR APHID SUPPRESSION D.A. Russell, D. Huang, P. Bhalla, M. Singh, C. Robin, J. Golz, A. Williams, R. Good, O. Edwards, B. Carroll, R.K. Bhatnagar, R.C. Bhattacharya, P. Kalia, G.T. Gujar and V. Kalia 	159
27	Evaluation of Insecticidal Activity of Insecticidal Crystal Related Protein (ICRP) Toxin from <i>Photorhabdus luminescens</i> for the Control of Diamondback Moth - <i>M. Kshirsagar, S. Madankar, K. Babar, S. Parimi and L. Alamalakala</i>	168
28	<i>OFFTargetFinder</i> – A Webtool for RNAi Target Design for <i>Brassica</i> Aphids and Other Pests - <i>R.T. Good, T. Varghese, O. Edwards, C. Robin and D.A. Russell</i>	173
29	Selection and Inheritance of Cry1Ac Resistance in Diamondback Moth - S.R. Sandhya, S.N. Mandlik, D.K. Shirale, M.G. Patil and S. Parimi	177
Session diamor	n 7 : At the farm level ; Barriers to and innovations for management of adback moth and other crucifer pests	
30	LANDSCAPE-LEVEL IPM FOR BRASSICA PESTS: PATTERNS, PROBLEMS AND PROSPECTS - N.A. Schellhorn	181
31	Towards Developing an Integrated Pest Management Strategy for Cabbage Production Systems in Lowlands of Taiwan, Republic of China - <i>R. Srinivasan, M-Y. Lin, F-C. Su and C-C. Huang</i>	185
32	REVIEW AND STATUS OF FAO-ASSISTED DBM BIOLOGICAL CONTROL PROGRAMS IN THE ASIA REGION - J.W. Ketelaar, A.L.M. Abubakar, A. Upanisakorn and T.T.N. Le	198
33	Towards Developing an Integrated Pest Management Strategy for Striped Flea Beetle on Radish - R. Srinivasan, Y-C. Hsu, M-Y. Lin, F-C. Su and C-C. Huang	202
34	PLANTWISE - A CENTER FOR AGRICULTURE AND BIOSCIENCE INTERNATIONAL (CABI)–LED EXTENSION PROGRAM FOR FARMERS - A. Sivapragasam and W. H. Loke	212



Quo vadis: Diamondback Moth Management- the Next Installment

SRINIVASAN, R., ZALUCKI, M.P.¹, SHELTON, A. M.²

Entomology Unit, World Vegetable Center, Shanhua, Tainan, Taiwan, Republic of China ¹School of Biological Sciences, The University of Queensland, Brisbane, Australia, 4072 ²Department Of Entomology, Cornell University / NYSAES 630 W. North St., Geneva, NY 14456 USA

ABSTRACT

Plutella xylostella (L.) (Lepidoptera : Plutellidae), the diamondback moth (DBM) is the most widely distributed insect pest of crucifers (Talekar and Shelton 1993; Zalucki and Furlong 2011). The pest status of DBM seems to have increased since the 1960s, when large-scale application of chemical insecticides began on vegetable crucifers (Talekar and Shelton 1993) and now costs the world economy USD \$ 4-5 billion annually (Zalucki *et al.* 2012). Because of its pest status, there have been six international workshops devoted to the biology, ecology, and management of this pest (Talekar and Griggs 1985; Talekar1992; Sivapragasam *et al.* 1997; Endersby and Ridland 2004; Shelton 2008; Srinivasan *et al.* 2011). These proceedings represent papers presented at the seventh workshop, held in Bengaluru, India from 23-26 March, 2015.

OVER the years the "DBM and other Crucifer Pests" workshops have changed. Here we summarize the changes in research and extension areas over the years and then ask: how is it that with all this time and effort DBM remains one of the key pests of Brassicas?

The focus of papers (first 6 proceedings) and presentations (in Bengaluru) has changed dramatically, although some things remain the same (Figure 1). In all of the workshops there has always been an emphasis on insecticides and insecticide resistance management (Figure 1a) (e.g., Juil et al. 2017a & b; Kodandaram et al. 2017; Onkarnaik et al. 2017; Sridhar et al. 2017; Yin et al. 2017; this proceedings), with various emphases on "alternatives" to insecticides (excluding biological control). The alternatives have at various times included pheromones (e.g., Topagi et al. 2017; this proceedings), botanical products (e.g., Cerda et al. 2017; this proceedings) and more recently genetic techniques (e.g., Good et al. 2017; Perry et al. 2017; Russell et al. 2017; this proceedings). Basic biology/ ecology accounted for a large proportion of papers in early workshops and biological control (the 4 P's: Parasites, Pathogens, Predators and Parasitoids) have always been focal areas (Figure 1b), and this workshop is no exception (e.g., Amalina et al. 2017; Furlong et al. 2017; Ismail et al. 2017; Khatun et al. 2017; Nadia et al. 2017; this proceedings). But emphasis on biological control over the years has waxed and waned, in partperhaps because of the failure of insecticides and availability of "new" chemistries (Figure 1). IPM has been a central theme over all workshops although the percentage of presentations devoted to it has varied by workshop (Figure 1b). This variation in classifying the "broad theme of IPM" may be misleading since it probably reflects the variation in components of IPM: host plant resistance (see Srinivasan et al. 2017a; this proceedings); IPM tactics, decision tools and implementation (see Alam et al. 2017; Ketelaar et al. 2017; Patil et al. 2017; Srinivasan et al. 2017b; this proceedings). IPM should remain a central theme in future workshops, however, the success of IPM has been mixed judging by the evolution of insecticide resistance to many active ingredients (Li et al. 2012). The type of research under basic biology and ecology has changed from descriptive studies in the early years to more focused experimental and fundamental studies (see Sivapragasam 2017; Zalucki et al. 2017; this proceedings).

It has long been recognized that diamondback moth pest problems are exacerbated due to poor insecticide application and mismanagement (Talekar and Shelton 1993; Furlong *et al.* 2013; Li *et al.* 2016b), the disruption of biological control agents by the application of broad-spectrum insecticides (Furlong *et al.* 2004a & b), planting practices (year round production and poor post harvest hygiene) and the effects of climate (Li *et al.* 2016a; Zalucki *et al.* 2017; this proceedings).



FIGURE 1

The percent of papers from previous DBM conference proceedings (1-6, see text for details) and presented at Bangaluru (7, see these proceedings) that address Insecticide application, resistance and management (I & IRM), soft alternatives to insecticides (BT, botanicals, pheromones, genetic methods) (A). Basic Biology and Ecology (BBE), biological control and the four agents (Parasites, pathogens, parasites and predators) (BC-PPPP) and IPM including host plant resistance, IPM tactics, decision support and implementation (B)

The difficult question that has to be posed is how is it that despite all that has been done to address the problem, the DBM problem persists and has even increased in some areas. How is it that with all the lessons supposedly learned, the research and IPM extension and implementation through farmer field schools and similar efforts that DBM persists as a major pest? Have researchers failed to address some of the key issues or is it a failure of implementation? Despite the need for IPM, knowledge about its needed components is often missing or only rudimentary. For example, few researchers are able to accurately partition mortality parameters under field conditions and estimate the natural enemy and predation component (Furlong and Zalucki 2010; Zalucki *et al.* 2015). Without such knowledge, it is easy to see why farmers may reach for an insecticide as the first tactic.

For such a major pest, surprisingly little research has been conducted on long-term dynamics and forecasting of populations (but see Zalucki and Furlong 2008, 2011; Li *et al.* 2016a). One of the great difculties in the management of this pest has been the occurrence of outbreaks, many due to insecticide resistance, that greatly strain management (Li *et al.* 2012). Would timely forecasts actually make a difference to management? Are these possible?

As preparations for the next workshop begin, the organizers might consider what are key failures in existing management programs and what can be done to address them. Can a list of recommendations be formulated for the different areas in which DBM occurs? Can these recommendations be implemented at the grower level?

DBM has proven to be a fascinating insect worthy of the seven workshops because of its complex physiology, behavior, ecology and management, and there will be no shortage of new presentations for future workshops. But wouldn't it be satisfying if many presentations in the next workshop could be classified into the category "Successful IPM Programs?"

REFERENCES

- ENDERSBY, N. M. AND RIDLAND, P. M., (eds.). 2004. The management of diamondback moth and other crucifer pests. The Regional Institute, Gosford, Australia.
- FURLONG, M. J., SHI, Z-H., LIU, Y-Q., GUO, S-J., LU, Y-B., LIU, S-S. AND ZALUCKI, M. P., 2004a, Experimental analysis of the influence of pest management practice on the efficacy of an endemic arthropod natural enemy complex of the diamondback moth. *J. Econ. Entomol.*, **97**: 1814-1827.
- FURLONG, M. J., SHI, Z-H., LIU, S-S. AND ZALUCKI, M. P., 2004b, Evaluation of the impact of natural enemies on *Plutella xylostella* L. (Lepidoptera: Yponomeutidae) populations on commercial *Brassica* farms. *Agric. For. Entomol.*, **6**: 311-322.
- FURLONG, M. J., WRIGHT, D. J. AND DOSDALL, L. M., 2013, Diamondback moth ecology and management: problems, progress, and prospects, *Annu. Rev. Entomol.*, 58: 517–541.
- FURLONG, M. J. AND ZALUCKI, M. P., 2010, Exploiting predators for pest management: the need for sound ecological assessment. *Entomol. Exp. Appl.*, **135**: 225-236.
- LI, Z-Y., ZALUCKI, M. P., BAO, H-A., CHEN, H-Y., HU, Z-D., ZHANG, D-Y., LIN, Q-S., YIN, F., WANG, M. AND FENG, X., 2012, Population dynamics and 'outbreaks' of Diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella*, in Guangdong province, China: climate or the failure of management? J. Econ. Entomol., **105**: 739–752.
- LI, Z-Y., ZALUCKI, M. P., YONOW, T., KRITICOS, D. J., BAO, H-L., CHEN, H-Y., HU, Z-D., FENG, X. AND FURLONG, M. J., 2016a, Population dynamics and management of diamondback moth (*Plutella xylostella*) in China: the relative contributions of climate, natural enemies and cropping patterns. *Bull. Entomol. Res.*, **106**: 197-214.
- LI, Z., FENG, X., LIU, S-S., YOU, M. AND FURLONG, M. J., 2016b, Biology, ecology, and management of the

diamondback moth in China. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.*, **61**: 277–296.

- SHELTON, A. M., COLLINS, H. L., ZHANG, Y-J. AND U Q-J (Eds.). 2008. The management of the diamondback moth and other crucifer insect pests: Proceedings of the Fifth International Workshop. China Agricultural Science and Technology Press, Beijing, China.
- SIVAPRAGASAM, A., LOKE, W. H., HUSSAN, A. K. AND LIM, G. S., (Eds.). 1997, The management of diamondback moth and other crucifer pests. Malaysian Agricultural Research and Development Institute, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia.
- SRINIVASAN, R., SHELTON, A. M. AND COLLINS, H. L., (Eds.), 2011, Management of the diamondback moth and other crucifer insect pests: Proceedings of the Sixth International Workshop. AVRDC, The World Vegetable Center, Shanhua, Taiwan.
- TALEKAR, N. S., (Ed.). 1992, The management of diamondback moth and other crucifer pests.Proceedings of the Second International Workshop, 10-15 December 1990, Tainan, Taiwan.
- TALEKAR, N. S. AND GRIGGS, T. D., (Eds.). 1985, Diamondback moth and other crucifer pests: Proceedings of the First International Workshop. AVRDC - The World Vegetable Center, Shanhua, Taiwan.
- TALEKAR, N. S. AND SHELTON, A. M., 1993, Biology, ecology, and management of the diamondback moth. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.*, **38**: 275-301.
- ZALUCKI, M. P. AND FURLONG, M. J., 2011, Predicting outbreaks of a migratory pest: an analysis of DBM distribution and abundance revisited, pp. 8-14. In: SRINIVASAN, R., SHELTON, A. M. AND COLLINS, H. L., (Eds.) 2011. Proceedings of the Sixth International Workshop on Management of the Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Insect Pests, 2125 March 2011, Kasetsart University, Nakhon Pathom, Thailand. AVRDC The World Vegetable Center, Publication No. 11755. AVRDC The World Vegetable Center, Taiwan., pp. 321.
- ZALUCKI, M. P., SHABBIR, A., SILVA, R., ADAMSON, D., LIU, S-S. AND FURLONG, M. J., 2012, Estimating the economic cost of one of the world's major insect pests, *Plutella xylostella*: just how long is a piece of string? *J. Econ. Entomol.* **105**: 1115-1129.
- ZALUCKI, M. P., FURLONG, M. J., SCHELLHORN, N. A., MACFADYEN, S. AND DAVIES, A. P., 2015, Assessing the impact of natural enemies in agroecosystems: towards "real" IPM or in quest of the Holy Grail? *Insect Sci.*, 22: 1-5.

Session 1

Diamondback moth and other crucifer pests : Global Challenges

The Talekar Challenge: What Have We Learned and Where are We Going with Practical DBM Research and Extension Since 1985?

SHELTON, A. M.

Department of Entomology, Cornell University/NYSAES, 630 W. North St., Geneva, NY 14456 USA E-mail: ams5@cornell.edu

Abstract

Dr. N.S. Talekar, an entomologist from AVRDC, was the workshop coordinator and editor of the proceedings for the first (1985) and second (1990) International Workshops on Diamondback Moth (DBM), both held in Tainan, Taiwan. For the occasion of the first and second conferences, Talekar also published an annotated bibliography that he made freely available to scientists worldwide. In 1993 he was the senior author of the first comprehensive review of DBM. Talekar has been an active researcher and promoter of applied entomology and biological control for insect pests on crucifers and other vegetables, especially in South- and Southeast Asia. His work and leadership continues to inspire us as we address the continuing challenges of managing DBM in the varied cropping systems globally. These challenges include: the continuing development of resistance to insecticides and applying strategies to delay the evolution of resistance; understanding the role biological control plays in reducing DBM populations and how biological control can be enhanced; utilizing the information from the DBM genome for creating useful management strategies; developing a better understanding of DBM ecology on a landscape level; researching genetic control strategies including modifying the insect and its host plants; and creating practical outreach programs that enable farmers to manage DBM in a more sustainable manner.

Keywords: Diamondback moth, Plutella xylostella, integrated pest management

My presentation honors the man who started these workshops in 1985 and asks the question he asked me several months ago: what have we learned and where are we going with practical DBM research and extension? It is appropriate that Dr. N. S. Talekar ask this question since he did so much over several decades to advance sustainable control of DBM.

Dr. N.S. Talekar is a native of India so it is appropriate that this 7thworkshop be in his home country. Talekar was very proud to have received his PhD in 1973 from the University of Wisconsin, and in 1974 he began his career at the Asian Vegetable Research and Development Center (AVRDC), which was founded in 1971 in Taiwan. Dr. Robert Chandler from the International Rice Research Institute (IRRI) was appointed as the first Director General of AVRDC and appointed Talekar to a newly created program to deal with pesticide residues on vegetable crops.

Toward the end of the 1970s, DBM had developed resistance to practically all synthetic insecticides so growers increased their rates and spray frequencies. Officials in Singapore, the major market for vegetables grown in Malaysia and Indonesia, rejected cabbage because of high insecticide residues. These two events forced farmers to start using sprays of *Bacillus thuringiensis* which resulted in increased parasitoid populations and reduced DBM damage.

The story of how Talekar came to appreciate the importance of parasitoids for DBM can best be described in Talekar's own words. "My inspiration in going for biological control came from the success of Indonesian scientists in introducing Diadegma semiclausum from Java to Brastagi town's intensive vegetable growing area in North Sumatra Province. Brastagi is in the highlands. That parasitoid was introduced on Java (highlands near major city of Bandung) by the Dutch, who were a colonial power in Indonesia until the early 1950s. Brastagi was then a major supplier of vegetables to Singapore. When the Singapore Government found that those farmers were using all kinds of pesticides to combat DBM, they immediately banned import of vegetables from Indonesia. That drove Indonesian scientists into action. They imported the parasitoid from Java to Brastagi and made a pact with farmers, who were badly hit by the import ban imposed by Singapore,

that they would not use any pesticide on their vegetable (crucifer) farms. They agreed and kept their promise. *Diadegma semiclausum* was immediately established and farmers never reached for pesticides again".

Talekar continued his work on biological control of DBM but says that he just "copied the idea of biological control, tested it in farmers' fields in Taiwan, and spread it elsewhere." Talekar humbly claims that he did not have time for much research and published few papers on this topic, although we all now recognize the impact his work has had on biological control of DBM throughout Asia and SE Asia, and even in East Africa.

What was it that drove Talekar to work so hard on finding solutions for DBM control? In my recent correspondence with him, he described how AVRDC's Director General, Dr. Robert F. Chandler Jr. developed and enforced the preamble for AVRDC: "The farmer is our client, it is he whom we must serve, and any other objective is trivial compared to our aim to improve the well-being of the rural population and to strengthen agricultural production". Based on this strong philosophy of serving the grower, Talekar saw the need for collaborative efforts on a global scale.

FORMING THE DBM COMMUNITY

As Talekar tells the story, "Sometime in early 1983, I was in Indonesia on the outskirts of a town named Bhogitingi (on Sumatra Island) and saw a farmer's field badly damaged with DBM. I stood in the farm and looked around and told myself - DBM is indeed a serious problem and I alone cannot solve it in my lifetime. I immediately decided to get all researchers together and see what they are doing and how we can learn from successes of others in combating this problem. As soon as I returned from the trip, I walked into Chandler's office and briefed him on what I found and my feeling about the problem and explained my idea of getting all scientists together to see how we can coordinate our research to fit their needs. My Director General approved the idea immediately, and thus started the first International Workshop on DBM in 1985". It is because of his vision that we are here today at the 7th International Workshop on Management of the Diamondback Moth and other Crucifer Insect Pests.

Besides arranging and hosting the First and Second International Workshops in 1985 and 1990, respectively, Talekar also spearheaded publication of the Proceedings for both workshops (Talekar & Griggs 1986; Talekar 1992) and the accompanying annotated bibliographies (Talekar *et al.* 1985; Talekar 1990). In 1989 he spent a year in my laboratory and we wrote the first comprehensive review of DBM (Talekar & Shelton 1993).

THE TALEKAR CHALLENGE

Over the last couple of years of correspondence with Talekar, I have heard him questioning whether the global DBM community is as focused on longterm solutions for the DBM problem as it should be. Many of us continue to introduce new insecticides into our integrated pest management (IPM) programs only to find out that they are harmful to the natural enemy population and the DBM quickly evolves resistance to them. It is an old story for DBM and one that is well documented in the DBM proceedings and reviews. Why don't we hear more stories about more sustainable approaches such as the introduction of Diadegma semiclausum into the highlands and Oomyzus sokolowskii into the lowland areas of Taiwan where they continue to provide control of DBM? Is it possible to enhance this biological control program even more by introducing pupal parasitoids into the lowlands? Why is not more of this work being done?

Talekar also cooperated with scientists in other countries to help establish parasitoids that provided successful control in the Philippines, Malaysia, Lao PDR, Indonesia, India, Kenya, China, Japan and Korea.

It has been 30 years since the first DBM workshop and now is an appropriate time to ask: what have we learned and where are we going with practical DBM research and extension? While our knowledge of DBM has certainly increased, has it led to better management of this devastating pest? Another way of asking this question is whether our increased knowledge of DBM over the last 30 years has been incorporated into extension programs that helped us move toward more sustainable IPM programs for DBM.

Talekar constructed a figure to illustrate this question. Fig.1 shows the relationship between the number of papers published on DBM over time and the control cost plus yield loss. Based on this figure, the data suggest that there is an unfortunate relationship between papers published and increasing control costs and damage. One could look at this relationship several ways. The first is that despite the increased number of papers, and presumably the increased knowledge about DBM, the losses to this pest continue to increase. However, one might argue that losses would be even greater if people didn't publish on this subject. Or perhaps what is being published has not yet made its way into useable management strategies. Both views are optimistic ways of viewing this seemingly unfortunate relationship.

But another way of viewing this relationship is more troubling and should cause us to examine why we choose to do certain research projects. Is the work that the DBM community is doing contributing to solving the DBM problem? Many of the papers being published now document cases of resistance (Fig. 2) and, while useful for justifying abandoning a particular insecticide in a specific area, we have heard that story too many times before. Shouldn't we be reading more publications about how resistance was managed properly so that judicious use of an insecticide led to its long-term place in an IPM program? Likewise, some of the published work over the last 30 years describes elegant biological phenomena but has it been incorporated into extension programs adopted by farmers? As we decide our research and extension agenda, we should ask what is the proper balance for basic and applied research that will lead to sustainable contributions for DBM management?

Times have certainly changed since Talekar first began his career at AVRDC with the mandate of dramatically reducing the pesticide residues on vegetables shipped to Singapore. Such problemoriented work may not be fully appreciated by administrators in universities or lead to articles in high-impact journals that help advance one's career. But nevertheless such work is needed and should be recognized as contributing to food security, environmental benefit and healthier food for a growing population.



Relationship between number of research publications and cost of pest control and yield loss for DBM per year.



Number of research publications on insecticide resistance per year.

FINAL THOUGHTS

Talekar had a mandate from his Director General to solve a problem. The message given to him was clear: his client was the farmer who needed help in controlling DBM.

During his career at AVRDC, according to Talekar, he worked on "strictly applied research" that was initially confined to Southeast Asia. His contributions in enhancing biological control of DBM in Southeast Asia are legendary and inspirational. With new funding, he was able to expand his work subsequently into South Asia and East Africa where again he emphasized biological control as the most essential component in IPM.

Talekar retired from AVRDC in July 2005 and is a visiting professor at the National Chung Hsing University, Taichung, Taiwan where he teaches courses to undergraduate and graduate students.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I am deeply grateful to Dr. N.S. Talekar for his stimulating insights and for the figures he provided.

References

- TALEKAR, N. S. AND GRIGGS T. D. (Eds.), 1986, Proceedings of The First International Workshop on Diamondback Moth Management 11-15 March 1985, Tainan, Taiwan. The Asian Vegetable Research and Development Center, Shanhua, Taiwan, AVRDC Publication No. 86-248.
- TALEKAR, N. S. (Ed.), 1992, Proceedings of The Second International Workshop on Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Pests, 10-14 December 1990, Tainan, Taiwan. The Asian Vegetable Research and

Development Center, Shanhua, Taiwan, AVRDC Publication No. 92-368.

- TALEKAR, N. S., YANG, H. C., LEE, S. T., CHEN, B. S. AND SUN, L. Y., 1985, Annotated Bibliography of Diamondback Moth. AVRDC Publication., pp. 85-229.
- TALEKAR, N. S., YANG, J.C. AND LEE, S. T., 1990, Annotated Bibliography of Diamondback Moth. AVRDC Publication., **2**:90-334.
- TALEKAR, N. S. AND SHELTON, A. M., 1993, Biology, Ecology and Management of The Diamondback Moth. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.*, **38**: 275-301.

Modelling the Population Dynamics & Management of Diamondback Moth: the Role of Climate, Natural Enemies & Cropping Patterns

ZALUCKI M.P., LI, Z.Y.¹, YONOW T.², KRITICOS D.³, FURLONG M.J.⁴ AND FENG X.⁵ School of Biological Sciences, The University of Queensland, Brisbane, Australia, 4072 E-mail: M.Zalucki@Uq.Edu.Au ¹Institute of Plant Protection, Guangdong Academy of Agricultural Sciences and Guangdong Provincial Key Laboratory of High Technology for Plant Protection, Guangzhou 510640, P.R. China E-mail: Shower99@163.Com ²CSIRO, Gpo Box 1700, Canberra, Australia, 2601 E-mail: Tania.Yonow@Csiro.Au ³CSIRO, Gpo Box 1700, Canberra, Australia, 2601 E-mail: Darren.Kriticos@Csiro.Au ⁴School of Biological Sciences, The University of Queensland, Brisbane, Australia, 4072 E-mail: M.Furlong@Uq.Edu.Au ⁵institute of Plant Protection, Guangdong Academy of Agricultural Sciences and Guangdong Provincial Key Laboratory of High Technology for Plant Protection, Guangzhou 510640, P.R. China E-mail: Fengx@Gdppri.Com

Abstract

Diamondback moth, or DBM, is the major pest of *Brassica* vegetable production worldwide. Control has relied on insecticides and resistance to these has evolved widely and rapidly. We use the DYMEX modelling package to describe the effects of climate on the population dynamics of an age-structured DBM population. We show that there is a strong climate signal in DBM population changes and that natural enemies have a considerable effect on pest pressure and subsequent management. The scale of the pest problem that is experienced varies strongly with cropping practices; production breaks and strict post-harvest hygiene are associated with lower pest pressure in large-scale production units.

Keywords: age structured population modelling, population outbreaks, Plutella xylostella, IPM

PLUTELLA xylostella (L.) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae), the diamondback moth (DBM), is one of the most destructive pests of crucifers; worldwide annual DBM management costs and lost production amount to US\$ 4-5 billion (Zalucki et al. 2012). The pest status of DBM appears to have increased with the large-scale, widespread application of chemical insecticides in vegetable crops (Talekar and Shelton 1993; Furlong et al. 2013), coupled with the rapid evolution of resistance to every class of insecticide used so far (Furlong et al. 2013; Li et al. 2016b). Yet life-table studies (e.g. Harcourt 1963; Iga 1985; Wakisaka et al. 1991) and exclusion experiments (Furlong et al. 2004a, 2004b, Murtiningsih 2015) point to the strong effect exerted by parasitoids and predators. That successful classical biological control of DBM can be achieved if broad-spectrum insecticide use is reduced (Furlong et al. 2016; Ketelaar and Abubakar 2016), suggests DBM is an induced secondary pest, at least in areas that experience temperate climates. The pest status of DBM appears to be exacerbated due to poor insecticide application and management, the disruption of biological control agents by the application of broad-spectrum insecticides, planting practices and the effects of climate; however, the relative contribution of these factors is still the focus of considerable debate (Shelton 2004; Ridland and Endersby 2008; Li *et al.* 2012; Furlong *et al.* 2013; Arvanitakis *et al.* 2014).

For such a major pest, little research has been conducted on long-term population dynamics. DBM abundance can vary greatly among years (Zalucki and Furlong 2009, 2011; Li *et al.* 2012) and perhaps one of the great difficulties in the management of this pest has been the occurrence of outbreaks and insecticide resistance, which greatly strains management (e.g. Endersby and Ridland 1997; Shelton *et al.* 2000; Shelton 2004; Feng *et al.* 2011; Li *et al.* 2012).

Interpreting insect population dynamics is a difficult undertaking because many factors influence abundance (see e.g. Yonow et al. 2004; Zalucki and Furlong 2005; Schellhorn et al. 2008; Muthuthantri et al. 2010). Analysis of long-term pest population data based on, for example, light or pheromone trap catches of the adult stageisconfounded as the series represent the effects of local climate, cropping patterns, natural enemies and insecticide use. As DBM can migrate, the effects of these factors in source regions will influence such data sets and they are further complicated by the vagaries of migration (Zalucki and Furlong 2011)! Models that describe the effects of climate on population dynamics can be used as an aid in the interpretation of population changes and the impacts of management practices (e.g. Carriere et al. 2003).

Here we are interested in the contribution of climate, natural enemies and crop management practices on the population dynamics of DBM. We use an age structured population model written in DYMEX (Maywald *et al.*1999) to analyse and interpret patterns of DBM abundance data across a wide latitudinal gradient in eastern China; from the tropics (Haikou, 20.01°N) to the cold, temperate north (Beijing, 34.00°N). We use the model to simulate within and between year variations in DBM abundance using climate data from 2000-2012. For one location, Guangzhou, we run simulations with and without a parasitoid and with and without insecticide applications, for various immigration scenarios and cropping practices.

Methods

Modelling climate, cropping patterns, natural enemies and insecticide effects

Apart from the standard housekeeping modules in DYMEX models (e.g. Timer, Circadian, Metmanager etc., see Yonow *et al.* 2004) our model has four key "modules": a crop life-cycle, a DBM lifecycle, a *Diadegma* life-cycle and insecticide application. Each module and its parameterisation is described briefly below and more fully in Li *et al.* (2016a). Parameters were based on expert estimates or fitted to data in the literature. In nearly all cases we have kept equations that describe processes as linear functions above and below thresholds, bounded so as not to produce biologically meaningless values (e.g. negative mortalities or proportions greater than 1).

Crop Life-cycleModule

This module has three life-stages (Crop, Harvested and Stubble) and few processes. The user defines the planting dates and the number of plants in each crop. The number of plants is notional as we are modelling population size in the region as a whole and in this instance "Crop" simply means that hosts are available for oviposition and as food for larvae;"Crop" is also used to calculate a density so that sprays can be timed if required (see below). Crop duration is based on physiological age: the crop develops when temperatures exceed 0°C (with a development rate of 0.001) up to a maximum temperature threshold of 27°C, whereupon rate of development declines (-0.01). Crops are planted at a time specified by the user. A proportion (user specified) transfers to the "Harvested" life-stage when a physiological age of 1 is reached with the remainder transferring to the "Stubble" life-stage. For example a Stubble Proportion of 0.1 would mean that 90% of the crop transfers to the Harvested life-stage, and 10% transfers to Stubble. Some time later (again user specified) the stubble is "cleaned up" or removed. We use this feature to simulate different crop management strategies, from a production break, to strict or lax crop hygiene.

DBM Life-cycle Module

This module contains seven life history stages; an egg stage, three larval stages; first (L1), second and third instars combined (L2-3), fourth instar (L4); prepupae, pupae and adults; and captures all of the developmental, mortality and reproductive functions that define the way in which these stages interact with their environment.

Processes such as development, mortality and transfer from one life stage to the next, act at the cohort level, not the life stage level. Cohorts are created in each daily time step in which one or more individuals enter a life stage. Each cohort is tracked independently. Cohorts have a number of state variables. These state variables track particular processes, within the life stage (e.g. number, age, stress and thermal accumulation) that drive other processes (e.g. development, mortality, reproduction) in the same or subsequent life stages. The concept of cohort properties provides an elegant mechanism to account for the range of responses to the different conditions experienced by members of a population (Yonow *et al.* 2004).

Development rates for the immature DBM stages are taken directly from Liu et al. (2002) and are modelled as simple two segment linear functions with a lower development threshold and slope to an upper threshold, after which development declines (Li et al. 2016). The development rate is driven by the 12 steps per day Daily Temperature Cycle, which is generated in the Circadian Module provided by DYMEX. Using daily maximum and minimum temperatures from a location as input (read using met-manage module) and day-length (generated from a location's latitude by a DYMEX provided feature), the Circadian module generates a daily temperature cycle by applying a 12 segmented sine curve between the daily maximum and minimum temperatures. All of the temperature dependent development and mortality functions in the model are calculated using these temperatures.

When a cohort attains a physiological age of 1 all surviving individuals transfer to the next stage using a simple step function. Mortality functions for rainfall, temperature, harvest, and spray application and if relevant a parasitoid, are included for each of the immature stages (Li et al. 2016a). In general immature stages will die at a certain rate on a daily basis if it is too hot (heat stress accumulates for eggs and all larval stages at temperatures above 32°C) or too cold (cold stress accumulates for these stages at temperatures below 8°C), if there is too much rain (when rain exceeds certain threshold), if the crop is harvested, if there are fewer than 0.1 plants available, and/or if the density of L2 - L4 is too high, as determined by the user, and a spray event is triggered. Mortality due to insecticides will only occur if this module is initialised and a spray event triggered.

Larvae are particularly susceptible to rainfall immediately upon hatching and when they emerge from leaf mines at the second instar (e.g. Wakisaka *et al.* 1991; MPZ & MJF unpublished data). Consequently we have included an "establishment mortality" process that affects L1 and L2 on their first day of existence. Older larvae are subject to some rainfall effects (Harcourt 1963). Harvest mortality operates on all immature stages by removing the same proportion of each immature stage from the population as the proportion harvested. Crop residues (Stubble) that harbour immature stages can remain after harvesting. The proportion of immatures removed by harvesting can be adjusted but here we use 90% in all scenarios.

Potential egg production by females is a function of temperatures experienced by a cohort during immature development; both accumulated heat and cold stresses reduce potential fecundity from a notional maximum of 300 eggs per female. Fecundity records for DBM based on laboratory studies range from 100 to 400 eggs per female depending on a range of factors (Muhamad et al. 1994; Golizadeh et al. 2009; Zhang et al. 2012; Soufbaf et al. 2014). Potential egg production is a user defined cohort variable that was fitted to laboratory studies that reared DBM under various temperatures and recorded fecundity. Both temperature and rainfall affect egg laying on any particular day (Li et al. 2016a). Mortality for the adult stage is specified as a constant proportion per day (0.25). All individuals in a cohort are removed when adults reach aphysiological age of 1.

Diadegma Life-cycle Module

This module allows investigation of biological control using a larval parasitoid loosely modelled on Diadegma semiclausum Hellen (Hymenoptera: Ichneumonidae) that parasitises theL2-L3 stage larvae of DBM. The Diadegma life cycle module consists of 3 stages: Diadegma E-A, Diadegma Adults and Diadegma Eggs. The first stage, Diadegma E-A, represents the development and mortality processes acting on Diadegma eggs to when they emerge as adults (essentially the parasitised DBM larvae). This life-stage is subject to all factors that affect DBM larval mortality (above, including insecticides if used). Parameters for the parasitoid were taken from Dosdall et al. (2012), Wang et al. (2004), Soufbaf et al. (2014). Development of parasitised larvae is a linearabove threshold (2.8°C) function with a slope of 0.0085. Diadegma E-A cohorts transfer to the Diadegma Adult life-stage when they reach a physiological age of 1. As with DBM, parasitoid fecundity is determined by rearing temperatures, exactly the same as for DBM (above) but with a maximum potential fecundity of 200. Diadegma adult mortality is a linear above threshold function of chronological age and progeny production (=eggs available to parasitise larvae) is a function of temperature; increasing from 5-18°C and declining at temperatures above 18°C and with chronological age; peaking at about 4-5 days of age;

and the number of L2-L3 larvae available to parasitise. Progeny production (number of eggs laid on any one day) is restricted either by how many eggs can be laid or by the number of small DBM larvae (L2 & L3 DBM instars) available to be parasitised. Parasitism increases with L2-L3 density (See Li *et al.* 2016a).

Insecticide application Module

If this module is used it is based on either a threshold density of L2-L3 plus L4 larvae per plant, L1 larvae per plant or on a time-scheduled basis. The spray residue remaining that kills larvae is based on three parameters that determine the number of days the insecticide effect lasts once a spray event is triggered: number of days the spray is maximally effective, an exponential decay rate and a scaling factor that determines the maximum effect. The user can choose different values that notionally represent how well sprays are applied (coverage, formulation, application, etc.) and hence the likely effect of the application. The effectiveness of the spray can be adjusted for the life stage to represent the susceptibility of different instar stages, insecticide persistence on the crop and notional resistance levels.

Initialization, climate input and model running

Initialisation of the model defines the scenario being simulated. One can initialise with adults immigrating into a field at the start once and/or at different times, and/ or with different numbers in all stages. The former represents a scenario wherein a field is planted and moths come in from elsewhere, the latter might represent a region with an established population age structure. Modules such as spraying and biological control by *D. semiclausum* can either be used or excluded. Comparisons of simulations with and without the particular module give an indication of how effective that process is in contributing to managing DBM populations.

All climate data entered into the model is from standard meteorological sources and uses daily minimum and maximum temperatures (°C) and rainfall (mm). We use climate data for locations to represent the range of conditions experienced by DBM from the South to the North of China for illustrative purposes: Haikou, Hangzhou and Beijing, with year round cropping.

DYMEX offers enormous flexibility to the user in scenarios that can be simulated. We run simulations with and without the parasitoid, with and without insecticide sprays. We use daily climate data from 2000-2012 for Guangzhou to represent the effect of a range of conditions. Using average conditions in Guangzhou, we investigate the effect of crop planting and crop hygiene.

RESULTS

DBM population dynamics: the effect of climate & spraying

The effect of climate on generation time and population build up is apparent as one moves from South (Haiku) to North (Beijing) in China (Figure 1). The effect of high summer temperatures can be seen in the decline of populations in Haikou and Hangzhou during this period and in limiting generation number – high temperatures extend generation time. Haikou has 11 generations and populations would increase if unmanaged. In Hangzhou there are 8 generations and populations decline with the onset of winter. In Beijing conditions only become suitable in late spring and they remain highly favourable for 5-6 generations, before conditions deteriorate and populations decline.



Simulated population dynamic of DBM adults based on average climate conditions (average of 2000-2012) over a year for: (A) Beijing, (B) Hangzhou and (C) Haikou. Simulations had year round cropping and were colonised by 100 adults on 1 January (not shown) for Hangzhou and Haikou and 1 April for Beijing

The effect of climate at a location across years (Fig. 2) indicates the wide variation amongst years and the consistent phenology. Populations are high in Guangzhou in spring, decline in summer and increase in autumn in simulations (Fig. 2A); a similar pattern is also observed in field data, e.g. for Shijing (Figure 2B) (data from Li *et al.* 2012). It is apparent that some years can be much worse than others. The population was sprayed on threshold, which effectively acts as a limitation on population size. The simulated and observed abundances are similar in magnitude (Fig. 2).

The effect of cropping pattern, migration and poor spray application

The effect of harvest and when the next crop is planted on pest pressure depends on how long stubble (crop residue) is retained and on the presence of natural enemies (Table 1, Figure 3). Immediate removal of stubble effectively removes an infesting population and DBM populations are greatly reduced (Figure 3A). With no migration the population goes extinct in early summer (data not shown). Leaving stubble for a week greatly increases pest pressure (Table 1), both in terms of mean abundance and the need to manage with sprays. Adding natural enemies reduces spray requirements (Table 1) as expected. The timing of migration input is critical. The pest problem is greater if moths colonise each new crop at its planting rather than by regular monthly input. This is because harvest and clean-up effectively remove the population in the crop, whereas colonisation at planting allows DBM to sometimes complete more than one generation and the population to build up. Not surprisingly weekly migration input leads to greater pest problems (Table 1, Figure 3B).

We simulated the effect of ineffective sprays due either to poor coverage/ application or resistance by simply reducing the level of mortality following a single spray event. Not surprisingly, the worst-case scenario of sequential cropping, poor hygiene and weekly migration input resulted in the number of sprays increasing to 24 and in Guangzhou the population was the highest in the sequential cropping scenario with poor crop hygiene (average population of 51/day). Spaying using farmer practice of once a week from February with an ineffective spray regime increased average population to 281/day at a cost of 48 sprays! This result highlights the need for welltimed sprays, which are part and parcel of an IPM approach.



Simulated variation in the mean monthly abundance of DBM in Guangzhou based on climate data for each year from 2000-2012, with year round crop production, initial population of eggs (465), L1 (400), L2 & 3 (350), L4 (310), pupae (300), males (150) and females (150) and spraying on L2-L4 threshold of 10/plant (A) and observed variation in male trap catch at Shijing (mean±SD and min and max values) for a similar period, 2003-2013 (B)



FIGURE 3

Simulation of DBM population dynamics in a cropping system with strict hygiene (A) and with poor crop stubble hygiene (B) with moths migrating into the crop weekly (light line is crop phenology)

TABLE 1

Pest status of DBM expressed as the average number of males/day over the year and number of sprays required based on an L2-L4 density of 10/ plant for an average climate year in Guangzhou for two cropping regimes; rapid clean-up of residues (1 day retention) and stubble remaining for 7 days for each of 2 migration scenarios: no migration except

on day 1, migration input of 100 females every weekly (see Figure 3 for population traces and crop phenology). First value in brackets is the number of sprays required over the year, the second is sprays with biological control added

Migration scenario	Stubble Retention time				
	1 day	7 days			
No migration Weekly	3.2 (2)(2)	10.9 (5)(3)			
	38.3 (8)(6)	47.3 (14)(7)			

DISCUSSION

The DYMEX approach to population modelling allows investigation of age structured population dynamics as influenced by climate for a wide range of scenarios. Insects have discrete generations with known temperature mediated development times and effects on survival and reproduction (e.g. Liu *et al.* 2002). Different stages have very different susceptibilities to extreme climate variables of temperature and rainfall (e.g. Yonow *et al.* 2004), and host plant effects (e.g. Soufbaf *et al.* 2010a, 2010b). These stages may or may not be present in the population when the events occur and the timing of events is critical to their subsequent population effects.

DBM shows wide variation in abundance and timing of population peaks depending on location and climate. From the tropical south to the extreme cold of the north, the patterns of variation suggest broad climate effects; summer in the south and central coastal areas are generally too hot, development slows (Figure 1) and populations decline (Figure 1). Further north winters are too cold and populations can only persist in the warmer months, but populations that migrate to Beijing type climates can do very well seasonally. These observations are consistent with our earlier analysis of climate effects using CLIMEX (Li *et al.* 2012). Our DYMEX model captures temporal patterns (Figure 2) with some caveats that suggest management practices, particularly crop hygiene, are also crucial (Figure 3). However our simulation suggests that adding biological control can dramatically reduce insecticide inputs (Table 1), as has been suggested by research assessing natural enemies (Furlong *et al.* 2004a, 2004b) and classic biological control. DBM may well be an induced pest (Furlong *et al.* 2013; Li *et al.* 2016b).

Although there is a climate signal in both the observed and simulated population data, strong management and migration effects are indicated. The importance of crop hygiene is again highlighted. Our simulations capture the dynamics for the organic production farm at Zengcheng that exports to the Hong Kong market versus farms that produce for local consumption. With strict hygiene, as occurs on the organic farm, DBM only becomes problematic with high migration input (weekly) and even then it is manageable. Whereas leaving crop residues, as occurs on farms in Huadu and Shijing effectively doubles to quadruples the management spray requirements, depending on the migration pressure (Table 1). Timely spraying as required, based on appropriate thresholds, with good spray application (e.g. Guo et al.2004) is essential. Spraying once a week with an ineffective spray leads to the highest population pressure.

Management responses needed, if growers are prepared to implement them, are fairly obvious: better cultural control or crop hygiene (as in the organic farm at Zengcheng), sample crops for pests and then spray only if required, be sure to target the right stage (small larvae not large), use appropriate spray equipment (Guo *et al.* 2004) and preferably use insecticides that are biocontrol compatible (Furlong *et al.* 2008). Above all rotate insecticides (e.g. Heckel 2004) as part of an IRM strategy. This is the standard IPM mantra of the SSP (sample, spray and pray) kind (Zalucki *et al.* 2009) and it by and large works (e.g. Liu *et al.* 2004, 2014). The problem, as always, is implementation and adoption (Heisswolf *et al.*1997).

We believe at this stage that our model is too simple. Our intention is to reproduce the actual observed dynamics for any one site over a number of years. We have shown here that initialisation is important. To better capture crop dynamics and migration of both DBM and natural enemies we will incorporate "demes"- essentially sub-populations that interact. We will need to refine our parasitoid attack functions and the effect of rainfall on the DBM dynamics.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The project was funded by the Special Fund for Agro-scientific Research in the Public Interest (201103021). We thank Yanji Huang for monitoring the population in the field.

References

- ARVANITAKIS, L., JEAN-FRANÇOIS, D. AND BORDAT, D., 2014, Incomplete control of the diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella*, by the parasitoid *Cotesia vestalis* in a cabbage field under tropical conditions. *Biocontrol.*, **59**: 671–679
- CARRIERE, Y., ELLERS-KIRK. C., SISTERSON, M., ANTILLA, L., WHITLOW, M., DENNEHY, T. J. AND TABASHNIK, B. E., 2003, Long-term regional suppression of pink bollworm by *Bacillus thuringiensis* cotton. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.*, **100**: 1519-1523.
- DOSDALL, L. M., ZALUCKI, M. P., TANSEY, J. A. AND FURLONG, M. J., 2012, Developmental responses of the diamondback moth parasitoid *Diadegma semiclausum* (Hellen) (Hymenoptera: Ichneumonidae) to temperature and host plant species. *Bull.Entomol. Res.*,102: 373–384.
- ENDERSBY, N. M. AND RIDLAND, P. M., 1997, Insecticide resistance in diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* (L.) in southern Australia, pp. 290-294. In:*The Management of Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Pests.* SIVAPRAGASAM, A., LOKE, W. H., HUSSAN, A. K. AND LIM, G. S., (Eds.), Malaysian Agricultural Research and Development Institute, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia.
- FENG, X., LI, Z. Y., WU, Q. J., CHEN, A. D., WU, Y. D., HOU, Y. M., HE, Y. R., LI, J. H., XIE, S. H., ZHANG, J. M., FU, W. AND MA, C. S., 2011, Rising to the challenge: a national project on sustainable control of DBM in PR China, pp. 15-18. In: *Management of the Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Insect Pests*, SRINIVASAN, R., SHELTON, A. M. AND COLLINS, H. L., (Eds.), Proceedings of the Sixth International Workshop.
- FURLONG, M. J., SHI, Z. H., LIU, Y. Q., GUO, S. J., LÜ, Y. B., LIU, S. S. AND ZALUCKI, M. P., 2004a, Experimental analysis of the influence of pest management practice on the efficacy of an endemic arthropod natural enemy complex of the diamondback moth. J. Econ. Entomol., 97: 1814-1827.
- FURLONG, M. J., SHI, Z. H., LIU, S. S. AND ZALUCKI, M. P., 2004b, Evaluation of the impact of natural enemies on *Plutella xylostella* L. (Lepidoptera:

Yponomeutidae) populations on commercial *Brassica* farms. *Agric. For. Entomol.*, **6**: 311-322.

- FURLONG, M. J., KIM, H. J., PAK, W. S., JO, K. C., RI, C. I. AND ZALUCKI, M. P., 2008, Integration of endemic natural enemies and *Bacillus thuringiensis* to manage insect pests of *Brassica* crops in North Korea. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.*, **125**: 223-238.
- FURLONG, M. J., WRIGHT, D. J. AND DOSDALL, L. M., 2013, Diamondback moth ecology and management: problems, progress, and prospects. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.*, 58:517–541.
- FURLONG, M. J., ADAMSON, D., ASAD, S. R. AND ZALUCKI, M. P., 2016, Biological control of Diamondback moth in a climate of change. This volume
- GOLIZADEH, A., KAMALI, K., FATHIPOUR, Y. AND ABBASIPOUR, H., 2009, Effect of temperature on life table parameters of *Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) on two brassicaceous host plants. *J. Asia-Pac. Entomol.* 12: 207–212.
- GUO, S. J., GEITZ, G., FRANKLIN, T., LIU, Y. Q., FURLONG, M. J., ZALUCKI, M. P. AND COOPER, L., 2004, A comparison of the performance and biological efficiency of new knapsack sprayers and a controlled droplet application (CDA) sprayer for the control of the diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* L. (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae). *Int. J. Pest Manag.*, **50**:121-127.
- HARCOURT, D. G., 1963, Major mortality factors in the population dynamics of the diamondback moth, *Plutella maculipennis* (Curt.) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae). Population Dynamics of Agricultural and Forest Insect Pests. *Mem. Entomol.Soc. Can.*, **32**: 55-66.
- HECKEL, D., 2004, Chemical and biological insecticides: Resistance mechanisms and management in diamondback moth, pp. 30-43. In: *The Management of the Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Insect Pests.* SHELTON, A. M., COLLINS, H. L., ZHANG, Y. J. AND WU, Q. J., (Eds.), Proceedings of the Fifth International Workshop, China Agricultural Science and Technology Press, Beijing, China.
- IGA, M., 1985, The Seasonal Prevalence of Occurrence and the Life Tables of the Diamondback Moth, *Plutella xylostella* (L.) (Lepidoptera: Yponomeutidae). *Jap. J. Appl. Entomol. Zool.*, **29**: 119-125.
- KETELAAR, J. W. AND ABUBAKAR, A. L., 2016, Review of FAO assisted DBM biological control programmes in the Asia region. This volume
- LI, Z. Y., ZALUCKI, M. P., BAO, H. L., CHEN, H. Y., HU, Z. D., ZHANG, D. Y., LIN, Q. S., YIN, F., WANG, M. AND FENG, X., 2012, Population dynamics and 'outbreaks' of Diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella*, in

Guangdong province, China: climate or the failure of management?.*J. Econ. Entomol.*, **105**: 739–752.

- LI, Z. Y., ZALUCKI, M. P., YONOW, T., DRITICOS, D., FURLONG, M. J., BAO, H. L., HU, Z. D., YIN, F., LIN, Q. S., WU, Q. J., CHEN, A. D., ZHANG, J. M., XIE, S. H. AND FENG, X., 2016a, Population dynamics and management of Diamondback moth (*Plutella xylostella*) in China: the relative contribution of climate, natural enemies and cropping patterns?. *Bull. Entomol. Res.*, **106**: 197-214.
- LI, Z. Y., FENG, X., LIU, S. S., YOU, M. S. AND FURLONG, M. J., 2016b, Biology and Ecology of the Diamondback Moth in China. Annu. Rev. Entomol.,61: 277–296.
- LIU, S. S., CHEN. F. Z. AND ZALUCKI, M. P., 2002, Development and survival of the diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae), at constant and alternating temperatures. *Environ. Entomol.*,**31**: 1-12.
- LIU, S. S., SHI, Z. H., GUO, S. J., CHEN, Y. N., ZHANG, G. M., LU, L. F., WANG, D. S., DEUTER, P. L. AND ZALUCKI, M. P., 2004, Improvement of crucifer IPM in the Changjiang River Valley, China: from research to practice, pp. 61-66. In: *The Management of diamondback moth and other crucifer pests*. ENDERSBY, N. M. AND RIDLAND, P. M., (Eds.), Proceedings of the Fourth International Workshop, November, Melbourne 2001, The Regional Institute, Gosford, pp. 26-29
- LIU, Y. Q., SHI, Z. H., ZALUCKI, M. P. AND LIU, S. S., 2014, Conservation biological control in *Brassica* vegetable crops in China. *Biol. Control.*, **68**: 37–46.
- MAYWALD, G. F., SUTHERST, R. W. AND ZALUCKI, M. P., 1999. DYMEX Professional: Modelling Natural Systems, CD-ROM, CSIRO Publishing.
- Минамад, О., Тѕикида, R., Окі, Y., Fujisaki, K. and Nakasuji, F., 1994, Influence of wild crucifers on life history traits and flight ability of the diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera: Yponomeutidae). *Res. Popul. Ecol.*, **36**: 53-62.
- MURTININGSIH. R., 2015, Predation of cabbage pests: a combined ecological and molecular approach. *PhD Thesis*, The University of Queensland, Queensland, Australia., p 176.
- MUTHUTHANTRI, S., MAELZER, D. A., ZALUCKI, M. P. AND CLARKE, A. R., 2010, The seasonal phenology of *Bactrocera tryoni* (Froggatt) (Diptera: Tephritidae) in Queensland. *Austr. J. Entomol.*, **49**: 221-233.
- RIDLAND, P. M. AND ENDERSBY, N. M., 2008, Diamondback moth: messages from a land down under, pp. 1-29.
 In: *The Management of the Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Insect Pests.*, SHELTON, A. M., COLLINS, H. L., ZHANG, Y. J. AND WU, Q. J., (Eds.), Proceedings of the Fifth International Workshop, China

Agricultural Science and Technology Press, Beijing, China.

- SCHELLHORN, N. A., PIERCE, S., BIANCHI, F. J. J. A., WILLIAMS, D. AND ZALUCKI, M. P., 2008, Designing landscapes for multiple outcomes in broad-acre environments. *Aust. J. Exp. Agric.*, **48**: 1549-1559.
- SHELTON, A. M., 2004, Management of the diamondback moth: deja vu all over again?. In:*The Management of the Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Insect Pests*. ENDERSBY, N. M. AND RIDLAND, P. M. (eds.), Proceedings of the 4th International Workshop, Nov. 2001, Melbourne, Australia. pp. 3-8.
- SHELTON, A. M., SANCES, F. V., HAWLEY, J., TANG, J. D., BOURNE, M., JUNGERS, D., COLLINS, H. L. AND FARIAS, J., 2000, Assessment of insecticide resistance in California in 1997. J. Econ. Entomol., 93: 931-936.
- SOUFBAF, M., FATHIPOUR, Y., KARIMZADEH, J. AND ZALUCKI, M. P., 2010a, Development and age-specific mortality of diamondback moth on *Brassica* host plants: pattern and cause of mortality under laboratory conditions. *Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am.*, **100**: 574-579.
- SOUFBAF, M., FATHIPOUR, Y., KARIMZADEH, J. AND ZALUCKI, M. P., 2010b, Bottom-up effects of different host plants on *Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae): A life-table study on canola. *J. Econ. Entomol.*, **103**: 2019-2027.
- SOUFBAF, M., FATHIPOUR, Y., KARIMZADEH, J. AND ZALUCKI, M. P., 2014, Effects of plant availability on population size and dynamics of an insect community: diamondback moth and two of its parasitoids. *Bull. Entomol. Res.*, **104**: 418–431.
- TALEKAR N. S. AND SHELTON, A. M., 1993, Biology, ecology, and management of the diamondback moth. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.*, **38**: 275-301.
- WAKISAKA, S., TSUKUDA, R. AND NAKASUJI, F., 1991, Effects of natural enemies, rainfall, temperature and host plants on survival and reproduction of the diamondback moth. In: *Diamondback moth and other crucifer pests* TALEKAR, N. S. (Ed.), Proceedings of the second international workshop, Tainan, Taiwan. Asian Vegetable Research and Development Center. pp. 15-26.
- YONOW, T., ZALUCKI, M. P., SUTHERST, R. W., DOMINIAK, B., MAYWALD, G. F., MAELZER, D. A. AND KRITICOS, D. J., 2004, Modelling the population dynamics of the Queensland fruit fly, *Bactrocera (Dacus) tryoni*: a cohort-based approach incorporating the effects of weather. *Ecol. Model.*,**173**: 9-30.
- WANG, X. G., DUFF, J., KELLER, M. A. AND ZALUCKI, M. P., LIU, S. S AND BAILEY, P., 2004, Role of *Diadegma semiclausum* (Hymenoptera:Ichneumonidae) in controlling *Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera:

Plutellidae): cage exclusion experiments and direct observation. *Biocontrol Sci. Tech.*, **14**: 571-586.

- ZALUCKI, M. P. AND FURLONG, M. J., 2005. Forecasting *Helicoverpa* populations in Australia: a comparison of regression based models and a bio-climatic based modelling approach. *Insect Sci.*, **12**: 45-56.
- ZALUCKI, M. P. AND FURLONG, M. J., 2011, Predicting outbreaks of a migratory pest: an analysis of DBM distribution and abundance revisited, In: *Management of the Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Insect Pests* SRINIVASAN, R., SHELTON, A. M. AND COLLINS, H. L. (eds.), Proceedings of the Sixth International Workshop, AVRDC The World Vegetable Center, Shanhua, Taiwan. pp. 8-14.
- ZALUCKI, M. P., ADAMSON, D. AND FURLONG, M. J., 2009, The future of IPM: whither or wither? *Austr. J. Entomol.*, **48**:85-96.
- ZALUCKI, M. P., ASAD, S. R., ADAMSON, D., LIU, S. S. AND FURLONG, M. J., 2012, Estimating the economic cost of one of the world's major insect pests, *Plutella xylostella*: Just how long is a piece of string? *J. Econ. Entomol.*,**105**: 1115-1129.
- ZHANG, P-J., LU, Y-B., ZALUCKI, M. P. AND LIU, S-S., 2012, Relationship between adult oviposition preference and larval performance of the diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella*. J. Pest Sci., 85: 247-252.

Genome-Wide SNP Discovery in Field and Laboratory Colonies of Australian *Plutella* Species

K.D. PERRY¹, S.M. PEDERSON² AND S.W. BAXTER

¹School of Agriculture, Food & Wine, University of adelaide, South Australia 5005 ²School of Biological SCiences, University of adelaide, South Australia 5005

Abstract

Understanding dispersal and gene flow is an important focus of evolutionary biology, conservation biology and pest management. The diamondback moth, Plutella xylostella, is a worldwide pest of Brassica vegetable and oilseed cropping systems. This insect has high dispersal ability, which has important consequences for population dynamics and the potential spread of insecticide resistance genes. Population genetic studies of the diamondback moth have found little evidence of population structure, suggesting that frequent intermixing occurs within regions, however the patterns of local and regional dispersal remain to be identified. For this and many other pest species, understanding dispersal is crucial for developing integrated management tactics such as forecasting systems and insecticide resistance management plans. In recent years, next generation sequencing (NGS) methods have provided previously unparalleled resolution for population genetic studies in a wide range of species. Here, we assessed the potential of NGS-derived molecular markers to provide new insights about population structure in the diamondback moth. We use restriction-site-associated DNA sequencing (RAD-Seq) to discover hundreds to thousands of single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) markers in nine field and laboratoryreared populations collected from Australia. Genotypic data from RAD-Seq markers identified a cryptic species, P. australiana, among individuals collected from a wild host, Diplotaxis sp., indicating strong divergence in the nuclear genomes of two Australian Plutella lineages. Significant genetic differentiation was detected among populations of *P. xylostella* used in our study, however this could be explained by reduced heterozogosity and genetic drift in laboratory-reared populations founded by relatively few individuals. This study demonstrates that RAD-Seq is a powerful method for generating SNP markers for population genetic studies in this species.

Keywords: Gene flow, population structure, RAD-Seq, Plutella australiana, insecticide resistance

DISPERSAL is a fundamental life history trait with important consequences for the spatial and temporal dynamics of populations. 'Effective' dispersal (resulting in reproduction) also affects allele frequencies and the genetic structure of populations, and consequently, evolutionary processes (Broquet and Petit 2009). For example, adaptation and speciation depend on a balance between selection and gene flow (Turelli et al. 2001, Endersby et al. 2008). For pest species, quantifying dispersal and its effects on genetic structure is crucial to developing integrated management tactics, such as forecasting systems (Lushai and Loxdale 2004, Zalucki and Furlong 2005) and insecticide resistance management strategies. Molecular markers are a powerful tool for assessing the geographic structure of populations and inferring patterns of gene flow at large scales (Roderick 1996). Population genetic approaches have been successfully employed to infer patterns of long distance dispersal in a range of insect pests (Kim and Sappington 2013, Sun et al. 2015).

The diamondback moth, Plutella xylostella, is a worldwide pest of Brassica vegetable and oilseed crops. (Furlong et al. 2008, Zalucki et al. 2012, Furlong et al. 2013). The success of this insect is due in part to its remarkable genetic plasticity (Henniges-Janssen et al. 2011), large effective population sizes and high genetic diversity (You et al. 2013) that enable it to rapidly adapt to local environments and evolve insecticide resistance (Furlong et al. 2013). Furthermore, the diamondback moth is highly mobile and well-adapted to exploit its short-lived Brassicaceous hosts. It displays predominantly shortrange dispersal within high quality host patches (Mo et al. 2003) but when habitat quality deteriorates, may utilize high altitude air currents to migrate long distances and colonise new habitats (Chu 1986, Chapman et al. 2002, Leskinen et al. 2011, Fu et al. 2014). In some years, large scale migration events instigate damaging outbreaks in crops (Dosdall et al. 2004, Wei et al. 2013). In most regions, the dispersal ecology of diamondback moth is poorly understood, yet this knowledge is critical for the development of forecasting systems and insecticide resistance management plans (Furlong et. al. 2008). One reason for this is the challenging nature of studying long distance dispersal in small insects (Lushai and Loxdale 2004).

Previous population genetic studies in diamondback moth have employed a range of molecular markers, including allozymes (Caprio and Tabashnik 1992, Noran and Tang 1996, Kim et al. 1999, Pichon et al. 2006), ISSRs (Roux et al. 2007), microsatellites (Endersby et al. 2006) and mitochondrial genes (Chang et al. 1997, Kim et al. 2003. Li et al. 2006. Saw et al. 2006. Niu et al. 2014). Several authors have reported population differentiation at inter-continental scales (Endersby et al. 2006, Pichon et al. 2006, Roux et al. 2007). However, most studies from around the world have found little evidence of population structure within regions, including China (Kim et al. 1999, Li et al. 2006), Korea (Kim et al. 1999, Kim et al. 2000, Kim et al. 2003, Li et al. 2006), the USA (Caprio and Tabashnik 1992, Chang et al. 1997) and Australia (Endersby et al. 2006, Saw et al. 2006). These findings suggests that frequent intermixing occurs within regions, however the local and regional patterns of dispersal remain to be identified. More recently, studies using mitochondrial markers, or complementing these with microsatellite (Wei et al. 2013) or ISSR (Yang et al. 2015) nuclear markers, have provided new insights into seasonal migration routes from southern to northern regions of China, and identified potential geographic barriers to gene flow (Niu et al. 2014). Mitochondrial markers have also recently identified a novel Plutella lineage in Australia (Landry and Hebert 2013).

In recent years, next generation sequencing (NGS) has revolutionized the fields of molecular ecology and population genetics. Reduced representation sequencing methods (Narum *et al.* 2013) combined with the power of high-throughput NGS platforms (Glenn 2011) facilitate rapid and cost-effective marker discovery and genotyping in a wide range of organisms (Davey *et al.* 2011). Restriction-site-associated DNA sequencing (RAD-Seq) (Baird *et al.* 2008) is one of several reduced-representation methods for sequencing targeted regions across the genome at high sequencing depth, providing numerous advantages over traditional markers for population genetic studies (Davey and Blaxter 2010). RAD-Seq studies have provided new insights into

previously undetected population genetic structure in a wide range of contexts (Narum *et al.* 2013, Reitzel *et al.* 2013) including terrestrial invertebrates (Nadeau *et al.* 2013, Lozier 2014).

Here, we assess the potential of NGS methods to provide new insights about population structure in the diamondback moth. We use RAD-Seq to discover single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) markers in nine field and laboratory-reared populations collected from Australia. The RAD-Seq markers facilitate an initial assessment of genetic diversity within and among these populations.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Sample collection

Samples of diamondback moth were collected from *Brassica* vegetables, canola or wild *Brassica* hosts from nine locations in Australia between September 2012 and April 2014 (Table 1, Figure 1B). At each location, individuals were collected using a sweep net or by direct sampling. Seven populations were reared in laboratory cages on cultivated cabbage and 10% honey solution for between one and six generations. Individuals from two field populations and six of the laboratory-reared populations were preserved in 20% DMSO, 0.25M EDTA salt saturated solution (Yoder *et al.* 2006) and stored at -80°C. Individuals from the Nundroo population were stored in USP Grade propylene glycol and stored at -20°C.

RAD library preparation and sequencing

Libraries for RAD sequencing were prepared following a protocol modified from Baird et al. (2008). Genomic DNA was extracted from individual larvae or pupae by homogenizing tissue in DNA isolation buffer (Zraket et al. 1990) followed by two phenol and one chloroform extractions. DNA was treated with RNase A then precipitated and resuspended in TE buffer. Genomic DNA was quantified using a Qubit 2.0 fluorometer (Invitrogen) and 200 ng digested with 10 units of Sbf1 in Cutsmart Buffer (NEB) for 1 hour at 37°C then heat inactivated at 80°C for 20 minutes. P1 adapters with one of six molecular identifiers (MIDs) (AATTT, AGCTA, CCGGT, GGAAG, GTCAA or TTCCG) were annealed then ligated to digested DNA (top strand 5'-GTTCAGAGTTCTACAGTCCGACGATCxxxxxTGCA-3', bottom strand 5'-Phos-xxxxGATCGTCGGACTG

TAGAAC-3', x represents sites for MIDs) using 1 µL T4 DNA ligase (Promega), 1 mM ATP, Cutsmart Buffer. Six individuals from different populations were pooled to form 12 library groups, each containing different P1 adapters to facilitate sample multiplexing. Library pools were then sheared using a Bioruptor sonicator (diagenode), ends blunted (NEB), adenine overhangs added then P2 adapters ligated (top strand 5'-Phos-TGGAATTCTCGGGT GCCAA-3', bottom strand 5'-CCTTGGCACCCGAG AATTCCAT-3'). DNA purification between each step was performed with magnetic beads (AMPure). PCR library amplification conditions were 16 cycles of 98°C for 10 seconds, 65°C for 30 seconds and 72°C for 30 seconds using RP1 (forward) 5'-AATGATACGGCGACCACCGAGA TCTACACGTT CAGAGTTCTACAGTCCGA-3' and 12 unique RPIindexed (reverse) 5'-CAAGCAGAAGACGGCATAC GAGATXXXXX GTGACTGGAGTTCCTTGGCA CCCGAGAATTCCA-3' primers. Libraries were run on agarose gel to size select DNA fragments 300-700 base pairs in length. Paired end sequencing using 100 bp reads was performed over two lanes of Illumina HiSeq2500 at the Australian Cancer Research Foundation (ACRF) Cancer Genomics Facility.

Read filtering and variant calling

A total of 131.6 million raw sequence reads were de-multiplexed using RADTOOLS v1.2.4 (Baxter et al. 2011) then 50.3 million PCR duplicates were removed using the clone_filter tool in STACKS v1.19 (Catchen et al. 2013). Read trimming, adapter removal and quality filtering were performed in TRIMMOMATIC v0.32 (Bolger et al. 2014). First, a thymine base overhang added during P2 adapter ligation was trimmed from reverse reads, then paired end trimming was performed using the ILLUMINACLIP tool to remove adapter, trailing low quality bases (quality score<3), bases within a 4-base sliding window with average quality below 15 and trimmed reads shorter than 40 bp. Paired reads were aligned to the Plutella xylostella reference genome (version 1.1, modified to include the mitochondrial genome, accession number: JF911819) using STAMPY v1.0.21 (Lunter and Goodson 2011) with -baq and -gatkcigarworkaround options and expected substitution rate set to 0.005. Genotypes were called using the GENOME ANALYSIS TOOLKIT (GATK) v3.3-0 (McKenna et al. 2010, DePristo et al. 2011) HaplotypeCaller tool following the GATK Best Practices Workflow for GVCF-based Cohort Analysis

(Van der Auwera et al. 2013). Sites with a genotype quality $(GQ) \ge 30$ were retained. Filtering was performed using VCFTOOLS v0.1.12a (Danecek et al. 2011) to identify a set of variant sites for population genetic analysis. We removed indels and retained biallelic SNPs that passed the following quality filters: genotyped in at least 60 of 72 individuals, QUAL ≥400, average read depth between 20 and 100 across individuals, minor allele frequency > 0.2 and in Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium with p-value set to 0.05. To avoid closely linked markers, variants were separated by a minimum distance of 2 kb using the VCFTOOLS - thin function. A final set of 1285 SNP variants were retained after filtering. In addition, from the GATK HaplotypeCaller output, we generated a set of all confidently called variant and invariant sites (GQ>30). Filtering was performed using vCFTOOLS v0.1.12a (Danecek et al. 2011) to remove indels and sites located within transposons, and retain sites genotyped in 60 of 72 individuals with mean depth between 20 and 100 across individuals. After filtering, we retained 491 831 confidently called variant and reference sites, including 623 sites from the mitochondrial genome.

Population genetic analysis

We used the 491 832 sites to generate a phylogeny for 72 individuals using a neighbor-joining clustering method implemented in the program GENEIOUS v7.1.9 (Kearse *et al.* 2012). An individual representing a cryptic species, *P. australiana*, 'Calca-6', was used as the out-group. We assumed the Tamura-Nei (1993) model and resampled with 1000 bootstraps to generate a consensus tree displaying nodes with at least 50% consensus support and visualized the resulting tree in the program FIGTREE v1.4.2 (http://tree.bio.ed.ac.uk/software/figtree/).

Summary population statistics were calculated for variant SNPs (n=1285) and separately for all confident variant and invariant sites (n=491 832). The vcFTOOLS (Danecek *et al.* 2011) —depth function was used to calculate average site depth, and vcf-stats used to calculate the average number of genotyped sites and private alleles. Expected and observed heterozygosity and the inbreeding coefficient, F_{IS} , were calculated and significance determined by bootstraps (1000 bootstraps for the SNP variants, and 100 bootstraps for the 491 832 sites due to computational limits) using modified functions in the R package diveRsity

Location	Latitude	Longitude	Host	Collection date	^a Lifestage collected	^b F ₁ Individuals	Generation sequenced
Esperance, Western Australia	-33.8588	121.8931	Canola	26/9/2012	L, P	59	F6
Nundroo, South Australia	-31.7516	132.0565	Canola	19/8/2013	L	86	F2
Calca, South Australia	-33.0492	134.3729	Wild Brassica ^c	8/4/2014	L	-	Field
Picnic Beach, South Australia	-34.1696	135.2744	Wild <i>Brassica</i> ^d	7/4/2014	L	40	F1
Mallala, South Australia	-34.4383	138.5099	Canola	11/9/2013	L	173	F5
Virginia, South Australia	-34.715	138.557	Cauliflower	7/3/2013	L, P	-	Field
Glenore Grove, Queensland	-27.528	152.407	Cabbage	11/10/2012	L, P	25	F5
Mt Sylvia, Queensland	-27.717	152.220	Cabbage	3/10/2012	L, P	59	F5
Tenthill, Queensland	-27.566	152.235	Red cabbage	11/10/2012	L, P	40	F5

 TABLE 1

 Collection details of Plutella populations from Australia genotyped using RAD-Seq

^a Larvae (L), pupae (P), ^b Number of F₁ individuals used to establish laboratory populations, ^c*Diplotaxis* sp., ^d Sea rocket, *Cakile maritima*

(Keenan *et al.* 2013). To examine the effects of laboratory-rearing on genetic diversity, we plotted the distributions of average heterozygosity in R (R Core Team 2014).

To investigate population differentiation, a global estimate of Weir and Cockerham's (1984) F_{st} with 99% bootstrap confidence intervals (10 000 bootstraps) was calculated in the R package diveRsity (Keenan et al. 2013). Pairwise F_{ST} values (Weir and Cockerham 1984) were calculated and significance determined using exact G tests implemented in GENEPOP v4.3 (Rousset 2008) after Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons (Dunn 1961). To test for genetic isolation by distance (Wright 1943), we performed a Mantel test (Mantel 1967) using 10 000 permutations on the regression of Slatkin's (1995) linearized F_{st} transformation ($F_{st}/(1 - F_{st})$) onto the natural log of geographic distance (Rousset 1997) using the R package ade4 (Dray and Dufour 2007). Geographic distances were calculated using the GEOGRAPHIC DISTANCE MATRIX GENERATOR (Ersts 2007).

We used the 1285 SNP variants to analyse population structure using a Bayesian clustering method in the program STRUCTURE v2.3.4 (Pritchard *et al.* 2000). Variant data were converted from vCF to

STRUCTURE file format using PGDSPIDER v2.0.8.2 (Lischer and Excoffier 2012). STRUCTURE analysis was used to infer the number of genotypic clusters and assign individuals to clusters. Analyses were performed for all individuals (n=72) and separately for P. xylostella individuals only (n=69). For each analysis, we assumed the admixture model with correlated allele frequencies and the locprior model, specifying nine geographic populations. For each analysis, we performed ten independent STRUCTURE runs for each value of K=1-10, where K is the number of genotypic clusters. For all runs, we used 500 000 burn-ins and 500 000 MCMC replicates. The optimal K was determined using the delta K method of Evanno et al. (2005) visualized in the program STRUCTURE HARVESTER (Earl and vonHoldt 2012). Individual and population Q-matrices (containing posterior probability of assignment to genotypic clusters) across replicate structure runs were aligned in the program CLUMPP v1.1.2 (Jakobsson and Rosenberg 2007) and visualized in DISTRUCT v1.1 (Rosenberg 2004).

PCR genotyping assays

To examine the frequency of mutations associated with pyrethroid resistance, we performed PCR based genotyping assays for three pointmutations in the voltage gated sodium channel, T929I (*skdrl*), L1014F (*kdr*) and F1020S (*cdr*) according to Endersby *et al.* (2011). MyTaq polymerase (Bioline) was used for amplification in a Verity thermocycler (ABI).

To distinguish between P. xylostella and P. australiana lineages, we developed a PCR-RFLP genotyping assay using COI sequence published by Landry and Hebert (2013). Genomic DNA was amplified using a modified LCO1492_Px primer (5'-TCAACAAATCA TAAA GATATTGG-3') and HCO2198 (5'-TAAACTTCA GGGTGACCAAAAA ATCA-3') (Folmer et al. 1994). Ten microliter reactions were run with 2 µL of MyTaq 10x buffer, 0.4 µL of each primer (10 µM stocks), 1 µL of DNA (approx. 5 ng) and 0.05 µL of MyTaq polymerase (Bioline). Samples were amplified at 95 °C for 2 minutes, then 35 cycles at 95°C for 10 seconds, 52°C for 20 seconds, 72°C for 30 seconds) followed by a 5 minute final extension at 72°C. PCR products were then digested at 37°C for 1 hour with Accl restriction enzyme with 2 µL Cutsmart Buffer and 1 unit of AccI (NEB) to a final volume of 20 µL. Following digestion, products were separated using agarose gel electrophoresis (1.5%). P. xylostella products are approximately 517 bp and 191 bp and P. australiana products are 348 bp and 360 bp (Figure 1C).

RESULTS

Population genetic analysis

Using RAD sequencing we identified a set of 491 832 variant and invariant sites, representing 0.146% of the *P. xylostella* reference genome, and a subset of 1285 SNP variants, for population genetic analysis. Individuals from nine field and laboratory-reared populations from Australia were genotyped at an average read depth of 45 (Table 1).

The 491 832 confident sites were used to generate a neighbour-joining phylogeny for all 72 individuals (Figure 1A,B). Seven individuals collected from South Australian locations, three from Calca, three from Nundroo and one from Picnic Beach, were confidently resolved with 100% consensus support. Three individuals, Calca-4,-6 and -7, showed particularly long branch lengths, although the branch length estimate for Calca-4 is inflated due to missing data (48% sites genotyped). We performed PCR mitochondrial genotyping assays to assess whether the dataset contained multiple *Plutella* lineages. The assays identified the three divergent individuals,

Calca-4,-6 and -7, as a cryptic species, *P. australiana*, and confirmed that all other individuals (n=69) were *P. xylostella* (Figure 1C). These results based on RAD-Seq markers indicate strong divergence in the nuclear genome between the two Australian *Plutella* lineages, consistent with high mitochondrial sequence divergence already reported (Landry and Hebert 2013). Four basal *P. xylostella* individuals, Picnic Beach-5, -6, -9 and Nundroo-8, were also confidently resolved (100% consensus support), and relative branch length estimates suggest strong divergence from other *P. xylostella*. All remaining *P. xylostella* individuals could not be confidently resolved (<50% consensus support), despite some evidence of individuals grouping according to geographic location.

The levels of heterozygosity were used to assess genetic diversity within and among populations. For all genotyped sites, the average observed heterozygosity ranged from 0.0085 to 0.0150 for P. xylostella populations but was notably higher at 0.0220 for the three P. australiana individuals (Table 2). The average number of private alleles among P. xylostella populations ranged from 20-91, while three P. australiana individuals had a much higher average of 1476 private alleles (range 606-2063), consistent with strong divergence. For the variant SNP dataset, the average observed heterozygosity ranged from 0.3052 to 0.5115 for *P. xylostella* populations, and again was higher at 0.5619 for the three P. australiana individuals (Table 2). Private alleles were filtered out of the SNP variant dataset. Average levels of heterozygosity were variable within and among populations (Figure 2). Laboratory-reared populations, Esperance, Glenore Grove and Mt Sylvia, show the lowest levels of genetic diversity (Figure 2), and were founded with relatively low numbers of individuals, ranging from 25-59 (Table 1). The values for the inbreeding coefficient, F₁₅ were significantly different from zero for these three populations (Table 2).

The global estimate of F_{sT} across all *P. xylostella* populations and loci was significantly different from zero ($F_{sT} = 0.0487$, 99% CL 0.0187-0.0905), indicating significant genetic differentiation among the nine populations. The pairwise F_{sT} values indicate that the differentiation is associated with populations from the three regions, Western Australia, South Australia and Queensland (Table 3). However, patterns of differentiation did not clearly relate to geographic proximity and may reflect inbreeding in laboratory populations. Glenore Grove, for example, was highly differentiated from all other populations including those from Tenthill and Mt Sylvia in close proximity (18-28 km). Lower F_{sT} values among some South.



(A) Neighbour-joining consensus tree generated from 491 832 variant and invariant sites for 72 Plutella individuals, displaying nodes with at least 50% consensus support. Node labels are the percentage consensus support for 1000 bootstrap replicates. (B) Map of collection sites for nine Plutella populations from Western Australia (n=1), South Australia (n=5) and Queensland (n=3). (C) Gel electrophoresis image showing the results of a mitochondrial CO1 gene assay to distinguish the two Plutella lineages. P. australiana is genotyped as a single band, shown by black arrows and P. xylostella as two bands





(A) Distributions of observed heterozygosity for Plutella populations. Each population contains eight individuals.
 Calca is split into two lineages, Calca P.x. (n=5) and Calca P.a. (n=3). (B) Regressions of Slatkin's linearized genetic distance (F_{st}/1- F_{st}) against the natural log of geographic distance (Ln km) for all pairwise population comparisons of P. xylostella (n=69 individuals). Lines represent the fitted linear regression model for pairwise comparisons for 'all populations' (grey and black circles, solid line, y= 0.00529x+0.01646, Mantel's r=0.3048, p=0.0215), 'cage' populations (grey circles, dashed line, y=0.0096x + 0.04854, Mantel's r=0.07388, p=0.36226) and 'field' populations (black circles, dotted line, y=0.02224x-0.11197, Mantel's r=0.88862, p=0.33307)

TABLE 2

Population statistics calculated for the SNP variant sites (top) and for all confidently called ($GQ \ge 30$) variant and invariant sites (bottom) for populations of Plutella species collected from Australia. Populations each contain eight sequenced individuals with Calca split into P. xylostella (n=5) and P. australiana (n=3) individuals. Statistics include the population means for the number of individuals genotyped per locus (N), number of sites genotyped, site depth, number of sites unique to each population (private alleles), the proportion of observed (H_{o}) and expected (H_{F}) heterozygosity, and Wright's inbreeding coefficient (F_{15})

Population	Ν	Sites genotyped	Site depth	Private H _o		H_{E}	F _{IS}
SNP variants (n=1 285)							
Esperance	6.7	1073	32	0	0.3485	0.3650	0.0451
Nundroo	7.6	1215	54	0	0.4008	0.3763	-0.0653
Calca_Px	4.8	1246	65	0	0.4327	0.3844	-0.1256
Calca_Pa	2.0	855	34	0	0.5249	0.3233	-0.6173
Picnic Beach	7.7	1238	73	0	0.3977	0.3821	-0.0408
Mallala	7.7	1229	42	0	0.5619	0.4263	-0.3181
Virginia	7.4	1194	30	0	0.5115	0.4032	-0.2685
Glenore Grove	7.2	1158	34	0	0.3052	0.3469	0.1202
Mt Sylvia	7.3	1169	33	0	0.3490	0.3667	0.0482
Tenthill	7.3	1175	32	0	0.4827	0.4026	-0.1991
All variant and in	variant s	ites (n=491 832	2)				
Esperance	7.5	462076	33	41	0.0090	0.0108	0.1715*
Nundroo	7.8	479764	54	32	0.0120	0.0120	0.0041
Calca_Px	4.9	482269	65	91	0.0135	0.0129	-0.0492
Calca_Pa	2.4	398538	39	1476	0.0220	0.0185	-0.1923
Picnic Beach	7.9	482882	72	77	0.0132	0.0133	0.0113
Mallala	7.9	484254	43	20	0.0150	0.0129	-0.1651
Virginia	7.8	480662	31	53	0.0142	0.0129	-0.1017
Glenore Grove	7.6	464262	35	28	0.0085	0.0103	0.1800*
Mt Sylvia	7.7	473837	34	30	0.0098	0.0112	0.1313*
Tenthill	7.8	479215	33	20	0.0126	0.0118	-0.0658

* F₁₅ values in bold are significantly different from zero according to bootstrapped 95% CL.

	Esperance (F ₆)	Nundroo (F ₂)	Calca_Px (F ₀)	Picnic Beach (F ₁)	Mallala (F ₄)	Virginia (F ₀)	Glenore Grove (F ₅)	Mt Sylvia (F ₅)	Tenthill (F ₅)
Esperance, WA		979	1162	1234	1530	1534	2993	2968	2975
Nundroo, SA	0.0576***		261	403	672	689	2021	1997	2004
Calca_Px, SA	0.0554	0.0506		150	413	429	1836	1811	1819
Picnic Beach, SA	0.0651***	0.0726***	-0.0027		299	307	1793	1767	1776
Mallala, SA	0.0322	0.0220	0.0275	0.0395		31	1531	1504	1515
Virginia, SA	0.0489	0.0553	0.0178	0.0219	0.0100		1541	1514	1525
Glenore Grove, Qld	0.0682***	0.0875***	0.0772***	0.0885***	0.0560**	0.0779***		28	18
Mt Sylvia, Qld	0.0615***	0.0787***	0.0467	0.0579***	0.0402	0.0462	0.0778***		17
Tenthill, Qld	0.0427	0.0556	0.0358	0.0474	0.0108	0.0253	0.0534**	0.0284	

Pairwise comparisons of genetic distance measured by Weir and Cockerham's (1984) F_{st} (lower diagonal) and geographic distance in km (upper diagonal) for all population pairs of P. xylostella

TABLE 3

Significance of exact G tests after Bonferonni correction: P<0.05 *, P<0.001**, P<0.001***

Australian populations suggest high levels of gene flow within this region, however these populations were also not differentiated from Tenthill in Queensland despite large geographic separation (1515-1819 km). The Mantel test for all pairwise population comparisons indicated a weak but significant effect of isolation by distance (n=69 individuals, r = 0.3048, p=0.0215) (Figure 2B). When analysed separately however, there was no relationship between genetic and geographic distance for pairwise comparisons of either 'cage' populations (n=33, F_2 - F_6 ; Mantel's r= 0.07388, p=0.36226) or 'field' populations (n=3, F_0 - F_1 ; Mantel's r= 0.88862, p=0.33307).

We performed an analysis of population structure using a Bayesian clustering approach in the program STRUCTURE. For the analysis of all population samples (n=72), the data most likely formed three genotypic clusters (K=3) (Figure 3). Inspection of STRUCTURE barplots shows that individuals from Calca and Picnic Beach populations were assigned to similar genotype clusters, however STRUCTURE did not identify the three *P. australiana* individuals from Calca at that value of *K*. Although statistically less likely, *K* values of



Posterior probability of assignment to inferred genotypic clusters, K, generated in the program STRUCTURE for 'all individuals' (n=72), and separately for '*P. xylostella individuals*' (n=69) where three *P. australiana* individuals from the Calca population were excluded. The most likely K for 'all individuals' and '*P.x. only*' is indicated by black arrows. Each vertical bar represents a single individual, populations are separated by black vertical lines, and different genotypic clusters for K=2-4 are represented by different colours

2 and 4 are also presented. At K=4, the P. australiana individuals are more clearly resolved, as seen by tall black bars for individuals Calca-4 and -6 (Figure 3A). Moderate sharing of the black-coloured genotype cluster occurs across all individuals from Calca and Picnic Beach, and rarely elsewhere. For the analysis excluding the three P. australiana individuals, the most likely number of clusters was reduced to two (K=2). At this value of K, a high degree of admixture is evidence among most populations, as seen by sharing of pink and blue-coloured genotypic clusters. The two populations collected from wild hosts in a similar region, Calca and Picnic Beach, share similar genotypic clusters. At K=3, the assignment of individuals to genotypic clusters is consistent with patterns of population differentiation inferred from pairwise F_{st} values (Table 3).

Frequency of insecticide resistance alleles

We examined the frequency of mutations associated with pyrethroid resistance among nine populations collected from canola crops, *Brassica* vegetable crops and wild hosts. The average frequencies for *skdrl*, *kdr* and *cdr* were 0.29, 0.51 and 0.27 respectively (Appendix). The frequencies were comparable among populations for *skdrl* (range 0.2-0.38) and *kdr* (range 0.25-0.83), but more variable for *cdr* (0.05-0.6). Interestingly, the populations collected from wild hosts, Calca and Picnic Beach, had a moderately high frequency of the *cdr* mutation relative to most other populations. In contrast, the three *P. australiana* samples were all found to be susceptible for *skdrl* and *cdr* however the *kdr* assay failed, possibly due to variation in primer binding sites.

DISCUSSION

RAD sequencing was used to identify thousands of SNP markers and hundreds of thousands of invariant loci from across the genome of two *Plutella* species. These markers facilitated an initial assessment of genetic diversity within and among nine *Plutella* populations collected from different locations and host plants across Australia.

Analysis of RAD-Seq markers and mitochondrial genotyping identified three individuals of a cryptic *Plutella* lineage, *P. australiana*, among our 72 *Plutella* individuals. The relative branch length estimates in the neighbouring-joining tree, differences in heterozygosity and high numbers of private alleles within the *P. australiana* populations (albeit only three individuals) provide the first evidence that the *P. australiana* and *P. xylostella* lineages are strongly divergent in their nuclear genomes. Among the three *P. australiana* individuals, it was interesting to note that individual Calca-7 had the fewest number of private alleles (606, compared to 1760 and 2062) despite having the highest heterozygosity (3.2%, compared to 1.5% and 1.04%). The phylogeny also shows this individuals Picnic Beach-9 and Nundroo-8, which grouped separately from all other *P. xylostella* individuals. As yet, the potential for hybridization between these lineages remains to be tested.

The original discovery of P. australiana in Australia was made through sequencing the mitochondrial COI gene from moths collected in light traps, rather than from known host plants (Landry and Hebert 2013). Hence, the fundamental biology of this species and its potential pest status remain to be understood. In our study, individuals of P. australiana and P. xylostella were collected from a wild Brassicaceous host, Diplotaxis sp., at the same location and date, indicating that these lineages can co-exist in similar environments and exploit at least one common host. Considering that there have been several previous genetic studies of P. xylostella in Australia (Endersby et al. 2006, Pichon et al. 2006, Roux et al. 2007, Endersby et al. 2008), including mitochondrial markers (Saw et al. 2006), the discovery of this novel lineage only recently is intriguing. It is possible that differences in sampling strategies (direct sampling from plants vs trapping), times or locations between studies, or differences in the biology of *Plutella* lineages (e.g. host range), meant that P. australiana was not collected in previous studies. Alternatively, some molecular markers designed for P. xylostella may not amplify efficiently in P. australiana. These questions require further investigation.

We examined genetic diversity in field and laboratory-reared populations of *P. xylostella*. Significantly reduced heterozygosity was observed in the laboratory populations, Glenore Grove, Mt Sylvia and Esperance, as measured by the inbreeding coefficient, F_{IS} (Table 2). These populations were founded by 25-59 individuals at the F_1 generation and then reared for five to six generations. The population from Mallala was also reared for five generations but established from a higher number of individuals
(n=173), and maintained higher levels of heterozygosity in culture, comparable with the field (F_0) populations.

We assessed genetic structure among our population samples using a range of approaches. The global estimate of F_{st} (0.0487, 99% CL 0.0187-0.0905) indicated significant genetic differentiation among our populations. Pairwise F_{st} comparisons showed that most differentiation was associated with the three most inbred laboratory populations, Glenore Grove, Mt Sylvia, Esperance, but also Nundroo (F₂). There was no evidence for isolation by distance in pairwise population comparisons among laboratory populations only. Hence, the estimates of genetic isolation are inflated by inbreeding in population cages. The STRUCTURE analysis for all population samples (n=72) inferred that individuals most likely form three genotypic clusters, however failed to resolve the two lineages at that value of K. This result could reflect that alleles unique to P. australiana individuals were filtered out of the variant SNP dataset used for this analysis. Removing P. australiana reduced the optimal value of K to two. At this K value, a large degree of admixture was observed among populations, supporting the neighbor-joining phylogeny which failed to clearly resolve clusters for the majority of P. xylostella individuals (<50% consensus support). Overall, these findings are consistent with high levels of gene flow previously reported for Australian populations of diamondback moth (Endersby et al. 2006).

The frequency of pyrethroid resistance alleles has previously been documented for Australian P. xylostella populations collected from 2003-2005 (Endersby et al. 2011). Endersby et al. (2011) reported average resistance allele frequencies for *skdrl* (0.139), kdr (0.609) and cdr (0.305), however considerable spatial variation was observed. To assess the potential change in frequencies over time, we re-examined these frequencies from populations collected between 2012 and 2014 (Table 1,4). The average frequency for skdrl, kdr and cdr were 0.29, 0.51 and 0.27 respectively, which is comparable between studies for kdr and cdr, however somewhat higher for skdrl. The stability of these frequencies may reflect that synthetic pyrethroid insecticides continue to be widely used to control a range of invertebrate pests in Australian crops.

CONCLUSION

RAD-Seq is a powerful method for generating SNP markers for population genetic studies in the diamondback moth. We recommend that future studies focus on field sampling design and wherever possible strive to use field-collected (F_0) populations to adequately represent genetic diversity.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

We thank Kevin Powis, Fred Bartholomaeus and Greg Baker (South Australian Research & Development Institute) for population samples and meta-data, Claudia Junge for helpful advice on the analysis, and Eliska Zlamalova for assistance with PCR genotyping. KDP is funded by The University of Adelaide and the Grains Research & Development Corporation (UA00146). SWB is funded by the Australian Research Council (DP120100047, FT140101303).

REFERENCES

- BAIRD, N.A., ETTER, P.D., ATWOOD, T.S., CURREY, M.C., SHIVER, A.L., LEWIS, Z.A., SELKER, E.U., CRESKO, W.A. AND JOHNSON, E.A., 2008, Rapid SNP discovery and genetic mapping using sequenced RAD markers. *Plos One.* 3(10): e3376.
- BAXTER, S.W., DAVEY, J.W., JOHNSTON, J.S., SHELTON, A.M., HECKEL, D.G., JIGGINS, C.D. AND BLAXTER, M.L., 2011, Linkage mapping and comparative genomics using next-generation RAD sequencing of a non-model organism. *Plos One.* 6(4): e19315.
- BOLGER, A.M., LOHSE, M. AND USADEL, B., 2014, Trimmomatic: A flexible trimmer for Illumina Sequence Data. *Bioinformatics*. **30**: 2114–2120.
- BROQUET, T. AND PETIT, E.J., 2009, Molecular estimation of dispersal for ecology and population genetics. *Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst.* **40**: 193-216.
- CAPRIO, M.A. AND TABASHNIK, B.E., 1992, Allozymes used to estimate gene flow among populations of diamondback moth (Lepidoptera, Plutellidae) in Hawaii. *Environ. Entomol.* **21**: 808-816.
- CATCHEN, J., HOHENLOHE, P.A., BASSHAM, S., AMORES, A. AND CRESKO, W.A., 2013, Stacks: an analysis tool set for population genomics. *Mol. Ecol.* 22: 3124-3140.
- CHANG, W.X.Z., TABASHNIK, B.E., ARTELT, B., MALVAR, T., BALLESTER, V., FERRE, J. AND RODERICK, G.K., 1997, Mitochondrial DNA sequence variation among geographic strains of diamondback moth (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae). Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am. 90: 590-595.

- CHAPMAN, J.W., REYNOLDS, D.R., SMITH, A.D., RILEY, J.R., PEDGLEY, D.E. AND WOIWOD, I.P., 2002, High-altitude migration of the diamondback moth *Plutella xylostella* to the UK: A study using radar, aerial netting, and ground trapping. *Ecol. Entomol.* **27**: 641-650.
- CHU, Y.I., 1986, The migration of the diamondback moth. In: N.S. Talekar and T.D. Griggs (Editors), Diamondback Moth Management. The Asian Vegetable Research and Development Center, Shanhua, Taiwan, pp. 77-81.
- DANECEK, P., AUTON, A., ABECASIS, G., ALBERS, C.A., BANKS, E., DEPRISTO, M.A., HANDSAKER, R.E., LUNTER, G., MARTH, G.T., SHERRY, S.T., MCVEAN, G., DURBIN, R. AND 1000 GENOMES PROJECT ANALYSIS GROUP, 2011, The variant call format and VCFtools. *Bioinformatics* 27: 2156-2158.
- DAVEY, J.L. AND BLAXTER, M.W., 2010, RADseq: Nextgeneration population genetics. *Brief. Funct. Genomics.* 9: 416-423.
- DAVEY, J.W., HOHENLOHE, P.A., ETTER, P.D., BOONE, J.Q., CATCHEN, J.M. AND BLAXTER, M,L., 2011, Genomewide genetic marker discovery and genotyping using next-generation sequencing. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* **12**: 499-510.
- DEPRISTO, M.A., BANKS, E., POPLIN, R., GARIMELLA, K.V., MAGUIRE, J.R., HARTL, C., PHILIPPAKIS, A.A., DEL ANGEL, G., RIVAS, M.A., HANNA, M., MCKENNA, A., FENNELL, T.J., KERNYTSKY, A.M., SIVACHENKO, A.Y., CIBULSKIS, K., GABRIEL, S.B., ALTSHULER, D. AND DALY, M.J., 2011, A framework for variation discovery and genotyping using next-generation DNA sequencing data. Nat. Genet. 43: 491-498.
- DOSDALL, L.M., MASON, P.G., OLFERT, O., KAMINSKI, L. AND KEDDIE, B.A., 2004, The origins of infestations of diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* (L.), in canola in Western Canada. *In:* ENDERSBY, N.M. AND RIDLAND, P. M., (Eds.) 2004. *Proceedings of the Fourth International Workshop on the Management of Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Pests. Melbourne, Australia*: The Regional Inst. pp. 95-100.
- DRAY, S. AND DUFOUR, A.B., 2007, The ade4 package: implementing the duality diagram for ecologists. *J. Stat. Softw.* **22**: 1-20.
- DUNN, O.J., 1961. Multiple comparisons among means. J. Am. Stat. Assoc. 56: 52.
- EARL, D.A. AND VON HOLDT, B.M., 2012, STRUCTURE HARVESTER: a website and program for visualizing STRUCTURE output and implementing the Evanno method. *Conserv. Genet. Resour.* **4**: 359-361.
- ENDERSBY, N.M., MCKECHNIE, S.W., RIDLAND, P.M. AND WEEKS, A.R., 2006, Microsatellites reveal a lack of structure in Australian populations of the diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* (L.). *Mol. Ecol.* **15**: 107-118.

- Endersby, N.M., Ridland, P.M. AND Hoffmann, A.A., 2008, The effects of local selection versus dispersal on insecticide resistance patterns: Longitudinal evidence from diamondback moth (*Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae)) in Australia evolving resistance to pyrethroids. *Bull. Entomol. Res.* **98**: 145-157.
- ENDERSBY, N.M., VIDUKA, K., BAXTER, S.W., SAW, J., HECKEL, D.G. AND MCKECHNIE, S.W., 2011, Widespread pyrethroid resistance in Australian diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* (L.), is related to multiple mutations in the para sodium channel gene. *Bull. Entomol. Res.* 101: 393-405.
- ERSTS, P.J., 2007, *Geographic Distance Matrix Generator* (version 1.2.3). American Museum of Natural History, Center for Biodiversity and Conservation.
- EVANNO, G., REGNAUT, S. AND GOUDET, J., 2005, Detecting the number of clusters of individuals using the software STRUCTURE: a simulation study. *Mol. Ecol.* **14**: 2611-2620.
- FOLMER, O., BLACK, M., HOEH, W., LUTZ, R. AND VRIJENHOEK, R., 1994, DNA primers for amplification of mitochondrial Cytochrome c Oxidase subunit I from diverse metazoan invertebrates. *Mol. Mar. Biol. Biotechnol.* 3: 294-299.
- FU, X., XING, Z., LIU, Z., ALI, A. AND WU, K., 2014, Migration of diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella*, across the Bohai Sea in northern China. *Crop Prot.* 64: 143-149.
- FURLONG, M.J., SPAFFORD, H., RIDLAND, P.M., ENDERSBY, N.M., EDWARDS, O.R., BAKER, G.J., KELLER, M.A. AND PAULL, C.A., 2008, Ecology of diamondback moth in Australian canola: Landscape perspectives and the implications for management. *Aust. J. Exp. Agric.* 48: 1494-1505.
- FURLONG, M.J., WRIGHT, D.J. AND DOSDALL, L.M., 2013, Diamondback moth ecology and management: Problems, progress, and prospects. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 58: 517-541.
- GLENN, T.C., 2011, Field guide to next-generation DNA sequencers. *Molecular Ecology Resources* 11:759-769.
- HENNIGES-JANSSEN, K., REINEKE, A., HECKEL, D.G. AND GROOT, A.T., 2011, Complex inheritance of larval adaptation in *Plutella xylostella* to a novel host plant. *Heredity.* **107**: 421-432.
- JAKOBSSON, M. AND ROSENBERG, N.A., 2007, CLUMPP: A cluster matching and permutation program for dealing with label switching and multimodality in analysis of population structure. *Bioinformatics*. 23:1801-1806.
- KEARSE, M., MOIR, R., WILSON, A., STONES-HAVAS, S., CHEUNG, M., STURROCK, S., BUXTON, S., COOPER, A.,

MARKOWITZ, S., DURAN, C., THIERER, T., ASHTON, B., MEINTJES, P. AND DRUMMOND, A., 2012, Geneious Basic: An integrated and extendable desktop software platform for the organization and analysis of sequence data. *Bioinformatics.* **28**: 1647-1649.

- KEENAN, K., MCGINNITY, P., CROSS, T.F., CROZIER, W.W. AND PRODÖHL, P.A., 2013, diveRsity: an R package for the estimation and exploration of population genetics parameters and their associated errors. *Methods Ecol. Evol.* 4: 782-788.
- KIM, I., BAE, A.S., LEE, K.S., KIM, E.S., LEE, H.S., RYU, K.S., YOON, JIN B.R., MOON, B.J. AND SOHN, H.D., 2003, COI gene sequence-based population genetic structure of the diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella*, in Korea. *Korean J. Genet.* 25: 155-170.
- KIM, I., BAE, J.S., CHOI, K.H., KIM, S.R., JIN, B.R., LEE, K.R. AND SOHN, H.D., 2000, Mitochondrial DNA polymorphism and population genetic structure of diamondback moths, *Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera: Yponomeutidae), in Korea. *Korean J. Entomol.* 30: 21-32.
- KIM, K.S. AND SAPPINGTON, T.W., 2013, Population genetics strategies to characterize long-distance dispersal of insects. J. Asia-Pacific Entomol. 16: 87-97
- KIM, Y., KIM, K. AND KIM, N., 1999, Genetic difference between two field populations of *Plutella xylostella* (L.) based on four polymorphic allozymes. *J. Asia-Pacific Entomol.* 2: 1-5.
- LANDRY, J.F. AND HEBERT, P.D.N., 2013, *Plutella australiana* (Lepidoptera, Plutellidae), an overlooked diamondback moth revealed by DNA barcodes. *Zookeys.* **327**: 43-63.
- LESKINEN, M., MARKKULA, I., KOISTINEN, J., PYLKKO, P., OOPERI, S., SILJAMO, P., OJANEN, H., RAISKIO, S. AND TIILIKKALA, K., 2011, Pest insect immigration warning by an atmospheric dispersion model, weather radars and traps. *J. Appl. Entomol.* **135**: 55-67.
- LI, J., ZHAO, F., CHOI, Y.S., KIM, I., SOHN, H.D. AND JIN, B.R., 2006, Genetic variation in the diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera: Yponomeutidae) in China inferred from mitochondrial COI gene sequence. *European J. Entomol.* **103**: 605-611.
- LISCHER, H.E.L. AND EXCOFFIER, L., 2012, PGDSpider: an automated data conversion tool for connecting population genetics and genomics programs. *Bioinformatics.* **28**: 298-299.
- LOZIER, J.D., 2014, Revisiting comparisons of genetic diversity in stable and declining species: assessing genome-wide polymorphism in North American bumble bees using RAD sequencing. *Mol. Ecol.* 23: 788-801.

- LUNTER, G. AND GOODSON, M., 2011, Stampy: a statistical algorithm for sensitive and fast mapping of Illumina sequence reads. *Genome Res.* **21**: 936-939.
- LUSHAI, G. AND LOXDALE, H.D., 2004, Tracking movement in small insect pests, with special reference to aphid populations. *Int. J. Pest Manag.* **50**: 307-315.
- Mantel, N., 1967, The detection of disease clustering and a generalized regression approach. *Cancer Res.* 27: 209-220.
- MCKENNA, A., HANNA, M., BANKS, E., SIVACHENKO, A., CIBULSKIS, K., KERNYTSKY, A., GARIMELLA, K., ALTSHULER, D., GABRIEL, S., DALY, M. AND DEPRISTO, M.A., 2010, The Genome Analysis Toolkit: A MapReduce framework for analyzing next-generation DNA sequencing data. *Genome Res.* 20: 1297-1303.
- Mo, J.H., BAKER, G.J., KELLER, M.A. AND ROUSH, R., 2003, Local dispersal of the diamondback moth (*Plutella xylostella* (L.)) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae). *Environ. Entomol.* **32**: 71-79.
- NADEAU, N.J., MARTIN, S.H., KOZAK, K.M., SALAZAR, C., DASMAHAPATRA, K.K., DAVEY, J.W., BAXTER, S.W., BLAXTER, M.L., MALLET, J. AND JIGGINS, C.D., 2013, Genome-wide patterns of divergence and gene flow across a butterfly radiation. *Mol. Ecol.* 22: 814-826.
- NARUM, S.R., BUERKLE, C.A., DAVEY, J.W., MILLER, M.R. AND HOHENLOHE, P.A., 2013, Genotyping-bysequencing in ecological and conservation genomics. *Mol. Ecol.* 22: 2841-2847.
- NIU, Y.Q., NANSEN, C., LI, X.W. AND LIU, T.X., 2014, Geographical variation of *Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) populations revealed by mitochondrial COI gene in China. *J. Appl. Entomol.* 138: 692-700.
- NORAN, A.M. AND TANG, P.Y., 1996, Allozymic polymorphism among three populations of *Plutella xylostella*. In: *The Management of Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Pests, Proceedings of the Third International Workshop, 29 October*"1 November 1996 (eds SIVAPRAGASAM, A., LOKE, W., HUSSAN, A. AND LIM, G.), pp. 322–325. Malaysian Agricultural Research and Development Institute, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia.
- PICHON, A., ARVANITAKIS, L., ROUX, O., KIRK, A.A., ALAUZET, C., BORDAT, D. AND LEGAL, L., 2006, Genetic differentiation among various populations of the diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera: Yponomeutidae). *Bull. Entomol. Res.* **96**: 137-144.
- PRITCHARD, J.K., STEPHENS, M. AND DONNELLY, P., 2000, Inference of population structure using multilocus genotype data. *Genetics*. **155**: 945-959.

- R CORE TEAM, 2014, R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria, 2012. ISBN 3-900051-07-0.
- REITZEL, A.M., HERRERA, S., LAYDEN, M.J., MARTINDALE, M.Q. AND SHANK, T.M., 2013, Going where traditional markers have not gone before: Utility of and promise for RAD sequencing in marine invertebrate phylogeography and population genomics. *Mol. Ecol.* 22: 2953-2970.
- RODERICK, G.K., 1996, Geographic structure of insect populations: Gene flow, phylogeography, and their uses. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.* **41**: 325-352.
- ROSENBERG, N.A., 2004, DISTRUCT: a program for the graphical display of population structure. *Mol. Ecol. Notes.* **4**: 137-138.
- ROUSSET, F., 1997, Genetic differentiation and estimation of gene flow from F-statistics under isolation by distance. *Genetics*. **145**: 1219-1228.
- ROUSSET, F., 2008, genepop'007: a complete reimplementation of the genepop software for Windows and Linux. *Mol. Ecol. Resour.* 8: 103-106.
- ROUX, O., GEVREY, M., ARVANITAKIS, L., GERS, C., BORDAT, D. AND LEGAL, L., 2007, ISSR-PCR: Tool for discrimination and genetic structure analysis of *Plutella xylostella* populations native to different geographical areas. *Mol. Phylogenet. Evol.* 43: 240-250.
- SAW, J., ENDERSBY, N.M., MCKECHNIE, S.W., 2006, Low mtDNA diversity among widespread Australian diamondback moth *Plutella xylostella* (L.) suggests isolation and a founder effect. *Insect Sci.* **13**: 365-373.
- SLATKIN, M., 1995, A measure of population subdivision based on microsatellite allele frequencies. *Genetics*. **139**: 457-462.
- SUN, J.T., WANG, M.M., ZHANG, Y.K., CHAPUIS, M.P., JIANG, X.Y., HU, G, YANG, X.M., GE, C., XUE, X.F. AND HONG, X.Y., 2015, Evidence for high dispersal ability and mito-nuclear discordance in the small brown planthopper, *Laodelphax striatellus. Sci. Rep.* 5.
- TAMURA, K. AND NEI, M., 1993, Estimation of the number of nucleotide substitutions in the control region of mitochondrial-DNA in humans and chimpanzees. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 10: 512-526.
- TURELLI, M., BARTON, N.H. AND COYNE, J.A., 2001, Theory and speciation. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* **16**: 330-343.
- VAN DER AUWERA, G.A., CARNEIRO, M.O., HARTL, C., POPLIN, R., DEL ANGEL, G., LEVY-MOONSHINE, A., JORDAN, T., SHAKIR, K., ROAZEN, D., THIBAULT, J., BANKS, E., GARIMELLA, K.V., ALTSHULER, D., GABRIEL, S. AND DEPRISTO, M.A., 2013, From FastQ data to high-

confidence variant calls: The Genome Analysis Toolkit Best Practices Pipeline. *Curr. Protoc. Bioinformatics*. **43**: 11.10.1-33.

- WEI, S.J., SHI, B.C., GONG, Y.J., JIN, G.H., CHEN, X.X. AND MENG, X.F., 2013, Genetic structure and demographic history reveal migration of the diamondback moth *Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) from the southern to northern regions of china. *Plos One* 8: e59654.
- WEIR, B.S. AND COCKERHAM, C.C., 1984, Estimating Fstatistics for the analysis of population structure. *Evolution.* **38**: 1358-1370.
- WRIGHT, S., 1943, Isolation by distance. *Genetics*. **28**: 114-138.
- YANG, J., TIAN, L., XU, B., XIE, W., WANG, S., ZHANG, Y., WANG, X. AND WU, Q., 2015, Insight into the migration routes of *Plutella xylostella* in China Using mtCOI and ISSR Markers. *Plos One.* 10: e0130905.
- YODER, M., DE LEY, I.T., KING, I. WM, MUNDO-OCAMPO, M., MANN, J., BLAXTER, M., POIRAS, L. AND DE LEY, P., 2006, DESS: a versatile solution for preserving morphology and extractable DNA of nematodes. *Nematology*. 8: 367-376.
- You, M., Yue, Z., He, W., YANG, X., YANG, G., XIE, M., ZHAN, D., BAXTER, S.W., VASSEUR, L., GURR, G.M., DOUGLAS, C.J., BAI, J., WANG, P., CUI, K., HUANG, S., LI, X., ZHOU, Q., WU, Z., CHEN, Q., LIU, C., WANG, B., LI, X., XU, X., LU, C., HU, M., DAVEY, J.W., SMITH, S.M., CHEN, M., XIA, X., TANG, W., KE, F., ZHENG, D., HU, Y., SONG, F., YOU, Y., MA, X., PENG, L., ZHENG, Y., LIANG, Y., CHEN, Y., YU, L., ZHANG, Y., LIU, Y., LI, G., FANG, L., LI, J., ZHOU, X., LUO, Y., GOU, C., WANG, J., WANG, J., YANG, H. AND WANG, J., 2013, A heterozygous moth genome provides insights into herbivory and detoxification. *Nat. Genet.* 45: 220-225.
- ZALUCKI, M.P. AND FURLONG, M.J., 2005, Forecasting *Helicoverpa* populations in Australia: A comparison of regression-based models and a bio-climatic based modelling approach. *Insect Sci.* **12**: 45-56.
- ZALUCKI, M.P., SHABBIR, A., SILVA, R., ADAMSON, D., LIU, S.S. AND FURLONG, M.J., 2012, Estimating the economic cost of one of the world's major insect pests, *Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae): Just how long is a piece of string? *J. Econ. Entomol.* **105**: 1115-1129.
- ZRAKET, C., BARTH, J., HECKEL, D. AND ABBOTT, A., 1990, Genetic linkage mapping with restriction fragment length polymorphisms in the tobacco budworm, *Heliothis virescens. Molecular Insect Science* (eds: HAGENDORN, H.H., HILDEBRAND, J.G., KIDWELL, M.G. AND LAW, J.H.) Plenum Press, New York 1990, pp 13-20.

APPENDIX

TABLE 4

Frequency of resistance alleles for three known point mutations in the voltage-gated sodium channel (Endersby et al. 2011) in nine populations of P. xylostella: super-kdr-like (skdrl), knockdown resistance (kdr), and crashdown (cdr)

T 14	TT 44	Individuals	Resistance allele frequency		
Locality	Host type	(skdrl/kdr/cdr)	skdrl	Kdr	cdr
Esperance, Western Australia	Canola	7/6/8	0.36	0.58	0.06
Nundroo, South Australia	Canola	10/10/10	0.20	0.25	0.1
Calca, South Australia	Wild host	9/9/9	0.38	0.63	0.31
Picnic Beach, South Australia	Wild host	12/9/12	0.33	0.72	0.29
Mallala, South Australia	Canola	10/6/10	0.35	0.67	0.05
Virginia, South Australia	Vegetables	10/10/10	0.30	0.40	0.60
Glenore Grove, Queensland	Vegetables	8/5/8	0.25	0.60	0.19
Mt Sylvia, Queensland	Vegetables	8/6/9	0.31	0.83	0.06
Tenthill, Queensland	Vegetables	10/10/10	0.30	0.40	0.20
By Host type:					
Canola (n. pops = 3)	С	27/22/28	0.30	0.45	0.07
Wild hosts (n. $pops = 2$)	W	21/18/21	0.35	0.65	0.30
Vegetables (n. pops = 4)	V	36/31/37	0.29	0.51	0.27

Session 2

Biology, ecology and behavior of diamondback moth and other crucifer pests

Comparison of Biological and Chemical Control Methods in Suppressing *Plutella xylostella* (L.) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) on Cabbage in South Africa

BOPAPE, M.J., NOFEMELA, R.S.¹, MOSIANE, M.S.² AND MODISE, D.M.³

Bavianspoort Correctional Centre, Department of Correctional Services, Private Bag X01, Lynn East 0039, South Africa Department of Agriculture And Animal Health, College of Agriculture and Environmental Sciences, University of South Africa, P.O. Box 392, Unisa 0003, South Africa ¹insect Ecology Division, Arc–Plant Protection Research Institute, Private Bag X134, Queenswood 0121, South Africa E-Mail: Nofemelar@Arc.Agric.Za ²insect Ecology Division, Arc–Plant Protection Research Institute, Private Bag X134, Queenswood 0121, South Africa

³department of Agriculture and Animal Health, College of Agriculture and Environmental Sciences,

University of South Africa, P.O. Box 392, Unisa 0003, South Africa

Abstract

The diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* (L.) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae), is a serious cosmopolitan pest of Brassica crops. In South Africa, there are no action thresholds for its chemical control leading growers to apply insecticides indiscriminately. To promote judicious use of insecticides and to quantify impact of parasitoids on P. xylostella populations, we compared the efficacy of weekly and bi-weekly application regimes of Dipel and Dichlorvos against parasitoids in suppressing pest densities and optimising cabbage yield in replicated field trials over two cropping seasons. Since cabbage is attacked by other insect pests, the use of selective (Dipel) and broad-spectrum (Dichlorvos) insecticides enabled us to determine if crop yield depends largely on suppression of P. xylostella. During October-December 2011, P. xylostella infestations were lowest on plants that received weekly Dipel application followed by bi-weekly Dipel, then weekly Dichlorvos application and were higher on bi-weekly Dichlorvos and control plants. There was a negative relationship between cabbage head weights, % marketable heads and P. xylostella infestations. During March-May 2012, P. xylostella infestations were higher on control plants followed by Dichlorvos treatments, and lowest on Dipel treatments. However, average infestation per plant during this time was <1 P. xylostella in all treatments, which led to similar cabbage head weights and % marketable heads across treatments. Parasitism of immature P. xylostella was high (>50 %) in early stages of crop development during this season, which prevented pest density build-up. This result is in contrast to the first half of October-December cropping season. Cotesia vestalis (Haliday) (Hymenoptera: Braconidae) was the most abundant parasitoid in all treatments and in both cropping seasons. Based on our findings, weekly application of Dipel suppressed *P. xylostella* better than Dichlorvos and parasitoids, and are necessary to protect crop yield during October–December, a season that coincides with high P. xylostella density. However, weekly applications of Dipel are not economically justifiable when parasitoid activity is high as observed during the March-May season, as crop yield and quality in the control treatment was similar to all insecticide treatments. Occasionally, pests such as cabbage aphid, Bagrada bug and cabbage webworm were recorded at very low densities that did not cause significant crop damage. While maintenance of P. xylostella infestations below 1 individual per plant had a positive influence on cabbage yield, successful cultivation of Brassica crops will also depend on monitoring and effective suppression of the pest complex.

Keywords: Infestation level, Dipel, Dichlorvos, parasitoids, cabbage yield

EFFECTIVE suppression of diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* (L.) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae), population density is considered key to successful production of *Brassica* crops in many parts of the world (Talekar and Shelton 1993; Furlong *et al.* 2013). This pest is estimated to cost growers worldwide about US\$ 4-5 billion annually in direct crop losses and management

costs (Zalucki *et al.* 2012). Its high pest status stems mainly from the ability to develop resistance to all insecticide classes (Zhao *et al.* 2006; Furlong *et al.* 2013). Largely in response to insecticide resistance, biological control programmes were initiated in several countries, mainly relying on parasitoid introductions (Lim 1986; Talekar and Shelton 1993; Sarfraz et al. 2005). As successful suppression of the pest by parasitoids led to significant reduction of insecticide applications (Kfir and Thomas 2001; Furlong et al. 2004a,b; Löhr et al. 2007), biological control can be used effectively for insecticide resistance management (Roush 1997; Justum et al. 1998). However, indiscriminate insecticide applications, particularly of broad-spectrum insecticides, still remain a nemesis to sustainable management of P. xylostella in many parts of the world (Heckel 2004; Sarfraz and Keddie 2005; Furlong et al. 2013). As these insecticide applications are often made without prior evaluation of the impact of natural enemies (Nofemela 2013), it is believed that over-reliance on chemical control has not only led P. xylostella to develop high insecticide resistance, but also widespread decimation of its natural enemies (Grzywacz et al. 2010).Evidence for this is readily seen in Asia where all the gains accrued with parasitoid introductions in the 1970s and 1980s (Poelking 1986; Sastrosiswojo and Sastrodihardjo 1986; Talekar et al. 1986; Ooi 1992) have been reversed by indiscriminate insecticide applications (Waage 1996; Williamson 1998; Upanisakorn et al.2011). The situation is so bad in some places that growers apply insecticides up to three times a week in an attempt to overcome the high level of insecticide resistance, which typically develops within two to three years of introduction of a new product (Wang and Wu 2012; Furlong et al. 2013). To give growers the benefit of doubt, P. xvlostella coexists with other insect pests and the damage they cause can be substantial (McCully and Salas Araiza 1986; Biever 1997; Furlong et al. 2014), but are generally sporadic in many areas (Annecke and Moran 1982; Lim et al. 1997). In many instances, there are no appropriate monitoring or biological and cultural control methods for these pests, and as a consequence, their chemical control has a negative impact on biological control of P. xylostella (Shepard and Schellhorn 1997; Sivapragasam 2004; Nofemela and Mosiane 2011).

Plutella xylostella is a persistent and key pest of *Brassica* crops in South Africa (Ullyett 1947; Kfir 1997; Nofemela 2010). For decades now, studies have shown that indigenous parasitoids are an important

natural mortality factor of P. xylostella in South Africa (Ullyett 1947; Kfir 1997; Nofemela 2010). During February 1992–January 2008, detailed studies were conducted on population dynamics of P. xylostella and its parasitoids on unsprayed cabbage fields, and the patterns are well-established. Parasitoid-inflicted mortality is very high (e"50 %) during November-May maintaining infestation levels mostly below 1 P. xylostella per plant. Due to low parasitism rates (<50 %) in winter (June-August) and early spring (September-October), infestation levels become very high, mostly >10 P. xylostella per plant in spring (Kfir 1997; Waladde et al. 2001; Nofemela and Kfir 2005; Nofemela 2010). To convince growers that parasitoids, when effective, can eliminate the need to apply insecticides, we need to demonstrate that high parasitism levels observed during November-May have an impact to P. xylostella infestations and crop yield that is comparable to chemical control. Quantifying these not only helps in conserving efficacy of insecticides and parasitoid populations (Sarfraz and Keddie 2005; Zalucki et al. 2015), but it also paves a way for integrating biological and chemical control methods where efficacy of parasitoids varies between seasons (Nofemela 2013). Although it is necessary to apply insecticides against P. xylostella to suppress the high infestation levels during spring (Nofemela and Kfir 2005; Nofemela 2010), it remained undetermined whether insecticides need to be applied weekly and throughout the season to optimise yield? This study compared the efficacy of weekly and bi-weekly applications of a) Dipel[®] (Bacillus thuringiensis Berliner var. kurstaki) and b) Dichlorvos, an organophosphate, against c) parasitoids in suppressing pest densities and optimising yield in replicated field trials during two cabbage cropping seasons. Dipel selectively kills Lepidoptera larvae whereas Dichlorvos is a broadspectrum insecticide. Since cabbage is attacked by other insect pests (Annecke and Moran 1982; Nofemela and Mosiane 2008), the use of selective and broad-spectrum insecticides enables determination of whether or not crop yield depends largely on effective suppression of P. xylostella.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The study site and experimental plots

The experiments were conducted at Baviaanspoort Correctional Services Centre (25°38'S 28°30'E, altitude 1164m) in Pretoria, South Africa, during October-December 2011 and March-May2012. In both seasons, cabbage (B. oleraceaL. var.capitata) seedlings, cultivar Green Star (Starke Ayres, Centurion, South Africa), were transplanted on 28 plots of 10 m \times 16.6 m each with a spacing of 2 m between plots. In each plot, 10 raised-bed ridges of approximately 1.2 m wide and 10 m in length each were made. The spacing between ridge beds was 60 cm, and three rows were made on each ridge bed with plant spacing of 40 cm. Thus, a total of 750 cabbage seedlings were transplanted in each plot. At the landscape level, there were other independently managed cabbage plots at any given time, which may have served as reservoirs for P. xylostella and other pests and natural enemies. Since experimental plots were not contained in insect exclusion cages, the pests and their natural enemies were free to move between plots and this movement is assumed to be similar for all plots.

Treatments and experimental design

Seven treatments were used in this study: a) untreated Control; b) Dipel1 (Dipel® DF, a Bacillus thuringiensis Berliner var. kurstaki, Valent Biosciences, Somerset West, South Africa) applied at supplier's recommended low dose of 250g/ha at weekly intervals; c) Dipel²applied at bi-weekly intervals (i.e., every second week); d) Dipel³ applied weekly only for the first eight weeks after seedling transplants; e) Dichlorvos1 (Dichlorvos EC, an organophosphate, Villa Crop, Kempton Park, South Africa) applied at supplier's recommended dose of 1ml/l at weekly intervals; f) Dichlorvos² applied at biweekly intervals; and g) Dichlorvos³ applied weekly only for the first eight weeks after seedling transplants. Both insecticide classes had not been used at the study site prior to this study. Complement® Super (a nonionic wetter/ spreader/ penetrant surfactant, Syngenta SA, Halfway House, South Africa) was mixed with each insecticide treatment at supplier's recommended

dose of 100 ml/ha. All chemical solutions were applied using 16-litre hand-operated knapsack sprayers with flat fan nozzles at 4.8–5.5 bar, and the quantities used were adjusted accordingly. We reduced spray drift by restricting the width of the spray swath and holding the nozzle closer to the plant being sprayed.

The seven treatments were allocated among the 28 plots in a complete randomized block design making four replicates for each treatment. All chemical applications commenced three weeks after seedling transplants, and were stopped one week before harvest for weekly and bi-weekly treatments. Standard cultivation practices that included fertilizer application, irrigation and weeding were followed. The plots were irrigated using overhead sprinklers twice a week, but irrigation was withheld for two days after each insecticide application.

Plutella xylostella density and determination of parasitism levels

Plutella xylostella larvae and pupae were monitored on each treatment plot at weekly intervals from three weeks after transplanting cabbage seedlings until one week before harvest of cabbage heads. In each treatment plot, 10 randomly selected plants (excluding outer two rows in each plot) were thoroughly inspected every week and the numbers of *P. xylostella* larvae and pupae (i.e., infestation levels) found on each plant were recorded. All insecticide applications were on the day following crop monitoring events.

In order to determine parasitism levels, samples of *P. xylostella* larvae (third and fourth instars) and pupae and pupae of its parasitoids were collected during scouting at weekly intervals. Sample sizes ranged from 1 to 206 individuals depending on infestation levels. The samples were taken to the insectary (ARC-Plant Protection Research Institute, Rietondale campus ($25^{\circ}442S \ 28^{\circ}132E$) in Pretoria) where they were maintained at $25 \pm 1^{\circ}C$, 65 ± 5 % RH, and 16L:8D photoperiod. The larvae were provided with sections of fresh cabbage leaves and held individually in Petri dishes. The leaves were replaced every second day until host larvae pupated or parasitoid pupae formed. *Plutella xylostella* pupae and parasitoid pupae were individually placed in glass vials. All emergent parasitoids were identified and their incidence determined. Parasitism rates (pooled per treatment) were calculated as the percentage of emergent parasitoids out of the total samples of *P. xylostella* and parasitoid pupae for each week. However, samples that died of unknown causes were excluded from calculations of parasitism.

Crop quality and yield

On the day before crop harvest, the total plant population, numbers of multiple heads and marketable heads were counted and recorded on each plot. Multiple heads are defined here as cabbage plants whose apical meristem was damaged by herbivory in the early stages of plant development such that multiple cabbage heads formed from the same stem. We regarded cabbages to be marketable when the head size exceeded 30 cm in maximum diameter using a flexible measuring tape. At harvest, 100 marketable cabbage heads were randomly selected from each treatment (i.e., 25 cabbage heads per plot), and each was cut at the interface between the head and the stem. The 4 outer leaves were removed from each cabbage head, and they were weighted individually on a calibrated electronic scale (Digital Weighing Indicator, model DI-20, Teraoka Weigh Systems PTE LTD, Singapore, Singapore).

Statistical analysis

As only 10 plants were scouted and sampled every week out of 750 plants in each plot, it is reasoned that *P. xylostella* infestations at the landscape level were not influenced by sampling 1.33% of the plants per plot every week. Therefore, Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) was chosen as an appropriate method of analysis. Prior to ANOVA, the data were checked for normality using Shapiro-Wilks' test and for homogeneity of variance using Levene's test. As data for % of multiple heads and % marketable plants were not normally distributed, the data were squareroot transformed prior to analysis. One-way (ANOVA) were performed to compare 1) *P. xylostella* infestation levels between treatments, and 2) across the season; 3) % multiple heads; and 4) cabbage weights between treatments. Where significant differences were detected, the means were compared using Fisher's protected least significant difference (LSD) test. Linear regression was used to determine the relationship between infestation levels and the proportion of plants infested. Prior to analysis, the data were square-root transformed. The statistical analyses were performed at 5 % level of significance (Statistica 2013).

RESULTS AND **D**ISCUSSION

Plutella xylostella density and parasitism rates

October-December 2011

Crop infestations were low (about 1 P. xylostella per plant) during the first week of the experiment and were similar ($F_{6,273} = 1.1617$; P = 0.3271)across treatments (Figure 1). Except for weekly applications of Dipel (Dipel¹ and Dipel³), infestations increased substantially in the other treatments until about week 4. The sharp decline in infestation levels in these treatments from week 5 coincided with high parasitism levels (>50%) of P. xylostella larvae and pupae (Figure 1). Parasitism levels were not significantly different ($F_{657} = 1.59$; P = 0.1666) among the treatments. Four species of primary parasitic Hymenoptera were recorded from P. xylostella larvae and pupae during this season, namely Cotesia vestalis (Haliday) (Braconidae), Apanteles halfordi (Ullyett) (Braconidae), Oomyzus sokolowskii (Kurdjumov) (Eulophidae) and Diadromus collaris (Gravenhorst) (Ichneumonidae). Cotesia vestalis accounted for more than 80% of total parasitism levels. As infestation levels were as low as 0.5 P. xylostella per plant in all treatments by the end of the season ($F_{6,273} = 1.8740$; P = 0.0854), the additional mortality that weekly application of Dipel (Dipel¹) provided in maintaining infestations low throughout the season was not significant by the end of the season (Figure 1). These results are in agreement with recent studies that P. xylostella infestations are low from November in South Africa (Nofemela and Kfir 2005; Nofemela 2010, 2013).



FIGURE 1

The influence of different insecticides and spray regimes on incidence of Plutella xylostella immature stages (dotted line) and parasitism levels (solid line) during October–December 2011.

March-May 2012

Infestations were very low (below 0.3 *P. xylostella* per plant) at the start of the season in all treatments, and remained at such low levels throughout the season, except for the control (Figure 2). While infestation levels only exceeded 1 *P. xylostella* per plant on four occasions during the second half of the season in the control treatment, the average infestations in the control were far lower (Figure 2) during this season than the October–December season (Figure 1). The starting parasitism levels of *P. xylostella* larvae and pupae during the March–May season were very high (>80%) in all treatments. While parasitism levels fell below 50% in several treatments in the second half of the season,

parasitism levels bounced back up in the control and Dichlorvos treatments. Despite the fluctuation of parasitism levels in the different treatments, infestations remained fairly low in all treatments (Figure 2). The parasitoids recorded on P. xylostella larvae and pupae during this season were C. vestalis, O. sokolowskii and D. collaris. Cotesia vestalis was again the dominant parasitoid in all treatments, and parasitism levels were not significantly different (F_{640} = 1.71; P = 0.1448) between treatments. These result imply that *P. xylostella* population density was low at landscape level during the March-May season. Again the findings of this study confirm those of previous studies that P. xylostella population density is very low during November-May in South Africa (Nofemela and Kfir 2005; Nofemela 2010, 2013).





The influence of different insecticides and spray regimes on incidence of Plutella xylostella immature stages (dotted line) and parasitism levels (solid line) during March–May 2012.

L	
щ	
BI	
Z	

The influence of Dipel and Dichlorvos insecticides applied at different regimes compared to the untreated cabbage plants (Control) on mean $(\pm S.E.)$ number of *Plutella xylostella* larvae and pupae and cabbage quality (i.e., % multiple heads, % marketable heads and cabbage weight (kg) during October-December 2011 and March-May 2012. T

		October-De	cember 2011			March-N	Aay 2012	
Treatments	Infestation per plant	% multiple heads	% marketable heads	Cabbage weight (kg)	Infestation per plant	% multiple heads	% marketable heads	Cabbage weight (kg)
Control	$4.53 \pm 0.36a$	$16.19 \pm 2.12a$	$78.29 \pm 1.87a$	$2.00 \pm 0.06d$	$0.86\pm0.08a$	$13.2 \pm 0.92a$	76.82 ± 2.7a	$3.51 \pm 0.06a$
Dipel	$0.54\pm0.06d$	$9.21 \pm 1.23b$	$86.69 \pm 1.64b$	$3.24\pm0.08a$	$0.03 \pm 0.01c$	$9.82 \pm 1.46a$	79.97 ± 3.9a	$3.67 \pm 0.04a$
Dipel ²	$2.22\pm0.25c$	$10.97 \pm 1.71b$	$86.09 \pm 1.91b$	$2.49\pm0.07b$	$0.09 \pm 0.02c$	$11.15 \pm 1.39a$	$75.05 \pm 3.17a$	$3.53 \pm 0.07a$
Dichlorovos ¹	$3.21 \pm 0.24b$	$11.4 \pm 0.98b$	$85.38 \pm 1.13b$	$2.46\pm0.10c$	$0.21\pm0.03b$	$13.23 \pm 2.18a$	67.57 ± 4.04a	$3.59\pm0.06a$
Dichlorovos ²	$4.86\pm0.41a$	$10.55 \pm 1.14b$	$87.09 \pm 0.91b$	$2.18\pm0.05d$	$0.25\pm0.03b$	$11.61 \pm 0.95a$	$71.88 \pm 3.67a$	$3.57\pm0.06a$
Dichlorovos ³	$3.2 \pm 0.20b$	$8.96 \pm 1.29b$	$86.84\pm1.64\mathrm{b}$	$2.85\pm0.07c$	$0.25\pm0.03b$	$13.73 \pm 1.87a$	$72.73 \pm 4.39a$	$3.6 \pm 0.04a$
Dipel ³	$0.4 \pm 0.06d$	$10.03 \pm 1.3b$	$86.57 \pm 2.12b$	$3.45\pm0.10a$	$0.01 \pm 0.01c$	$10.1 \pm 1.17a$	73.71 ± 3.4a	$3.64 \pm 0.07a$
Means in a colur	nn with the same	letter are not signi	ficantly different at	P = 0.05				

Fisher's LSD.

¹Weekly insecticide applications until one week before harvest.

²Bi-weekly insecticide applications until one week before harvest.

³Weekly insecticide applications only during the first 8 weeks of experiment.

Effects of infestations on cabbage quality

October–December 2011

Plutella xylostella infestations were significantly higher ($F_{6, 2793} = 47.296$; P < 0.001) on control and Dichlorvos² treatments followed by Dichlorvos¹ and Dichlorvos³, then Dipel² and least on Dipel¹ and Dipel³ during October–December 2011 (Table 1). However, multiple heads were significantly higher ($F_{6,21} =$ 2.8512; P = 0.0343) on the control treatment than the insecticide treatments. Similarly, the percentage of marketable cabbage heads was significantly lower ($F_{6,21} = 3.5929$; P = 0.0131) on control compared to the insecticide treatments. Cabbage head weights were significantly different ($F_{6, 723} = 44.545$; P < 0.001) among treatments being higher on Dipel¹ and Dipel³ followed by Dipel², then Dichlorvos¹ and Dichlorvos³ and least on Dichlorvos² and control.

As the proportion of plants infested with *P. xylostella* was positively influenced ($r^2 = 0.7859$; $F_{1.54} = 198.2241$; P < 0.001; y = 0.192 + 0.2289x) by infestation levels in the control plots, all plants were infested at an infestation level of just 4 *P xylostella* per plant. This implies that the faster infestations increase and are maintained at high levels, the higher the damage to the crop. Hence, the higher proportion of multiple heads and low marketable heads were observed on the control plots, as there was no significant top-down suppression of the pest density during the initial stages of crop development (Fig.1).

March-May 2012

Albeit *P. xylostella* infestation levels were again significantly high ($F_{6, 3073} = 59.086$; P < 0.001) on control followed by Dichlorvos treatments and least on Dipel treatments during March–May 2012 (Table 1), average infestations were much lower in all treatments throughout the season compared to the October–December season (Table 1).The proportion of plants infested across treatments was also significantly lower during this season. As a consequence, there were no significant differences in the percentage of multiple heads ($F_{6, 21} = 1.1395$; P = 0.3761), percentage of marketable heads ($F_{6, 21} =$ 1.1579; P = 0.3668) and cabbage weights ($F_{6, 717} =$ 0.8328; P = 0.5447) among the treatments.

CONCLUSION

Suppression of *P. xylostella* is key to successful cultivation of cabbage in South Africa. Although this is widely emphasised for many other parts of the world (Talekar and Shelton 1993; Furlong et al. 2013), control of P. xylostella remains dependent on insecticide applications. However, as P. xylostella develops resistance and insecticides lose their efficacy against it, growers are under pressure to reduce application rates of insecticides to prevent widespread insecticide resistance. Previous studies have shown that *P. xylostella* enters a population outbreak phase every spring if insecticides are not applied, which results in severe crop damage (Nofemela and Kfir 2005; Nofemela 2010). We found that weekly application of Dipel is necessary in the first half of October–December season to effectively suppress P. xylostella infestations and to maximise yield. As infestation levels, % marketable heads and cabbage head weights were similar when Dipel was applied every week until crop harvest (Dipel¹) and when applied weekly only for the first eight weeks of crop development (Dipel³), these results suggest that there is no need to apply Dipel up to crop harvest, which can save growers a lot of money in insecticide and application costs estimated at US\$ 63.13 per 500 g and US\$ 8.05 per ha, respectively (Ayalew 2006). In contrast to early spring, the period November-May has been shown to correspond with low incidence of P. xylostella (Nofemela 2010), which explains why infestations were very low during the March-May season in all treatments, and as a consequence yield was similar among the treatments. The major mortality factor of *P. xylostella* during this period was the strong top down effect of parasitoids, which exceeded 50 % in all treatments from the beginning of the season. Thus, there is no economic benefit to growers to maintain infestations far below 1 P. xylostella per plant by application of insecticides during this period. Similar argument was made in previous studies elsewhere (Furlong et al. 2004a; Ayalew 2011).

To ensure that the pest population densities remain below damaging levels, growers need to monitor the crop for infestations on a regular basis. Previous studies demonstrated that *P. xylostella* infestation levels corresponded with synthetic sex pheromone trap catches of male moths (Nofemela and Kfir 2005; Nofemela 2010). An action threshold of 8.52 moths/trap/week was established which corresponds with 1 *P. xylostella* per plant (Nofemela 2010). While aphids [*Myzus persicae* (Sulzer), and *Brevicoryne brassicae* (L.)] and the cabbage webworm [*Hellula undalis* Fabricius] were recorded on very few occasions at low densities during this study, they have a potential to devastate *Brassica* crops (Munthali 2009; Nofemela and Mosiane 2011). Thus, successful cultivation of *Brassica* crops will also depend on monitoring and effective suppression of the pest complex.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

We thank D. Pooe for dedicated technical assistance. The study was financially supported by the Department of Correctional Services and the Agricultural Research Council of South Africa. This manuscript was part of a MSc. (Agricultural Science) thesis by M.J. Bopape at the University of South Africa.

REFERENCES

- ANONYMOUS, 2007, A Guide For The Control Of Plant Pests. 40th Edition. Department of Agriculture, South Africa.
- AYALEW, G., 2006, Comparison of yield loss on cabbage from diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* L. (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) using two insecticides. *Crop. Prot.*, 25: 915-919.
- AYALEW, G., 2011, Effect of insect growth regulator novaluron on diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella*L. (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae), and its indigenous parasitoids. *Crop. Prot.*, **30**: 1087-1090.
- BOPAPE, M. J., NOFEMELA, R. S., MOSIANE, M. S. AND MODISE, D. M., 2014, Effects of a selective and a broadspectrum insecticide on parasitism rates of *Plutella xylostella* (L.) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) and species richness of its primary parasitoids. *African Entomol.*, 22: 115-126.
- DENNILL, G. B. AND PRETORIUS, W. L., 1995, The status of diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* L. (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae), and its parasitoids on cabbage in South Africa. *African Entomol.*, **3**: 65-71.
- FURLONG, M. J., SHI, Z. H., LIU, Y. Q., GUO, S. J., LU, Y. B., LIU, S. S. AND ZALUCKI, M. P., 2004a, Experimental analysis of the influence of pest management practice on the efficacy of an endemic arthropod natural enemy complex of the diamondback moth. *J. Econ. Entomol.*, **97**: 1814-1827.
- FURLONG, M. J., SHI, Z. H., LIU, S. S. AND ZALUCKI, M. P., 2004b, Evaluation of the impact of natural enemies

on *Plutella xylostella* L. (Lepidoptera: Yponomeutidae) populations on commercial *Brassica* farms. *Agric. Forest Entomol.*, **6**: 311-322.

- FURLONG, M. J., WRIGHT, D. J. AND DOSDALL, L. M., 2013, Diamondback moth ecology and management: problems, progress, and prospects. *Ann. Rev. Entomol.*, 58: 517-541.
- FURLONG, M. J., ROWLEY, D. L., MURTININGSIH, R. AND GREENSTONE, M. H., 2014, Combining ecological methods and molecular gut-content analysis to investigate predation of a lepidopteran pest complex of *Brassica* crops. *Entomol. Exp. Appl.*, **153**: 128-141.
- GRZYWACZ, D., ROSSBACH, A., RAUF, A., RUSSELL, D. A., SRINIVASAN, R. AND SHELTON, A. M., 2010, Current control methods for diamondback moth and other *Brassica* insect pests and the prospects for improved management with lepidopteran-resistant *Bt* vegetable brassicas in Asia and Africa. *Crop. Prot.*, 29: 68-79.
- GUNN, D., 1917, The small cabbage moth (*Plutella* maculipennis Curtis). Bulletin of the Department of Agriculture, Union of South Africa., **8**: 1-10.
- JUSTUM, A. R., HEANEY, S. P., PERRIN, B. M. AND WEGE P. J., 1998, Pesticide resistance: assessment of risk and the development and implementation of effective management strategies. *Pestic. Sci.*, **54**: 435-446.
- KFIR, R., 1997, Parasitoids of *Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) in South Africa: an annotated list. *Entomophaga.*, **42**: 517-523.
- KFIR, R. AND THOMAS, J., 2001, Biological control of diamondback moth on St. Helena Island with parasitoids supplied by the ARC-PPRI. *Biocontrol News and Information* 22:4N.
- LIM, G. S., 1986, Biological control of diamondback moth. In: TALEKAR, N. S. AND GRIGGS, T. D., (Eds), *Diamondback Moth Management: Proceedings of the 1st International Workshop*. pp. 159-171. Asian Vegetable Research and Development Centre, Tainan, Taiwan.
- LÖHR, B., GATHU, R., KARIUKI, C., OBIERO, J. AND GICHINI, G., 2007, Impact of an exotic parasitoid on *Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) population dynamics, damage and indigenous natural enemies in Kenya. *Bull. Entomol. Res.*, **97**: 337-350.
- MUNTHALI, D. C., 2009, Evaluation of cabbage varieties for resistance to the cabbage aphid. *African Entomol.*, **17**: 1-7.
- NOFEMELA, R. S., 2010, The ability of synthetic sex pheromone traps to forecast *Plutella xylostella* infestations depends on survival of immature stages. *Entomol. Exp. Appl.*, **136**: 281-289.

- NOFEMELA, R. S., 2013, A simple method for estimating instantaneous levels of endoparasitism of *Plutella xylostella* (Linnaeus) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) by Hymenoptera in the field. *African Entomol.*, **21**: 280-286.
- NOFEMELA, R. S. AND KFIR, R., 2005, The role of parasitoids in suppressing diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* (L.) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae), populations on unsprayed cabbage in the North West Province of South Africa. *African Entomol.*, **13**: 71-83.
- NOFEMELA, R. S. AND KFIR, R., 2008, The pest status of diamondback moth and the role of *Cotesia plutellae* in suppressing the pest populations in South Africa. In: *The Management of Diamondback Moth and other Crucifer Pests*. SHELTON, A. M., COLLINS, H. L., YOUJUN, Z. AND QINGJUN, W., (Eds), Proceedings of the 5th International Workshop. China Agricultural Science and Technology Press, Beijing, China. pp. 239-249.
- NOFEMELA, R. S. AND MOSIANE, M. S., 2011, The secretive cabbage pest. *Plant Protection News.*, **90**: 6.
- OOI, P. A. C., 1992, Role of parasitoids in managing diamondback moth in the Cameron Highlands, Malaysia. In: *Diamondback Moth and other Crucifer Pests.* TALEKAR, N. S., (Ed.), Proceedings of the 2nd International Workshop. AVRDC – The World Vegetable Centre, Tainan, Taiwan. pp. 255-262.
- SARFRAZ, M. AND KEDDIE, B. A., 2005, Conserving the efficacy of insecticides against *Plutella xylostella* (L.) (Lep., Plutellidae). J. Appl. Entomol., **129**: 149-157.
- SARFRAZ, M., KEDDIE, B. A. AND DOSDALL, L. M., 2005, Biological control of the diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella*: a review. *Biocontrol Sci. Techn.*, **15**: 763-789.
- SEREDA, B., BASSON, N. C. J. AND MARAIS, P., 1997, Bioassay of insecticide resistance in *Plutella xylostella* (L.) in South Africa. *Afri. Pl. Protec.*, **3**: 67-72.
- SMITH, T. J., 2004, The Diamondback Moth *Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) and its Biological Control in the Eastern Cape Province, South Africa. *PhD thesis*, Rhodes University, Grahamstown, South Africa.
- STATISTICA, 2013, Statistica 11 for Windows., Statistica Enterprise System Technology, Tulsa, OK, U.S.A.

- TALEKAR, N. S. AND SHELTON, A. M., 1993, Biology, ecology, and management of the diamondback moth. *Ann. Rev. Entomol.*, **38**: 275-301.
- TALEKAR, N. S., YANG, J. C. AND LEE, S. T., 1986, Introduction of *Diadegma semiclausum* to control diamondback moth in Taiwan. In: *Diamondback Moth Management*. TALEKAR, N. S. AND GRIGGS, T. D., (Eds), Proceedings of the 1st International Workshop. Asian Vegetable Research and Development Centre, Tainan, Taiwan. pp. 263-270.
- ULLYETT, G. C., 1947, Mortality factors in populations of *Plutella maculipennis* Curtis (Tineidae: Lep.), and their relation to the problem of insect control. *Department of Agriculture and Forestry, Union of South Africa, Entomology Memoirs*, **2**: 77-202.
- WAAGE, J., 1996, "Yes, but does it work in the field?" The challenge of technology transfer in biological control. *Entomophaga.*, **41**: 315-332.
- WALADDE, S. M., LEUTLE, M. F. AND VILLET, M, H., 2001, Parasitism of *Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae): field and laboratory observations. *S. Afr. J. Plant Soil.*, **18**: 32-37.
- WANG, X. AND WU, Y., 2012, High levels of resistance to Chlorantraniliprole evolved in field populations of *Plutella xylostella*. J. Econ. Entomol., **105**: 1019-1023.
- ZALUCKI, M. P., SHABBIR, A., SILVA, R., ADAMSON, D., LIU, S. S. AND FURLONG, M. J., 2012, Estimating the economic cost of one of the world's major insect pests, *Plutella xylostella*: just how long is a piece of string. *J. Econ. Entomol.*, **105**: 1115-1129.
- ZALUCKI, M. P., FURLONG, M. J., SCHELLHORN, N. A., MACFADYEN, S. AND DAVIES, A. P., 2015, Assessing the impact of natural enemies in agroecosystems: Towards "real" IPM or in quest of the Holy Grail?. *Insect Sci.*, 22: 1-5.
- ZHAO, J. Z., COLLINS, H. L., LI, Y. X., MAU, R. F. L., THOMPSON, G. D., BOYKIN, R., HERTLEIN, M., ANDALORO, J. T. AND SHELTON, A. M., 2006, Monitoring of diamondback moth (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) resistance to spinosad, indoxacarb and emamectin benzoate. J. Econ. Entomol., 99: 176-181.

Effect of Host and Temperature on Reproduction of *Diadegma semiclausum* Hellen

CHEN, F.S.H., WANG, Y.¹, ZHANG, H.M.², YANG, Y.X.³ AND CHEN, Z.Q.⁴

Institute of Agricultural Environment and Resource, Yunnan Academy of Agricultural Science, Kunming 650205, P.R. China E-mail: chenfsh36@163.com ¹Institute of Agricultural Environment and Resource, Yunnan Academy of Agricultural Science, Kunming 650205, P.R. China E-mail: piglucky@126.com ²Institute of Agricultural Environment and Resource, Yunnan Academy of Agricultural Science, Kunming 650205, P.R. China E-mail: bshrjs999@163.com ³Institute of Agricultural Environment and Resource, Yunnan Academy of Agricultural Environment and Resource, Yunnan Academy of Agricultural Science, Kunming 650205, P.R. China E-mail: yyyyx99@163.com ⁴Institute of Agricultural Environment and Resource, Yunnan Academy of Agricultural Science, Kunming 650205, P.R. China E-mail: yyyyx99@163.com

ABSTRACT

The effect of temperature and host, *Plutella xylostella* (L.), density and instar on the reproduction and development of *Diadegma semiclausum* Hellen was studied at six constant temperatures (15, 20, 22, 25, 27, 30°C) in the laboratory. The parasitism rate of *D. semiclausum* decreased with an increase in larval host numbers from 30-90, but this decrease was not statistically different at 110 larvae/ plant. *D. semiclausum* could parasitize the 2nd, 3rd and, 4th instars of DBM larvae, however, parasitism of the 2nd and 3rd instars was significantly higher than the 4th instar. Developmental duration, eclosion success and sex ratio of *D. semiclausum* were observed. Developmental duration of different stages of *D. semiclausum* decreased significantly with increasing temperature from 15-27°C; at 30°C pupae failed to develop. The eclosion success and sex ratio increased with increasing temperature from 15-22°C, and decreased with increasing temperature from 22-27°C. The optimal larvae number, larvae instars of *P. xylostella* and temperature for the reproduction of *D. semiclausum* was 30-90 larvae, 3rd instar, and 22°C, respectively.

Keywords: Plutella xylostella, natural enemy, mass rearing, developmental duration, eclosion success, sex ratio

DIADEGMA semiclausum (Hellén) (Hymenoptera: Ichneumonidae) is one of the important parasitoids of larvae of the diamondback moth (DBM), *Plutella xylostella* (L.), (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) a serious pest of cruciferous vegetable crops. There is a high practical potential of this parasitoid in to the management of DBM (Zalucki *et al.* 2016). *D. semiclausum* originated from Europe (Hardy 1938; Chua and Ooi 1986), and was first introduced from England to New Zealand in 1936 where it successfully controlled DBM.

From there *D. semiclausum* was introduced to Australia, Malaysia, Japan, and Taiwan (Ooi 1992; Talekar and Shelton 1993; Amend and Basedow 1997; Noda *et al.* 2000; Saucke *et al.* 2000; Waterhouse and Sands 2001; Furlong *et al.* 2016). The species was introduced to Yunnan Province of P.R. China by Chen ZongQi from Vietnam and Taiwan in 1997, achieving field parasitism rates of up to 87% (Chen ZQ *et al.* 2001a, 2001b, 2003; Chen FSH *et al.* 2010). Now *D. semiclausum* is widely utilized in Yunnan, including the districts of Kunming, Yuxi, Dali, Baoshan, Lincang, Qujing, Chuxiong and so forth, and has become a key natural enemy in the control of DBM in these areas.

In order to more fully utilize *D. semiclausum* we plan to mass rear the species so as to establish control earlier in the field. Here we report the effect of various host factors (number and instar) and temperature on the rearing of *D. semiclausum* in the laboratory; see also Dosdall *et al.* (2012).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Insects

Rearing of *P. xylostella*: Eggs of *P. xylostella* laid on foil were put into 15% formalin for 15m, then rinsed twice in distilled water. Eggs and larvae, fed on cabbage of JingFeng variety, were kept under insectaria conditions ($22\pm2^{\circ}$ C, RH: 60%-75%, L: D=14:10). Larvae were used to rear parasitoids when they had developed to the 3rd instar.

Rearing of *D. semiclausum:* 3^{rd} instars larvae were exposed to adult *D. semiclausum* in cages (50cm*50cm*50cm) for 48h. Parasitised larvae were reared on cabbage under insectaria condition (22±2°C, RH: 60%-75%, L: D=14: 10). Newly emerged mated adult females were used in experiments.

Experiments

The effect of larval number on D. semiclausum parasitism

Every cabbage plants were infested with 30, 50, 70, 90 and 110 3^{rd} instar larvae. There were 4 repeats of each density treatment and each plant was exposed to a pair of *D. semiclausum* in cages (50cm*50cm*50cm) for 24h. Larvae continued to develop and the numbers of *D. semiclausum* pupae recorded, when the pupae formed.

The effect of host instar on the rearing of D. semiclausum

Every Cabbage plants were infested with 100 DBM larvae at the 2^{nd} , 3^{rd} or 4^{th} instar stage. There were four repeat for each instar treatment. Each plant was exposed to a pair of *D. semiclausum*, for 24h. Larvae continued to develop and the numbers of *D. semiclausum* pupae recorded, when pupae formed.

Temperature effects on the developmental of D. semiclausum

Newly parasitized 3^{rd} instar larvae of *P. xylostella* (n=200) were reared on cabbage at 15, 20, 22, 25, 27, 30!, RH: 65%-75%, L: D=14: 10h. Time to parasitoid pupal formation was recorded and at least 100 pupae were collected for each temperature treatment. The time to adult parasitoid emergence, the exclusion success rate and sex ratio were recorded.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The effect of larval number on D. semiclausum parasitism

The number of *D. semiclausum* emerging increased with the larval numbers from 30-90, however the rate of parasitism was constant around 50%; but both the number emerging and rate decreased significantly at 110 larvae per plant (Table 1).

-	
ADID	
LABLE	
I I IDLL	

Effect of number of P. xylostella larvae on parasitism rate (%) of D. semiclausum

Number of	Number of	Mean parasitism
P. xylostella	parasitoid	rate
	emerging	
30	16.00	53.33±2.17 a
50	25.75	51.50±2.24 a
70	35.25	50.36±1.64 a
90	42.00	46.67±1.97 a
110	37.27	33.88±1.88 b

In a column, means followed by the same letter(s) do not differ significantly

The effect of host instar on the rearing of D. semiclausum

The per cent parasitism of 2^{nd} , 3^{rd} and 4^{th} instar DBM larvae by *D. semiclausum* was 51%, 51% and 42%, respectively: significantly higher for 2^{nd} and 3^{rd} instars than the 4^{th} instars (Table 2).

TABLE 2Effect of P. xylostella larval instar on parasitismrate of D. semiclausum

Instar of larvae	Number of pupae	Number of the parasitoid	Parasitism rate
2 nd instar	81.75	41.75 aA	51.1±1.16 aA
3 th instar	81.00	41.00 aA	50.6± 0.43 aA
4 th instar	80.50	34.00 bB	42.3±1.76 bB

Means followed by the same alphabet do not differ significantly

Temperature effects on the developmental of **D**. semiclausum

The developmental durations of an entire generation at each rearing temperature were 36, 21.8,

18.6, 15.4, and 14.9 d, respectively; decreasing significantly with increasing temperature from 15- 27° C. Pupae failed to develop at 30 °C (Table 3).

TABLE 3Effect of temperature on the developmental
duration of D. semiclausum

Temperature (°C)	Develoj Egg-pupae	omental duration Pupae-adult	n (days) Egg-adult
15	18.32±0.09a	17.73±0.13a	36.0±0.20a
20	10.21±0.08b	11.54±0.07b	21.8±0.11b
22	8.35±0.09c	10.20±0.07c	18.6±0.11c
25	7.92±0.05d	7.01±0.07d	14.9±0.10d
27	7.13±0.06 e	7.05±0.06d	14.3±0.07e
30	7.08±0.15e	_	

In a column, means followed by the same letter(s) do not differ significantly

The rate of parasitoid eclosion was 70%, 83%, 92%, 88% and 75% at 15, 20, 22, 25, 27°C, respectively (Table 4). There was no effect of temperature on the sex ratio (@&/(@&+B&)) at 15 and 25°C, but at temperatures higher than 25 °C, the sex ratio decreased significantly to 19% at 27 °C (Table 5).

TABLE 4Effect of temperature on the eclosion success of
D. semiclausum

Temperature (°C)	Number of pupae	Number of adults	Mean eclosion rate
15	25	17.50	70.00±0.05c
20	25	20.75	83.00±0.03b
22	25	23.00	92.00±0.02a
25	25	22.00	88.00±0.02a
27	25	18.75	75.00±0.02bc
30	25		

In a column, means followed by the same letter(s) do not differ significantly

TABLE 5Effect of temperature on the sex ratio of D.semiclausum

Temperature	Number of	Numb eclos	er of sing	Sex ratio
(°C)	pupae	Female	Male	
15	25	7.00	10.50	42.97±2.72a
20	25	9.75	11.00	47.07±2.35a
22	25	11.25	11.75	48.96±1.37a
25	25	8.25	13.75	37.29±5.31a
27	25	3.50	15.25	18.95±5.01b
30	25			

In a column, means followed by the same letter(s) do not differ significantly

CONCLUSION

The number of larvae and instar of *P. xylostella* affect rearing of *D. semiclausum*. The rate of parasitism significantly decreased when the number of larvae reached 110/plant.

Temperature has a major effect on rearing D. semiclausum impacting on developmental duration, eclosion rate and sex ratio. The pupae of D. semiclausum did not develop at 30°C.

Sex ratio is an important factor in mass rearing *D. semiclausum*. The sex ratio declines significantly when temperature exceeded 25°C. The sex ratio in parastoids is a complex problem and we will continue to undertake further research in this area.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

We thank professor, Chen Aidong who made valuable suggestions. This study was conducted under the the public welfare industry (agriculture) special project (201103002).

REFERENCES

AMEND, J. AND BASEDOW, T., 1997, Combining release establishment of *Diadegma semiclausum* (Hellen) (Hym., Ichneumonidae) and *Bacillus thuringiensis* Berl. for control of *Plutella xylostella* (L.) (Lep., Yponomeutidae) and other lepidopteran pests in the Cordillera Region of Luzon (Philippines). J. Appl. Entomol., 121: 337-342.

- DOSDALL, L. M., ZALUCKI, M. P. AND TANSEY, J. A. AND FURLONG, M. J., 2012, Developmental responses of the diamondback moth parasitoid *Diadegma semiclausum* (Hellén) (Hymenoptera: Ichneumonidae) to temperature and host plant species. *Bull. Entomol. Res.*, **102**: 373-384.
- CHEN, F. S. H., WANG, Y., GUO, J. H., CHEN, Z. Q. AND LI, X. Y., 2010, Observation on eclosion, mating and oviposition behaviors of *Diadegma semiclausum*. J. *Environ. Entomol.*, **32**(1): 132-135.
- CHEN, Z. Q., CHEN, A. D., MIAO, S., LUO, K. J. AND LIAN, Y., 2001a, Progress in the research of parasitoids species of *Plutella xylostella*(L.) and their introduction and utilization in P.R. China. *J. Yunnan Agric. Univ.*, 16(4): 308-312.
- CHEN, Z. Q., MIAO, S., CHEN, A. D. AND LUO, K. J., 2001b, Research on technological process of mass-rearing *Diadegma semiclausum* in laboratory. *Natural enemies of insects*, **23**: 145-148.
- CHEN, Z. Q., MIAO, S., YANG, C. X., LUO, K. J., CHEN, A. D. AND MU W. D., 2003, Introduction of a larvae parasitoid *Diadegma semiclausum* Hellen and evaluation of its potency of controlling *Plutella xylostella* L. *Plant Prot.*, **29**: 22-24.
- CHUA, T. H. AND OOI, P. A. C., 1986, Evaluation of three parasites in the biological control of diamondback moth in the Cameron Highlands, Malaysia. In Diamondback Moth Management. Proceeding of the First International Workshop. Asian Vegetable Research and Development Center, Shanhua, Taiwan, Republic of China. pp.173-184.
- FURLONG, M. P., ADAMSON, D., ASAD, S. R. AND ZALUCKI, M. P., 2016, Biological control of Diamondback moth in a climate of change These Proceedings

- HARDY, J. E., 1938, *Plutella maculipensis* Curt its natural and biological control in England. *Bull. Entomol. Res.*, 29: 343-372.
- NODA, T., MIYAI, S. AND TAKASHINO, K., 2000, Density suppression of *Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera: Yponomeutidae) multiple releases of *Diadegma* semiclausum (Hymenoptera: Ichneumonidae) in cabbage fields in Iwate, northern Japan. Appl. Entomol. Zool., 35(4): 557-563.
- OOI, P. A. C., 1992, Role of Parasitoid in managing diamondback moth in the Cameron Highlands, Malaysia. In: Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Pests. TALEKAR, N. S., (Ed.), Proceedings of the Second International Workshop. Asian Vegetable Research and Development Center, Tainan, Taiwan, Republic of China. pp. 255-262.
- SAUCKE, H., DORI, F. AND SCHMUTTERER, H., 2000, Biological and integrated control of *Plutella xylostella* (Lep: Yponomeutiade) and *Crocidolomia pavonana* (Lep., Pyralidae) in brassica crops in Papua New Guinea. *Biocont. Sci. Tech.*, **10**: 595-606.
- TALEKAR, N. S. AND SHELTON, A. M., 1993, Biology, ecology and mangagement of the diamondback moth. *Annu. Rev. Emtomol.*, **38**: 275-301.
- WATERHOUSE, D. F. AND SANDS, D. P. A., 2001, Classical Biological Control of Arthropods in Australia. ACIAR, Canberra. 399-404.
- ZALUCKI, M. P., LI, Z. Y., YONOW, T., KRITICOS, D. M., FURLONG, M. J. AND FENG, X., 2016. Modelling the population dynamics and management of diamondback moth: the role of climate, natural enemies and cropping patterns. These proceedings.

Longevity and Release Rate of Sex Pheromone Component in Field Exposed Diamondback Moth Lures Across Different Seasons in Cabbage

TOPAGI S.C., BHANU K.R.M.¹ AND ASHOK KUMAR C.T.

Department of Agricultural Entomology, UAS, GKVK, Bangalore E-mail: sanjay.topagi@gmail.com 1Bio-control Research Laboratories, Pci, Sreeramanahalli, Doddaballpur Road, Bengaluru E-mail: bhanu.krm@pcil.in

Abstract

The diamondback moth (DBM), *Plutella xylostella* (L.) (Plutellidae: Lepidoptera) is the most destructive insect pest of cruciferous crops throughout the world, infesting particularly cabbage, broccoli and cauliflower. The use of pheromones for pest control promises to be an important component in the development of alternatives that may help to solve major environmental and human health problems associated with chemical pesticide use in agriculture. To understand the release/dissipation rate of the pheromone, or for how long the commercial lures would be able to attract the moths in Cabbage fields, a study was conducted at Bangalore Rural District across three different seasons viz., rabi-2012, kharif-2013 and summer-2014. The field installed pheromone lures were regularly brought to the laboratory at 10, 20, 30, 40, 50, 60, 70, 80, 90 and 100 days after installation and the quantity of pheromone remaining in the black rubber septa was assessed using standard procedures. In present study pheromone lures loaded with female sex pheromone (1 mg) was found to emit the active ingredient at an average of < 0.075 mg/day, <0.074 mg/day and <0.064 mg/day in rabi, kharif and summer seasons respectively. Almost 95, 94 and 86 per cent of the total chemical was released in 100 days during rabi, kharif and summer seasons respectively. The number of male moths trapped during the 100 day field exposure varied throughout cropping period. Since, the crop duration in the field varies between 90-100 days, one lure per trap is enough to attract DBM adults and no lure change during the season is necessary in mass trapping plans.

Keywords: Lure residue analysis, release rate, seasonalinfluence

THE diamondback moth (DBM), Plutella xylostella (L.) (Lepidoptera :Plutellidae) is distributed worldwide and considered to be the most destructive insect pest of cruciferous crops, especially cabbage, broccoli and cauliflower (Furlong et al. 2013). The extent of damage on these crops by this pest alone has been estimated to be 52 % (Sachan and Gangwar 1990). The larvae damage the crop by feeding on the foliage. Severe attack hinders the health, growth and development of the plant resulting in considerable loss of yields and decline in market value due to the damage and even death of young plants. The difficulty in controlling this pest has forced some growers to abandon the production of cruciferous crops (Li et al. 2012). The use of pheromones for pest control promises to be an important component of the ongoing challenge to develop alternatives that may help to solve major environmental and human health problems associated with chemical pesticide use in agriculture (Kirsch 1988).

Pheromones can be mainly used in three ways in pest management programmes: (1) for surveillance or monitoring the pest population so that chemical control measures can be undertaken at the appropriate time, (2) for mass trapping and (3) to disrupt mating behaviour (Minks 1977). Sex pheromones in insects contain mixtures of several compounds, of which the primary component attracts the insects upwind from a distance and the secondary components in combination with the primary component stimulate aspects of mating behavior (Piccardi 1979). Males detect and mate with females cued by the reception of the female sex pheromone. When lured with sex pheromone traps, if sufficient males are trapped, females may remain unmated, thus leading to a reduction in population growth.

Work on release/dissipation rate of the pheromone, or field longevity of the lure in attracting adult males has not reported on DBM in cabbage fields. Here we examine the viability of the sex pheromone component in field exposed diamondback moth lures in cabbage ecosystem at Bangalore Rural District across three different seasons.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Release/dissipation rate of the pheromone was conducted at Byatha(13°11'18.80" N 77°28'58.52"E elev-288 ft) during rabi-2012, Kadathanamale (13°12'59.77"N 77°33'01.92"E elev-2890 ft) during kharif-2013 and Sri Ramanahalli (13°12'01.29" N 77°33'33.76"E elev-2953 ft) during summer-2014. 100 lures containing the pheromone component were kept in cabbage fields at each season. Then the field installed pheromone lures were returned (10 in numbers at each point of time) to the laboratory at 10, 20, 30, 40, 50, 60, 70, 80, 90 and 100 days after installation and the residual quantity of pheromone in black rubber septa was estimated using standard Gas Chromatography (GC) procedures (Romano*et al.* 2000; Jyothi *et al.* 2008).

Pheromone Sample/lures

Black rubber septa impregnated with 1 mg of a formulation of three components, Z-11-hexadecenal, Z-11-hexadecenyl acetate and Z-11-hexadecenol, in the ratio10: 10: 0.1, manufactured by Bio-control Research Laboratories, PCI were used for the study.

Extraction of pheromone from the lures

The field collected lures (10 numberseach time at ten days interval) were extracted with a solution containing 2 mg of tetradecanyl acetate (14:Ac) in 10mL hexane contained in a 20mL sampling vial and decanted after soaking overnight. The extracts were then subjected to Gas chromatographic analysis.

Analysis of lure extracts

The lure extracts were subjected to GC-MS analysis on Agilent 7820A GC system interfaced to a 5977E mass selective detector (MSD) fitted with a HP-5 column (both 30 m \times 0.25 mm i.d., 0.25 im film: J&W Scientific, Folsom, CA, USA) and compared with the standard PCI commercial DBM pheromone blend to identify the peaks of different components of the blends as Z-11-hexadecenal, Z-11-hexadecenyl acetate and Z-11-hexadecenol. The contents of lure extracts were quantified using Shimadzu GC-2014 equipped with RestekStabilwax (Cross bond Carbowax Polyethylene Glycol) (30 m x 0.25 mm i.d 0.5µmdF), N₂ at the flow rate of 5 ml min⁻¹ served as the carrier gas. The injector was kept at 225°C and the detector at 225°C, the column oven was kept in a temperature programme of 60°C with a hold time of 2 min, then up to 220°C at a rate of 60°C min⁻¹ with a hold time of 2 min. The GC was fitted with the Flame Ionisation Detector (FID). The split injector with the ratio of 10:1 was used. The residual quantity was calculated by comparing per cent area of pheromone with per cent area of internal standard and expressed as per cent released over time and regression analysis was performed to best fit the relationship between the amounts released over time. The data on progressive quantity of released chemical and mean weather variables over the sampling period were subjected to correlation analysis.

Field experiment

In order to determine the trapping capacity of the field exposed lures over a period of 100 days, the experiments were carried out in different cabbage (Unnati variety) fields across the same areas (see above). The monitoring traps with a density of 6 traps randomly positioned and covering an acre area were set up in the farmer's field on the same day of transplantation to cover the maximum time period of the crop. The main purpose of the experiment was to see the performance of the lures for catching DBM adults over a period of 100 days. The water traps baited with pheromone in black rubber septa fastened to wooden pegs were maintaining at a height of 0.3 m above the canopy level. The water trap consisting of a plastic basin $(25 \times 10 \text{ cm diameter})$; adapter, basin to hold water mixed with a spoon of detergent powder and a lure holder with a canopy. About three fourth of the container was filled with water to hold trapped moths attracted by the pheromones. The pheromone septa were suspended from the lure holder from the centre of the basin. Moths trapped were drowned and killed when fallen into the water containing detergent. Observation of total moth catches from 6 traps was made at every 10 days interval. Insecticidal sprays were continued as per the farmer's practice.

RESULTS

Since the weather parameters of different seasons cannot be clubbed, the results of all the three seasons are presented separately as below.

Rabi-2012

Residue analysis of field exposed lures indicated that the pheromone release rate varied across 100 days; the initial quantity of release (after 10 days) was 47%, declining to 12, 9, 3 and 5% at 20, 30, 40 and 50 days, respectively. Up to 60 days 79% of the chemical was released after which the rate of release was reduced to 2, 5 and 6% for days 70, 80 and 90; at the 100th day 5% of the chemical remained in the septa. The rubber septa loaded with female sex pheromone (1 mg) emitted the active ingredient at an average of <0.075 mg/day (Figures 1 and 2).



FIGURE 1

Mean release rate of pheromone component in the field exposed lures across different seasons

The data on release rate of DBM pheromone compound and mean weather parameters were subjected to simple correlation analysis. The progressive quantity released was positively correlated with morning relative humidity (r=0.038) and rainfall (0.228), whereas, negatively influenced by maximum temperature (r=-0.416), minimum temperature (r=-0.811), afternoon RH (r=-0.469) and wind speed (r=-0.011). However, theinfluence of these factors was found to be non-significant. It may be due to the combined effect of the chosen weather parameters together influenced the release rate of pheromone. When the data was subjected to linear regression analysis it revealed that, 93 per cent (R²=0.937) lure release was influenced by factors other than those chosen or it might be a combination of all the chosen weather parameters and equation as follows.

 $Y = -2.672 + 0.146X_1 - 0.137X_2 + 0.007X_3 + 0.020X_4$ $- 0.004X_5 + 0.002X_6$



FIGURE 2

Progressive quantity of pheromone component released in the field exposed lures across different seasons

Kharif-2013

Residue analysis of pheromone compounds in field exposed lures, used in water traps, during kharifindicated that the pheromone release rate varied across 100 days, the initial quantity of release (after 10 days) was 50 per cent, later the rate of release was reduced to 13, 2, 2 and 2 per cent for 20, 30, 40 and 50 days, respectively. At 60 days 75 per cent of the chemical was released then the rate of release was reduced to 3, 1 and 9 per cent for 70, 80, and 90 days respectively and at the 100th day still 6 per cent of the chemical was remained on the lures (Figure 1 and 2). Pheromone lures of rubber septa loaded with female sex pheromone (1 mg) emitted the active ingredient at an average of <0.074 mg/day. Almost 94 per cent of the total chemical was released in 100 days.



Influence of Minimum temperature on DBM Pheromone released rate during kharif-2013

The progressive quantity released exerted a negative association with maximum temperature (r=-0.191), afternoon relative humidity (r=-0.262) and wind speed (r=-0.267); while, positive relation with

morning relative humidity (r=0.577) and rainfall (r=0.570). There was a highly significant negative association with minimum temperature (Figure3). When the data was subjected to linear regression analysis it revealed that, pheromone release rate was influenced by weather parameters an extent of 82 per cent (R^2 =0.821) with following linear regression equation

 $Y = 3.304 - 0.014X_{1-} 0.123X_{2} + 0.006X_{3} - 0.006X_{4} - 0.008X_{5} - 0.001X_{6}$

Summer-2014

Residue analysis of pheromone compounds in field exposed lures, used in water traps, indicated that the pheromone release rate varied across 100 days, the initial quantity of release (after 10 days) was 34 per cent; later the rate of release was reduced to 9, 6, 4 and 22 per cent for 20, 30, 40 and 50 days, respectively. Up to 60 days 79 per cent of the chemical was released; later, the rate of release was reduced to 2, 1 and 3 per cent for 70, 80, and 90 days respectively (Figure 1 and 2) and at 100th day still 14 per cent of the chemical was remained on the lures. Pheromone lures of rubber septa loaded with female sex pheromone (1 mg) emitting the active ingredient at an average of < 0.064 mg/day. Almost 86 per cent of the total chemical was released in 100 days.

The release rate of pheromone during summerseason was found to be positively correlated with wind speed (r=0.310) and rain fall (r=0.562); while negative correlation was found with morning RH (r=-0.146) and afternoon RH (r=-0.288). The progressive quantity released pheromone was positively significant with maximum temperature (r= 0.690) and highly positive relation with minimum temperature (r= 0.957) (Figure4).



FIGURE 4 Influence of weather factors on DBM pheromone released rate during summer-2014

The data on release rate of pheromone and weather parameters were subjected to linear regression analysis; which revealed that, an extent of 98 per cent ($R^2=0.985$) of pheromone release rate was influenced by weather parameters with the following linear regression equation

 $\begin{array}{l} Y = -2.583 \, + \, 0.053 X_{1} \, + 0.076 X_{2} \, - \, 0.009 X_{3} \, + \\ 0.025 X_{4} \, - \, 0.040 X_{5} \, + \, 0.004 X_{6} \end{array}$

Trapping of DBM adults from the field exposed lures

The appearance of DBM infestation on cabbage occurred (4.50 moths/trap/10 days (rabi-2012); 7.17 moths/trap/10 days (Kharif-2013) and 5.17 moths/ trap/10 days (summer-2014) up to the first 10 days after the trap installation (DAT) (Figure 5). During rabi-2012, the incidence showed an increasing trend up to 30 days, as the plants put forth new tender leaves resulted in buildup of DBM population. The maximum number (116.33 moths/trap/10 days) of moth trapping was observed during 30 DAT followed by 40 DAT (91.50 moths/trap/10 days) as plants attained growth. Whereas during kharif-2013 and summer-2014 the trap catches showed an increasing trend up to 40 days with the maximum of 116.17 moths/trap/10 days and 269.83 moths/trap/10 days respectively, then there was a sudden fall in the mean number of moths (45.33 moths/trap/10 days (kharif-2013) and 76.50 moths/trap/10 days (summer-2014)) trapped at 50 DAT; again traps regained the maximum number (118.83 moths/trap/10 days (kharif-2013) and 221.67 moths/trap/10 days (summer-2014) at 60 DAT. There was a lot of fluctuation in the mean number of moths trapped up to 100 days in all the seasons. The moth trapping decreased and ceased as the crop attained senescence showing minimum number (13.33 moths/trap/10 days) at 90 DATduringrabi-2012 and between 91 to 100 DAT, 27.67 moths/trap/10 days were trapped. Whereas, the moth trapping decreased with total catches of 32.00 moths/trap/10 days and 23.83 moths/trap/10 days between 71 to 80 DAT in both kharif-2013 and summer-2014 seasons respectively. At 100 DAT the crop attained senescence showing minimum number of 9.50 moths/ traps/10 days and 6.33 moths/trap/10 days during kharif-2013 and summer-2014 seasons respectively (Figure 5). Our

results clearly indicated the trapping capacity of male moths from the field exposed lures had lasted for 100 days during all the seasons.



Number of DBM adults trapped across different seasons (vertical bar indicates SD for moth catches

DISCUSSION

As cabbage is grown in all the seasons the occurrence of DBM populations is expected throughout the year. Since the sex pheromone mediated mating is common among lepidopteron insects, the possibilities of this mechanism can be harnessed to check their multiplication through pheromone trapping resulting reduction in population.

Effective field application of sex pheromone depends on the type of lure used. Synthetic lures have to be designed to surpass calling females by releasing a higher pheromone signal. Mottus*et al.* (1997) evaluated the effects of pheromone release rate in cabbage fields in Estonia. Rubber mini dispensers (K-50) had an active exposure time of at least two months and delta traps were capable of monitoring a population of *P. xylostella* throughout the summer. Pheromone release rates between 8 and 17 ng per ha were recommended for maximum trap catches.

Here we examined only the performance of lures in attracting and trapping the DBM adults and the release rate of pheromone component for a period of 100 days across the different seasons but not the comparison between trap catches and larval infestation. We found pheromone lures loaded with synthetic female sex pheromone (1 mg) emitted the active ingredient at an average of <0.064 mg/day to <0.75 mg/day depending on the season. Almost 95% of the total chemical was released in a 100 days and the influence of weather conditions was found to be non-significant in rabi and kharifseasons.

Studies on monitoring field populations of diamondback moth using sex pheromone traps at Tsubaka, Japan, indicated a high population level throughout the year regardless of changes in climatic conditions (Kuwahara*et al.*1996). In our study male moths were trapped throughout the year but did vary with cropping period. The incidence of male moths showed an increasing trend as the plants put forth new tender leaves, resulted in buildup of DBM population in the middle of the cropping season across all the seasons. The reason for this has to be verified by conducting systematic field experiments by recording the population count or infestation levels periodically and comparing with monitoring trap catches.

There was a lot of fluctuation in the mean number of moths trapped over the 100 days. The collection of moths trapped started declining and ceased as the crop senesced. Kuwahara*et al.* (1996) too reported a sharp decline in population coincided with harvest of the vegetables in the furrows and a lag to recover the population density was detected for several weeks after harvest, indicating a low flight activity of the moths in the near proximity. Our results clearly indicate that the monitoring traps in trapping of male moths from the field exposed lures have lasted for 100 days during rabi-2012. Walker *et al.*(2001) showed that the pheromone traps were useful tools for predicting larval infestations in most crops in spring and early summer.

The progressive quantity released exerted a negative association with maximum temperature, afternoon relative humidity and wind speed; while positive relation with morning relative humidity and rainfall in rabi-2012. There was a highly significant negative association with minimum temperature in kharif-2013. Chandramohan (1995) studied the catches of males of *P. xylostella* using sex pheromone traps in the Nilgiris, Tamil Nadu, India. Weather elements cumulatively contributed to 16.34 % of the variation in trap catch. Minimum temperature, relative humidity and total rainfall had a negative influence on trap catch. There was a positive correlation existed between field pupal populations and pheromone catches.

In summer-2014, about 86 per cent of the total chemical was released in 100 days. The progressive

quantity released pheromone was found to be positive in significance with maximum temperature and highly positive relation with minimum temperature. Zhang *et al.* (2013) estimated that the polyethylene vial dispensers released pheromone at a higher rate and caught more male dogwood borer in the first two months of the trial, later catches in the traps declined, even though the release rate of pheromone did not change might be due to decrease in adult population.

Overall, 5 to 14% of the pheromone component was existed in the field exposed lures at 100th day after trap installation during all the three seasons. Therefore, the weather parameters would not have affected much on the release rate of pheromone component. The quantity released or the residual quantity remained in DBM pheromone lure during the study period would be sufficient to trap male moths for a period of 100 days after installation of the monitoring traps. Since the crop duration in the field varies between 90-100 days, the data suggests that one lure per trap is enough to attract male DBM in mass trapping plans and no change of lure during the crop period is required.

REFERENCES

- CHANDRAMOHAN, N., 1995, Seasonal variation of male diamondback moth catch in pheromone trap. *Madras Agric. J.*,**89**(9 & 10):503-505.
- FURLONG, M. J., WRIGHT, D. J. AND DOSDALL, L. M., 2013, Diamondback moth ecology and management: problems, progress, and prospects. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.*, 58: 517–541.
- JYOTHI, K. N., PRASUNA, A. L., PRASAD, A. R. AND YADAV, J. S., 2008, Electrophysiological responses of both sexes of groundnut leaf miner, *Aproaerema modicella* (Lepidoptera: Gelechidae) to synthetic female sex pheromone blend. *Curr. Sci.*, **94**(5): 629-633.
- KIRSCH, P., 1988, Pheromones: Their potential role in control of agricultural insect pests. Am. J. Alternative Agr., 3(2-3): 83-97.

- KUWAHARA, M., KEINMEESUKE, P. AND SHIRAI, Y., 1996, Monitoring field populations with pheromone trap and seasonal trend of adult body size of the diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* (L.) (Lepidoptera: Yponomeutidae) in Central Thailand. *Japan Intern. Res. Centre for Agril. Sci. J.*, 3:17-22.
- LI, Z-Y., ZALUCKI, M. P., BAO, H-A., CHEN, H-Y., HU, Z-D., ZHANG, D-Y., LIN, Q-S., YIN, F., WANG, M. AND FENG, X., 2012, Population dynamics and 'outbreaks' of Diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella*, in Guangdong province, China: climate or the failure of management? J. Econ. Entomology., **105**: 739–752.
- MINKS, A. K., 1977, Trappingwith behaviour modifying chemicals: Feasibility and limitations. *In:* SHOREY, H. H. AND MCKELEY, J. J. JR. [Eds.], *Chemical Control of insect behavior: Theory and application*, John Wiley and Sons, New York, pp. 385-394.
- MOTTUS, E., NOMM, V., WILLIAMS, I. H. AND LIBLIKAS, I., 1997, Optimization of pheromone dispensers for diamondback moth *Plutella xylostella*. J. Chem. Ecol., 23(9): 2145-2159.
- PICCARDI, P., 1979, Recent advances in the investigation and use of sex pheromones in Lepidoptera species. *Frustula Ent.*, **1**: 161-177.
- ROMANO, A., CARLOS, R. AND ALLAN, C. O., 2000, Optimization of a Pheromone Lure for *Spodoptera frugiperda* (Smith) in Central America. J. Braz. Chem. Soc., **11**(6): 609-613.
- SACHAN, J. N. AND GANGWAR, S. K., 1990, Seasonal incidence of insect pests of cabbage, cauiflower and knolkhol. *Indian J. Entomol.*, **52**: 111-124.
- WALKER, G. P., GIBB, A. AND SUCKLING, M., 2001, Pheromone traps for Diamondback moth control. *Grower.*, **56**(10): 34-35.
- ZHANG, A., LESKEY, T. C., BERGH, J. C. AND WALGENBACH, J. F., 2013, Sex pheromone dispenser type and trap design affect capture of dogwood borer. *J. Chem. Ecol.*, **39**(3): 390-407.

Ecological and Foraging Aspects of the Cabbage Webworm, Hellula undalis Fabricius

SIVAPRAGASAM, A.

Cabi Southeast Asia Regional Center, Building A19, Mardi, Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia E-mail: a.siva@cabi.org

ABSTRACT

The paper addresses the influence of temperature, ascertains the weed hosts and elucidates the foraging aspects of the larva of the cabbage webworm (CWW), *Hellula undalis* (Fabr.), a major pest of head or English cabbage (*Brassica oleracea* var. *capitata*) grown in the Malaysian lowlands. The optimal temperature for the development of CWW was 30°C, whereby the intrinsic rate of increase r_m , was the highest. The ubiquitous weed, *Cleome rutidosperma* (Family: Capparidaceae) was found to be its natural host. The level of infestation of CWW on *C. rutidosperma* in the field was low, ranging from 0.1 % to 3.45%. Nevertheless, it provided a source population for the monocrop cabbage causing significant damage. The intra and inter plant foraging studies revealed that the CWW larva preferred the cabbage shoot to the leaf and this preference enhances its survival rate in the field.

Keywords: Cabbage webworm, Hellula undalis, temperature, weed host, foraging behavior

INSECT pests and diseases are major biotic factors affecting head or English cabbage production both in the highlands and lowlands of Malaysia (Sivapragasam and Loke 1992). Among the pests which inflict serious damage, particularly in the lowlands, is the cabbage webworm (CWW), *Hellula undalis* (Fabr.) (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae). Although this insect has also been recorded in the Malaysian highlands (Ooi 1979), it has reached serious pest status only on cabbage grown in the lowlands. Stage specific crop life tables on cabbage (Sivapragasam, 1994) suggested that *H. undalis* is the most important pest contributing to about 41 percent of total mortality of the plants during the pre-heading stage.

Although CWW infests other cruciferous plants, such as chinese mustard, *Brassica chinensis* (L.), chinese kale, *B. oleracea var alboglabra* Bailey and radish, *Raphanus sativus* (L.), it is more serious on head cabbage because damage by a single larva (Figure 1) boring into the growing shoot of the cabbage plant (Figure 2) before its pre-heading stage could result either in the death of the plant or in producing small-sized multiple cabbage heads which are unmarketable. As such, there is no economic threshold level to initiate insecticide treatments but to advocate for preventive applications.



FIGURE 1. Larva of Hellula undalis



FIGURE 2. Hellula damage on head cabbage

There is also potential for indirect damage due to soft rot, Erwinia carotovora. In any case, complete control of CWW solely with insecticides is fraught with challenges due to the webbing behaviour of the larva and to some extend resistance development (Sivapragasam 1994). Thus, to develop pragmatic management strategies of CWW, an understanding of its biology and ecology in the Malaysian context is pertinent. Sivapragasam (2005) described some aspects of its biology and development. То complement the current repository of knowledge, in this paper some aspects of the ecology and foraging behavior are reported. The aspects are: (i) Effect of temperature on the development of CWW; (ii) Evaluating weeds as host of CWW and (iii) Dispersal and foraging behaviour of the CWW larva.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Here, general details of the materials and methods are described. For specific details, refer to Sivapragasam (1994).

Effect of temperature on development

The CWW used in this study was obtained from cultures maintained in the laboratory on cabbage leaves. All experiments were conducted in controlled temperature incubators (Rumed^R) maintained at different constant temperatures of 10, 15, 20, 25, 30, 35 and 40 °C. Temperatures were maintained within $\pm 1^{\circ}$ C and the R.H. between 80 ± 5 percent at each temperature studied. The development and survival rates of the immatures at each temperature were determined using a cohort of at least 100 eggs laid within 24 h. At each temperature regimen, newly emerged larvae were isolated individually in Petri dishes $(9.0 \times 1.5 \text{ cm}^2)$ and fed with excised young cabbage leaves until pupation. The longevity and oviposition of the adult that emerged from each temperature regimen was determined using a rearing jar provided with leaves of Brassica juncea as the oviposition substrate. The number of eggs laid and the adults surviving were recorded for at least 20 pairs throughout their life span. The intrinsic rate of increase (r_m) was computed using tables of age specific oviposition (m₂) and survival rates (L₂) for the age interval (x) of one day using the analytical method described by Birch (1948).

Evaluating weed as hosts of CWW

To ascertain which of the weeds found in or near the lowland cabbage ecosystem were serving as hosts to CWW, common broad-leaf weed species were examined in situ and also collected and brought to the laboratory to examine for eggs and other stages of CWW. Feeding tests were also done under laboratory conditions with temperature ranging from 24°C to 28°C and R.H. 80±5%. Fresh young leaf samples of each weed were offered to five first and third instars of CWW confined in a Petri dish (10.0 x 2.0 cm) lined with moistened filter paper. First and third instars fed on cabbage leaves served as the 'control'. Further details of the experimental set-up are described in Sivapragasam (1994). For each weed species, the tests were repeated 3xand in all a total of 19 weed species belonging to 12 families were used in the tests.

Dispersal and foraging behaviour of the CWW larva

The intra- and inter-plant movement of CWW larva on cabbage were studied in a glasshouse usingcaged 1.5 month old cabbage plants with about 10 leaves. Details of the experimental procedures are given in Sivapragasam (1994). Briefly, for the intraplant movement study, a cohort of eggs in an aluminium egg card (< 24h old) was clipped to the 3^{rd} leaf of each cabbage plant (the 'egg leaf'). Leaf number 1 is the first open leaf from the top. The number of larva on each of the ten leaves was observed daily for 10 days. The experiment was replicated 10x and data from all ten replicates (or plants) were pooled for analysis.

The inter-plant movement studies were conducted using a larger cage (Sivapragasam, 1994). The design of the experiment was as follows: In the centre of the cage was a cabbage plant (hereafter called the source plant) with a cohort of 10 eggs (< 24h old). The 'source' plant was surrounded by four similar-aged cabbage plants placed equidistant from each other and the 'source' plant. However, one leaf from the 'source' plant and that of each of the neighbouring plants was stapled together to form a bridge between them. A corrugated cardboard paper sprayed with sticker was used as a barrier to prevent larval movement between plants except via the 'bridge'. Daily observations were made on the source and neighbouring plants for CWW larva. The experiment was terminated when all the larvae has

pupated in the pupal tray filled with vermiculite placed at the base of each cabbage plant. The experiment was repeated 10 x and the data from all the replicates were pooled for analysis.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Effect of temperature on development

Table 1 shows the development from egg to adult emergence (TDP), percent survival (egg to adult emergence), adult longevity for both the female and male, oviposition rate per day and intrinsic rate of increase (r_m) of CWW under various temperature regimens. Egg eclosion occurred from 15°C until 35° C; none of the eggs hatched at 10°C and 40°C. TDP ranged from 14.64 days at 35° C to about 108.25 days at 15 °C and the survival rate from 47percent at 25°C to 3 percent at 15°C. The number of eggs laid generally increased with temperature until 30°C but declined at 35°C. The longevity of the male and female differed significantly between temperatures (Table 1). The r_m values increased with temperature to a maximum at 30° C and then decreased.

Temperature affected the survival, development and other life table parameters including number of eggs laid and intrinsic rate of increase. This study

suggested that the temperature most favorable for CWW appeared to be around 30°C. At this temperature r_m was the highest. This finding agreed with that of Awai (1958) who reported that the optimal temperature for CWW development was 31° C. Messenger (1976)illustrated that for a given environmental condition, r_m could be used as a measure of favorability and that the higher the value r_m, the more favorable were the environmental conditions within which the population resides. Based on this, it can be inferred that the temperature conditions in the Malaysian lowlands with the mean monthly temperatures of ca 29° C (range: ca 24°C to 35°C) is optimal for CWW development. On the other hand, in the cooler highlands(e.g. Cameron Highlands, a major cabbage growing area at 1,400 - 1,500 meters above sea level with a mean temperature of 18.7°C (13.4°C to 24.3°C) development is impeded. Sachan and Gangawar (1980) reported the concomitant decrease in the importance of CWW with increase in altitude (with the concomitant decrease in temperature) at which the cabbage is planted. The effect of temperature on the distribution of CWW is explicitly shown from its data in temperate countries whereby CWW is reported to be major problem only in summer to late autumn (AVRDC 1978; Shirai and Kawamoto 1991).

Development from egg deposition to adult emergence (TDP), percent survival, adult longevity oviposition rate and intrinsic rate of increase (r_m) of Helulla undalis under various temperature regimes

TABLE 1

Demomentance			Temperature °C		
rarameters	15	20	25	30	35
TDP (mean ±day)*	108.25±2.10a	49.31±0.52 b	27.08±0.39 c	19.23±0.36 d	14.64±0.18 e
Survival (%, egg to adult)	3.00	18.00	47.00	35.00	28.00
Adult Longevity (days)(m	ean±day)		-		-
· Female	11.75±1.91 a	8.77±0.76 b	8.00±0.74 b	3.79±0.48 c	3.08±0.78 c
· Male	12.25±2.42 a	6.70±1.11 b	6.79±0.55 b	4.28±0.71 b	4.15±0.66 b
Oviposition rate (eggs laid per female/day)	1.77	3.96	11.12	22.50	9.01
Intrinsic rate of increase (r _m)	0.01	1.02	1.11	1.15	1.08

* Means with the same letter within a row are not significantly different at P< 0.05 using the Duncan's multiple range test.

Evaluating weeds as hosts of CWW

Amongst the weeds examined, CWW was found feeding only on *Cleome rutidosperma* DC (Family: Capparidaceae) (synonym: *C. ciliata* Schum. & Thonn.). Specimens of adults of both sexes emerging from *C. rutidosperma* were confirmed based on voucher specimens held at Malaysian Agricultural Research and Development Institute (MARDI), Malaysia. However, the level of infestation of CWW on *C. rutidosperma* in the field was low, ranging from 0.1 % to 3.45%.

C. rutidosperma is a ubiquitous herbaceous weed found in the waste grounds and cultivated lands of Malaysia (Barnes and Chandapillai 1972). The

damage by CWW larva on cleome is evident from the closely-webbed leaves in the apical region of the plant. In this study, only one larva of CWW was found per plant. In other studies, CWW was found on other species of Cleome, viz., C. viscose (synonym: C. icosandra) (Sivapragasam 1994).For example, Alam et al. (1961-62) recorded CWW on C. viscosa in Pakistan. In the Nearctic countries, the host plants reported for a congeneric species of Hellula, viz., H. phidilealis, seemed to be largely confined to plants in the families Cruciferae and Capparidaceae (Alam 1989). The infestation of cabbage and cleome by CWW is correlated to the fact that both these families share a similar phytochemical constituency characterized by the occurrence of isothiocyanates (mustard oils) (van Steenis 1972). The occurrence of other crucifer 'specialists' such as the flea beetles, Phyllotreta spp., the cabbage leaf webworm, Crocidolomia pavonana, and the diamondback moth, Plutella xylsotella, on Cleome (Sivapragasam 1994) supports this contention. In addition, Cleome and cabbage also share quite a similar suite of natural enemies (e.g., parasitoids) such as Trathala flavoorbitalis (Ichneumonidae), Bassus sp. and Chelonus sp. (both Braconidae) on CWW (Sivapragasam and Chua 1997). As for the low infestation level of CWW on Cleomevis a vis cabbage, from a foraging perspective, this could be attributed to the 'plantapparent' factor (Feeny 1977). By this it means that cleome grows in the field amongst other weeds and thus has low visibility to CWW, compared to cabbage which is grown as a monoculture in relatively larger patches. This can also be explained from a food resource perspective when insects forage for food. Root (1973) suggested the term 'resource concentration' for this phenomenon, i.e., low resource concentration in the case of cleome and a high one for cabbage.

Dispersal and foraging behaviour of the CWW larva

The within (or intra) plant distribution revealed that during the first 2 days after eclosion, the CWW larva remained on the egg leaf (*i.e.*, the third leaf). On the third day after eclosion, one of the cabbage plants (out of 10 used in the experiment) had a larva on the shoot. From the fourth day onwards, most of the leaves had the larvae on them and from the sixth day until the ninth, most of the larvae had moved from the leaves to the shoot of the plants with about 43 % of the plants having two larvae per shoot on the sixth day. However, this number decreased to 10 % by the eighth day and by the ninth day, all the plants had only one larva per shoot.

In the inter-plant movement study, larval movement from the 'source' plant to the neighbouring plants was observed in 8 out of the 10 replicates. By the ninth day, 45 % of the neighbouring plants were found to have CWW larvae. Most of the larvae (84.6 %) found earlier on the 'source' plants, were found on the shoot. On the neighbouring plants, 40 % of the larvae were also found on the shoot and the rest on the leaves. Interestingly, the larvae on the neighbouring plants were first seen on the sixth day after the eggs were introduced, *i.e.*, about 3 days after eclosion.

Both the intra-plant and inter-plant studies indicated that CWW larvae moved to the shoot of the plants from their initial location. Talekar et al. (1981) also indicated that the young CWW larvae preferred to burrow into the shoot rather than the leaves of Chinese cabbage, Brassica campestris. The initial increase in the number of larvae per shoot and the eventual decrease could be due to the limited space in the shoot to accommodate more than one CWW larva, particularly that of the later stages. Sivapragasam (1994) suggested that the preference of CWW larva for the cabbage shoot to the leaves (which were found to be nutritionally better) was largely due to seeking a natural refuge and protection against natural enemies, viz., predators, of the CWW larva under field conditions(Sivapragasam and Chua 1997).Although CWW does mine (e.g. in the first instar), web and fold the cabbage leaf in the later stages to protect itself, the cabbage shoot affords a better natural concealment for the larva to protect itself without much investment of energy for leaf folding or web making. The trade-off for the larva residing in the shoot was the higher survival rate (about 2.7x), and the higher intrinsic rate of increase r_m (about 1.5 x) than on the leaves (Sivapragasam and Chua 1997). It is not specifically known what attracts the larva to the shoot. William and Daxenbicher (1981) reported that younger and faster growing tissues of Chinese cabbage have higher quantities of glucosinolates than the older ones. It is not known whether there are any specific chemical cues attracting the larva to the shoot. In corn, the larva of Pyrausta nubilalis (Hueb) settles near those parts of the plant which are rich in sugar content (Beck 1956).

CONCLUSION

The study suggested two important factors that contributed to the distribution and pest status of CWW in lowland cabbages as opposed to those in the highlands. The first was the effect of ambient temperature, and the other was the presence of the weed, *C. rutidosperma*. The optimal temperature for the development of CWW was found to be 30°C which is close to the mean ambient temperature in the lowlands.

The study on cleome underscores the fact that if a crop (*e.g.*, cabbage) is introduced into an area where there is a closely related endemic weed (*e.g.*, *Cleome*), one is likely to see a rapid adaptation by CWW to the newly introduced host. This is because of the common chemical cues (*e.g.*, mustard oils) found in both crops that are conducive for feeding and oviposition. This was the case with CWW.

Based on the within and between plant dispersal studies, CWW prefers the shoot to the leaf. Although this provides greater survival for CWW larvae against natural enemies, from a management standpoint it is easier to control on the shoot. Thus, the farmer needs to deliver the insecticide as a shoot application to effectively manage CWW. In field trials, effective control of CWW on cabbage was achieved using weekly treatments of *Bacillus thuringiensis* for a period of five weeks on the shoot and this approach, besides being cost-effective, reduced the indiscriminate use of the insecticide (Sivapragasam and Loke 1992).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The author is grateful for the financial support provided to him by CABI to participate in the VII International Workshop on Management of the Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Insect Pests held in Bangalore, India. He also acknowledges the organizers of the Workshop *viz.*, the University of Agricultural Sciences, Bangalore in association with Cornell University, USA, and AVRDC-The World Vegetable Center, Taiwan for their invitation and kind hospitality.

REFERENCES

ALAM, M. M., 1989, Distribution, host plants and natural enemies of cabbage bud worm *Hellula phidilealis* (Walker) in the Caribbean. Paper presented at the 25th Annual Meeting of the Caribbean Food Crop Society (mimeo).

- ALAM, M. M., HAFIZ, L. A. AND GHANI, M. A., 1961 1962. Annual report of the scheme for the "Survey of parasites of insect pests of cultivated and useful plants and survey of insects destroying weeds and other parasites. The Commonwealth Institute of Biological Control (CIBC), Pakistan Station, Rawalpindi. 53 p. (mimeo).
- Awai, D., 1958, A study of the identity, larval stagesand natural enemies of *Hellula undalis* (Fabr.) in Hawaii., *M. Sc.Thesis.*, Graduate School of the University of Hawaii.
- AVRDC, 1978, Cabbage webworm. Progress Report of the Asian Vegetable Research and Development Center, Shanhua, Taiwan. pp. 34-35.
- BARNES, D. E. AND CHANDAPILLAI, M. M., 1972, Common Malaysian weeds and their control. ANCOM, Shah Alam, Malaysia.
- ВЕСК, S. D., 1956, The European corn borer, *Pyrausta nubilalis* (Hubn.) and its principal host plant. 1. Orientation and feeding behavior of the larvae on the corn plant. *Ann. Ent. Soc. Am.*, **49**: 522-528.
- BIRCH, L. C., 1948, The intrinsic rate of natural increase of an insect population. J. Animal Ecol., 17: 233-256.
- FEENY, P., 1977, Defensive ecology of the Cruciferae. Ann. Mo. Bot. Gard. 64: 221-234.
- MESSENGER, P. S., 1976, Experimental approach to insect climate relationships. In: *Climate and Rice*. IRRI, Los Banos, Philippines. pp: 347-365.
- Ooi, P. A. C., 1979, An ecological study of the diamondback moth in Cameron Highlands and its possible biological control with introduced parasites. *M.Sc. Thesis.* University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia., pp. 151.
- Root, R. B., 1973. Organization of a plant-arthropod association in simple and diverse habitats: the fauna of collards (*Brassica oleracea*). *Ecol. Monogr.*, **43**: 95-124.
- SACHAN, J. N AND GANGAWAR, S. K., 1980, Vertical distribution of important pests of cole crops in Meghalaya as influenced by the environmental factors. *Indian J. Ent.*, 42: 414-421.
- SHIRAI, Y. AND KAWAMOTO, K., 1991, Laboratory evaluation of the flight ability of female adults of the cabbage webworm, *Hellula undalis* (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae) and reproductive success after flight. *Bull. Natl. Res. Inst. Veg. Ornam. Plants and Tea, Japan*, Ser. A. 4: 31-40.
- SIVAPRAGASAM, A., 1994, Biology and population dynamics of *Hellula undalis* (Fabricius) (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae)

on lowland cabbages. Ph. D. Thesis. University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia., Pp. 224.

- SIVAPRAGASAM, A., 2005, Development of cabbage webworm, *Hellula undalis* (Fabr.) on head cabbage, *Brassica oleracea* var. *capitata. J. Trop. Agric. Food Sci.*, **33**(2): 321-331.
- SIVAPRAGASAM, A. AND CHUA, T. H., 1997, Natural enemies for the cabbage webworm, *Hellula undalis* (Fab.) (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae) in Malaysia. *Res. Population Ecol.*, **39**: 3-10.
- SIVAPRAGASAM, A. AND LOKE, W. H., 1992, Integration of pest control practices to reduce use in cabbages. In: *Proceedings of Applied Biology in Enhancement Quality of Life and Environment*. Second Symposium of Malaysian Society of Applied Biology, Feb. 25-26,

1992, Universiti Pertanian Malaysia, Serdang, Selangor. pp. 33-37.

- TALEKAR, N. S., SHIAO, W. F. AND LIN, Y. H., 1981, Insect pest control of summer Chinese cabbage in Taiwan.
 In: proceedings of the first International Symposium 1981, TALEKAR, N. S. AND GRIGGS, T. D. (Eds.): Chinese cabbage:, AVRDC Shanhua, Tainan, Taiwan, Republic of China. pp: 163-172.
- VAN STEENIS C.G.G.J., 1972, Flora Malesiana. Series 1: Spermatophyta Vol.6. Wolters-Noordhoff Publishing, Groningen, The Netherlands.
- WILLIAM, P. H. AND DAXENBICHLER, M. E., 1981, Glucosinolates in chinese cabbage. In: Chinese cabbage: proceedings of the First International Symposium 1981, TALEKAR, N. S. AND GRIGGS, T. D. (Eds.), AVRDC, Shanhua, Tainan, Taiwan, Republic of China. pp: 261-270.

Session 3

Insect plant interactions, host plant resistance and chemical ecology of diamondback moth and other crucifer pests

Potential of *Barbarea* as a Trap crop for the Diamondback Moth: Developmental Changes in Glucosinolate and Saponin Content in Relation to Insect Behaviour and Performance

BADENES-PÉREZ, F.R., REICHELT, M.¹, PARRADO MÁRQUEZ, B.², GERSHENZON, J.³ AND HECKEL, D.G.⁴

Institute of Agricultural Sciences (CSIC), 28006 Madrid, Spain E-mail: frbadenes@ica.csic.es ¹Max Planck Institute for Chemical Ecology, 07745 Jena, Germany E-mail: reichelt@ice.mpg.de ²Institute of Agricultural Sciences (CSIC), 28006 Madrid, Spain E-mail: frbadenes@ica.csic.es ³Max planck Institute for Chemical Ecology, 07745 Jena, Germany E-mail: gershenzon@ice.mpg.de ⁴Max Planck Institute for Chemical Ecology, 07745 Jena, Germany E-mail: heckel@ice.mpg.de

Abstract

Glucosinolates are plant secondary metabolites used in plant defense. For the diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* L. (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae), glucosinolates are, however, essential in host plant recognition and act as oviposition stimulants. Some species and types of plants in the genus *Barbarea* (Brassicaceae) contain, besides glucosinolates, saponins that act as feeding deterrents and prevent survival of *P. xylostella* larvae. The concentration of glucosinolates and saponins in foliage can be very different depending on the species, variety, and type of *Barbarea*. Also, within a *Barbarea* plant, the distribution of glucosinolates and saponins is highly heterogeneous. Glucosinolates, but not saponins, are present on the leaf surface of *Barbarea* plants in concentrations that can be detected by *P. xylostella* females. Ontogenetic changes affect glucosinolates and saponins than older leaves. The overall glucosinolate and saponin content of plant foliage also changes with plant age. Changes in glucosinolate and saponin content in foliage affect both attraction and resistance to *P. xylostella* and other herbivores.

Keywords: Host-plant resistance, oviposition, plant secondary metabolites, larval survival

GLUCOSINOLATES are plant secondary metabolites used for plant defense in the Brassicaceae (Halkier and Gershenzon 2006). In the case of herbivorous insects, glucosinolates are generally toxic for generalists and are used in host plant recognition by specialists (Hopkins *et al.* 2009). For the diamondback moth (DBM), *Plutella xylostella* L. (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae), glucosinolates and their hydrolysis products act as feeding and oviposition stimulants (Reed *et al.* 1989; Spencer *et al.* 1999; Renwick *et al.* 2006; Badenes-Pérez *et al.* 2010, 2011).

Like glucosinolates, saponins can provide protection against herbivores (Osbourn 1996; Nielsen *et al.* 2010; De Geyter *et al.* 2012a, 2012b). These compounds are found within some species of the genus *Barbarea* (Brassicaceae), in addition to glucosinolates and act as feeding deterrents for DBM larvae (Shinoda *et al.* 2002; Agerbirk *et al.* 2003a;

Badenes-Pérez et al. 2010, 2014a). The saponins responsible for the lack or reduced survival of DBM on some species and types of Barbareaare 3-0-âcellobiosylhederagenin (saponin 1) and 3-0-âcellobiosyloleanolic acid (saponin 2) (Shinoda et al. 2002; Agerbirk et al. 2003a; Badenes-Pérez et al. 2010). Compared to several crucifer crops, Barbarea vulgaris R. Br. is highly attractive to ovipositing DBM females, making it suitable as a trap crop for this insect pest (Idris and Grafius 1996; Lu et al. 2004; Shelton and Nault 2004; Badenes-Pérez et al. 2004, 2014a;Shelton and Badenes-Pérez 2006). Trap crops like B. vulgaris, highly attractive to insects, but on which they cannot survive, are known as dead-end trap crops (Shelton and Nault 2004; Shelton and Badenes-Pérez 2006). Here we compare different Barbarea spp., varieties, and types to test which ones could have the highest potential as a dead-end trap

crop for DBM. We also show how glucosinolates and saponins vary with plant development in *Barbarea* and how this can affect resistance and within-plant preference of DBM.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Culture of insects and plants, analysis of glucosinolates and saponins, and bioassays were conducted as described in Badenes-Perez et al. (2011, 2014a, 2014b). The Barbarea spp. used in the experiments were B. rupicola, B. verna, and B. vulgaris. Within B. vulgaris, we tested the varieties arcuata and variegata and the types G, P, BAR and NAS (Agerbirk et al. 2003b; van Leur et al. 2006). Larval survival and oviposition preference for DBM was compared among these Barbarea lines and between each of the Barbarea lines and each of three crucifer crops (cabbage, Brassica oleracea L. capitatacy. Gloria; broccoli, Brassica oleracea L. italica cv. Marathon; and Chinese cabbage, Brassica rapa L. pekinensis cv. Kantonner). Plants used in the experiments comparing glucosinolate and saponin content among different Barbarea lines and comparing abaxial and adaxial leaf surfaces were 5weeks old at the time they were used in the experiments. Plants used in the experiments comparing glucosinolate and saponin content in leaves of different size were 10-weeks old. Glucosinolate and saponin content was also compared in the foliage of plants that were 4-, 8- and 12-weeks old.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

There were significant differences in the content of glucosinolates and saponins among the different Barbarea plants examined (Pd<0.05) (Badenes-Pérez et al. 2014a). Plants of G-type B. vulgaris var. arcuata and plants of B. rupicola had, respectively, the lowest and highest glucosinolate content among all the plants analyzed ($Pd \le 0.05$). G-type B. vulgaris plants contained more than 3 times higher content of saponin 1 and more than 50 times higher content of saponin 2 than B. rupicola and B. verna (Pd<0.05). B. verna plants contained approximately 15 times more saponin 1 than B. rupicola plants (Pd < 0.05). Saponin 2 was not found in B. rupicola and B. verna contained only traces. Saponins 1 and 2 were associated with the lack of survival of DBM larvae (Badenes-Pérez et al. 2014a).

A significant negative relationship was found between leaf size and content of glucosinolates for both G- $(y=13.01-0.95x; n=100; r=0.39; F_{1.98}=17.01;$ *P*d≤0.001) and P-type *B. vulgaris* (*y*=14.81-0.86*x*; $n=20; r=0.44; F_{1,19}=4.20; P=0.050)$ (Badenes-Pérez et al. 2014b). In G-type B. vulgaris, a significant negative relationship was also found between leaf size and content of saponins 1 (y=7.50-0.61x; n=100; r=0.51; $F_{1.98}=34.89$; $Pd \le 0.001$) and 2 (y=2.50-0.23x; $n=100; r=0.47; F_{1.98}=27.99; Pd \le 0.001$). There was also a significant negative relationship between leaf size and number of eggs laid by DBM per leaf area $(y=1.84-0.17x; n=84; r=0.58; F_{1,83}=42.15; Pd \le 0.001).$ The number of eggs laid by DBM per unit leaf area was positively correlated with glucosinolate content $(y=0.32+0.04x; n=84; r=0.34; F_{1,83}=10.40; P=0.002).$

When analyzing the whole plant foliage, there were significant differences in glucosinolate and saponin content among plants of different age in both G- and P-type plants (Pd≤0.05) (Badenes-Pérez et al. 2014b). The content of glucosinolates and saponins 1 and 2 washighest in 8-week-old plants and lowest in 4-week-old plants. The simultaneous presence of high concentrations of glucosinolates and saponins in small/young leaves of Barbarea, which are the most attractive to ovipositing DBM, protects the plant against this herbivore. The association between glucosinolates and saponins could indicate that, from an evolutionary point of view, saponins might have appeared after glucosinolates, enabling Barbarea plants to be defended against insects that had adapted to glucosinolate-defended plants. Saponins would then be what has been called a "second line of defense", appearing as a response to herbivores that have overcome the "first line of defense" provided by glucosinolates (Shinoda et al. 2002).

Glucosinolates, but not saponins, were found on the leaf surface of *Barbarea* spp. in sufficient concentrations to be perceived by DBM females (Badenes-Pérez *et al.* 2011). There were also significant differences in glucosinolate content between abaxial and adaxial leaf surfaces within *B. rupicola and B. verna* plants ($Pd \le 0.05$)(Badenes-Pérez *et al.* 2011). Glucobrassicin concentrations on the leaf surface were, respectively, 8 and 3 times higher on the abaxial compared to the adaxial side of *B. rupicola* and *B. verna*. Gluconasturtiin concentrations on the leaf surface were, respectively, 2.3 and 2.2 times higher on the abaxial compared to
the adaxial side of *B. rupicola* and *B. verna*. This higher concentration of glucosinolates on abaxial compared to adaxial leaf surfaces wasnot associated with a preference of ovipositing DBM (P>0.05) (Badenes-Pérez *et al.* 2011).



compounds in Barbarea leaves and its effect on DBM oviposition and survival of larvae.

CONCLUSION

In Barbarea, content of glucosinolates and saponins is variable among different species and types. Within a Barbarea plant, the distribution of glucosinolates and saponins is highly heterogeneous (Fig. 1). Younger Barbarea leaves contain higher concentrations of glucosinolates and saponins than older leaves. Abaxial surfaces can have higher glucosinolate concentrations than adaxial surfaces of the same leaf. Oviposition preference by DBM is negatively correlated with leaf size, but does not seem to differ between the abaxial and the adaxial side of leaves. The simultaneous presence of high amounts of glucosinolates and saponins in small/young leaves of Barbarea provides protection against DBM and other herbivores. Further research in the field is necessary to study how changes in plant phenology can affect the potential use of Barbarea spp. as a trap crop for DBM and in conservation biological control.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Funding was provided by the Max Planck Societyand the Spanish Ministry of Science and Innovation (grant AGL2010-18151). Thanks to Drs. Jens K. Nielsen, Niels Agerbirk, Hanneke van Leur, Tamara Krügel, and Anthony M. Shelton for providing *B. vulgaris* seeds.

REFERENCES

- AGERBIRK, N., OLSEN, C. E., BIBBY, B. M., FRANDSEN, H. O., BROWN, L. D., NIELSEN, J. K. AND RENWICK, J. A. A., 2003a, A saponin correlated with variable resistance of *Barbarea vulgaris* to the diamondback moth *Plutella xylostella*. J. Chem. Ecol., 29(6): 1417-1433.
- AGERBIRK, N., ORGAARD, M. AND NIELSEN, J. K., 2003b, Glucosinolates, flea beetle resistance, and leaf pubescence as taxonomic characters in the genus *Barbarea* (Brassicaceae). *Phytochemistry.*, 63(1): 69-80.
- BADENES-PEREZ, F. R., SHELTON, A. M. AND NAULT, B. A., 2004, Evaluating trap crops for diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera : Plutellidae).,*J. Econ. Entomol.*, **97**(4): 1365-1372.
- BADENES-PEREZ, F. R., REICHELT, M. AND HECKEL, D. G., 2010, Can sulfur fertilisation increase the effectiveness of trap crops for diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* (L.) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae)? *Pest Manag. Sci.*, **66**: 832-838.
- BADENES-PEREZ, F. R., REICHELT, M., GERSHENZON, J. AND HECKEL, D. G., 2011, Phylloplane location of glucosinolates in *Barbarea* spp. (Brassicaceae) and misleading assessment of host suitability by a specialist herbivore. *New Phytol.*, **189**: 549-556.
- BADENES-PEREZ, F. R., REICHELT, M. GERSHENZON, J. AND HECKEL, D. G., 2014a, Using plant chemistry and insect preference to study the potential of *Barbarea* (Brassicaceae) as a dead-end trap crop for diamondback moth (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae). *Phytochem.*, **98**: 137-144..
- BADENES-PEREZ, F. R., GERSHENZON, J. AND HECKEL, D. G., 2014b, Insect attraction versus plant defense: young leaves high in glucosinolates stimulate oviposition by a specialist herbivore despite poor larval survival due to high saponin content. *Plos one.*, **9**: e95766.
- DE, G. E., SMAGGHE, G., RAHBÉ, Y. AND GEELEN, D., 2012a, Triterpene saponins of *Quillaja saponaria* show strong aphicidal and deterrent activity against the pea aphid *Acyrthosiphon pisum*. *Pest Manag. Sci.*, **68**: 164-169.
- DE, G. E., SWEVERS, L., CACCIA, S., GEELEN, D. AND SMAGGHE, G., 2012b, Saponins show high entomotoxicity by cell membrane permeation in Lepidoptera. *Pest Manag. Sci.*, **68**: 1199-1205.
- HALKIER, B. A., AND GERSHENZON, J., 2006, Biology and biochemistry of glucosinolates. *Annu. Rev. Plant Biol.*, **57**: 303-333.

- HOPKINS, R. J., VAN, D. N. M. AND VAN, L. J. J. A., 2009, Role of glucosinolates in insect-plant relationships and multitrophic interactions. *Ann. Rev. Entomol.*, **54**: 57-83.
- IDRIS, A. B. AND GRAFIUS, E., 1996, Effects of wild and cultivated host plants on oviposition, survival, and development of diamondback moth (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) and its parasitoid *Diadegma insulare* (Hymenoptera: Ichneumonidae). *Environ. Entomol.*, 25(4): 825-833.
- Lu, J. H., Liu, S. S. AND SHELTON, A. M., 2004, Laboratory evaluations of a wild crucifer *Barbarea vulgaris* as a management tool for the diamondback moth *Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera : Plutellidae). *Bull. Entomol. Res.*, **94**(6): 509-516.
- NIELSEN, J. K., NAGAO, T., OKABE, H. AND SHINODA, T., 2010. Resistance in the plant, *Barbarea vulgaris*, and counter-adaptations in flea beetles mediated by saponins. J. Chem. Ecol., **36**: 277-285.
- OSBOURN, A., 1996, Saponins and plant defence a soap story. *Trends Plant Sci.*, **1**: 4-9.
- REED, D. W., PIVNICK, K. A. AND UNDERHILL, E. W., 1989, Identification of chemical oviposition stimulants for the diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella*, present in three species of Brassicaceae. *Entomol. Exp. Appl.*, 53: 277-286.

- RENWICK, J. A. A., HARIBAL, M., GOUINGUENE, S. AND STADLER, E., 2006, Isothiocyanates stimulating oviposition by the diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella*. J. Chem. Ecol., **32**(4): 755-766.
- SHELTON, A. M. AND BADENES-PEREZ, F. R.,2006, Concepts and applications of trap cropping in pest management. *Ann. Rev. Entomol.*, **51**: 285-308.
- SHELTON, A. M. AND NAULT, B. A., 2004, Dead-end trap cropping: a technique to improve management of the diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae). *Crop Protect.*, 23(6): 497-503.
- SHINODA, T., NAGAO, T., NAKAYAMA, M., SERIZAWA, H., KOSHIOKA, M., OKABE, H. AND KAWAI, A., 2002, Identification of a triterpenoid saponin from a crucifer, *Barbarea vulgaris*, as a feeding deterrent to the diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella. J. Chem. Ecol.*, 28(3): 587-599.
- SPENCER, J. L., PILLAI, S. AND BERNAYS, E. A., 1999, Synergism in the oviposition behavior of *Plutella xylostella*: sinigrin and wax compounds. *J. Insect Behav.*, **12**(4): 483-500.
- VAN, L. H., RAAIJMAKERS, C. E. AND VAN, D. N. M., 2006, A heritable glucosinolate polymorphism within natural populations of *Barbarea vulgaris*. *Phytochem.*, **67**(12): 1214-1223.

Attraction of Naive *Diadegma semiclausum* Hellen (Hymenoptera: Ichneumonidae) Females and *Cotesia vestalis* (Haliday) (Hymenoptera: Braconidae) to Cabbage (*Brassica oleracea*) Plant Volatile Organic Compounds Using the Olfactometer and Screen-Cage Methods

ISMAIL A., MANSOUR S.1, MOHAMED ROFF M.N.², NADIA M. KERMANI³ MOHD HANAIFH YAHAYA⁴, IDRIS A.B.⁵ School of Environmental and Natural Resource Science, Faculty Science & Technology, Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia, 43600 Bangi, Selangor, Malaysia E-mail: iabozid@yahoo.com ¹Omar Al-Mukthar University. Zoology Department, P.O. Box. 919 Al-Bidya Libya. E-mail: mansour_sm2001@yahoo.com ²Deputy Director/ Senior Principal Research Officer, Pest and Disease Management Programme, Horticulture Research Centre, MARDI HQ, P.O. Box 12301, GPO, 50774 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. E-mail: roff@mardi.gov.my ³School of Environmental and Natural Resource Science, Faculty Science & Technology, Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia, 43600 Bangi, Selangor, Malaysia. E-mail: nadia.khermani@yahoo.com ⁴Horticulture Research Centre and Strategic Resources Research Centre MARDI Headquarter Persiaran, MARDI-UPM, 43400, Serdang Selangor, Malaysia E-mail: hanifah58@yahoo.com ⁵School of Environmental and Natural Resource Science, Faculty Science & Technology, Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia, 43600 Bangi, Selangor, Malaysia. E-mail: idrisgh@ukm.edu.my

Abstract

Volatile organic compounds (VOCs) released by plant when attacked by herbivores could play a very important role in the indirect defense of host plants by attracting natural enemies of the attacking herbivore. The hymenopteran parasitoids, Diadegma semiclausum (Hellen) (Hymenoptera: Ichneumonidae) and Cotesia vestalis (Haliday) (Hymenoptera: Braconidae) are important biological control agents of the diamondback moth (DBM), Plutella xylostella (L.) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae), the most important pest of cruciferous crops worldwide. These parasitoids use plant volatiles in their in-flight searching behavior. The objectives of this work were to determine the effects of the VOCs emitted by differently damaged Cabbage (Brassica oleracea L.) plants on the attracting response behavior of C. plutellae and D. semiclausum adult females using olfactometer and screen cage methods. Results showed that the naive females for each parasitoid discriminated separately between odors from plants damaged mechanically, by aphids, by cabbage leaf webber (Crocidolomia pavonana Zeller) larvae or by larvae of DBM. No comparison study between parasitoid species was detected. The plants that fed by C. pavonana larvae or mechanically were more attracted to the adult females D. semiclausum than intact plants in the olfactometer study. In the screen cage method, however, the plants damaged by DBM larvae were more attractive to the *Diadegma* females than to all other plants damaged by other types of damage. For C. vestalis, the females tested using olfactometer was also showed high significant preference to plants damaged by C. pavonana larvae, while plants damaged by DBM larvae were significantly preferred than to the C. pavonana by the naive females. Understanding the attraction of the VOCs emitted by host plants damaged by host or non-host larvae of these parasitoids may help us to discover the possibility of using plant-pest-parasitoid interactions for improving an integrated DBM management.

Keywords: Diadegma semiclausum, Cotesia vestalis, Plutella xylostella, Brassica oleracea, volatile organic compounds

DIAMONDBACK moth (DBM), Plutella xylostella, has become the most destructive insect of cruciferous plants throughout the world (Talekar et al. 1993; Bhalla and Dubey 1986). Plutella xylostella feeds exclusively on plants of Cruciferae (Idris and Grafius 1996; Dosdall et al. 2011). Annual pest management costs for controlling DBM are approximately US\$ 4-5 billion. (Zalucki et al. 2012). Chemicals are playing an important role in the production of cruciferous vegetables and many of them are insecticide products used for the control of DBM. (Sakai 1986). Due to unselective use of pesticides, DBM has developed resistance and has been very difficult to control (Mari 2012). However, maximizing the role of Biological Control Agents (BCA) is one of the ways to reduce dependence on chemical insecticides used for controlling DBM (Grzywacz et al. 2010). Numerous parasitoids and predators attack all developmental stages of P. xylostella (Kfir 2005). The natural enemies of DBM are important for biological control and the larval parasitoids are most commonly used as BCA of DBM. It could be true that an IPM program would be better if there were more species of parasitoids attacking different stages of DBM (Ooi 1990). Therefore, some parasitoid species have been introduced to Southeast Asia with various degrees of success in the biological control programs of P. xylostella (Lim 1986). The ichneumonid, Diadegma semiclausum has been recorded in many parts of the world as an important parasitoid of P. xylostella (Khatri et al. 2012). D. semiclausum and Cotesia vestalis as specialist parasitoids of DBM, are believed to be the best parasitoids in highlands and lowlands, respectively, and are keeping DBM population under control (Talekar et al. 1992; Murthy et al. 2013). The parasitoid impact on its host population depends upon its ability to find and parasitize it (Khatri et al. 2012). According to Soyelu (2014) the parasitic wasps can perfectly locate its host or food by using olfactory and visual signals. In general, natural enemies like parasitoids use herbivore induced plant volatile organic compounds (VOCs) to locate their herbivore host (Harris et al. 2012). Plant VOCs emissions differed between undamaged plants and plants under attack by herbivores (Kessler and Baldwin 2004). This is supported by the finding of Dicke (1999) that throughout the plant kingdom many species have been described as herbivore-induced semiochemical producers. An effective integrated insect pest management (IPM) program is thought to mainly be based on better understanding of the role of plant VOCs in the plant-insect interaction. As such, using the right plant at the right place and right time could guarantee the success of any IPM program. The aim of this study was to determine the effect of cabbage plants (*B. oleracea*) VOCs on the attraction of *D. semiclausum* and on *C. vestalis*, the two main parasitoids of DBM worldwide. It is hoped that the information from this study would contribute to betterment of IPM program for DBM and other insect pests in brassicas.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Plants

Cabbage (*Brassica oleracea*) seeds were sown in plastic pots (12 cm diameter), filled with soil and grown in separate insect-proof cages (2.5 x 2 x 8 m), watered twice per day and fertilized 3x during the study (once per 2-weeks). The plants were grown under greenhouse conditions at the Malaysian Agricultural Research and Development Institute (MARDI), Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia and experiments were performed on 6-weeks-old plants (*i.e.* at the 7-8 leaf stage).

Insects

Cotesia vestalis (Haliday) (= C. plutellae) (Hymenoptera: Braconidae)

C. vestalis is a specialist solitary endoparasitoid preferably attacking P. xylostella. Presumably parasitized earlier larval instar of DBM were fieldcollected and placed with few cabbage leaves for a week in plastic-cages $(15 \times 15 \times 20 \text{ cm})$ in a climatecontrolled room (27±2°C, 60±5% RH 16 h photoperiod) at the entomology laboratory of MARDI. Leaves were removed and replaced daily by fresh ones. The C. vestalis cocoons found daily were transferred into a plastic cage $(15 \times 15 \times 20 \text{ cm})$ and incubated until the adults emerged. To obtain first generation (G1) C. vestalis, recently emerged and mated parasitoid females were placed with DBM larvae (second instar larvae offered for egg laying/ parasitism) on 1-3 small Chinese mustard leaves in four separate glass containers (30 cm high x 12 cm diameter) covered with mosquito netting (5 parasitoid females par container). The insects were given 20% honey solution as food. The parasitized larvae of DBM were transferred to small plastic cages (10×20 \times 30 cm) and offered fresh Chinese mustard leaves

until the cocoon stage. After the emergence, mated *C. vestalis* females which were be used in the study were collected daily into metallic insect cages covered with mosquito-netting and fed on water-honey solution. One to 3-d-old females were used in the Y-tube assay.

Diadegma semiclausum Hellen (Hymenoptera: Ichneumonidae)

The parasitoid pupae were obtained from the entomology laboratory of MARDI Cameron Highland, Malaysia and further reared at the entomology laboratory at MARDI, Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia where the experiments were done.

Diamondback Moth (DBM), Plutella xylostella (L.) Lepidoptera: Plutellidae)

Adults and larvae of DBM were collected from small farms in Danau Desa at Kampong Batu Muda in Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. No specific permits were required for the described field studies and permission was provided by the landowners. The field studies did not involve endangered or protected species. Small netting cages (40 x 35 x 45 cm) were used for rearing the insects on cabbage plants in the entomology laboratory at MARDI (27±2°C, 60±5% RH) and a photoperiod of 16:8 (L:D). The insects were fed with 20% honey solution through a cotton swab. Fresh mustard leaves were provided for the oviposition. One day later, leaves with the eggs were transferred to small plastic cages (20 x 15 x 30 cm) covered with mosquito netting. The larvae were kept and fed on cabbage leaves.

Cabbage Leaf Webber, Crocidolomia pavonana Zeller (*Lepidoptera: Crambidae*)

Larvae of the cabbage leaf webber were collected from MARDI premises at Jalan Kebun and from the SENR Research Centre of MARDI, Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia. The larvae were then reared on cabbage leaves in small cages (20 x 15 x 30 cm) covered with mosquito netting.

Aphid, Lipaphis erysimi (Kltb) (Homoptera: Aphididae)

Aphids were collected from Chinese mustard plants grown in glasshouses at MARDI, Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia. The insects were kept on Chinese mustard plants in small screen cages ($45 \times 45 \times 50$ cm) in the entomology laboratory at MARDI until further use in the experiments.

Y-olfactometer assay

The Y-shape olfactometer was made of transparent Plexiglas (2.5 cm diameter; stem 13 cm, arms 10 cm; angle of stem-arms 120°). Its arms were connected to two 22 L glass containers. An electric pump (Cole-Parmer Air cadet vacuum/pressure station, Illinois, U.S.A) was connected to the olfactometer to push the air into both containers through silicon tubes. Before being pushed into the glass containers, air was filtered through an activatedcharcoal. Airflow in each arm of the Y-tube was adjusted with a flow meter to 600 ml/min. To investigate whether C. vestalis and D. semiclausum females respond differently to different type of damage, the parasitoid females were tested separately and individually per treatment. Plants from only one species (B. oleracea) were used and four treatments namely the undamaged plant versus infested with approximately 25-30 2nd and 3rd instar DBM larvae, undamaged plant versus infested with 15 2^{nd} instar C. pavonana larvae, undamaged plant versus plants infested with 150 aphids and undamaged versus mechanically damaged plants. Each treatment was repeated five times. Each insect was allowed to respond for eight minutes and was used only once (25 insects per treatment, 100 insects in total per species). All experiments were carried out in daylight at 26±2 °C and 60 % relative humidity

Screen-cage assay

To investigate the effect of the VOCs of the cabbage plants (B. oleracea) on parasitic wasps C. vestalis and D. semiclausum, we used six-leaved stage cabbage plants which were damaged mechanically, by aphids, by cabbage leaf webber (C. pavonana) larvae or by DBM larvae plus five intact plants as control. Experimental and control plants were placed randomly in the screen-cage measuring $2.2 \times 4.0 \times 4.0$ m. To do this, plants were firstly planted in pots and enclosed in rectangular screen cages measuring 2.5m x 1m x 0.60m. Six leaf-stage potted cabbage plants maintained in screen-houses for 24 h were exposed for 25 mated naïve parasitoid females (C. vestalis, D. semiclausum) of 2 and 4 d old. The parasitoid females were released from small plastic cage $(15 \times 15 \times 5)$ cm), at 0800 h, at height of one meter in the middle of the screen house. After one, two, three, six and 24 h from releasing moment, the number of parasitoid females visually observed on each plant in the screenhouse was counted and recorded to determine the preference of C. vestalis and D. semiclausum.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Time of exposures and type of damage significantly interacted to influence the number of *C. vestalis* parasitoids. The parasitoid, *C. vestalis* was found significantly more on plants damaged by DBM than by other means (Table 1). Time or damage types alone also significantly influenced the number of parasitoid attracted to the treated plant.

TABLE 1

Mean numbers of C. vestalis females found on treatment plants (B. oleracea) at different times after release in free-choice bioassays (screen-cage)

Source	df	Sum of squares value	F- value	Р-
Time	1	52.81	11.03	0.001
Damages	4	300.93	15.72	0.000
Time × damages	4	79.16	4.13	0.005
Error	65	311.10		

There was no significant interaction between time and damage types in influencing *D. semiclausum* response (Table 2). As for *C. vestalis*, time and type of damages significantly influenced the number of *D. semiclausum* responded or observed on treatment plants. The number of *D. semiclausum* females observed on plants damaged by DBM or *C. pavonana* larvae was more significant. No significant difference between the females' number found on plants damaged by other types of damage.

TABLE 2

Mean numbers of D. semiclausum (DS) females found on treated plants (B. oleracea) at different times after release in free-choice bioassays (screen-cage)

Source	df	Sum of squares	F-	P-
		value	value	
Time	1	90.69	25.15	0.000
Damages	4	437.88	30.35	0.000
Time × damages	4	47.74	3.31	0.018
Error	50	180.32		

The *C. vestalis* females attracted significantly more to VOCs from plants damaged by DBM and *C. pavonana* larvae than VOCs from the undamaged plants (Figure 1). No significant difference was observed between the *C. vestalis* females number responded to plants damaged by aphid, mechanicallydamaged and *C. vestalis* female number that responded to undamaged plants.



Mean number (±SE) of C. vestalis females attracted to VOCs from undamaged (control) Cabbage plants (B. oleracea) and damaged plants as tested using Y-olfactometer

There was no significant difference observed between the *D. semiclausum* female number responded to plants damaged by DBM larvae than female number responded to undamaged plants (Figure 2). However, *D. semiclausum* significantly attracted to plants damaged by *C. pavonana* larvae than undamaged plants.



Mean number (±SE) of D. semiclausum females attracted to VOCs from undamaged (control) cabbage plants (B. oleracea) and damaged plants tested using Y-olfactometer

Results of this study demonstrated that the orientation response of parasitoid females to plants damaged by their hosts depends on the information sent by the host or by other herbivores infesting the plant (Han Baoyu *et al.* 2001; Reddy and Guerrero 2004). These results indicated the relative importance of different VOCs emitted by infested plants damaged by different herbivores. Different types of damage could cause a variation or difference in the VOCs components emitted by the same host (Dicke *et al.* 2000), which contributed to differences in parasitoid responses. In this study, the *C. vestalis* was found to

be only attracted to VOCs emitted by plants damaged by its insect hosts. However, the D. semiclausum significantly preferred the plant damaged by another chewing insect that is not its host. Producing and sprinkling of these VOCs could induce typical response in D. semiclausum females, which varied with where their hosts are. Strangely, in this study, regardless of the type of damages, both C. vestalis and D. semiclausum females responded according to the VOCs information they got from both damaged and undamaged plants (Ohara et al. 2003). It has been suggested that D. semiclausum females will prefer damaged plants over undamaged ones because of the attractive VOCs emanated by damaged plants (including its host) or the VOCs emitted by damaged plants by any type that might be attractive. Similarly, our result also shows that there are no significant differences between the number of D. semiclausum females responded to the undamaged plants and those attracted to plants infested/injured by aphids or damaged mechanically. Interestingly, D. semiclausum responded significantly less to plants with DBM damage than the control. Except between the VOCs plant damaged by C. pavonana and the control, D. semiclausm responded more to the control plants than plants damaged by other types. This indicates that the parasitoid preferred to use other signal such as the VOCs of plants damaged by C. pavonana (Figure 2) and/or the kairomones produced by the hosts such as frass and facces. In general, the plants probably emitted different VOCs that attracted or repelled the tested insects to different extent. We can explain that by:

- The cabbage plants infested by *C. pavonana* larvae produce VOCs that are attractive to *D. semiclausum* females than VOCs emitted by DBM-damaged plants.
- The cabbage plants attacked by DBM larvae do not produce enough VOCs compared with those attacked by *C. pavonana*, which make the females to choose those attacked by *C. pavonana*.
- The preference of *D. semiclausum* is mediated by host plant signals, associated with crucifers and/ or the kairomones from it host and not by herbivore feeding.

The purpose of this research was to investigate whether or not if the changes in herbivore (non host) could induce different plant volatiles that would positively affect the olfactory response of *D*. *semiclausum* and *C*. *vestalis* females.

So, it is most probably that VOCs emitted by DBMdamaged cabbage seem not to be used by D. semiclausum as primary cues for host location. Whereas, the undamaged host plant volatiles have a strong influence on parasitoids. In our study, the volatiles emitted by plants damaged by chewing insects were attractive to D. semiclausum females as the females reacted evenly when they were offered Crocidolomia- damaged plants (Figure 2). This suggests that the preference of D. semiclausum for *Crocidolomia*- damaged plants may be explained by the quantity of VOCs released from the plants which may be less in plants damaged by DBM larvae when taking into account the amount of damage caused by C. pavonana larvae. However, C. pavonana is not D. semiclausum's host insect; plants damaged by C. pavonana may produce VOCs that are more attractive to D. semiclausum and that the presence of C. pavonana in the field may increase effectiveness of D. semiclausum in integrated DBM management.

CONCLUSION

The result clearly indicate that *Diadegma* semiclausum and *Cotesia vestalis* responded differently to VOCs released from cabbage (*Brassica oleracea*) plants that were injured by different ways. The potential of using it to improve IPM for DBM is great but further study is needed especially under field situation.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This research was supported Science Fund Research Grant no. 06-01-02-SF-0896, Ministry of Sciences and Technology and Innovation, Malaysia (MOSTI). The authors are most grateful to staffs of MARDI Station Serdang for providing research facilities.

REFERENCES

BAOYU, H., ZHANG, Z. AND FANG, Y., 2001, Electrophysiology and behaviour feedback of diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella*, to volatile secondary metabolites emitted by Chinese cabbage. *Chin. Sci. Bull.*, **46**(24): 2086–2088.

BHALLA, O. P. AND DUBEY, J. K., 1986, Bionomics of diamondback moth in northwestern Himalaya. *In:* Proceedings of the First International workshop on Diamondback Moth Management: Asian Vegetable Research and Development Center, Shanhua, Taiwan, pp. 55-61.

- DICKE, M. AND VAN, L. J. J. A., 2000, Multitrophic effects of herbivore-induced plant volatiles in an evolutionary context. *Entomol. Exp. Appl.*, **97**: 237–249.
- DOSDALL, L. M., SOROKA, J. J. AND OLFERT, O., 2011, The Diamondback Moth in Canola and Mustard: Current Pest Status and Future Prospects. *Prairie Soils & Crops J.*, **4**: 66-76..
- GRZYWACZ, D., ROSSBACH, A., RAUF, A., RUSSELL, D. A., NIVASAN, R. AND SHELTON, A. M., 2010, Current control methods for diamondback moth and other brassica insect pests and the prospects for improved management with lepidopteran-resistant Bt vegetable brassicas in Asia and Africa. *Crop Prot.*, **29**: 68–79.
- HARRIS, C. M., RUBERSON, J. R., MEAGHER, R. AND TUMLINSON, J., 2012. Host suitability affects odor association in *Cotesia marginiventris*: implications in generalist parasitoid host-finding. *J Chem Ecol.*, 38: 340–347.
- IDRIS, A. B. AND GRAFIUS, E., 1996, Effects of wild and cultivated host plants on oviposition, survival, and development of diamondback moth (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) and its parasitoid *Diadegma insulare* (Hymenoptera: Ichneumonidae). *Environ. Entomol.*, 25: 825–833.
- KESSLER, A. AND BALDWIN, J. T., 2004, Herbivore-induced plant vaccination. Part I. The orchestration of plant defenses in nature and their fitness consequences in the wild tobacco *Nicotiana attenuata*. *The Plant J.*, **38**: 639-649
- KFIR, R., 2005, The impact of parasitoids on *Plutella xylostella* populations in South Africa and the successful biological control of the pest on the island of St. Helena. *Arthropod*, **1**.3c
- KHATRI, D., HE, X. Z. AND WANG, Q., 2012, Reproductive fitness of *Diadegma semiclausum* Hellen (Hymenoptera: Ichneumonidae) in response to host density. *New Zealand Plant Prot.*, 65: 142-147.
- MARI, J. M., 2012, Efficacy of different plant extracts against diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* (L.) on cauliflower. International Conference on Applied Life Sciences (ICALS2012) Turkey, September 10-12, 2012.
- MILLER, E. C., HADLEY, C. W., SCHWARTZ, S. J., ERDMAN, J. W., BOILEAU, T. M. W. AND CLINTON, S. K., 2002,

Lycopene, tomato products, and prostate cancer prevention. Have we established causality?. *Pure Appl. Chem.*, **74**(8): 1435-1441.

- MURTHY, K. S., RAMYA, S. L., VENKATESAN, T., JALAL, S. K. AND JOSE, J., 2013, Feminisation due to *Wolbachia* in *Cotesia vestalis* (Haliday), a parasitoid of the Diamond back moth *Plutella xylostella* (Linnaeus). *G.J.B.A.H.S.*, 2(3):192-195.
- OHARA, Y., AKIO, T. AND TAKABAYASHI, J., 2003, Response to host-infested plants in females of *Diadegma semiclausum* Hellen (Hymenoptera: Ichneumonidae). *Appl. Entomol. Zool.*, **38**(1): 157-162.
- Ooi, P., 1990, Management of diamondback moth in Cameron Highlands. *Newlt. Malaysia Plant Prot. Soc.*, **13**: 55-56.
- REDDY, G. V. P. AND GUERRERO, A., 2004, Interactions of insect pheromones and plant semiochemicals. *Trends Plant Sci.*, 9(5): 253-261.
- SAKAI, M., 1986, Chemical control of diamondback moth in Japan with special reference to Cartap. *In*: First Int'l Workshop AVRDC. Shanhua, Taiwan.
- SOYELU, O. J., 2014, Behavioral Responses of *Cotesia* vestalis (Haliday) (Hymenoptera: Braconidae) to Honey-Based Diets. *American J. Exp. Agr.*, **4**(6): 703-712.
- TALEKAR, N. S., YANG. J. C. AND LEE, S. T., 1992, Introduction of *Diadegma semiclausum* to control diamondback moth in Taiwan. In: *Diamondback Moth* and Other Crucifer Pests., TALEKAR, N. S., (ed.), Proceedings of the Second International Workshop, Asian Vegetable Research and Development Center, Tainan, Taiwan, pp. 263–270.
- TALEKAR, N. S. AND SHELTON, A. M., 1993, Biology, ecology, and management of the diamondback moth. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.*, **38**: 275.
- TANG, W., YU, L., HE, W., YANG, G., KE, F., BAXTER, S. W., YOU, S., DOUGLAS, C. J. AND YOU, M., 2014, DBM-DB: the diamondback moth genome database. Database, Vol. 2014, Article ID bat087, doi:10.1093/ database/bat087.
- ZALUCKI, M. P., SHABBIR, A., SILVA, R., ADAMSON, D., SHU-SHENG, L. AND FURLONG, M. J., 2012, Estimating the economic cost of one of the world's major insect pests, *Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae): just how long is a piece of string?. *Econ. Entomol.*, **105**: 1115– 1129.

Session 4

Insecticides and insecticide resistance in diamondback moth and other crucifer pests

Mutations in *ace1* Associated with an Organophosphate Insecticide Resistant Population of *Plutella xylostella*

KIM JUIL, JOO YOO REE1, KWON MIN2, KIM GIL-HAH3 AND LEE SI HYEOCK4

Highland Agriculture Research Center, NICS, RDA E-mail: forwweek@korea.kr ¹ Highland Agriculture Research Center, NICS, RDA E-mail: yooreenim@daum.net ² Highland Agriculture Research Center, NICS, RDA E-mail: mkwon@korea.kr ³Department of Plant Medicine, Chungbuk National University E-mail: khkim@chungbuk.ac.kr ⁴Department of Agricultural Biotechnology, Seoul National University E-mail: Shlee22@snu.ac.kr

ABSTRACT

Insensitive acetylcholinesterase (AChE) was determined to be involved in an EPN-resistant (ER) strain and a contaminated susceptible (CS) strain of diamondback moth (DBM, *Plutella xylostella* L.), as estimated by AChE inhibition assay using DDVP as an inhibitor in a nondenaturing electrophoresis gel. The ER strain exhibited very high AChE insensitivity, high resistance ratio, and two point mutations (G324A, A298S) in ace1-type AChE gene (*Pxace1*). The CS strain showed low AChE insensitivity, low resistance ratio, and it has only one point mutation (G324A). These findings suggest that the A298S mutation, along with reported G324A mutation (Baek *et al.* 2005), can be important in the development of organophosphate resistance. These results also suggest that the A298S mutation could be a good candidate for a molecular diagnosis marker for resistance monitoring. Three molecular diagnosis methods (Quantitative Sequencing; QS, PCR amplification of specific alleles; PASA and restriction fragment length polymorphism; RFLP) were developed which successfully detected specific resistance associated point mutations. Seven local populations of DBM were surveyed and showed high insecticide resistance levels and an A298S mutation in *Pxace1*. These methods can be used to monitor the resistance allele in field populations of DBMs and be used for resistance management strategy.

Keywords: insensitive acetylcholinesterase, molecular diagnosis, PCR amplification of specific alleles, restriction fragment length polymorphism

ACETYLCHOLINESTERASE (EC 3.1.1.7, AChE) terminates nerve impulse by catalyzing the hydrolysis of the neurotransmitter acetylcholine (ACh) to acetic acid and choline in the synapse and neuro-muscular junction in most invertebrates and vertebrates. It is a key enzyme in the insect nervous system in which the cholinergic system is essential (Fournier *et al.* 1992) and a target for the action of organophosphate (OP) and carbamate (CB) insecticides.

Insect AChE is encoded by one or two ace genes. *Drosophila melanogaster* was confirmed to have only one *ace* (later named as *ace2*) after full genome sequencing (Myers *et al.* 2000). However, many insect species have recently been found to have two genes. Two AChEs, differing in their substrate and inhibitor specificity, were first proposed to be encoded from two different loci in *Culex pipiens* (Bourguet *et al.* 1996). The second insect *ace* (later named as *ace1*)

that is paralogous to the *ace2* was also cloned from Hemipteran insects (Li and Han, 2002), Lepidopteran species (Baek *et al.* 2005) and Blattodea (Kim *et al.* 2006) etc. In spite of the co-existence of two AChEs in many insect species including *Culex* spp. (Weill *et al.* 2003; Nabeshima *et al.* 2004), *Myzus persicae* (Nabeshima 2003) and *Plutella xylostella* (Baek *et al.* 2005), the *ace1*-type AChE only has been shown to be responsible for the AChE insensitivity-mediated resistance to OP and CB insecticides. More than 33 insect and acari species have developed resistance to OP and CB insecticides through the decreased sensitivity of AChE (Fournier and Mutero 1994).

Diamondback moth (DBM, *Plutella xylostella*) is a serious pest of cruciferous crop throughout the world including Korea (Kim *et al.* 2001). The nucleotide sequences of the ace1 and ace2 from the DBM were previously reported (Ni *et al.* 2003; Baek

et al. 2005). Initial studies on the mechanisms of prothiofos resistance in the resistant strain showed that insensitive AChE caused by three amino acid substitutions is likely the major factor in resistance (Seo and Boo 2004; Baek *et al.* 2005; Lee *et al.* 2007). The functional role of each mutation, however, still remains to be elucidated.

In this study, the EPN resistance mediated by AChE insensitivity mechanism in the DBM was investigated. AChE mutations associated with reduced sensitivity to OPs and CBs were identified from two strains of DBM with differential level of resistance and we want to solve the question which is the main factor among the mutations. Finally, molecular diagnostic methods were developed for the detection of the AChE mutations as alternative resistance monitoring tools.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Insects and bioassay

The susceptible (S) strain of DBM was initially obtained from Korea Research institute of Chemical Technology (KRICT) and has been maintained in an insect rearing room at Chungbuk National University. The EPN resistance (ER) strain was collected from Cheongwon gun, Chungbuk province, South Korea in 2004 and has been selected by LC_{50} concentration of EPN in every generation. A third strain (contaminated susceptible CS) strain possessing a low level of OP resistance originated from a selected subpopulation of the ER strain. It has been selected by LC_{50} concentration of EPN in 2008 for five generations. Local populations of DBM were collected from Bongwha, Heng-seong, Hong-cheon, Je-ju, Mu-ju, Pyeongchang and Yang-gu region during July to August 2008 in Korea. The three laboratory strains and seven local populations of DBM were reared on Chinese cabbage in plastic cages under the conditions of 25 ± 2 °C, 16L: 8D photoperiod, and 50~70% relative humidity. The susceptibility of DBM to some insecticides (EPN, DDVP and Thiodicarb) was determined by leaf-disk dipping method where commercial formulations were dissolved in distilled water to appropriate concentrations. Chinese cabbage leaf disks (5.5 cm diameter) were dipped into the test solution for 1 min and dried in a fume hood. The dried leaf disk was transferred to a petri dish, onto which 10 third instars were introduced. Mortality was recorded 48 hrs after treatment and LC₅₀ value was estimated by probit analysis (Finney, 1971).

Enzyme preparation

Enzyme was extracted from the head part of 100~200 adult DBMs in each strain. Adult heads were prepared using the liquid nitrogen and each sample was homogenized with 0.3% Triton X-100 (v/v) containing 100 mM Tris-HCl (pH. 7.8) buffer using the glass-glass tissue grinder on ice. The homogenate was centrifuged at 10,000 g for 15 min and the supernatant was filtered through glass wool to remove lipids. The filtered homogenate was used immediately as the enzyme source in the AChE assay. Protein concentration was determined according to the method of Bradford (1976) using the bovine serum albumin as a standard protein.

Native PAGE and native IEF

Native PAGE was performed in a vertical electrophoresis unit (Novex® mini cell, Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) by using the 7.5% T/2.67% C separating and 5% T/2.67% C stacking gel with a discontinuous Tris–glycine buffer system. Gels and running buffer contained 0.3 or 0.1% Triton X-100. Equal amounts (10g) of preparations were electrophoresed for 90 min at 120 V in a cold chamber. Following electrophoresis, the gel was activity-stained to visualize AChE bands according to the method of Lewis and Shute (1966). Native IEF was performed in a same vertical electrophoresis unit which

used in native PAGE by using the pH. 3~7 precast IEF gel (Invitrogen). Following the focusing, the gel was activity-stained to visualize esterase bands incubated with 1mM alpha naphthyl acetate as a substrate.

Amplification of partial Pxaces and point mutation survey

Partial cDNA fragments of the *ace1* type acetylcholinesterase gene in DBM (*pxace1*) and *ace2* type acetylcholinesterase gene in DBM (*Pxace2*) were amplified from the first strand cDNA or genomic DNA with a set of primers (Table 1) designed from Genbank database. All PCRs were performed by EX Taq Polymerase (Takara, Shiga, Japan) and DNA Engine Dyad Peltier Thermal Cycler (Biorad, Hercules, CA, USA).

Molecular diagnosis

Based on previous investigation, we modified the quantitative sequencing (QS) method (Kwon et al., 2008). A 484-bp genomic DNA fragment was amplified from individual genomic DNAs obtained from both S and ER strains using DBM ace p-F and R primer set. Individual PCR products were purified using a PCR purification kit (Qiagen) and sequenced to confirm the genotypes at mutation sites (NICEM Sequencing Facility, Seoul National University, Seoul, Korea). To identify any sequence polymorphisms in the mutation region, the genomic DNA template quantized by using a NanoDrop ND-1000 spectrophotometer (NanoDrop Technologies, Wilmington, DE). The standard genomic DNA templates were mixed in the following ratios: 0:10, 1:9, 3:7, 5:5, 7:3, 9:1, and 10:0 (resistant allele : susceptible allele at each mutation site). Standard DNA template mixtures (50ng) were amplified by EX Taq Polymerase (Takara) and DNA Engine Dyad Peltier Thermal Cycler (Biorad) with following program: 94 °C for 5 min, 35 cycles of 94 °C for 20 sec, 60 °C for 20 sec, 72 °C for 30 sec, followed by final extension at 72 °C for 5 min. PCR products were purified using a PCR purification kit (Qiagen). The nucleotide signal intensities of the resistant and susceptible alleles at each mutation site were measured from the sequence chromatogram by using Chromas version 2.31 software (Technelysium Pty Ltd., Tewantin, Australia) and the signal ratios were calculated. Partial Pxace1 was amplified using DBM ace p-F and R primer set from the susceptible (S), contaminated susceptible (CS) and EPN-resistant (ER) strains of DBM for restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP). PCR was performed by EX Taq Polymerase (Takara) and DNA Engine Dyad Peltier Thermal Cycler (Biorad) with following program: 94 °C for 10 min, 45 cycles of 94 °C for 10 sec, 60 °C for 10 sec, 72 °C for 20 sec, followed by final extension at 72 °C for 5 min. The amplified PCR products were digested by Eag¥° for 2 hours at 37 °C. Results were analyzed by electrophoresis on 2% agarose gel in 1X TBE buffer.

PCR amplification of specific allele (PASA) was performed by susceptible allele specific or resistance allele specific primer, EX Taq Polymerase (Takara) and DNA Engine Dyad Peltier Thermal Cycler (Biorad) with following program: 94 °C for 5 min, 45 cycles of 94 °C for 5 sec, 57 °C for 5 sec, 72 °C for 10 sec, followed by final extension at 72 °C for 5 min. PCR products were analyzed by electrophoresis on 2% agarose gel in 1X TBE buffer.

RESULTS AND **D**ISCUSSION

AChE inhibition assay and mutation survey in ace1

The ER strain exhibited 314-fold resistance to EPN compared to the S strain as judged by LC_{50} values (Table 2). Moreover, the ER strain showed cross-resistance to DDVP and thiodicarb. The CS strain was ca 5-fold resistant to thiodicarb and 1~2 fold resistant to OP insecticides such as EPN and DDVP. Therefore, the ER strain showed a high level of resistance whereas the CS strain showed low level of resistance to OP or CB insecticide. The enzyme preparations of the three strains from head parts were differentially inhibited by 100 or 200µM DDVP on native polyacrylamide gel (Figure 1). As shown in the inhibitor-untreated lanes, almost identical levels of AChE activity were detected in all strains. When inhibitor was treated, the AChE of the S strain was almost completely inhibited. In contrast, the AChE of the ER strain was ca. 30% inhibited whereas that of the CS strain was ca. 80% inhibited (Fig. 1A and C). Based on IEF result, there was no significantly highly expressed esterase isozyme (Fig. 1B). However, strain specific polymorphic esterase isozyme banding patterns showed in three strains. And all esterase isozymes were clearly inhibited by DDVP (Fig. 1B).

Partial cDNA sequence of Pxace1 was obtained from three strains (S, CS and ER) by PCR with sequence-specific primer sets (Table 1). Two point mutations (G324A and A298S) reported previously (Baek et al. 2005; Lee et al. 2007) were also found. Only the G324A (GGA to GCA) mutation was found in the CS, whereas both G324Aand A298S (GCC to TCC) mutations were observed in the ER strain and confirmed from pooled genomic DNA amplification (Fig. 2). Thirteen and five silent mutations were identified in the ER and CS strains, respectively. Three exons and two introns (1st intron, 293 bp in S versus 283 bp in CS and ER; 2nd intron, 413 bp) were predicted within the partial Pxacel genomic DNA (2.187 kb in S versus 2.177 kb in CS and ER) (Kim et al. 2012). Compared to the sequences of S strain, 37 and 30 nucleotide polymorphisms were found in the CS and ER strains, respectively, and eleven nucleotide deletions and a single nucleotide insertion were observed in the 283 bp intron of the CS and ER Pxace1 (cf. 293bp of S Pxace1 intron). Additionally, five and two nucleotide polymorphisms were observed in the 413 bp intron of Pxace1 CS and ER strain, respectively. Based on intron sequence

comparison, the ER and CS AChEs appeared to be more closely related each other compared to that of S strain. From these results, the G324A and A298S mutations, when present together, are likely to confer high levels of EPN resistance in DBM whereas the G324A mutation alone only provides a baseline resistance. A summary of the correlations among insecticide resistance ratio, AChE insensitivity and mutation(s) is shown in Table 3.

Quantitative sequencing (QS)

When sets of standard DNA mixtures with different ratios of resistant and susceptible alleles were amplified and sequenced, the signal intensity of each resistant allele increased as the resistance allele frequency increased (Fig. 3A) The A298S mutation was detected in all of the seven local populations of DBM examined (Fig. 3B) and the G to A mutation was saturated in all of the local populations (data not shown). Bioassay revealed that over 50% larvae survived following the treatment of recommended dose (400 ppm) of thiodicarb in all tested local populations (data not shown).

Restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP)

RFLP method was used to determine the presence or absence of the A298S mutation in the *Pxace1*. Partial *Pxace1* fragments were amplified using DBM ace p-F and R primer set from the S, CS and ER strains of DBM. Although the S and CS strains were digested by EagI, the ER strain was not digested because of the presence of the A298S mutation (Fig. 4A). The seven local populations of DBM showed the same result, confirming the presence of the A298S mutation (Fig. 4B).

PCR amplification of specific alleles (PASA)

Several factors, such as annealing temperature, primer, and template concentrations were tested to determine the optimum conditions of the PASA that enable complete allele-specific detection of the A298S mutation. The critical annealing temperature that ensures no allele-nonspecific amplification was determined to be 57 °C. Considering both the level and specificity of amplification, about 10 ng template DNA per 20µl reaction was determined to be the optimum template concentration. To determine optimum concentrations for respective allele-specific primers, equal amount (50 nM) of each primer were needed (Fig. 4C). Therefore, following conditions were considered to be optimal while performing PASA: 10 ng template DNA, 57 °C annealing temperature, 50 nM of allele specific primers. Allele-specific PCR products were amplified by susceptible allele-specific primer in the S and CS strains but not in the ER strain and seven other local populations. When the resistance allele-specific primer was used, however, opposite results were obtained. The PASA results matched completely with those of PCR-RFLP in all the laboratory strains and local populations of DBM (Fig. 4C and D).

DISCUSSION

Involvement of insensitive AChE in the OP and CB resistance was confirmed by the inhibition assay on native PAGE gel (Fig. 1). The ER strain showed high level of AChE insensitivity whereas the moderately resistant CS strain showed a low level of AChE inhibition. The Gly324Ala (GGA to GCA) mutation observed in CS and ER strains (Fig. 3A). The A298S mutation was only observed in the ER strain. Based on DBM local population genotyping data, the G324A mutation was almost saturated but the A298S mutation was mixed in Heng-seong and Jeju populations. From these data, the A298S mutation might be an additive factor and substantially increase to the AChE insensitivity. To date, no DBM individual with the A298S mutation alone has been found, further suggesting that DBM may acquire the G324A or other mutation(s) first prior to the A298S mutation perhaps due to the fitness disadvantage of having A298S mutation alone. This resembles the case of the super kdr mutation in para-type voltage sensitive sodium channel, where M918T mutation does not exit alone but is always accompanied by another L1014F mutation, most likely due to the fitness disadvantage associated with the M918T mutation (Lee at al. 2001).

The A298 residue is located in the characteristic 'FGESAG' motif surrounding the active serine, and lies in the oxyanion hole that can contributes to stabilizing the tetrahedral molecule during catalysis. The alanine to serine substitution changes the side group from –CH3 to –CH2OH, which is believed to alter the conformation of the adjacent serine of the catalytic triad and to affect the interaction between AChE and both substrates and inhibitors (Jiang *et al.* 2009). This site corresponds to A201 in *T. californica* AChE, and the same amino acid substitution has been reported to confer resistance in the cotton aphid, *Aphis gossypii* (Andrews *et al.* 2004; Li and Han 2004; Toda *et al.* 2004).

Table 1

Primers used for Pxace1, 2 amplifications, Quantitative sequencing (QS), restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) and PCR amplification of specific allele (PASA)

Name	Sequence
For Pxace1 an	plification
DBM ace1 F	CGCGCCAAGTACGCCGACAA
DBM ace1 R	GCGAGCGATCGTATCGGCATTT
DBM ace1 F1	GGGACGCTCGGCATTTGTGAAT
DBM ace1 R1	CCGGAAAAGCGAGATTCAAACTTGAA
For Pxace2 an	plification
DBM ace2 F	GCGGATTATTTCCGATTACACGCACA
DBM ace2 R	GGTGCCTTCATCTTGATTGCTTCCAA
DBM ace2 F1	GGGGAGTGGATGCGAAGACCATCT
DBM ace2 R1	CGAGGGCGGTGAGCAGCACTAT
For Pxace1 po	int mutation survey, QS and RFLP
DBM ace p-F	GGCACGGCCACGCTAGATGTTT
DBM ace p-R	CCGAGCGTCCCCCACTCATTATTT
For PASA (A29	98S)
Dace1PASAR	GTCACATTGTTTGGAGAATCGT
Dace1PASAS	GTCACATTGTTTGGAGAATCGG
Dace1 PASA	GAGCGTCCCCCACTCATTATTT

TABLE 2

Resistance ratio of susceptible (S), contaminated susceptible (CS) and EPN resistance (ER) strains of P. xylostella against EPN, DDVP, Thiodicarb

Insecticide	Strain	LC ₅₀ (ppm) (95%CL ^a)	RR ^b
	S	1.8 (0.9~3.0)	1.0
EPN	CS	2.1 (1.3~3.3)	1.2
	ER	565.5 (417.4~725.8)	314.2
	S	3.4 (2.4~4.9)	1.0
DDVP	CS	5.8 (3.8<"8.7)	1.7
	ER	208.2 (173.4<"245.4)	61.2
	S	37.2 (27.7~47.9)	1.0
Thiodicarb	CS	185.1 (136.3<"240.6)	5.0
	ER	1376.7 (915.0<"3504.6)) 37.0

^a 95% Confidence limits

 $^{\rm b}$ Resistance ratio: ${\rm LC}_{\rm _{50}}$ value of CS or ER strain/LC $_{\rm _{50}}$ value of susceptible strain

TABLE 3
Correlations of strain and insecticide resistance
ratio or AChE insensitivity or mutation(s)

Strains	Resistance ratio	AChE insensitivity	Point mutation(s)
S	Low	Extremely Low	No
CS	Low	Low	G324A
ER	High	High	G324A, A298S



Figure 1

Native PAGE of AChE (A, C) and native IEF esterase (B) results from susceptible (S), contaminated susceptible (CS) and EPN resistance (ER) P. xylostella with or without 100 or 200uM DDVP (Dichlorvos) as inhibitor. Identical amount (10 ig) of enzyme preparations from each strain of adult head part were run in the presence of 0.3% Triton X-100 in the native gel and running buffer (A, C) or focused in the absence of Triton X-100 (B) in a cold chamber. Red triangle indicated major AChE band



Nucleotide sequence chromatograms of the two mutation sites of Pxace1 from the susceptible (S), contaminated susceptible (CS) and EPN-resistant (ER) strains of DBM. The point mutation site is indicated with arrows. Partial fragment of Pxace1 amplified using DBM ace p-F, R set and each strains of pooled gDNA which extracted from over 30 DBMs



Sequencing chromatograms of the standard template DNA mixtures with different ratios of resistant and susceptible alleles at the A298S mutation site (A) and that of local population (B). Partial fragment of Pxace1 amplified using DBM ace p-F, R set. The point mutation site is indicated with arrows



FIGURE 4

Result of the RFLP (A and B) and PASA (C and D) for the diagnosis of insensitive AChE as determined by the presence or absence of the A298S mutation in the Pxace1. Partial Pxace1 amplified using DBM ace p-F and R primer set from the susceptible (S), contaminated susceptible (CS) and EPNresistant (ER) strains of DBM. After than 484bp of PCR product digested by Eag¥° for 2 hours at 37; É. Although S and CS strains were digested two fragments, ER strains did not digest because of point mutation (A). Seven local populations of DBM showed same result and S strain used as positive control (B). S, CS ER strains of pooled DNA amplified 273bp fragment using universal PASA primer and susceptible allele specific primer or resistant allele specific primer (C). PASA also showed same results from surveyed seven local populations of DBM (D). M: size marker, Bo: Bong-wha, He: Heng-seong, Ho: Hong-cheon, Je: Je-ju, Mu: Mu-ju, Py: Pyeong-chang, Ya: Yang-gu and S: susceptible strain of DBM

CONCLUSION

G227A mutation was proposed to be the main factor in insensitive AChE (Baek *et al.* 2005). Lee *et al.* (2007) also reported three different mutations (D229G, A298S and G324A, amino acid number based on deduced amino acid sequence from open reading frame, among which the A298S and G324A mutations were suggested to be involved in prothiofos-resistance through three-dimensional modeling. Sequence comparison of partial fragment of *Pxace1* revealed that the two point mutations (A298S and G324A) were almost saturated in the highly resistant ER strain, demonstrating that these two mutations are the main contributing factor to AChE insensitivity.

Molecular diagnosis methods such as quantitative sequencing (QS), Restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) and PCR amplification of specific alleles (PASA) were developed to detect the A298S mutation. The three methods showed high sensitivity and accuracy. QS can detect all nucleotide polymorphism within sequenced fragment. However, QS needs 2 or more days and about \$30 (US). On the other hand PASA and RFLP, though they can only detect single nucleotide substitution, take only ca 2-4 hours and \$5-10 (US), respectively. Many parameters were tested to determine the optimal conditions of PASA that enable complete allele-specific detection. From these results it was concluded that the two point mutations identified contributed to develop the EPN resistance in DBM (G324A; basic and A298S; additive) and molecular diagnosis methods were developed. QS, RFLP and PASA showed high sensitivity and accuracy and hence these methods can be used for DBM resistant genotyping and resistant management strategy.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This work was carried out with the support of Cooperative Research Program for Agriculture Science & Technology Development (Project title: Development of environment-friendly management model against pests of potatoes and cabbage at highland, Project No. PJ011278) Rural Development Administration, Republic of Korea.

- Some of tables and figures were modified from Kim *et al.* 2012

REFERENCES

- ALON, M., ALON, F., NAUEN, R. AND MORIN, S., 2008, Organophosphates' resistance in the B-biotype of *Bemisia tabaci* (Hemiptera: Aleyrodidae) is associated with a point mutation in an *ace1*-type acetylcholinesterase and overexpression of carboxylesterase. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.*, 38: 940-949.
- AMOS, C. I., FRAZIER. M. L. AND WANG, W., 2000, DNA pooling in mutation detection with reference to sequence analysis. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.*, **66**: 1689-1692.
- ANAZAWA, Y., TOMITA, T., AIKI, Y., KOZAKI, T. AND KONO, Y., 2003, Sequence of a cDNA encoding acetylcholinesterase from susceptible and resistant two-spotted spider mite, *Tetranychus urticae*. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.*, 33: 509-514.
- ANDREWS, M. C., CALLAGHAN, A., FIELD, L. M., WILLIAMSON, M. S. AND MOORES, G. D., 2004, Identification of mutations conferring insecticide-insensitive AChE in the cotton-melon aphid, *Aphis gossypii* Glover. *Insect Mol. Biol.*, 13: 555-561.
- BAEK, J. H., KIM, J. I., LEE, D. W., CHUNG, B. K., MIYATA, T. AND LEE, S. H., 2005, Identification and characterization of ace1-type acetylcholinesterase likely associated with organophosphate resistance in *Plutella xylostella. Pest Biochem. Physiol.*, 81: 164-175.
- BOURGUET, D., RAYMOND, M., FOURNIER, D., MALCOLM, C. A., TOUTANT, J. P. AND ARPAGAUS, M., 1996, Existence of two acetylcholinesterases in the mosquito *Culex pipiens* (Diptera:Culicidae). J. Neurochem., 67: 2115-2123.
- BRADFORD, M. M., 1976, A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. *Anal. Biochem.*, **72:** 248-254.
- CASSANELLI, S., CERCHIARI, B., GIANNINI, S., BIZZARO, D., MAZZONI, E. AND MANICARDI, G. C., 2005, Use of the RFLP-PCR diagnostic test for characterizing MACE and *kdr* insecticide resistance in the peach potato aphid *Myzus persicae*. *Pest Manag. Sci.*, **61**: 91-96.
- CHEN, Z., NEWCOMB, R., FORBES, E., MCKENZIE, J. AND BATTERHAM, P., 2001, The acetylcholinesterase gene and organophosphorus resistance in the Australian sheep blowfly, *Lucilia cuprina*. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.*, **31**: 805-816.
- CLARK, J. M., LEE, S. H., KIM, H. J., YOON, K. S. AND ZHANG, A., 2001, DNA-based genotyping techniques for the detection of point mutations associated with

insecticide resistance in Colorado potato beetle *Leptinotarsa decemlineata. Pest Manag. Sci.*, **57**: 968-974.

- FINNEY, D. J., 1971, Probit analysis. Cambridge: Cambridge University press.
- FOURNIER, D., BRIDE, J. M., HOFFMANN, F. AND KARCH, F., 1992, Acetylcholinesterase. Two types of modifications confer resistance to insecticide. *J. Biol. Chem.*, **267:** 14270-14274.
- FOURNIER, D. AND MUTERO, A., 1994, Modification of acetylcholinesterase as a mechanism of resistance to insecticides. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol.*, **108**: 19-31.
- GERMER, S., HOLLAND, M. J. AND HIGUCHI, R., 2000, Highthroughput SNP allele-frequency determination in pooled DNA samples by kinetic PCR. *Genome Res.*, **10:** 258-266.
- HALL, L. M. AND SPIERER, P., 1986, The Ace locus of *Drosophila melanogaster*: structural gene for acetylcholinesterase with an unusual 5' leader. *Embo. J.*, 5: 2949-2954.
- HUANG, Y., QIAO, C., WILLIAMSON, M. S. AND DEVONSHIRE A. L., 1997, Characterization of the acetylcholinesterase gene from insecticide-resistant houseflies (*Musca domestica*). *Chin. J. Biotechnol.*, 13: 177-183.
- JIANG, X., QU, M., DENHOLM, I., FANG, J., JIANG, W. AND HAN, Z., 2009, Mutation in acetylcholinesterase1 associated with triazophos resistance in rice stem borer, *Chilo* suppressalis (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae). Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., **378**: 269-272.
- KIM, J. I., JUNG, C. S., KOH, Y. H. AND LEE, S. H., 2006, Molecular, biochemical and histochemical characterization of two acetylcholinesterase cDNAs from the German cockroach *Blattella germanica*. *Insect Mol. Biol.*, **15**: 513-522.
- KIM, J. I., JOO, Y. R., KWON, M., KIM, G. H. AND LEE, S. H., 2012, Mutation in acel associated with an insecticide resistant population of *Plutella xylostella*, *J. Asia-Pac. Entomol.*, **15**: 401-407.
- KIM, S. M., HUR, J. H., HAN, D. S., CHO, J. M. AND KIM,
 K. J., 2001, Diamondback moth (*Plutella xylostella* L.) resistance to organophosphorus and carbamate insecticides in Kangwon alpine vegetable croplands. *Korean J. Pestic. Sci.*, 5: 24-30.
- KWON, D. H., YOON, K. S., STRYCHARZ, J. P., CLARK, J. M., AND LEE, S. H., 2008, Determination of permethrin resistance allele frequency of human head louse populations by quantitative sequencing. J. Med. Entomol., 45: 912-920.

- LEE, D. W., CHOI, J. Y., KIM, W. T., JE, Y. H., SONG, J. T., CHUNG, B. K., BOO, K. S. AND KOH, Y. H., 2007, Mutations of acetylcholinesterase1 contribute to prothiofos-resistance in *Plutella xylostella* (L.). *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, **353**: 591-597.
- LEWIS, P. R. AND SHUTE, C. C., 1966, The distribution of cholinesterase in cholinergic neurons demonstrated with the electron microscope. *J. Cell Sci.*, **1:** 381-390.
- LI, F. AND HAN, Z., 2002, Purification and characterization of acetylcholinesterase from cotton aphid (*Aphis* gossypii Glover). Arch. Insect. Biochem. Physiol., **51**: 37-45.
- LI, F. AND HAN, Z., 2004, Mutations in acetylcholinesterase associated with insecticide resistance in the cotton aphid, *Aphis gossypii* Glover. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.*, **34**: 397-405
- MYERS, E. W., SUTTON, G. G., DELCHER, A. L., DEW, I. M., FASULO, D. P., FLANIGAN, M. J., KRAVITZ, S. A., MOBARRY, C. M., REINERT, K. H., REMINGTON, K. A., ANSON, E. L., BOLANOS, R. A., CHOU, H. H., JORDAN, C. M., HALPERN. A. L., LONARDI, S., BEASLEY, E. M., BRANDON R. C., CHEN, L., DUNN, P. J., LAI, Z., LIANG, Y., NUSSKERN, D. R., ZHAN, M., ZHANG, Q., ZHENG, X., RUBIN, G. M., ADAMS, M. D. AND VENTER, J. C., 2000, A whole-genome assembly of Drosophila. Science., 287: 2196-2204.
- NABESHIMA, T., 2003, An amino acid substitution on the second acetylcholinesterase in the pirimicarb-resistant strains of the peach potato aphid, *Myzus persicae*. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, **307**: 15-22.
- NABESHIMA, T., MORI, A., KOZAKI, T., IWATA, Y., HIDOH, O., HARADA, S., KASAI, S., SEVERSON, D. W., KONO, Y. AND TOMITA, T., 2004, An amino acid substitution attributable to insecticide-insensitivity of acetylcholinesterase in a Japanese encephalitis vector mosquito, *Culex tritaeniorhynchus*. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, **313**: 794-801.

- NI X-Y, TOMITA, T., KASAI, S. AND KONO, Y., 2003, cDNA and Deduced Protein Sequence of Acetylcholinesterase from the Diamondback Moth, *Plutella xylostella* (L.) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae). *Appl. Entomol. Zool.*, **38**: 49-56.
- PATIL, S. J., BANERJEE, M., PHADKE, S. R. AND MITTAL, B., 2009, Mutation analysis in Indian children with achondroplasia utility of molecular diagnosis. *Indian J. Pediatr.*, **76:** 147-149.
- SEO, B. Y. AND BOO, K. S., 2004, Biochemical and molecular mechanism of prothiofos-resistance in the diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* (L.). School of Agricultural Biothchnology. Seoul: Seoul National Univ.
- TODA, S., KOMAZAKI, S., TOMITA, T. AND KONO, Y., 2004, Two amino acid substitutions in acetylcholinesterase associated with pirimicarb and organophosphorous insecticide resistance in the cotton aphid, *Aphis* gossypii Glover (Homoptera: Aphididae). Insect Mol. Biol., 13: 549-553.
- TOUTANT, J. P., 1989, Insect acetylcholinesterase: catalytic properties, tissue distribution and molecular forms. *Prog. Neurobiol.*, 32: 423-446.
- VAIS, H., WILLIAMSON, M. S., DEVONSHIRE, A. L. AND USHERWOOD, P. N., 2001, The molecular interactions of pyrethroid insecticides with insect and mammalian sodium channels. *Pest Manag. Sci.*, 57: 877-888.
- WEILL, M., LUTFALLA, G., MOGENSEN, K., CHANDRE, F., BERTHOMIEU, A., BERTICAT, C., PASTEUR, N., PHILIPS, A., FORT, P. AND RAYMOND, M., 2003, Comparative genomics: Insecticide resistance in mosquito vectors. *Nature.*, **423**: 136-137.
- WEILL, M., MALCOLM, C., CHANDRE, F., MOGENSEN, K., BERTHOMIEU, A., MARQUINE, M. AND RAYMOND, M., 2004, The unique mutation in ace-1 giving high insecticide resistance is easily detectable in mosquito vectors. *Insect Mol. Biol.*, **13**: 1-7.

Effectiveness of New Anthranilic Diamide Insecticide Cyantraniliprole 10% OD Against Diamondback Moth and Sucking Insect Pests of Cruciferous Vegetables

KODANDARAM, M.H., RAI, A.B.¹ AND JAYDEEP HALDHAR²

Division of Crop Protection ICAR-Indian Institute of Vegetable Research, Varanasi, India E-mails: kodandaram75@gmail.com ¹ abraiiivr@gmail.com ² jaydeep.haldhar@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

Cyantraniliprole 10 OD (Cyazpyr) is a second generation anthranilic diamide insecticide representing the ryanodine receptor modulators. Unlike other diamide insecticides, this new insecticide has broad spectrum of activity against both chewing and sucking insect pests. Diamondback moth (DBM), Plutella xyllostella is the most serious lepidopteran pest and flea beetle, Phyllotreta cruciferae, painted bug, Bagrada hilaris, aphids, Brevicoryne brassicae, Myzus persicae and Lipaphis erysimi are other major leaf feeding and sucking insect pests contributing to significant yield losses in crucifer vegetables. The present study was undertaken to determine the effectiveness of cyantraniliprole 10 OD in comparison to other commonly used insecticides against DBM and sucking pests of crucifers by different bioassay methods. The three doses of cyantraniliprole @ 60, 70, 90 g a.i./ha evaluated were most effective and similar to the effectiveness of another novel insecticide, emamectin benzoate, with 100 % mortality against third instar P. xyllostela at 48 hours after treatment. Spinosad was the next best treatment with 82.67 % mortality. Different species of aphids, B. brassicae, L. erysimi and M. persicae were highly susceptible to cyantraniliprole @ 60 g a.i./ha and recorded the highest mortality at 80, 86 and 75% respectively. Flea beetle was less susceptible to cyantraniliprole, as compared to other commonly used insecticides, however maximum mortality of 71.25% was obtained with the highest dose of cyantraniliprole @ 90 g a.i./ha. Cyantraniliprole was in effective against the painted bug at all three doses. The present findings indicate that cyantraniliprole 10 OD @ 60 g a.i./ha was highly effective against P. xyllostella and all aphid species infesting crucifers. This new insecticide can strengthen integrated pest management (IPM) and insecticide resistance management (IRM) programmes in cruciferous vegetables.

Keywords: anthranilicdiamide, cyantraniliprole, new insecticide, DBM, aphids

INDIA is the second largest vegetable producing country in the world after China. Cabbage, cauliflower and radish are major cruciferous vegetables grown across the country. There are 400,100 ha of cabbage and 433,900 ha of cauliflower area, which accounts for a 4.3 and 4.6% share of the total vegetable area, respectively (NHB, 2014). The diamondback moth (DBM), *Plutella xylostella*, is a major chewing pest and causes losses up to 50% in India (Sandur, 2004). Globally, it is estimated to cost US\$ 4–5 billion annually in terms of direct losses and control costs (Furlong *et al.* 2013). Aphids (*Brevicoryne brassicae, Myzus persicae* and *Lipaphasis erysimi*) are major sucking pests causing 8-24% loss (Badenes-Perez and Shelton 2006). Flea beetle and bagarda bugs are minor pests but they are of significant importance in late season brassica vegetable and seed production.

In India, pesticides use in vegetables crops is around 13-14%, cole crops is the fourth highest crop for pesticide usage (Kodandaram *et al.* 2013). Most farmers rely on the use of synthetic insecticides for controlling insect pests in cruciferous vegetables, especially DBM, *Spodoptera* spp, aphids and flea beetles. Extensive use of these conventional groups resulted in pest resistance, outbreaks of secondary pests, pesticide residues, direct hazard to the users and adverse effect on environment and non-target organisms. DBM has developed field resistance to 93 insecticides representing all major classes of insecticides (APRD 2015). It is ranked second in the Arthropod Pesticide Resistance Database (APRD). This resulted in huge demand for new insecticide products by farmers.

Cyantraniliprole (Cyazpyr) is a second generation new anthranilic diamide molecule with broad spectrum activity against chewing and sucking insect pests (Selby et al. 2013). This new molecule selectively binds to the ryanodine receptors (RyRs) in insect muscle cells, resulting in activation of RyRs and causing an uncontrolled release of Ca⁺ ions from internal stores which leads to depletion of calcium, muscle paralysis and death (Cordova et al. 2006; Sattelle et al. 2008). Due to unique mode of action it is classified by the Insect Resistance Action Committee (IRAC) as a ryanodine receptor modulator, in Group 28, and shares this mode of action with two other commercial diamides, chlorantraniliprole and flubendiamide. Cyantraniliprole causes rapid feeding cessation and protects foliage and developing fruits. It is highly suitable for greenhouse vegetable crops and the translaminar activity makes it suitable for foliar and soil applications. Therefore, the present investigation was carried out to determine the laboratory effectiveness of cyantraniliprole 10 OD in comparison to other commonly used novel insecticides against DBM, flea beetle, painted bug and aphid pests of crucifer vegetables.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Insect cultures

Larvae of DBM, *P. xylostella* were collected from the cabbage fields of ICAR-Indian Institute of Vegetable Research (IIVR), Varanasi and were reared in laboratory at 27±1°C and 60±5% RH. Similarly the flea beetle, *Phyllotreta cruciferae*, painted bug, *Bagrada hilaris*, different aphids viz., *Brevicoryne brassicae*, *Myzus persicae* and *Lipaphis erysimi* were collected from infested leaves of cabbage and mustard from the farm of ICAR-IIVR. Third instar F1 larvae of DBM, adults of flea beetle, bagrada bug and apterous, viviparous adult aphids were used for bioassay experiments.

Insecticides Used

The proprietary formulations of insecticides used in this study were obtained from their respective source of supply and their recommended doses were used for bioassays (Table 1). Insecticide formulations were diluted with deionized water containing spreader/sticker (Excel Crop Care) at 0.1%.

Insecticides & Formulation	Product Name	InsecticideGroup (IRAC Code)	Application Rate (g.ai/ha)	Dose used (ml/g) perLitre of Water	Source of Supply
Cyantraniliprole 10 OD	Benevia	Diamide (28)	60 75 90	1.3 1.5 1.8	E .I. Dupont
Chlorantraniliprole18.5SC	Coragen	Diamide (28)	50	0.3	
Flubendamide 40 SC	Fame	Diamide (28)	18.24	0.5	Bayer Crop Science
Emamectin benzoate 5SG	EM-1	Avermectins (6)	10	0.5	Dhanuka Agritech
Spinosad 2.5 SC	Success	Spinosyns 5 A	17.5	1.5	Dow Agro Science
Indoxacarb 15.8 EC	Avuant	Oxadiazines (22 A)	40	0.5	E .I. Dupont.
Novaluron 10 EC	Rimon	Benzoylureas (15)	75	1.5	Indofil
Imidacloprid 18.5 SL	Confidor	Neonicotinoid (4A)	25	0.35	Bayer Crop Science
Imidacloprid 70 WG	Admire	Neonicotinoid (4A)	25	0.10	
Imidacloprid 30 SC	Confidor super	Neonicotinoid (4A)	26.25	0.15	
Thiamethoxam 25 WG	Actara	Neonicotinoid (4A)	25	0.35	Syngenta
Thiacloprid 21.7 SC	Alanto	Neonicotinoid (4A)	180	0.65	Bayer Crop Science
Chloropyriphos 20	Tafaban	Organophosphate (1B)	400	2.0	Tata Chemicals
Dimethoate 30 EC	Tafgor	Organophosphate (1B)	200	2.0	Tata Chemicals
Cypermethrin 25 EC	Krycip	Synthetic pyrethroid (3A)	50	0.5	Krishi Rasayan

 TABLE 1

 Insecticides used for effectiveness studies with DBM and sucking pests of cruciferous vegetables

Laboratory Bioassays

Direct spray method

The test insects were randomly selected and placed in the petri dishes and one ml of each concentration of the insecticides was directly sprayed at a pressure of 340 g cm² using a Potter spray tower. The sprayed petri dishes containing treated DBM larvae, aphids and flea beetles were air dried for about 5 minutes and fresh untreated cabbage leaves were given as food. The control insects were sprayed with distilled water.

Leaf residue method

Cabbage leaf discs of approximately 5 cm diameterwere dipped in the different insecticide solutions for 20 seconds and then air-dried. For control the leaf discs were dipped in the distilled water. The treated leaf discs were then transferred to petri dishes and test insects were released in each petri dish and were allowed to feed on the treated leaf.

Dry film residue

A film of each insecticide was prepared on both the surfaces of petri dish by depositing 1 ml of each test insecticide by gentle swirling and later dried for 10 minutes under an electric fan. Test insects were introduced into one paired petri dish and untreated cabbage leaves were given as food. For control the petri dishes were treated with the distilled water.

In all the three bioassay methods each treatment including control was replicated thrice. Twenty test insects were released in each treatment. All the treated insects were kept at $27\pm1^{\circ}$ C and 70 ± 5 % RH. The mortality was assessed after 24 and 48 h after treatment. Morbid insects showing no sign of movement were scored as dead.

Statistical Analysis

The data on per cent mortality obtained in all the treatments were corrected by Abbott's formula (Abbot 1925) and analyzed using one way analysis of variance (ANOVA) after transformation by using SPSS Version 16.0 software.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

All the three doses of cyantraniliprole @ 60, 70, 90 g a.i./ha evaluated against third instar DBM were effective with 100% mortality when tested by leaf dip and direct spray methods. Similar effectiveness was observed in emamectin benzoate in leaf dip bioassay with 100 % mortality of P. xyllostela at 48 hours after treatment. Spinosad was next best treatment with 82.67 and 95 % mortality in leaf dip and direct spray assays, respectively at 48 hours after treatment (Figure 1). High susceptibility of P. xyllostela to cyantraniliprole may be attributed to the unique mode of action of this new molecule which activates ryanodine receptors (RyRs) and causes an uncontrolled release of Ca⁺ ions which leads to muscle paralysis and death (Sattelle 2008). The results of this investigation are in conformity with other laboratory bioassays on brinjal shoot and fruit borer Leucinodes orbonalis, where the third instar was found to be more susceptible to cyantraniliprole @ 90 g a.i./ha and recorded the highest mortality at 24 and 48 hrs after treatment (Kodandaram et al. 2015). Populations of P. xylostella were highly susceptible to another ant ranilic diamide insecticide, chlorantraniliprole when tested by direct spraying in a Potter spray tower (Wang et al. 2010; da Silva et al. 2012).

In case of different species of aphids infesting crucifers, cyantraniliprole @ 60 and 90 g a.i./ha recorded highest mortality of B. brassicae with 80 and 100 % in leaf dip and direct spray bioassays, respectively. Cyantraniliprole @ 60 g a.i./ha was most effective aganist L. erysimi with 86.67 and 100 % mortality of L. erysimiin leaf dip and direct spray methods, respectively. In case of M. persicae cyantraniliprole @ 60 and 90 g a.i./ha was most effective with 80 and 85 % mortality in leaf dip and direct spray methods, respectively (Figure 2.). This variation in the effectiveness of cyantraniliprole to different species of aphids infesting crucifers may be due to their differential susceptibility and translaminar movement of cyantraniliprole in the treated leaves (Barry et al. 2014). However, the present findings on aphid species were in conformity with the results of Mandal (2012) and Patel et al. (2014), who reported that higher doses of cyantraniliprole @ 90 and 105 g a.i./ha were highly effective in managing the aphid Aphis gossypii.



Efficacy of cyantraniliprole and other novel insecticides against P. xyllostela



Efficacy of cyantraniliprole and other novel insecticides against different species of aphids infesting cruciferous vegetables

Adult flea beetle was less susceptible to all the three doses of cyantraniliprole as compared to other commonly used insecticides, however maximum mortality of 71.25 % was observed at the highest dose of cyantraniliprole (Figure 3.) Cyantraniliprole was ineffective against adults of painted bug at all the three doses and recorded only 0-10 % mortality. The other insecticides including indoxacarb, imidacloprid, thiamethoxam and dimethoate were most effective with 95, 94, 80 and 100 % mortality of treated bugs (Figure 4.). Similarly, Yadav *et. al.* (2012) reported that cyantraniliprole @ 80 g a.i./ha showed the highest

leaf damage reduction by flea beetle, *Scelodonta strigicollis* in grapes. Also, Mishra and Mukherjee (2012) revealed that cyantraniliprole @ 105 and 90 g a.i. (pq)ha to be most effective against red pumpkin beetles *Aulacophora foveicollis* on gherkins. This new molecule should be extensively utilized as a new tool for management of DBM and sucking insect pests and which can be taken advantage for developing effective integrated pest management (IPM) programs. Also it can be used in spray windows as insecticide partners for rotation in resistance management of DBM in cruciferous vegetables.



FIGURE 3 Efficacy of cyantraniliprole and other novel insecticides against flea beetle



FIGURE 4 Efficacy of cyantraniliprole and other novel insecticides against painted bug

CONCLUSION

Cyantraniliprole is the third generation diamide insecticide but the first that has activity on both chewing and sucking insect pests of crucifers @ 60 g a.i./ha. This new molecule will be crucial for strengthening integrated pest management (IPM) and remain an effective insecticide partner for rotation in insecticide resistance management (IRM) programs for DBM in India.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The authors are thankful to the Director, ICAR-Indian Institute of Vegetable Research, Varanasi, India for providing infrastructural facilities to carry out the experiments. We acknowledge E.I. DuPont Crop Protection, India for providing sample of cyantraniliprole for the study.

References

- ABBOT, W. S., 1925, A method for computing the effectiveness of an insecticide. *J. Econ. Entomol.*, **18**: 265–267.
- APRD, 2015, Arthropod Pesticide Resistance Database. East Lansing: Michigan State Univ. http:// www.pesticideresistance.com/index.php
- BADENES PEREZ, F. R. AND SHELTON, A. M., 2006, Pest management and other agricultural practices amongst farmers growing cruciferous vegetables in the central and western highlands of Kenya and the western Himalayas of India. *Int. J. Pest. Manag.*, **52:** 303– 315.
- BARRY, J. D., PORTILLO, H. E., ANNAN, I. B., CAMERON, R. A., CLAGG, D. G., DIETRICH, R. F., WATSON, L. J., LEIGHTY, R. M., RYAN, D. L., MCMILLAN, J. A., SWAIN, R. S. AND KACZMARCZYK, R. A., 2014, Movement of cyantraniliprole in plants after foliar applications and its impact on the control of sucking and chewing insects. *Pest Manag Sci.* DOI 10.1002 : 3816.
- CORDOVA, D., BENNER, E. A., SACHER, M. D., RAUL, J. J., SOPA, J. S. AND LAHM, G. P., 2006, Anthranilic diamides: a new class of insecticides with a novel mode of action, ryanodine receptor activation. *Pestic. Biochem. Phys.*, **84:** 196–214.
- SILVA, D. J. E., SIQUEIRA, D.H. A. A., SILVA, T. B. M., DE CAMPOS, M. R. AND BARROS, R., 2012, Baseline susceptibility to chlorantraniliprole of Brazilian populations of *Plutellaxylostella*. Crop Prot., 35: 97-101.
- FURLONG, M. J., DENIS, W. J. AND LLOYD, D. M., 2013, Diamondback Moth Ecology and Management:

Problems, Progress, and Prospects. Annu. Rev. Entomol., 58: 517–541.

- KODANDARAM, M. H., RAI, A. B., SIREESHA, K. AND HALDER, J., 2015, Efficacy of cyantraniliprole a new anthranilic diamide insecticide against fruit and shoot borer *Leucinodes orbonalis* (Lepidoptera: Crambidae) on brinjal. J. Environ. Biol., 36: 1415-1420.
- KODANDARAM, M. H., SAHA, S., RAI., A. B. AND NAIK, P. S., 2013, Compendium on pesticide use in vegetables. *IIVR Extension Bulletin No.50*, Indian Institute of Vegetable Research, Varanasi, pp. 133.
- MANDAL, S. K., 2012, Bio-efficacy of cyantraniliprole 10 OD, a new anthranilic diamide insecticide against the insect pests of tomato and its impact on natural enemies and crop health. Acta Phytopathologica et Entomologica Hungarica., 47: 233-249.
- MISRA, H. P. AND MUKHERJEE, S. K., 2012, Control of red pumpkin beetle, *Aulacophora foveicollis* (Lucas) on Gherkins *Cucumis anguria* (L.) by a new insecticide Cyazypyr (HGW 86 10 OD W/V). *J. Plant Prot. Environ.*, **9:** 19-23.
- NATIONAL HORTICULTURE BOARD (NHB), 2014, Indian Horticulture Database. National Horticulture Board, Ministry of Agriculture, Government of India, Gurgaon, India. **278 p.**
- PATEL, R. D., BHARPODA, T. M., PATEL, N. AND BORAD, P. K., 2014, Bio-efficacy of cyantraniliprole 10% OD an anthranilic diamide insecticide against sucking pests of cotton. *The Bioscan.*, **9**(1): 89-92.
- SANDUR, S., 2004, Implications of Diamondback Moth Control for Indian Farmers. Consultant Report for the Centre for Environmental Stress and Adaptation Research. La Trobe University, Victoria, Australia, 31 pp.
- SATTELLE, D. B., CORDOVA, D. AND CHEEK, T. R., 2008, Insect ryanodine receptors: molecular targets for novel control chemicals. *Invert. Neurosci.*, **8**: 107-119.
- SELBY, T. P., LAHM, G. P., STEVENSON, T. M., HUGHES, K. A., CORDOVA, D. I., ANNAN, B., BARRY, J. D., BENNER, E. A., CURRIE, M. J. AND PAHUTSKI, T. F., 2013, Discovery of cyantraniliprole, a potent and selective anthranilic diamide ryanodine receptor activator with crossspectrum insecticidal activity. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.*, 23: 6341–6345.
- WANG, X., LI, X., SHEN, A. AND WU, Y., 2010, Baseline susceptibility of the diamondback moth *Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera:Plutellidae) to chlorantraniliprole in China J. Econ. Entomol., 103(3): 843-848.
- YADAV, D. S., KAMTE, A. S. AND JADHAV, R. S., 2012, Bioefficacy of cyantraniliprole, a new molecule against *Scelodonta strigicollis* Motschulsky and *Spodoptera litura* Fabricius in grapes. *Pest Manag. Hortic. Ecosyst.*, 18: 128-134.

Synergistic Effects of Oils with Flubendamide and Indoxacarb Against Diamondback Moth, *Plutella xylostella* (L.) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) on Cabbage

ONKARANAIK, S., SRIDHAR, V., JAYASHANKAR, M. AND CHAKRAVARTHY, A.K.

Division of Entomology and Nematology, ICAR-Indian Institute of Horticultural Research Hessaraghatta Lake P.O, Bengaluru - 560 089, India E-mail: onkar632@gmail.com

Abstract

Laboratory and field studies were conducted to assess the synergistic effect of two plant oils *viz.*, neem and pongamia and a fish oil on the bioefficacy of Flubendiamide 480 SC and Indoxacarb14.5% SC against diamondback moth (DBM), *Plutella xylostella* (L.) on cabbage during 2010-11 at Alambagiri-Hosahalli, Chintamani Taluk, Chikkaballapur District of Karnataka. Under laboratory conditions a combination of Indoxacarb 14.5% SC 0.3 ml + Neem oil 3 ml + Pongamia oil 3 ml + Fish oil 3 ml/L was the most effective (83 % mortality) followed by Flubendiamide 480 SC 0.3 ml + Neem oil 3 ml + Neem oil 3 ml + Pongamia oil 3 ml + Fish oil 3 ml/L (78 % mortality) against DBM larvae. Indoxacarb 14.5 % SC 0.75 ml/Lalone resulted in 48 % mortality of DBM larvae followed by Flubendiamide 480 SC 0.3 ml + Neem oil 3 ml + Pongamia oil 3 ml + Fish oil 3 ml/L) gave 73 % mortality of DBM larvae followed by Flubendamide 480 SC 0.3 ml + Neem oil 3 ml + Pongamia oil 3 ml + Pongamia oil 3 ml + Fish oil 3 ml/L) gave 73 % mortality of DBM larvae followed by Flubendamide 480 SC 0.3 ml + Neem oil 3 ml + Neem oil 3 ml + Pongamia oil 3 ml + Fish oil 3 ml/L) gave 73 % mortality of DBM larvae followed by Flubendamide 480 SC 0.3 ml + Neem oil 3 ml + Pongamia oil 3 ml + Pongamia oil 3 ml + Fish oil 3 ml/L) gave 73 % mortality of DBM larvae followed by Flubendamide 480 SC 0.3 ml + Neem oil 3 ml + Neem oil 3 ml + Pongamia oil 3 ml + Fish oil 3 ml/L) gave 73 % mortality of DBM larvae followed by Flubendamide 480 SC 0.3 ml + Neem oil 3 ml + Pongamia oil 3 ml + Fish oil 3 ml/L with 68 % mortality. Treatments of Indoxacarb 14.5% SC 0.75 ml/L and Flubendiamide 480 SC 0.3 ml/L alone gave 53% and 45 % mortality of DBM larvae respectively. The study indicated the potential of plant oils and fish oil as synergists with synthetic insecticides for the management of DBM on cabbage.

Keywords: Fish oil, neem oil, Plutella xylostella, pongamia oil, synergist.

DIAMONDBACK moth (DBM), *Plutella xylostella* (L.) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae), is considered the most destructive insect pest of crucifer crops worldwide. DBM larvae feed on leaves of cruciferous crops such as cabbage, broccoli, cauliflower, collards, kale, kohl rabi, Chinese cabbage and Brussels sprouts. It is a specialist, phytophagous pest and the diet is exclusively restricted to crucifers due to the presence of glucosinolates. The crop loss due to DBM can vary from 52 to 100% (Calderon and Hare 1986). The absence and reduction of effective natural enemies, especially parasitoids, as well as insecticide resistance, contribute to the status of DBM as a pest (Talekar and Shelton 1993; Capinera 2001; Shelton 2004; Sarfraz *et al.* 2005; Furlong *et al.* 2013).

Insects are becoming resistant to several insecticides of diversified chemical groups. Insecticidal resistance is a hereditary phenomenon and is governed by the developmental history, frequency of pesticide use and the selection pressure (Sayyed and Wright 2006). Detoxification enzyme based resistance occurs when enhanced levels or modified activities of esterases and glutathione s-transferase prevent the insecticide from reaching its site of action. The ability of broad-spectrum insecticides to control DBM has seriously declined due to resistance and cross resistance (Miyata *et al.* 1986; Talekar and Shelton 1993; Li *et al.* 2012). To address the risk of insecticide resistance, oils used as synergists on the bio-efficacy of Flubendiamide and Indoxacarb against DBM larvae was undertaken under laboratory and field conditions on cabbage, *Brassica oleracea* Var *capitata* L.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Laboratory bioassays

Laboratory assays were undertaken at the ICAR-Indian Institute of Horticultural Research (IIHR), Bengaluru. Healthy cabbage leaves were collected from the field and washed under running water. Air dried leaves were dipped in different combinations of insecticide concentrations and oils suspensions, air dried 8-10 minutes and fed to ten second instar *P. xylostella* larvae placed in plastic Petri dishes of 9 cm diameter (12 treatment combinations \times 3 replications randomized in Complete Randomized Design (CRD)). Control larvae were fed with water-dipped and subsequently air-dried cabbage leaves alone separately to detect any natural mortality under similar conditions.

Field studies

The experiment was laid out at Alambagiri-Hosahalli (13.43°N,77.72°E), Chintamani Taluk, Chikkaballapur District of Karnataka during rabi and summer (zaid) seasons of 2010-11. Twelve treatments with three replications randomized in Randomized Block Design (RBD), following all the agronomical practices as per recommendations (Asia Farming 2015). Cabbage crop cv. unnathi was planted (0.5m X 0.6m) with subsurface drip irrigation. The experiment was designed to assess the synergistic effect of two plant oils viz., neem oil and pongamia oil and fish oil on the bioefficacy of Flubendiamide 480 SC and Indoxacarb14.5% SC against DBM larvae. Four sprays were applied at interval of 14 days after 20 days of planting. Observations were recorded on larval mortality based on five plants randomly selected under each treatment.

Detoxifying enzyme assays

The quantification of detoxifying enzymes assay was carried out at ICAR-IIHR, Bengaluru. The analysis were carried as the procedure described by Nauven and Stumpf (2002) for glutathione-Stransferases (GST), Devonshire *et al.* (1992) for esterases and De Sousa *et al.* (1995) for monooxygenases (mixed function oxidases – MFO cytochrome P⁴⁵⁰) quantification.

Statistical analysis

The different observations recorded were number of larvae before and after treatment, and larval mortality. The data were subjected to analysis of variance and means were separated by Duncans Multiple Range Test using SAS V 9.3.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Laboratory observations

Synthetic insecticides used alone showed less impact than when used in combination with synergistic oils (Table 1). Indoxacarb 14.5% SC 0.75 ml/L alone provided 48 % mortality of DBM larvae followed by Flubendiamide 480 SC 0.3 ml/L with 45 % larval mortality. Indoxacarb 14.5% SC 0.3 ml + Neem oil 3 ml + Pongamia oil 3 ml + Fish oil 3 ml/ L recorded the highest mortality (83 %) of larvae, followed by 78 % mortality by Flubendiamide 480 SC 0.3 ml + Neem oil 3 ml + Pongamia oil 3 ml + Fish oil 3ml/L. Combination of oils alone (Neem oil 3 ml + Pongamia oil 3 ml + Fish oil 3 ml) gave only 45 % larval mortality in comparison with Flubendiamide 480 SC 0.3 ml/L 48 h after treatment.

Field observations

The synthetic insecticides used alone showed less effectiveness on sucking pests when used in combination with oils (Table 2). Under field conditions during rabi, Indoxacarb along with synergists (Indoxacarb 14.5 % SC 0.3 ml + Neem oil 3 ml + Pongamia oil 3 ml + Fish oil 3 ml/L) gave 73 % mortality of DBM larvae followed by Flubendiamide 480 SC 0.3 ml + Neem oil 3 ml + Pongamia oil 3 ml + Fish oil 3 ml/L with 68 % mortality. Indoxacarb 14.5 % SC 0.75 ml/L and Flubendamide 480 SC 0.3 ml/L alone gave 53% and 45% mortality of DBM larvae, respectively. Combinations of oils (Neem oil 3 ml + Pongamia oil 3 ml + Fish oil 3 ml) were on par with Indoxacarb 14.5 % SC 0.75 ml/L and significantly higher larval mortality (17 %) in comparison with Flubendiamide 480 SC 0.3 ml/L with 16 % mortality during rabi season (Table 2). During summer, Flubendiamide 0.3 ml + Neem oil 3 ml + Pongamia oil 3 ml + Fish oil 3 ml caused 87 % mortality of DBM larvae followed by Indoxacarb 0.75 ml + Neem oil 3 ml + Pongamia oil 3 ml + Fish oil 3 ml/L with 83 % mortality (Table 3). The findings indicated the potential of plant oils and fish oil as synergists when used with synthetic insecticides for the management of DBM on cabbage.

Insecticide resistance and detoxifying enzyme activity

The most common resistance mechanisms in insects are increased levels or activities of esterase detoxification enzymes that metabolize a wide range of insecticides. Field collected P. xylostella populations were assayed for insecticide resistance, with insecticides belonging to different groups viz., Indoxacarb14.5 % SC 0.75 ml/L and Flubendiamide 480 SC 0.3 ml/L indicated no role of esterase in resistance, whereas GST (18.12 pg/mg) and MFO (19.04 pg/mg) had a positive impact (Figure 1). However, esterases and glutathione s-transferases (3.09 pg/mg) played a minor role compared to MFO in the metabolism of the insecticides for both strains of DBM. These results suggest that oils and synthetic insecticides can be used to suppress DBM infestation on cabbage in the field.

The present findings agree with the available literature on the utility of oils as synergists with synthetic insecticides. Gavi Gowda (1996) opined that Pongamia oil acted as an MFO inhibitor and the inhibition of the oxidasesby Pongamia oil may be the reason for synergism of methomyl toxicity. Suneel Kumar and Sannaveerappa-navar (2003) recorded sesamum oil and Pongamia oils synergism with synthetic pyrethroids. Muralitharan (2008) found that among the detoxifying enzymes studied, MFO exhibited substantially higher activity. To combat resistance problem synergists can also be employed as essential components of IRM system to enhance the efficacy of safer insecticides, to conserve the natural enemies andto make treatmentscost effective. Since farmers need information on the proper means of combating pests, collaboration and co-operation among farmers, academics and industry researchers are strongly suggested in making any planned resistance management effective under field conditions.



Relation between DBM larval mortality in response to enzyme activity. See the table for definition of Insecticide oil combinations

TABLE 1

Mean larval mortality of DBM under laboratory conditions at 48 and 72 h in bioassays

Sl. No	Treatments	Mean (no.) Mortality of larvae 48 hrs	Treatments	Mean (no.) Mortality of larvae 72 hrs
1	Indoxacarb 0.75ml+Neem oil 3ml + Pongamia oil 3ml + Fish oil 3ml	°27.00	Indoxacarb 0.75ml+Neem oil 3ml + Pongamia oil 3ml + Fish oil 3ml	°28.00
2	Flubendamide 0.3ml + Neem oil 3ml + Pongamia oil 3ml + Fish oil 3ml	^a 26.00	Flubendamide0.3ml + Neem oil 3ml + Pongamia oil 3ml + Fish oil 3ml	^a 26.67
3	Fish oil 3ml+ Indoxacarb 0.3ml	^b 17.33	Indoxacarb 0.75ml	^b 16.33
4	Neem oil 3ml + Flubendamide 0.3ml	^{cb} 17.00	Pongamia oil 3ml + Indoxacarb 0.75ml	^b 15.67
5	Neem oil 3ml + Indoxacarb 0.75ml	^{cb} 16.67	Flubendamide 480 SC 0.3ml	^b 15.67
6	Indoxacarb 0.75ml	^{cb} 15.67	Neem oil 3ml + Indoxacarb 0.75ml	^b 15.67
7	Fish oil 3ml+ Flubendamide0.3ml	^{cb} 15.67	Fish oil 3ml+ Flubendamide 0.3ml	^b 15.33
8	Pongamia oil 3ml + Indoxacarb 0.75ml	^{cb} 15.33	Neem oil 3ml + Flubendamide 0.3ml	^b 14.67
9	Flubendamide 480 SC 0.3ml Fish oil 3ml	^{cb} 14.33	Neem oil 3ml + Pongamia oil 3ml +	^b 13.67
10	Neem oil 3ml + Pongamia oil 3ml + Fish oil 3ml	^{cb} 14.33	Fish oil 3ml+ Indoxacarb 0.3ml	^b 13.67
11	Pongamia oil 3ml + Flubendamide 0.3ml	°12.67	Pongamia oil 3ml + Flubendamide 0.3ml	^b 13.67
12	Control/ Check	^d 1.33	Control/ Check	°1.00
	CV	2.79	CV	2.06
	LSD @0.05	4.61	LSD@0.01	3.07

*Means with the same letter are not significantly different by DMRT

Sl. No	Sl. No Treatments		Treatments	Mean (no.) Mortality of larvae/3 plants
		7 days		14 days
1	Indoxacarb 0.3ml+Neem oil 3ml + Pongamia oil 3ml + Fish oil 3ml	^a 23.67	Indoxacarb 0.3ml+Neem oil 3ml + Pongamia oil 3ml + Fish oil 3ml	°24.00
2	Flubendamide0.3ml + Neem oil 3ml + Pongamia oil 3ml + Fish oil 3ml	°22.33	Flubendamide0.3ml + Neem oil 3ml + Pongamia oil 3ml + Fish oil 3ml	^{ba} 21.66
3	Fish oil 3ml+ Indoxacarb 0.3ml	^b 18.67	Fish oil 3ml+ Indoxacarb 0.3ml	^{bc} 19.33
4	Neem oil 3ml + Indoxacarb 0.75ml	^b 18.33	Neem oil 3ml + Indoxacarb 0.75ml	^{dc} 18.33
5	Fish oil 3ml+ Flubendamide0.3ml	^b 18.00	Neem oil 3ml + Pongamia oil 3ml + Fish oil 3ml	^{dce} 17.33
6	Neem oil 3ml+Flubendamide0.3ml	^b 17.67	Indoxacarb 0.75ml	^{dce} 17.33
7	Neem oil 3ml + Pongamia oil 3ml + Fish oil 3ml	^b 17.33	Fish oil 3ml+ Flubendamide0.3ml	^{dce} 17.33
8	Indoxacarb0.75ml	^b 17.33	Neem oil 3ml + Flubendamide0.3ml	^{dce} 17.33
9	Pongamia oil 3ml + Flubendamide0.3ml	^b 16.33	Flubendamide 480 SC 0.3ml	^{de} 16.33
10	Pongamia oil 3ml + Indoxacarb0.75ml	^b 16.00	Pongamia oil 3ml + Indoxacarb0.75ml	°15.33
11	Flubendamide 480 SC 0.3ml	^b 15.67	Pongamia oil 3ml + Flubendamide0.3ml	°15.33
12	Control/ Check	°1.00	Control/ Check	f1.33
	CV	2.82	CV	2.82
	LSD@0.01	4.17	LSD@0.01	2.58

TABLE 2Mean larval mortality under field conditions during rabi

*Means with the same letter are not significantly different by DMRT

TABLE 3

Mean	larval	mortality	under	field	conditions	during	summer

Sl. No Treatments		Mean (no.) Mortality of larvae/3 plants	Treatments	Mean (no.) Mortality of larvae/3 plants
		7 days		14 days
1	Flubendiamide0.3ml + Neem oil 3ml + Pongamia oil 3ml + Fish oil 3ml	°23.000	Flubendiamide 0.3ml + Neem oil 3ml + Pongamia oil 3ml + Fish oil 3ml	^a 26.00
2	Indoxacarb 0.75ml+Neem oil 3ml + Pongamia oil 3ml + Fish oil 3ml	^a 22.67	Indoxacarb 0.75ml+Neem oil 3ml + Pongamia oil 3ml + Fish oil 3ml	°25.00
3	Neem oil 3ml + Indoxacarb 0.75ml	^{ba} 21.00	Neem oil 3ml + Indoxacarb 0.75ml	^b 18.67
4	Neem oil 3ml + Flubendiamide0.3ml	^{bc} 19.33	Neem oil 3ml + Flubendiamide 0.3ml	^b 18.50
5	Fish oil 3ml+ Indoxacarb 0.3ml	^{bcd} 18.67	Indoxacarb 0.75ml	^b 17.33
6	Fish oil 3ml+ Flubendiamide 0.3ml	^{cd} 17.67	Fish oil 3ml+ Flubendiamide0.3ml	^b 16.67
7	Indoxacarb 0.75ml	ecd17.00	Flubendiamide 480 SC 0.3ml	^b 16.33
8	Flubendiamide 480 SC 0.3ml	ecd16.67	Pongamia oil 3ml + Indoxacarb 0.75ml	^b 16.00
9	Pongamia oil 3ml + Indoxacarb0.75ml	ed16.00	Pongamia oil 3ml + Flubendiamide0.3ml	^b 16.00
10	Pongamia oil 3ml + Flubendiamide 0.3ml	^{ed} 15.67	Neem oil 3ml + Pongamia oil 3ml + Fish oil 3ml	^b 15.33
11	Neem oil 3ml + Pongamia oil 3ml + Fish oil 3ml	°14.33	Fish oil 3ml+ Indoxacarb 0.3ml	^b 15.00
12	Control/ Check	f1.33	Control/ Check	°1.00
	CV	2.07	CV	2.07
	LSD@0.05	3.00	LSD@0.05	4.22

*Means with the same letter are not significantly different by DMRT

REFERENCES

- ASIA FARMING, 2015, Cabbage Farming Information Guide. http://asiafarming.com/cabbage-farming-information.
- CALDERON, J. AND HARE, C. J., 1986, Control of diamondback moth in Southeast Asia by profenofos. In: *Proceedings of the first international workshop*. TALEKAR, N.S. AND T.D. GRIGGS, (ed.) Diamondback moth management: AVRDC. Shanhua, Taiwan. pp. 289-295.
- CAPINERA, J. L., 2001, *Handbook of Vegetable Pests*. Academic Press. 729 pp.
- SOUSA, D. G., CUANY, A., BRUN, A., AMICHOT, M., RAHMANI, R. AND BERGE, J., 1995, A microfluorometric method for Measuring Ethoxycoumarin-O-Deethylase activity on individual *Drosophila melanogaster* abdomens: Interest for screening resistance in insect Populations. *Anal.Biochem.*, **229**: 86-91.
- DEVONSHIRE, A. L., DEVINE, G. J. AND MOORES, G. D., 1992, Comparison of microplate esterase assays and immunoassay for identifying insecticide resistant variants of *Myzus persicae*(Homoptera: Aphididae). *Bull.Entomol. Res.*, **82:**459-463.
- FURLONG, M. J., WRIGHT, D. J. AND DOSDALL, L. M., 2013, Diamondback moth ecology and management: problems, progress, and prospects. Annu. Rev.Entomol., 58: 517–541.
- LI, Z. Y., ZALUCKI, M. P., BAO, H. A., CHEN, H. Y., HU, Z. D., ZHANG, D. Y., LIN, Q. S., YIN, F., WANG, M. AND FENG, X., 2012, Population dynamics and 'outbreaks' of Diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella*, in Guangdong province, China: climate or the failure of management? J. Econ. Entomol., **105**: 739–752.
- MANU, N., PATIL, R. H. AND BALIKAI, R. A., 2014, Efficacy of newer insecticides, biopesticides and poison baits against leaf eating caterpillars of soybean. *Karnataka J. Agric. Sci.*, **27:** 139-144.
- MIYATA, T., SAITO, T. AND NOPPUN, V., 1986, "Studies on the mechanism of diamondback moth resistance to insecticides" in *Diamondback Moth Management*, Talekar N.S. and Griggs T.D. (eds.). Asian Vegetable Research and Development Center, Shanhua, Taiwan. pp 247–357.

- Сноч, М. К., 2000, Resistance and synergism of insecticides in diamondback moth *Plutella xylostella* (lepidoptera :Yponomeutidae).Thesis presented to the Senate of Universiti Putra Malaysia
- MURALITHARAN, V., 2008, Insecticide resistance in diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella*(L.) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) in Western Tamil Nadu.
 M.Sc. (Ag.) thesis. Tamil Nadu Agricultural University, Coimbatore, 98 p.
- NAUEN, R. AND STUMPF, N., 2002, Fluorometric microplate assay to measure glutathione S-transferase activity in insects and mites using monochlorobimane. *Anal Biochem.***15**:194-8.
- SARFRAZ, M., KEDDIE, A. B. AND DOSDALL, L. M., 2005, Biological control of the diamondback moth, *Plutellaxylostella*: A review. *Biocontrol Science and Technology*, **15 (8)**: 763-789.
- SAYYED, A. H. AND WRIGHT, D. J., 2006, Genetics and evidence for an esterase-associated mechanism of resistance to indoxacarb in a field population of diamondback moth (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae). *Pest Manag Sci.*, 62: 1045–1051.
- SHELTON, A. M., 2004, Management of the diamondback moth: déjà vu all over again? In: *The Management of Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Pests*. ENDERSBY, N. M. AND RIDLAND, P. M., (Eds.), Proceedings of the Fourth International Workshop. Department of Natural Resources and Environment, Melbourne, Australia. pp: 3-8.
- SUNEEL KUMAR, G. V. AND SANNAVEERAPPANAVAR, V. T., 2003, Synergistic action of seed oils on the toxicity of insecticides to *Plutella xylostella* (L.) (Lepidoptera: Yponomeutidae). *Pest Manag. Hortic. Ecosyst.*, 9: 133-140.
- TALEKAR, N. S. AND SHELTON, A. M., 1993, Biology, ecology and management of diamondback moth. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.*, **38**: 275 – 301.
- UMEDA, K., GAL, G. AND MURRIETA, J., 1998, Diamondback Moth Control in Spring Cabbage. This is a part of publication az1101: "1998 Vegetable Report," College of Agriculture, The University of Arizona, Tucson, Arizona, 85721.

Changing Trends in Resistance of *Plutella xylostella* Field Population to Chlorantraniliprole in Yunnan Province, P. R. China

YIN, Y.Q., ZHAO, X.Q.¹, CHEN, A.D.², LI, X.Y.³, WU, Q.J.⁴ AND ZHANG, Y.J.⁵

Institute of Agricultural Environment and Resources, Yunnan Academy of Agricultural Sciences Kunming 650205, P. R. China E-mail: yinyq1977@sina.com ¹Institute of Agricultural Environment and Resources, Yunnan Academy of Agricultural Sciences Kunming 650205, P. R. China E-mail: snow.xue-5@163.com ²Institute of Agricultural Environment and Resources, Yunnan Academy of Agricultural Sciences Kunming 650205, P. R. China E-mail: shenad68@163.com ³Institute of Agricultural Environment and Resources, Yunnan Academy of Agricultural Sciences Kunming 650205, P. R. China E-mail: shenad68@163.com ³Institute of Agricultural Environment and Resources, Yunnan Academy of Agricultural Sciences Kunming 650205, P. R. China E-mail: lxybiocon@163.com ⁴Institute of Vegetables and Flowers Chinese Academy of Agricultural Sciences, Beijing 100081, P. R. China E-mail: wuqi@mail.caas.net.cn

⁵Institute of Vegetables and Flowers Chinese Academy of Agricultural Sciences Beijing 100081, P. R. China E-mail: zhangyoujun@caas.cn

Abstract

In order to understand the current situation and development of resistance in field population of DBM *Plutella xylostella* (L.) to chlorantraniliprole in Yunnan Province, the sensitivity of three DBM population from Tonghai County of central Yunnan, Midu County of west Yunnan and Linxiang district of southwest Yunnan to chlorantraniliprole was determined by the leaf dipping method in laboratory condition. Meanwhile, synergism effects of triphenyl phosphate (TPP), piperonyl butoxide (PBO) and diethyl maleate (DEM) to the F1 generation of Tonghai population were tested. The results showed that the resistance levels of Tonghai population of *P. xylostella* to chlorantraniliprole showed an increasing tendency yearly, with resistance index increased from 2.30 in 2009 to 47.79 in 2012, and to 43.05 in 2013, which reached middle level of resistance; Midu population of *P. xylostella* showed low level of resistance except in 2010 when the resistance index was 12.35; Linxiang population of *P. xylostella* showed low level of resistance, with resistance index remained between 1.01- 4.60 during 2009-2013. The three compounds had no significant synergistic effects on the toxicity of chlorantraniliprole to *P. xylostella*.

Keywords: Plutella xylostella, chlorantraniliprole, insecticide resistance, synergistic effect

DIAMONDBACK moth (DBM), *Plutella xylostella* L. is an important pest of cruciferous vegetables worldwide. It occurs throughout the year in Yunnan Province of P. R. China, with large population intensity (Li *et al.* 2011b), resulting in increasing insecticide resistance. Currently, DBM has developed resistance against more than 90% of insecticides, belonging to organochlorine, organophosphorus, carbamates, pyrethroids, acylurea and microbial pesticides such as *Bacillus thuringiensis* (Bt) (Feng *et al.* 2011). As a new anthranilic diamide pesticide, chlorantraniliprole acts on ryanodine receptor and achieves insecticidal purpose through activating ryanodine (Cordva *et al.* 2006), which has advantages of high efficiency, low toxicity and safety to nonorganisms (Yang target et al. 2012). Chlorantraniliprole can control almost all important lepidopteran pests and parts of pests belonging to Coleoptera, Diptera and Hemiptera, and can effectively control pests that have already developed resistance against other insecticides (Marcon et al. 2007). Since 2009, the insecticides with chlorantraniliprole as the main ingredient, such as Coragen, Virtako, Prevathon, etc. have gradually become major agents against DBM in Yunnan Province. To understand the resistance level of DBM against new insecticide chlorantraniliprole, we had monitored resistance of DBM populations in three

different vegetable producing areas for five consecutive years from 2009 to 2013, and experimentally screened synergists, in order to provide scientific basis for resistance assessment and resistance management of chlorantraniliprole.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Insect sources and rearing

The insects tested in the study were collected from perennial planting areas of cruciferous vegetables in Tonghai County of Yuxi City (central Yunnan), Midu County of Dali Prefecture (western Yunnan) and Linxiang district of Lincang City (southwest Yunnan). Three to five representative plots in local area were chosen and grown up larvae and pupae were collected randomly from multi-points of each plot. More than 200 larvae and/or pupae were collected from each field. Mature larvae were moved into worm bags with vegetable leaves and brought back to laboratory for pupation. The emerged pupae were stored in 4 °C refrigerator for less than 15 d before the measurement commenced. When all insects pupated, they were placed in rearing cages together and reared under the conditions of temperature 25±1 °C, RH 65-70 %, L: D = 16:8 h for emergence, and the emerged adults were fed with 15% honey water. Three days after emergence, the dried aluminum foils $(10 \times 2 \text{ cm})$ that had been soaked with cabbage juice were hung at four corners of rearing cage, and the spawning foils were collected every 24 h. Eggs were stored in 4 °C refrigerator for less than 15 d before the measurement commenced. All eggs were transferred on to radish seedlings under the conditions briefed above on the same day. After 11-12 d, when larvae developed to third instar, the larvae in F1 generation, with approximately equal sizes and development progress, were selected as test insects.

Insecticides and reagents

5.22 % Chlorantraniliprole EC was prepared with its original active ingredient by Plant Protection Research Institute, Guangdong Academy of Agricultural Sciences, and its effective content was analyzed.

The reagents used in the study included 90 % piperonyl butoxide (PBO) (Aldrich Chemical Co. Ltd.), 99 % triphenyl phosphate (TPP) (Shanghai No.

1 Chemical Reagent Factory) and 97 % diethyl maleate (DEM) (Beijing J & K Scientific Ltd.).

EXPERIMENTAL METHODS

Bioassay

5.22 % Chlorantraniliprole EC was diluted into five series of concentrations with the distilled water containing 0.05 % Triton X-100 according to geometric progression dilution method, and the volume of each concentration was 200 mL. Clean cabbage (Brassica oleracea) leaves were cut into round discs with the diameter of 6.5 cm (avoiding main veins and edges). The leaf discs were soaked in different concentrations of solution for 10 s, and then dried. The dried leaves were placed in the petri dish with the diameter of 6.5 cm, and inoculated with ten third instar larvae. Each treatment was replicated for four times, and the leaves soaked with water and 0.05 % Triton X-100 were set as control. After mulching with double layers of suction paper, the petri dish was finally covered. The petri dishes were cultured in the RXZ-380B type incubator with front side upward under the conditions of temperature (25±1 °C), RH 65-70 %, L: D = 16:8 h. The larvae were checked after 48 h for mortality, and those without coordinate movements when touched with small brush were regarded as death.

Synergist test

Synergists (PBO, TPP and DEM) were mixed with chlorantraniliprole according to the ratio of 5:1 (active ingredient), and the other steps were the same as described in bioassay. Synergists had no direct insecticidal effect within the measurement range.

Calculation methods

Calculation of resistance ratio: the slope, LC_{50} value and its 95 % confidence limit of toxicity and regression equation for measurement results was calculated by POLO software (Guo *et al.* 2003). Resistance ratio was also calculated through comparison with LC_{50} of indoor sensitive strains.

Resistance ratio = LC_{50} of field population / LC_{50} of relative susceptible population

The sensitive baseline LC_{50} of chlorantraniliprole was 0.23 mg/L, which was derived from DBM resistance monitoring technical regulation in cruciferous vegetables (NY / T 2360-2013).

Resistance grading standards referred to DBM resistance monitoring technical regulation in cruciferous vegetables (NY / T 2360-2013) (2013): resistance ratio RR < 10.0 was low resistance; resistance ratio 10.0 d" RR <100.0 was moderate resistance; resistance ratio RR e" 100.0 was high resistance.

Synergistic ratio (SR) was calculated according to the method by Brindley (Brindley 1977): $SR = LC_{50}$ of single agent / LC_{50} of synergist treatment.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Resistance of DBM population to chlorantraniliprole and its annual changes

The resistance of DBM populations to chlorantraniliprole was determined in three main vegetable areas of Yunnan Province since 2009, and the results were as follows. In 2009, the resistances in three monitoring points were all sensitive; LC_{50} was between 0.52 and 1.01 mg/L and resistance index was less than 10, belonging to low resistance. In 2010, the resistance index of Midu population was 12.35, belonging to moderate level, while the other two populations were still sensitive to chlorantraniliprole, belonging to low level. In 2011, the resistances of Midu and Tonghai populations were rising; LC_{50} was 4.67 and 6.37 mg/L, and resistance index was 20.66 and 28.19, respectively, reaching moderate resistance; Linxiang population was still at low resistance level, and LC₅₀ and resistance index were 0.49 mg/L and 2.17, respectively. In 2012, LC₅₀ of Tonghai population was 10.80 mg/L, while its resistance index increased to 47.79, belonging to moderate resistance; the resistances of Midu population decreased to 5.18, belonging to low resistance; Linxiang population remained at low resistance level. In 2013, the resistance ratios of populations in three vegetable areas slightly decreased, but the resistance levels remained the same as that in 2012 (Table 1).

Since 2009, the resistances of Tonghai DBM population continued to increase from 2.30 in 2009 to 47.79 in 2012 and 43.05 in 2013, reaching moderate resistance; the resistances of Midu population were basically at a low level except that in 2010 reaching 12.35 (belonging to moderate

resistance); the resistances of Linxiang DBM were between 1.01 and 4.60, belonging to low resistance.

Synergistic effect of PBO, TPP and DEM on chlorantraniliprole

Synergist test was commenced on F1 generation of Tonghai DBM population in 2013, and measurement results showed that TPP, DEM and PBO had no obvious synergistic effect on chlorantranili-prole, with synergistic ratios of 1.28, 1.47 and 1.94, respectively; 95 % confidence limit of LC₅₀ that added with synergists overlapped with the 95 % confidence limit of LC₅₀ without synergists, indicating that the toxicity of chlorantraniliprole had no significant changes after adding three kinds of synergists (Table 2).

Yunnan is one of the earliest vegetable areas using chlorantraniliprole to control DBM on brassicas in P. R. China, and the insecticide has been applied in field early in 2009. Resistance monitoring data for five consecutive years showed that the resistance of Yunnan DBM population to chlorantraniliprole was increasing year by year, and the resistance had developed from low level to moderate level. Specifically LC₅₀ in Tonghai vegetable area was exponentially increasing, and resistance ratios in 2011 and 2012 were 8.98 and 20.77 times higher than that of 2009, respectively. Hu et al. (2012) monitored resistance of DBM against chlorantraniliprole in major vegetable areas in southern regions including Lianzhou, Huizhou, Foshan and Guangzhou of Guangdong, Liuzhou of Guangxi and Xinfeng of Jiangxi, and found that populations in these vegetable areas were sensitive in 2009, which were at low resistance level in 2010, but populations in Zengcheng vegetable area reached extremely high resistance level in 2011, and resistance increased significantly. Xing et al. (2011) screened chlorantraniliprole for five consecutive generations, and found that LC_{50} of Tianjin susceptible strains significantly increased by 2.34 and 3.10 times, respectively. These studies have shown that there is higher risk for DBM producing resistance against chlorantraniliprole.

Resistance development of chlorantraniliprole is affected by many factors such as application background, cultivation mode and application habits. Linxiang vegetable area in southwest Yunnan is hot in summer with more rainfall, and its geographical environment does not allow large-scale cultivation or continuous cropping of cruciferous vegetables; besides, the occurrence of DBM is lighter in spring, and hence chlorantraniliprole is rarely used as the prevention insecticide, and five years of monitoring showed that the resistance in DBM population to chlorantraniliprole is in sensitive level. In Midu vegetable area, there is certain application amount of chlorantraniliprole only in first two years of its promotion and application amount is decreasing in last few years. So resistance also changes. Tonghai vegetable area in central Yunnan is a developed area with strong ability to accept new insecticides, coupled with large-scale cultivation and continuous cropping of cruciferous vegetables, and thus resistance increases exponentially every year. Hu et al (2010) investigated DBM in fields, and the results also showed that application frequency of chlorantraniliprole in different regions was directly proportional to resistance ratios.

Metabolic resistance of insects is mainly due to increased activity of various detoxification enzymes, so inhibiting activity of metabolic enzymes by synergists to improve control effects of agents is one of the effective ways to overcome and delay resistance development of pests. Studies have shown that carboxylesterase (CarE) and mixed function oxidases (MFO) are related to decreased sensitivity of DBM to chlorantraniliprole. Xingjing et al (2011) treated DBM with sublethal concentrations continuously for five years, and found that the specific activities of CarE and cytochrome P450 O-deethylase (ECOD) were 1.40 and 1.56 times of control group, respectively, while enzyme activity continuously increased with the prolongation of treatment time. Leaves treated with chlorantraniliprole had greater inhibition on growth of DBM. In this study, three synergists including PBO, TPP and DEM have no significant synergistic effect on DBM population that has produced moderate resistance against chlorantraniliprole.

Resistance monitoring is the basis for scientific evaluation of resistance management strategy and guidance of rational use of insecticides. Resistance level and its distribution can be measured timely and accurately through resistance monitoring, in order to make clear decisions on pesticides to be protected (Zhang and Jiang 1998; Pan and Li 2006). Zhao et al. (1996) found that when resistance of DBM was at a low level, it is unstable, but it will be stabilized after reaching an extremely high level. The resistance ratio of Midu population in western Yunnan was 4.47 in 2009, which increased to 12.35 in 2010, but the resistance level had gradually declined in subsequent years, indicating that resistance of DBM against chlorantraniliprole had unstable field performance in its initial production. Therefore, continuous resistance monitoring of novel agent chlorantraniliprole, timely analysis of resistance production and developing scientific and rational application strategy are very important to protect and prolong service life of novel agents.

Year	Population	LC ₅₀ (mg/L)	95% Confidence limits	Slope of toxicity regression equation (b±SE)	Resistance index	Resistance ratio
2009	Tonghai	0.52	0.39-0.70	1.73±0.27	2.30	1.00
	Midu	1.01	0.71-1.34	1.45 ± 0.20	4.47	1.00
	Linxiang	0.78	0.62-0.96	2.36±0.31	3.45	1.00
2010	Tonghai	0.32	0.13-0.55	1.47±0.24	1.42	0.62
	Midu	2.79	1.74-7.46	1.48 ± 0.31	12.35*	2.76
	Linxiang	0.73	0.59-0.89	2.68±0.35	3.23	0.94
2011	Tonghai	4.67	3.43-6.08	1.66±0.25	20.66*	8.98
	Midu	6.37	3.99-15.96	1.09 ± 0.27	28.19*	6.31
	Linxiang	0.49	0.15-0.84	1.17±0.26	2.17	0.63
2012	Tonghai	10.80	6.93-21.40	1.37±0.33	47.79*	20.77
	Midu	1.17	0.86-1.52	0.88±1.52	5.18	1.16
	Linxiang	1.04	0.48-2.43	2.31±0.31	4.60	1.33
2013	Tonghai	9.73	6.47-23.88	$1.54{\pm}0.61$	43.05*	18.71
	Midu	0.45	0.18-0.71	$1.40{\pm}0.29$	1.99	0.45
	Linxiang	0.23	0.15-0.32	1.47±0.22	1.01	0.29

 TABLE 1

 Annual changes of resistance of Yunnan DBM population to chlorantraniliprole

Note: "*" indicates significant difference (95% confidence limits of LC₅₀ of sensitive and resistant populations do not cross).

Agents	LC ₅₀ (mg/L)	Slope of toxicity regression equation (b±SE)	95% Confidence limits	Chi-square	Synergistic ratio
Chlorantraniliprole	10.49	1.40 ± 0.26	7.20-19.96	2.17	_
Chlorantraniliprole + PBO	5.40	1.70 ± 0.25	4.12 - 7.70	1.26	1.94
Chlorantraniliprole + TPP	8.16	1.43 ± 0.26	5.75 - 14.43	1.01	1.28
Chlorantraniliprole + DEM	7.14	1.07 ± 0.24	4.59 - 16.37	2.00	1.47

 TABLE 2

 Synergistic effect of TPP, PBO, DEM on chlorantraniliprole

CONCLUSION

The resistance of DBM population in Tonghai in central Yunnan to chlorantraniliprole was increasing significantly after using this insecticide for two years, and has developed from low level to moderate resistance, but Midu population in western Yunnan, and Linxiang in southwestern Yunnan was at low level, although the Midu population had changes in 2012. The changing trends of the resistance were varying, depending on the vegetable cultivation system, insecticide use technology, DBM population occurrence characteristics and other control methods, and also indicated that resistance of DBM against chlorantraniliprole was unstable in its initial stages. In this study, three synergists including PBO, TPP and DEM had no significant synergistic effect on DBM population that has showed moderate resistance against chlorantraniliprole.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Supported by Institute of Plant Protection, Guangdong Academy of Agricultural Sciences; Tonghai County Plant Protection and Quarantine Station; Lincang City Agriculture Technology Extension Station.

REFERENCES

- BRINDLEY, W. A., 1977, Synergist differences as an alternate interpretation of carbaryl piperonyl butoxide toxicity data. *Environ. Entomol.*, **6**(6): 885-888.
- CORDVA, D., BENNER, E. A., SACHER, M. D., RAUH, J. J., SOPA, J. S., LAHM, G. P. AND SELBY, T. P., 2006, Anthranilic diamides: a new class of insecticides with a novel mode of action, ryanodine receptor activation. *Pestic. Biochem. Physiol.*, 84(3): 196-214.
- FENG, X., LI ZY, W. U., QJ, CHEN, A. D., WU YD, HOU, Y. M., HE, Y. R., LI, J. H., XIE, S. H., ZHANG, J. M., FU,

W. AND MA, C. S., 2011, Research progress of the resistance management and sustainable control of DBM (*Plutella xylostella*) in China. *Chinese J. Appl. Entomol.*, **48**(2): 247-253.

- GUO, L., BIAN, Q. L., ZHANG, H. J., GAO, X. W. AND LIANG,
 P., 2013, Bioassay technique for *Plutella xylostella*: Leaf-dip method. *Chinese J. Appl. Entomol.*, **50**(2): 556-560.
- HU, Z. D., CHEN, H. Y., LI, Z. Y., ZHANG, D. Y., YIN, F., LIN,
 Q. S., BAO, H. L., ZHOU, X. M. AND FENG, X., 2012,
 Found a field population of DBM, *Plutella xylostella* (L.) with high-level resistance to chlorantraniliprole in South China. *Guangdong Agric. Sci.*, **39**(1): 79-81.
- Hu, Z. D., FENG, X., LI, Z. Y. AND CHEN, H. Y., 2010, Studies on the susceptibility of DBM, *Plutella xylostella* L. to chlorantraniliprole in different vegetable fields. *Agrochem. Res. Appl.*, **14**(3): 25-27.
- LI, X. Y., YIN, Y. Q., ZHAO, X. Q. AND CHEN, A. D., 2011, The biological character of *Plutella xylostella* L. in Tonghai county of Yunnan province. *Zoolog. Res.*, **32**(S): 48-51.
- LI, X. Y., YIN, Y. Q., ZHAO, X. Q. AND CHEN, A. D., 2011, The oviposition characteristics and threshold temperature of *Plutella xylostella* in the different vegetable planting region of Yunnan province. *Chinese J. Appl. Entomol.*, **48**(2): 254-259.
- MARCON, P. J., HELDRETH, K., HANNING, G. AND LUND, A., 2007, DuPont Rynaxypyr global baseline susceptibility program: foundation for proactive susceptibility management of a selective insecticide in a novel chemical class and mode of action [R/OL]. San Diego, California, ESA Annu. Meeting, [2011-01]. http://esa.confex.com/esa/2007/techprogram/ paper_32676.
- PAN, Z. P. AND LI, D. S., 2006, Research advances in monitoring and detecting insect pesticide-resistance. *Chinese. J. Appl. Ecol.*, **17**(8): 1539-1543.

- SHAO, Z. R., FENG, X., ZHANG, S., LI, Z. Y., HUANG, J. D., CHEN, H. Y. AND HU, Z. D., 2013, NY/T 2360-2013, Guideline for insecticide resistance monitoring of *Plutella xylostella* (L.) on cruciferous vegetables. Beijing: Chinese Agricultural Press.
- XING, J., LIANG, P. AND GAO, X. W., 2011, Effects of sublethal concentrations of chlorantraniliprole on insecticide susceptibility and detoxifying enzyme activity in *Plutella xylostella*. *Chinese J. Pestic. Sci.*, 13(5): 464-470.
- YANG, G. Q., TONG, Y. C., YANG, H. B., YU, H. B. AND LI, B., 2012, Summary of chlorantraniliprole: a novel insecticide. *World Pestic.*, 34(1): 31-34.
- ZHANG, Y. J. AND JIANG, H., 1998, Advance in the monitoring technique of pest resistance. *Pestic. Sci. Admin.*, **19(1)**: 22-23.
- ZHAO, J. Z., WU, S. C., GU, Y. Z., ZHU, G. R. AND JU, Z. L., 1996, Strategy of insecticide resistance management in the diamondback moth. *Scientia Agricultura Sinica*, **29**(1): 8-14.

Synergistic Effect of *Neem* and *Pongamia* Oils on the Bioefficacy of Deltamethrin Against Diamondback Moth, *Plutella xylostella* (L.) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) on Cabbage

SRIDHAR V. AND CHAKRAVARTHY A. K.

Division of Entomology and Nematology, ICAR-Indian Institute of Horticultural Research Hessaraghatta Lake P.O, Bengaluru - 560 089, India. E-mail: vsridhar@iihr.res.in

Abstract

Diamondback moth (DBM), *Plutella xylostella* (L.) has a history of developing resistance to a majority of insecticides. Insecticide resistance and control failures are now common and in certain cases economical production of crucifers has become increasingly difficult. One option for the control of insect strains which are resistant to insecticides has been the combined use of insecticides and synergists. Seed oils *viz.*, cotton seed oil, neem oil, *Pongamia* oil, mahua oil (*Madhuca longifolia*) and sesamum oil can synergise the toxicity of the insecticides and can be used in resistance monitoring studies as inhibitors of MFO's in place of costly synthetic synergists like piperonyl butoxide. Synthetic synergists' like piperonyl butoxide are expensive and have to undergo the cumbersome formalities for registration. Considering the availability and economy of the synergists, two plant origin oils *viz.*, neem and *Pongamia* oils (@ 0.1% and 0.2%) were tried as synergists with deltamethrin 2.5 EC, a commonly used insecticide against *P. xylostella* on cabbage both under laboratory and field conditions at Indian Institute of Horticultural Research, Bengaluru, India. Under laboratory conditions, deltamethrin (0.5 mL/L) + *Pongamia* oil (0.2 %) resulted in the maximum efficacy (86.67 %), followed by deltamethrin (1 mL/L) showed good synergism both in terms of reducing *P. xylostella* and in realizing marketable yields of cabbage compared to all other treatments.

Keywords: Deltamethrin, diamondback moth, neem oil, Pongamia oil, synergists

THE diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* (L.) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) is a major pest of cruciferous vegetables worldwide. In the tropics and subtropics, where cruciferous plants are grown yearround, this pest can be present at any time (Talekar & Shelton 1993) and has a history of developing resistance to most of the insecticides (Talekar 1992). Insecticide resistance and control failures are now common and often profitable production of cruciferous vegetables has become increasingly difficult (Walker et al. 2012). One of the options for the effective control of insect strains that are resistant to insecticides is to use synergists with insecticides. Seed oils viz., cotton seed oil, neem oil, Pongamia oil, mahua oil (Madhuca longifolia) and sesamum oil were reported to synergise the toxicity of the insecticides to varying levels and can also be used in resistance monitoring studies as inhibitors of Mixed Function Oxidases (MFO's) in place of costly synthetic synergists like piperonyl butoxide (Suneel Kumar & Sannveerappanavar 2003). Synthetic synergists like piperonyl butoxide are expensive and not available locally. Keeping in view of the

availability and economy of the synergists, two plant origin oils *viz.*, neem and *Pongamia* oils were tried as synergists along with deltamethrin, a commonly used insecticide against *P. xylostella* on cabbage under laboratory and field conditions.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The efficacy of two plant oils *viz.*, neem and *Pongamia* as synergists with deltamethrin 2.5 EC was tested under laboratory conditions during 2007 with deltamethrin at 0.5 mL/L and both oils at 0.1 and 0.2 per cent concentrations. Other treatments included neem and *Pongamia* oils at 0.1, 0.2 and 1 per cent alone and deltamethrin at 0.5 mL/L along with control. The experiment was conducted in Completely Randomised Design. Ten, third instar larvae of diamondback moth were released in the petri plates (14 cm diameter) containing cabbage leaf disc. The larvae were exposed to the insecticide alone and insecticide + oil mixtures under Potters's spray tower. Liquid soap of 0.1% was added to the spray fluid as an emulsifier. Two ml of each treatment (please refer

Table 1) was sprayed directly on the larvae held in Petri dishes at 10 lbs / sq. inch pressure and the treated larvae were maintained at 25 ± 1 °C. Each treatment was replicated thrice with 10 larvae per replication. The treated insects were observed for mortality at 48 h after treatment. Abbott's corrections were carried out and the data were subjected to analysis of variance (ANOVA) and treatment means were compared using DMRT. Field trials were conducted on cabbage in the research farm of the Indian Institute of Horticultural Research, Bengaluru (12° 58' N; 77° 35'E), India during 2008 and 2009. For field evaluation, same treatments tested in the laboratory, except oils at 0.1 per cent, were used besides neem soap (1.0%) (Table 2). The experiments were carried out using the cabbage cv. Unnati. The experiment was laid out in a Randomized Block Design with three replications. The seedlings were transplanted at 45 cm x 45 cm in a plot of 2.5 m x 3 m during the second week of February, both the years. The recommended package of practices was followed for cultivation of the crop. Three sprays of each treatment were given starting from the crop primordial stage at 15 d interval.

Observations on the number of diamondback moth larvae were recorded on three randomly selected plants from each replication, two days after each spray. Marketable head yield was recorded on plot basis and converted to t/ha. Data on the number of larvae/plant was transformed to square root of x + 0.5values, before subjecting them to ANOVA and treatment means were compared using DMRT. For the purpose of estimation of detoxifying enzyme activity in the treated larvae (plant oils + deltamethrin), carboxyl esterases, glutathion-S-transferase and mixed function oxidases were estimated as per the methods followed by Gong *et al.* (2013) and Qian et al. (2008). Single larva of *P. xylostella* was used for estimating the detoxifying enzymes.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Laboratory studies

All the treatments tested for the management of diamondback moth, *P. xylostella* except *Pongamia* oil (0.1 % and 0.2 %) were effective over control. Deltamethrin (0.5 mL/L) + *Pongamia* oil (0.2 %) was

the most effective treatment (86.67 % mortality) followed by deltamethrin @ 0.5 mL/L + *Pongamia* oil @ 0.1 per cent (80.00 % mortality). Deltamethrin alone resulted in 43.33 per cent mortality of *P. xylostella* (Table 1).

Field Evaluation - First Year (2008)

Of different treatments evaluated in the field for *P. xylostella* management, the lowest number of larvae was recorded in deltamethrin @1 mL/L + *Pongamia* oil (0.2 %) (0.56/ plant), neem soap (1.0 %) (0.78/ plant), deltamethrin @1 mL/L + 0.2 % neem oil (1.11/ plant), deltamethrin 0.5 mL/L + 0.2 % *Pongamia* oil (1.22/plant) after the first spray. Pooled averages over three sprays revealed deltamethrin 1 mL/L + 0.2 % *Pongamia* oil (0.44/plant) as the best treatment followed by deltamethrin 1 mL/L + 0.2 % neem oil (2.22 mL/L) (Table 2). However, deltamethrin @ 1 mL/L + *Pongamia* oil (0.2 %) resulted in highest yield of 30.32 t/ha followed by deltamethrin @ 1mL/L + 0.2 % neem oil (29.09 t/ha) and neem soap 1 % (27.65 t/ha) compared to control (15.35 t/ha).

Field Evaluation – Second Year (2009)

Results followed more or less a similar trend in this year also. The lowest number of larvae was recorded in deltamethrin 1 mL/L + Pongamia oil 0.2 % (0.22/plant), deltamethrin 0.5 mL/L + 0.2 % Pongamia oil (0.44/plant) and neem soap 1 % (1.22/ plant) after the first spray. After second and third spray also, deltamethrin 1 mL/L + 0.2 % Pongamia oil resulted in highest efficacy (1.11 and 0.11 larvae/ plant). Pooled averages over three sprays revealed deltamethrin 1 mL/L + 0.2 % as the best treatment for the management of *P. xylostella* (0.48 larvae/plant). Deltamethrin @ 1 mL/L + 0.2 % Pongamia oil resulted in the highest yield of 29.76 t/ha followed by deltamethrin 1 mL/L + 0.2 % neem oil (28.00 t/ha) and neem soap 1 % (26.56 t/ha) when compared to control (16.12 t/ha) (Table 3).

Laboratory assessment of detoxifying enzymes in *P. xylostella* from different treatments revealed that esterases and glutathione-S-transferase levels were reduced when deltamethrin was added with neem oil.
However, *Pongamia* oil reduced the levels of the mixed function oxidases (MFO's) when applied with deltamethrin resulting in more mortality of *P. xylostella*.

Suneel Kumar and Sannaveerappanavar (2003) recorded Sesamum oil and *Pongamia* oil synergism with synthetic pyrethroids *viz.*, fenvalerate to the tune of 84.79 and 88.52 per cent, respectively whereas in deltamethrin it was 77.19 and 85.65 per cent over pyrethroids alone under laboratory conditions. Similarly, the toxicity of lambda-cyhalothrin was

synergized to a greater extent by Sesamum oil followed by *Pongamia* oil. Similar observations for synergism of fenvalerate toxicity to field populations of *Helicoverpa armigera* were reported by Sundaramoorthy and Chitra (1992) and Manoharan and Uthamasamy (1993). Gavi Gowda (1996) opined that *Pongamia* oil acted as an MFO inhibitor and the inhibition of the oxidases by *Pongamia* oil may be the reason for synergism of methomyl toxicity. In our study also *Pongamia* oil inhibited the MFO in *P. xylostella* when added with deltamethrin.

Table	1

Effect of neem and Pongamia oils in enhancing the bio-efficacy of deltamethrin against P. xylostella

Treatments	Percent mortality of DBM at 48 HAT	Per cent over Reduction control
Deltamethrin 2.5 EC @ 0.5 mL/L	43.33* (41.15) ^{de}	30.00
Deltamethrin 2.5 EC @ 0.5mL/L+ Neem oil (0.1%)	53.33 (46.92) ^{cd}	50.00
Deltamethrin 2.5 EC @ 0.5mL/L + Neem oil (0.2%)	70.00 (57.70) ^{bc}	56.67
Deltamethrin 2.5 EC @ 0.5mL/L + Pongamia oil (0.1%)	80.00 (63.72) ^{ab}	66.66
Deltamethrin 2.5 EC @ 0.5ml/l + Pongamia Oil (0.2%)	86.67 (68.85) ^a	73.34
Pongamia oil (0.1%)	23.33 (28.78) ^f	10.00
Pongamia oil (0.2%)	26.67 (30.78) ^{ef}	13.33
Neem oil (0.1%)	23.33 (28.78) ^f	10.00
Neem oil (0.2%)	46.67 (43.08) ^d	33.34
Neem oil (1.0%)	60.00 (50.65) ^{cd}	46.67
Pongamia oil (1.0%)	53.33 (46.92) ^{cd}	40.00
Control	13.33 (21.15) ^f	-
CD (<i>p</i> =0.05)	10.19	
CV (%)	13.74	

* Mean of 3 replications; ** Figures in parentheses are arc sine transformed values; *** Treatments denoted with same alphabet in a column are statistically non-significant.

CONCLUSION

Under field conditions, *Pongamia* oil (0.2 %) with deltamethrin (1 mL/L) showed good synergism both in terms of reducing *P. xylostella* and in realizing higher marketable yield of cabbage compared to all other treatments in the current study.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The authors are thankful to the Director, IIHR, Bengaluru for providing necessary facilities.

Trootmonts	No. of P. J	<i>xylostella</i> larva	ne/3 plants	Pooled	Yield	Yield		
in cathlents	I spray	II spray	III spray	average	(Kg/plot)	(t/ha)		
Deltamethrin 2.5 EC @ 0.5 mL/L	$ \begin{array}{c} 11.00 \\ (3.39)^{d} \end{array} $	13.00 (3.67) ^{cb}	6.67 (2.68) ^{cb}	10.22	16.35	21.80		
Deltamethrin 2.5 EC @ 1 mL/L	5.87 (2.48) ^c	5.00 (2.35) ^{ba}	1.33 (1.29) ^{ba}	4.06	18.64	24.84		
Deltamethrin 2.5 EC @ 0.5 mL/L + Neem oil (0.2%)	3.67 (2.42) ^{cb}	2.67 (1.77) ^e	3.33 (1.95) ^e	3.22	19.47	25.95		
Deltamethrin 2.5 EC @ 0.5 mL/L + Pongamia oil (0.2%)	3.67 (2.03) ^{ba}	6.33 (2.61) ^b	$0.00 \\ (0.71)^{a}$	3.33	17.15	22.86		
Deltamethrin 2.5 EC @ 1 mL/L + Neem oil (0.2%)	3.33 (1.95) ^a	2.33 (1.68) ^{dc}	1.00 $(1.22)^{dc}$	2.22	21.83	29.09		
Deltamethrin 2.5 EC @ 1 mL/L + Pongamia oil (0.2%)	1.67 (1.72) ^a	1.67 (1.46) ^{ed}	0.67 (1.05) ^{ed}	1.33	22.75	30.32		
Neem oil (0.2%)	14.00 (3.81) ^e	14.67 (3.89) ^{dc}	7.33 (2.80) ^d	12.00	13.53	18.03		
Pongamia oil (0.2%)	12.33 (3.58) ^{ed}	16.67 (4.14) ^d	4.00 (2.11) ^c	11.00	15.60	20.79		
Neem soap (1.0%)	2.33 (1.68) ^a	7.33 (2.80) ^b	3.67 (2.04) ^c	4.44	20.75	27.65		
Control	14.33 (3.85) ^e	14.33 (3.85) ^e	11.67 (3.48) ^e	13.44	11.52	15.35		
CD (<i>p</i> =0.05)	0.39	0.26	0.37		5.13			
CV (%)	8.49	5.28	11.11		16.84			

TABLE 2 Efficacy of plant oils as synergists with Deltamethrin for P. xylostella management (First Year)

* Mean of 3 replications; ** Figures in parentheses are square root x + 0.5 transformed values; *** Treatments denoted with same alphabet in a column are statistically non-significant.

TABLE 3

Efficacy	of	plant	oils	as	svnerg	zists	with	deltar	nethrin	agains	t P.	хv	lostella	(Second	vear	•)
	~	piciti	0000	cv _D	Syncery	50000		cicition	101111111	ci Scillos	v		iobtella	, 50001101	,000	/

The stars and s	No. of P. 2	xylostella larva	ae/3 plants	Pooled	Yield	Yield
Treatments	I spray	II spray	III spray	average	(Kg/plot)	(t/ha)
Deltamethrin 2.5 EC @ 0.5 mL/L	9.33	16.33	4.67	10.11	15.31	20.40
	(3.13) ^d	(4.10) ^{ef}	(2.28) bc			
Deltamethrin 2.5 EC @ 1 mL/L	6.33	11.67	4.67	7.56	17.54	23.38
	(2.62) ^c	(3.48) ^d	(2.27) ^{bc}			
Deltamethrin 2.5 EC @ 0.5 mL/L +	6.33	6.67	3.33	5.44	16.91	22.54
Neem oil (0.2%)	(2.62) ^c	(2.68) ^c	(2.04) ^{bc}			
Deltamethrin 2.5 EC @ 0.5 mL/L +	1.33	4.67	0.66	2.22	18.42	24.55
Pongamia oil (0.2%)	$(1.00)^{a}$	(2.27) ^b	(1.17) ^c			
Deltamethrin 2.5 EC @ 1 mL/L +	10.33	7.67	0.67	6.22	21.01	28.00
Neem oil (0.2%)	(3.26) ^d	(2.80) ^e	(1.05)°			
Deltamethrin 2.5 EC @ 1 mL/L +	0.67	3.33	0.33	1.44	22.33	29.76
Pongamia oil (0.2%)	(1.05) ^b	(1.95) ^a	(0.88)°			
Neem oil (0.2%)	10.67	17.67	5.33	11.22	12.80	17.06
	(2.42) ^{bc}	(4.26) ^f	(3.34) ^d			
Pongamia oil (0.2%)	9.67	16.00	5.00	10.22	14.86	19.80
	(3.26) ^d	(4.06) ^e	(2.35) ^{bc}			
Neem soap (1.0 %%)	3.67	7.33	3.67	4.89	19.93	26.56
	(2.04) ^b	(2.04) ^b	(1.97)°			
Control	12.00	21.00	6.00	13.00	12.10	16.12
	(3.53) ^d	(4.63) ^g	(2.55)°			
CD $(p=0.05)$	0.39	0.18	0.50		4.03	
CV (%)	8.75	3.22	15.30		13.73	

* Mean of 3 replications; ** Figures in parentheses are square root x + 0.5 transformed values; *** Treatments denoted with same alphabet in a column are statistically non-significant

REFERENCES

- GAVI GOWDA, 1996, Studies on synergism with reference to the management (IRM) of *Helicoverpa armigera* (Hubner). Ph. D. Thesis, Tamil Nadu Agricultural University, Coimbatore.
- GONG, Y. J., WANG, Z. H., SHI, B. C., KANG, Z. J., ZHU, L., JIN, G. H. AND WEI, S. J., 2013, Correlation between pesticide resistance and enzyme activity in the diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella*. J. Insect Sci., 13(135): 1-13.
- MANOHARAN, T. AND UTHAMASAMY, S., 1993, Evaluation of plant products for synergistic action with insecticides for control of gram pod borer, *Helicoverpa armigera*. *Indian J. Agric. Sci.*, **63**:759-761.
- QIAN, L., CAO, G. C., SONG, J. X., YIN, Q. AND HAN, Z. J., 2008, Biochemical mechanisms conferring crossresistance between tebufenozide and abamectin in *Plutella xylostella. Pestic. Biochem. Physiol.*, 1(3):175–179.

- SUNDARAMOORTHY, V. T. AND CHITRA, K., 1992, Integrated pest management in cotton. *Indian J. Plant Prot.*, **20:**1-17.
- SUNEEL KUMAR, G. V. AND SANNAVEERAPPANAVAR, V. T., 2003, Synergistic action of seed oils on the toxicity of insecticides to *Plutella xylostella* (L.) (Lepidoptera: Yponomeutidae). *Pest Manag. Hortic. Ecosyst.*, 9(2):133-140.
- TALEKAR, N. S., 1992, Diamondback moth and other Crucifer Pests: *Proceedings of Second International Workshop*, AVRDC, Taiwan, 603 pp.
- TALEKAR, N. S. AND SHELTON, A. M., 1993, Biology, ecology, and management of the diamondback moth. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.*, **38:**275–301.
- WALKER, G. P., DAVIS, S. I., MACDONALD, F. H. AND HERMAN, T. J. B., 2012, Update on diamondback moth (*Plutella xylostella*) insecticide resistance and the vegetable brassica insecticide management strategy. *New Zealand Plant Prot.*, 65: 114-119.

Assessment of Resistance Development in Field Populations of Diamondback Moth, *Plutella xylostella* (L.) from Andhra Pradesh to Insecticides and Cry2Ab Toxin

SUNITHA, V., SINGH, T.V.K.¹ AND SATYANARAYANA, J.²

A.I.N.P. on Agril. Ornithology, Rajendranagar, Hyderabad, Telangana State - 500 030. E-mail: vanamsunitha10@gmail.com ¹P.J.T.S.A.U., Rajendranagar, Hyderabad, Telangana State - 500 030. E-mail: prof.tvksingh@yahoo.com ²Dept. of Entomology, College of Agriculture, Rajendranagar, P.J.T.S.A.U. Hyderabad - 500 030. E-mail: snjella@gmail.com

Abstract

Insecticidal resistance studies against third instar larvae of diamondback moth (DBM), *Plutella xylostella L*. from Andhra Pradesh were carried out from F_1 to F_3 against acephate, cypermethrin, spinosad, cartap hydrochloride and Cry2Ab using leaf dip bioassay method. The LC₅₀ values deduced were used to quantify the resistance in *P. xylostella* of parental generation (F_0). Resistance development was assessed with a concentration fetching 80.00 % mortality in every generation from F_1 to F_3 generations against all the tested insecticides and Cry2Ab toxin. The results revealed that 2.57-, 1.00-, 1.00-, 1.33- and 1.98-fold resistance against acephate, cypermethrin, spinosad, cartap and Cry2Ab toxin, respectively in F_3 generation. The levels resistance from F_1 to F_3 generations increased against all the test insecticides and Cry toxin, except against cypermethrin and spinosad from F_1 to F_3 generations.

Keywords: Insecticide resistance, DBM, Andhra Pradesh, toxin

INDIA is the world's largest cauliflower (Brassica oleracea var. botrytis L.) grower and second largest cabbage (B. oleracea var. capitata L.) grower next to China occupying an area of 372,000 ha and 402,000 ha, respectively. Diamondback moth (DBM), Plutella xylostella (L) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae), is the most important pest of cruciferous crops and is very destructive in nature (CIE 1967). In India, DBM was reported in 1914 on cruciferous vegetables and is now the most devastating pest of cole crops in the states of Punjab, Haryana, Himachal Pradesh, Delhi, Uttar Pradesh, Bihar, Andhra Pradesh, Tamil Nadu, Maharashtra and Karnataka (Uthamasamy et al. 2011). The infestation of the pest increases gradually from first fortnight of August and leads to total loss of the crop (Dhaliwal et al. 2010). In India it causes significant economic losses of up to 50% with an estimate of US\$ 168 million per year. Absence of effective natural enemies and rapid development of insecticide resistance to many classes of insecticides, which account for 30-50% of the total cost of production are considered to be the major causes of increasing pest status of DBM in most parts of the country.

DBM occupies second position in being resistant to 82 compounds of insecticides (APRD 2012) and to be the first species to develop field resistance to Bacillus thuringiensis (Bt) Cry toxins, and one amongst three insect species to have developed field resistance to Bt based spray products (Talekar and Shelton 1993). It is documented that resistance is inevitable within a span of two to three years after the introduction of a new insecticide (Sayyed and Wright 2006; Wang and Wu 2012; Zhao et al. 2006). Recent examples of field resistance to relatively newer compounds, include indoxacarb, avermectins, spinosad, Bt- based products (Dipel), benzyl ureas and chlorantraniliprole (Furlong et al. 2013). Hence, the present study was undertaken for quantifying the resistance levels in DBM from Andhra Pradesh region against four commonly used insecticide groups with diverse modes of action and one B. thuringiensis toxin.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Laboratory investigations were carried out during 2011-2012 in the Bt Lab, Department of Entomology, College of Agriculture, Rajendranagar, Hyderabad.

Median lethal concentration (LC_{50}) calculation

Test insect population

Cabbage cultivar "Charmant" nursery was raised in the greenhouse and one month old seedlings were transplanted in the main field and raised without any insecticide application. DBM larvae were collected from farmers' cabbage fields in and around Hyderabad to establish insect culture. Leaves were harvested daily and washed with tap water to be used as feed for the larvae. Larvae were allowed to pupate in the jars (12x6 cm) and the pupae were placed in a cage for moth emergence. The emerged adult moths were allowed to lay eggs on mustard seedlings. Adults were provided with 10% honey solution fortified with multivitamins and proteinex on a cotton swab for better egg laying. Mustard seedlings with eggs of DBM were collected from the cage and kept in glass jars for hatching. The neonates were reared on insecticide free cabbage leaves. At every successive instar stage, the larvae were shifted to clean jars and fresh cabbage leaves were provided. Third instar larvae were used in bioassay studies.

Test insecticides and Cry toxin

To determine the LC₅₀values of insecticides and Cry toxin against DBM larvae, four insecticides viz., acephate (Organophosphate), cypermethrin (Synthetic pyrethroid), spinosad (Spinosyn), cartap hydrochloride (Nereistoxin) and Cry2Ab were used. Hundred ml of one per cent stock solution of all the above test insecticides were used for the preparation of serial dilutions. Initially, broad range concentrations were tested for each test insecticide and toxin; depending on the 20 to 80 % mortality observed, narrow range concentrations were tested. A control was also maintained for each experiment and the mortality data was corrected by using modified Abbott's formula (Flemmings and Ratnakaran 1985). Bioassay was repeated for experiments in which control mortality exceeded 20%.

Stock solution preparation for Cry toxin

The technical formulation of Cry2Ab (3.93 mg/ g) was supplied by Central Institute of Cotton Research (CICR), Nagpur. Hundred mg of the toxin was dissolved in 5 ml distilled water to obtain a stock solution of 60ppm concentration. The stock solution was subjected to serial dilutions to obtain different concentrations and a drop of emulsifier, Tween-80 was added. Similarly a drop of Tween-80 was also added to control.

Bioassay

Bioassays were conducted with third instar larvae of DBM by using a standard leaf dip method (Sayyed et al. 2000). A Bioassays was conducted to deduce the LC50 of for all the four test insecticides and Cry2Ab toxin, and the LC₅₀ concentration deduced was used to assess the resistance in DBM from parental generation (F_0) to F_3 generation. The leaf discs (5 cm) were used for bioassay studies. The leaf discs were dipped in 10 ml of aqueous solution of various concentrations of test insecticides and Cry toxin, whereas control leaf discs were immersed in distilled water having a drop of Tween-80 for about 15 sec and shade dried before transferring onto a moistened filter paper in a petri plate. Ten third instar larvae were released on each treated leaf disc in each concentration. Each treatment was replicated thrice. Larval mortality was recorded at 24, 48 and 72 h after treatment (HAT) by counting the larvae as dead or moribund when they did not resume activity after repeated prodding. The mortality at 72 HAT was considered as end point for the assessment of toxicity of test insecticides and Cry toxin (Fisk and Wright 1992). LC₅₀ values of all test insecticides and Cry2Ab toxin were determined by probit analysis (Finney 1971). The calculated LC_{50} was used in quantifying the resistance by inducing selection pressure.

Quantification of insecticidal resistance in Andhra Pradesh populations

To assess the resistant levels in DBM populations of Andhra Pradesh region, larvae were collected from Medak district of Andhra Pradesh and reared on insecticide free cabbage leaves in the laboratory and larvae in the third instar were used for bioassay studies.

Bioassay and lab selection

The DBM larvae obtained from the cabbage field were designated as F_0 population and the subsequent generations (obtained from previous generations) were designated as F_1 (first generation), F_2 (second generation) and F_3 (third generation). The process of selection pressure for insecticides and Cry toxin was initiated in the parental generation (F_0) and continued up to F_3 generation. The calculated LC_{50} values of each insecticide and Cry2Ab toxin was subjected to preliminary bioassay for all the three populations separately. Individual DBM population was subjected to five concentrations (LC_{50} two concentrations higher than LC_{50} and two concentrations lower the value of LC_{50}) of each individual insecticide and Cry2Ab toxinand a control with ten third instar larvae per treatment and replicated thrice. Larval mortality was recorded at 24, 48 and 72HAT. The concentration (LC_{so}) that gave 80% mortality was selected from the preliminary bioassay and the survivors at other concentrations were rejected. Using this LC₈₀ concentration of all the test insecticides and Cry2Abs subsequent bioassays were conducted with using 100 third instar larvae per treatment (individual insecticide and Cry2Ab) and replicating the same thrice for inducing selection pressure from the parental generation (F_0) onwards along with a control. The survivors in the bioassay were raised to first generation (F_1) and third instar F_1 larvae were subjected to bioassay as idicated above which was continued up to F_3 generation. The concentrations were adjusted in subsequent generations depending on the per cent larval survivors obtained in the previous generation.

Assessment of insecticidal resistance in P. xylostella

The degree of development of resistance through different generations was determined by working out LC_{50} values in each generation and thus computing the resistance ratio (RR) by dividing the LC_{50} value for F_n generation with LC_{50} value of the F_1 generation (Arora 2003).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

In general, the susceptibility of *P. xylostella* to conventional insecticides and toxin was low.

Resistance development in DBM against acephate

The concentrations of acephate which were used in bioassay varied from 0.01 to 0.20, 0.05 to 0.25 and 0.05 to 0.25% against the third instar larvae of DBM collected from Andhra Pradesh in three generations (F_1 , F_2 and F_3). The LC₈₀ which was used for inducing selection pressure varied in F_1 , F_2 and F_3 generations. The documented LC₈₀ against third instar larvae of DBM collected from Andhra Pradesh were 0.15, 0.20 and 0.20%. The calculated LC₅₀ values obtained for Andhra Pradesh population in F_1 , F_2 and F_3 generations were 0.033, 0.081 and 0.085%. Resistance ratios obtained in F_2 and F_3 generations in comparison to F_1 generation were 2.45 and 2.57 folds (Table 1).

Generation	Heterogeneity (X ²)	Regression equation	LC ₅₀ (%)	Fiducial limits	Resistance ratio	Slope ± S.E
F_1	5.81	Y = 6.79 + 1.21x	0.033	0.015 - 0.053	1.00	1.21 ± 0.26
F_2	0.50	Y = 7.46 + 2.25x	0.081	0.052 - 0.104	2.45	2.25 ± 0.48
F ₃	1.29	Y = 7.66 + 2.49x	0.085	0.059 - 0.108	2.57	2.49 ± 0.49

TABLE 1 Toxicity of acephate to third instar larvae of P. xylostellain different $F_1 - F_3$ generations

The results showed that the LC_{50} values increased from F_1 to F_3 , which indicated that DBM population from Andhra Pradesh had developed resistance against acephate because the resistance ratio was more than one. A high level of resistance to organophosphate insecticides in DBM has been reported from various parts of the world including -2096 folds resistance to malathion in Malaysia (Sudderuddin and Kok 1978), 305 to 735 fold resistance to malathion in Thailand (Barroge *et al.* 1981), 20 to 75 fold resistance to chlorpyriphos, methyl parathion, malathion, methamidophos and diazinon in North Florida (Yu and Nguyan, 1992). Resistance ratios in the present study though are in conformity with the findings elsewhere, a very low level of resistance, to the tune of 2.57- folds has been documented for the DBM populations sampled from Andhra Pradesh in the F_3 generation.

Resistance is inevitable by inducing selection pressure for several generations with insecticides in insects even for the susceptible strains and laboratory strains (Sasaki 1982; Cheng *et al.* 1985; Noppun *et al.* 1986; Hama 1989). However, low level of resistance documented in the present study can be attributed to the fact that selection pressure was induced at LC_{80} concentration and for only three generations. Lack of insecticidal exposure for several generations together can deplete resistance development in insects (Chen and Sun 1986; Miyata *et al.* 1986).

Though usage of acephate for the management of DBM has been replaced by new insecticides that are commercially available, recent studies of Shoji and Chikako (2010) is in confirmation with the present study where only 2.3-fold resistance was documented by the resistant *P. xylostella* strain over the susceptible strain against prothiofos. Calibration of resistance ratios would have been precise with that of laboratory strain maintained for several generations without insecticidal exposure as recorded elsewhere.

Resistance development in DBM against cypermethrin

 LC_{50} concentration of 0.008% was obtained in bioassay using DBM population sampled from cabbage agro-ecosystem in and around Hyderabad and the same was used to obtain the survivors of DBM in Andhra Pradesh population with cypermethrin. The calculated LC_{80} for inducing selection pressures were 0.008, 0.016 and 0.008% for F_1 , F_2 and F_3 generations, respectively. The LC_{50} recorded from the bioassays were 0.003, 0.004 and 0.003 % respectively for the three generation generally. Resistance ratios in F_2 and F_3 generations over the F_1 generation were 1.33 and 1.00 (Table 2).

	Table 2	
Toxicity of cypermethrin to	third instar larvae of P.	xylostella in different generations

Generation	Heterogeneity (X ²)	Regression equation	LC ₅₀ (%)	Fiducial limits	Resistance ratio	Slope <u>+</u> S.E
\mathbf{F}_{1}	0.414	Y = 9.44 + 1.72x	0.003	0.001 - 0.004	1.00	1.72 ± 0.34
F_2	1.024	Y = 9.01 + 1.69x	0.004	0.003 - 0.006	1.33	1.69 ± 0.31
F ₃	1.662	Y = 9.52 + 1.74x	0.003	0.001 - 0.004	1.00	1.74 ± 0.55

The median lethal concentration followed an increasing trend up to F₂ generation and later decreased in F₂ generation. Enzymatic role of mixed function oxidases coupled with target site nerve insensitivity (kdr) (Holden 1979; Gammon 1980) are considered as the most common mechanisms of resistance in DBM to synthetic pyrethroids, and reduced insecticide penetration through the cuticle is also cited to to be a reason. The low magnitude of resistance development in the present study might be due to the less usage of synthetic pyrethroids (cypermethrin) in cabbage agro-ecosystem. The resistance developed by DBM against cypermethrin is in accordance with other reports, for instance 144 fold resistance against cypermethrin in DBM at Panipat (Haryana) and 115 fold resistance to pyrethroids at Delhi and Karnataka (Saxena et al. 1989), 25 fold resistance against pyrethroids (Raju and Singh 1995), and 2814 folds resistance against cypermethrin by DBM population sampled from Bangalore (Sannaveerappanavar 1995). In the present study there was a decrease in susceptibility pattern up to F_2 generation, followed by an increase in the susceptibility in the F_3 generation showing a moderate level of resistance development. Further studies are required with regards to calibration of variation in enzyme titers *viz.*, mixed function oxidases, and glutathione S transferases using specific substrates that play vital role in resistance development against synthetic pyrethroids as reported in other insects as well. The present results are in corroboration with studies conducted elsewhere who reported resistance ratio of 21 fold for Peng Hu strain and 899 fold for Ban-Chu strain in China (Liu *et al.* 1982), Nicaragua (Perez *et al.* 2000), Taiwan (Liu *et al.* 1981), USA (Yu and Nguyen 1992) and Pakistan (Khaliq *et al.* 2007).

Resistance development in DBM against spinosad

The median lethal concentration of 0.003% for spinosad was recorded in the bioassay conducted with DBM larval population from Hyderabad. LC_{80} obtained was 0.0035% in all the three generations of Andhra Pradesh population. The LC_{50} calculated for Andhra Pradesh population was 0.003%, 0.002% and 0.003% in F_1 , F_2 and F_3 generations, respectively (Table 3).

Generation	Heterogeneity (X ²)	Regression equation	LC ₅₀ (%)	Fiducial limits	Resistance ratio	Slope <u>+</u> S.E
F_1	1.445	Y = 23.99 + 7.40x	0.003	0.002 - 0.003	1.00	7.40 ± 1.28
F_2	1.442	Y = 19.72 + 5.64x	0.002	0.002 - 0.003	0.66	5.64 ± 1.15
F ₃	5.697	Y = 27.64 + 8.81x	0.003	0.002 - 0.003	1.00	8.81 ± 1.46

 TABLE 3

 Toxicity of spinosad to third instar larvae of P xylostella in different generations

Resistance ratios in DBM population of F_2 and F_3 generations in relation to F_1 generation were 0.66 and 1.00 for Andhra Pradesh population. The resistance ratios of F_2 and F_3 generation in relation to F_1 generation was less than one fold in study population, which indicated that resistance has not yet developed.

Resistance development studies for the DBM against spinosad showed neutral results. Susceptibility pattern of Andhra Pradesh population showed diverse results (as depicted by LC₅₀ values) ultimately showing negligible resistance development. The reason for the P. xylostella populations either developing moderate resistance or no resistance may be due to the fact that spinosad being a novel insecticide and the usage pattern and selection pressure by this insecticide are relatively new in cabbage agro ecosystem in areas where the study population was collected, or alternatively the pest was never pre-disposed to spinosad sprays in these areas. The findings of the present studies are in corroboration with the findings of Peter et al. (2000), Dey and Som Choudhary (2001) and Vadodaria et al. (2000), who earlier reported the higher field efficacy of spinosad against P. xylostella in Gujarath.

The present data confirms the findings of Zhao *et al.* (2002) who determined the toxicity ratio of 1.3 to 1.2 from seven zones and 0.8 to 32 from six zones in Geneva. Kao and Cheng (2001) reported LC_{50} of 24.06 ppm and 26.77 ppm from Lu Chu and His-hu strain, respectively, in China during 2001. Shelton *et al.* (1996) showed tolerance ratio of more than 100 to spinosad in DBM population of California (USA), which indicated high levels of resistance than the present study. Walker *et al.* (2002) showed no significant resistance in field population of DBM in New Zealand, which is in conformity with the findings of the present study.

The present study indicated that *P. xylostella* from Andhra Pradesh remain susceptible to spinosad. However, resistance to spinosad occurred in Hawaii (2000), Georgia (2001) and California (2002) as a consequence of multiple years of extensive application. A major reason for the rapid resistance development to spinosad in Hawaii was the lack of suitable alternatives and the unsynchronized use of insecticide classes that led to continuous population exposure to spinosad as it happened in Southeast Asia (Sayyed *et al.* 2003, 2004) and North America (Zhao *et al.* 2002).

The propensity for the selection of spinosad resistance may have arisen from pre - existence of resistance alleles from the past use of organochlorine insecticides as the mode of action of organochlorine and spinosad as GABA/nicotinic acetyl choline receptor as a target (Ortells and Lunt 1995; Massol et al. 2000). However, the possibility of P. xylostella carrying spinosad resistance allele, which may have been introduced from other areas via transportation of cabbage also cannot be ruled out (Khaliq et al. 2007). Our results indicated that Andhra Pradesh populations of P. xylostella were so far susceptible to spinosad. Hence, spinosad can be used commercially as an alternative to particularly those insecticides against which P. xylostella has already developed resistance.

Resistance development in DBM against cartap hydrochloride

The median lethal concentration of 0.01 % for cartap was recorded in the bioassay conducted with DBM larval population from Hyderabad. LC₈₀ obtained was 0.02 % for all three generations of Andhra Pradesh population. The LC₅₀ calculated for Andhra Pradesh population was 0.009 %, 0.011 % and 0.012 % for F_1 , F_2 and F_3 generations, respectively (Table 4).

104

10лісну 0	r cariap nyaroch	ionae io inina insia	<i>iuivu</i> e	<i>oj</i> 1. <i>xy</i> 103	stella in aijjert	eni generanons
Generation	Heterogeneity (X ²)	Regression equation	LC ₅₀ (%)	Fiducial limits	Resistance ratio	Slope <u>+</u> S.E
F ₁	5.981	Y = 10.93 + 2.92x	0.009	0.007 - 0.011	1.00	2.92 ± 0.53
F_2	1.874	Y = 12.95 + 4.04x	0.011	0.008 - 0.013	1.22	4.04 ± 0.81
F ₃	1.924	Y = 13.62 + 4.52x	0.012	0.010 -	1.33	4.52 ± 0.81

 TABLE 4

 Toxicity of cartap hydrochloride to third instar larvae of P. xylostella in different generations

Resistance ratios in DBM population of F_2 and F_3 generations in relation to F_1 generation were 1.22 and 1.33 for Andhra Pradesh population. The results clearly showed that the resistance ratios were more than one in F_3 generation, which indicates that resistance has developed against cartap hydrochloride.

Studies pertaining to resistance development for the *P. xylostella* populations from Andhra Pradesh region showed considerable decrease in susceptibility pattern over the three generations against cartap hydrochloride. The development of resistance to cartap hydrochloride by *P. xylostella* is reported in India (Renuka and Regupathy 1996) and elsewhere globally viz., Japan (Horikiri 1989; Ozawa et al. 1989; Hama et al. 1990), Taiwan (Cheng et al. 1992), China (Chen et al. 1995) and Korea (Cho and Lee 1994). The present study is in accordance with that of Chandrasekharan and Reghupathy (1996) who found resistance levels (expressed as % survival) varied from 17.9 to 52.4 to cartap hydrochloride and Vastrad et al. (2002) who recorded the moderate survival percentage (1.11) of DBM treated with cartap hydrochloride. Sannaveerappanavar and Viraktamath (1997) reported the development of resistance to cartap hydrochloride at recommended field concentrations. The resistance ratio developed by the DBM populations in the present study are in accordance with Branco *et al.* (2002) who obtained resistance ratio in the range of 2.8 to 7.1 for the most resistant strain that received multiple sprays of cartap hydrochloride. Likewise Vastrad *et al.* (2004) documented low to moderate levels of resistance to cartap hydrochloride against DBM populations from 3-12 locations of Karnataka. The results of the present study, by and large, fall in line with those obtained by Joia and Udeaan (1997) who obtained LC₅₀ values 0.015 to 0.020 % with cartap against multi-resistant *P. xylostella* population from Punjab.

Resistance development in DBM against Cry2Ab

The median lethal concentration of 0.3 ppm for Cry2Ab was recorded in the bioassay conducted with DBM larval population from Hyderabad. LC_{80} obtained was 0.4, 0.5, 0.6 ppm in the F_1 , F_2 and F_3 generations, respectively. The LC_{50} calculated for Andhra Pradesh population was 0.178 ppm, 0.239 and 0.353 ppm in F_1 , F_2 and F_3 generations, respectively (Table 5).

Generation	Heterogeneity (X ²)	Regression equation	LC ₅₀ (%)	Fiducial limits	Resistance ratio	Slope ± S.E
\mathbf{F}_{1}	3.559	Y = 6.89 + 2.51x	0.178	0.124 - 0.224	1.00	2.51 ± 0.50
F_2	3.609	Y = 6.94 + 3.12x	0.239	0.162 - 0.290	1.34	3.12 ± 0.71
F ₃	1.933	Y = 7.15 + 4.76x	0.353	0.283 - 0.401	1.98	4.76 ± 0.96

 TABLE 5

 Toxicity of Cry2Ab to third instar larvae of P. xylostella in different generations

Resistance ratios in DBM population of F_2 and F_3 generations in relation to F_1 generation were 1.34 and 1.98 for Andhra Pradesh population. The results clearly showed that in our study population, the resistance ratios were more than one in F_3 generation, which indicates that resistance has already developed against Cry2Ab.

The resistance development in *P. xylostella* populations sampled from Andhra Pradesh gradually increased from F_1 to F_3 generations. In general, the susceptibility of *P. xylostella* to *Bt* strains and their toxins was found to be significantly lower in populations that originated from Southern India followed by those from Western and Northern India

(Mohan and Gujar 2002). This suggests the possibility of DBM adaptation in the populations where Bacillus thuringiensis kurstaki (Btk) formulations are regularly used (Sawant 1998). However, in our studies the susceptibility patterns indicate some changes in susceptibility. This may be due to the fact that baseline susceptibility of local insect populations depend not only on the extent of selection pressure (amount of insecticide used) but also other factors like relative dominance of resistant alleles, level of immigration of susceptible individuals (gene flow), population structure and exposure to the pesticide application pattern. In addition, insect behavior also plays a major role (Roush and Daly 1990). Further studies are required in understanding the mechanism underlying the resistance through reduced binding of Cry toxin to brush border membrane vesicles (BBMV's). Reduced activation of proteases coupled with faster degradation of proteases are already documented to be the resistance mechanism in studies with regards to type of mid-gut proteases involved in activation of Cry toxin.

CONCLUSION

The rate of development of resistance from F_1 to F_3 generations increased against all the test insecticides and Cry toxin, except cypermethrin and spinosad. It can be construed from the current study that spinosad and cypermethrin can still be used as an alternative to particularly those insecticides against which *P. xylostella* has already developed resistance in Andhra Pradesh. However, proper pesticide windows should be adopted while using these pesticides, to avoid the development of resistance eventually.

REFERENCES

- ARORA, R. K., 2003, Baseline susceptibility and quantification of resistance in *Plutella xylostella* (L.) to Cartap hydrochloride. *RPMN*, **13**(1): 13-16.
- ARTHROPOD PESTICIDE RESISTANCE DATABASE (APRD). 2012. Arthropod pesticide resistance database. (http:// www.pesticideresistance.org /*Accessed* Nov 26, 2013).
- BARROGA, S. F. AND MORALLO-REJESUS, B., 1981, Mechanisms of joint action of insecticides on malathion resistant diamondback moth (*Plutella xylostella* L.). *Philippines. Entomol.*, **5**:115-138.
- BRANCO, M. C. AND GATEHOUSE, A. G., 2001, A Survey of Insecticide Susceptibility in *Plutella xylostella* (L.) (Lepidoptera:Yponomeutidae) in the Federal District, Brazil. *Neotrop. Entomol.*, **30**(2):327-332.

- CHANDRASEKARAN, J. AND REGUPATHY, A., 1996, Status of insecticide resistance in field population of diamondback month (DBM). *Plutella xylostella* in Tamil Nadu. *IPM and Sustainable Agriculture- an Entomological Approach.*, **6**: 95-99.
- CHEN, C. N. AND SUN, W. Y., 1986, Resistance of Diamondback moth (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) to a combination of fenvalerate and piperonylbutoxide. *J. Econ. Entomol.*, **79**: 22-30.
- CHEN, Z. H., JIU, Z. H., LI, F. L. AND LIU, C. X., 1995, Development and declining of resistance in diamondback moth, *Plutellaxylostella L.* resistant strains selected by dimehypo and cartap. *Entomol. Sin.*, **21**:345-352.
- CHENG, E. Y., CHOU, T. AND KAO, C., 1985, Insecticide resistance study in *Plutella xylostella* (L.). An experimental analysis of organophosphorus and synthetic pyrethroid resistance. *J. Agric. Res.*, **34**:96-104.
- CHENG, E. Y., KAO, C. H. AND CHUI, C. S., 1992, Resistance, Cross resistance and chemical control of DBM in Taiwan. In: TALEKAR, N.S., Management of Diamondback moth and other crucifer pests. Proceedings of II International Workshop. Tainan, Taiwan. 465-475.
- CHO, Y. S. AND LEE, S. C., 1994, Resistance development and cross resistance of Diamondback moth (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) by single selection for several insecticides. *Korean J. Appl. Entomol.*, 33:242-249.
- CIE, 1967, Distribution maps of Pests, Map No.32 (Revised), *Commonwealth Institute of Entomology*, London, UK.
- DEY, P. K. AND SOMCHOUDHURY, A. K., 2001, Evaluation of spinosyns A+D. (Spinosad 48 SC) against lepidopteran pest complex of cabbage and its effects on natural enemies of diamondback moth under field conditions of W.B. *Pestology.*, **25**: 54-58.
- DHALIWAL, G. S., VIKAS, J. AND DHAWAN, A. K., 2010, Insect Pest Problems and Crop Losses: Changing Trends. *Indian J. Ecol.*, **37**(1): 1-7.
- FINNEY, D. J., 1971, Probit analysis. 3rd Edition. S. Chand & Co. Ltd., New Delhi. 333 pp.
- FISK, T. AND WRIGHT, D. J., 1992, Speed of action and toxicity of acylurea insect growth regulators against *Spodoptera exempta* (Walk.) and *Spodoptera littoralis* (Biosd.) larvae: Effect of inter moult age. *Pestic.Sci.*, **35**:331-337.
- FLEMING, R. AND RATNAKARAN, A., 1985, Evaluating singletreatment data using Abbott's formula

with reference to insecticides. J. Econ. Entomol., **78**:1179-1181.

- FURLONG, M. J., DENIS, W. J AND LLOYD, D. M., 2013, Diamondback moth ecology and management: problems, progress and prospects. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.*, 58:517-541.
- GAMMON, D. W., 1980, Pyrethroid resistance in a strain of *Spodoptera littoralis* is correlated with decreased sensitivity of the CNS *in vitro*. *Pestic*. *Biochem*. *Physiol.*, **13**:53-62.
- HAMA, H., 1989, Annual Meeting of the Japanese Society of Applied Entomology and Zoology. Matsudo.174.
- HAMA, H., SUZUKI, K. AND TANAKA, H., 1990, Annual Meeting of the Japanese Society of Applied Entomology and Zoology. Kyoto. 235.
- HOLDEN, I. S., 1979, Absorption and Metabolism of permethrin and cypermethrin in the cockroach and cotton leaf worm larvae. *Pestic. Sci.*, **10**:295-307.
- HORIKIRI, M., 1989, Control system for diamondback moth. Proc. Assoc. Plant Prot. Kyushu., 35:96-99.
- JOIA, B. S. AND UDEAAN, A. S., 1997, Development of insecticidal resistance in diamondback moth and its management. In: *Proceedings of International conference on Ecology and Agriculture*-Towards sustainable Development. DHALIWAL, G. S., ARORA, R., RANDHAWA, N. S. AND DHAWAN, A. K., (Eds.), Chandigarh. India. pp. 323-328.
- KAO, C. H. AND CHENG, E. Y., 2001, Insecticide resistance in *Plutella xylostella* (L.) resistance to newly introduced insecticides in Taiwan. J. Agric. Res., 50:80-89.
- KHALIQ, A., ATTIQUE, M. N. R. AND SAYYED, A. H. 2007, Evidence for resistance to pyrethroids and organophosphates in *Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera:Plutellidae) from Pakistan. *Bull. Entomol. Res.*, 97:191–200.
- LIU, M. Y., TZENG, Y. J. AND SUN, C. N., 1982, Insecticide resistance in Diamondback moth. *J. Econ. Entomol.*, **75**(1):153-155.
- LIU, M. Y., TZENG, Y. J. AND SUN, C. N., 1981, Diamondback moth resistance to several synthetic pyrethroids. *J. Econ. Entomol.*, **74**:393-396.
- MASSO, L. R. H., ANTOLINNI, S. S. AND BARRANTES, F. J., 2000, Effect of organochlorine insecticides on nicotinic acetyl choline receptor-rich membranes. *Neuropharmacol.*, **39**: 1095-1106.
- MIYATA, T., SAITO, T. AND NOPPUN, V., 1986, Studies on the mechanism of diamondback moth resistance of insecticides. In:Talekar NS (ed.) *Diamondback Moth Management: Proceedings of the First International Workshop*, AVRDC. pp. 347-357.

- MOHAN, M. AND GUJAR, G. T., 2002, Geographic variation in susceptibility of the diamondback moth *Plutella xylostella* (L.) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) to *Bacillus thuriengiensis* spore-crystal mixtures and purified crystal proteins and associated resistance development in India. *Bull. Entomol. Res.*, **92**: 489-498.
- NOPPUN, V., SAITO, T. AND MIYATA, T. 1986, Laboratory selection for resistance with phenthoate and fenvalerate in the Diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* (L.) (Lepidoptera: Yponomeutidae). *Crop Prot.*, **5**: 323-327.
- ORTELLUS, M. O. AND LUNT, G. G., 1995, Evolutionary history of the ligand gated ion channel superfamily of receptors. *Trend. Neurosci.*, **18**: 121-127.
- Ozawa, A., NISHIYAMA, Y., ISHIGAMI, S. AND OISHI, T., 1989, Synergism of mixtures of insecticides against insecticide resistant populations of the diamondback moth, in Shizuoka Prefecture. *Proc Kanto-Tosan Plant Prot.Soc.* Japan. **36**:161-162.
- PEREZ, C. J., ALVARADO, P., NARVAEZ, C., MIRINDA, F., HERNANDEZ, L., VANEGAS, H., HRUSKA AND ANTHONY, M., 2000, Assessment of insecticide resistance in five insect pests attacking field and vegetable crops in Nicaragua. J. Econ. Entomol., 93(6):1779-1787.
- PETER, A. J., SRINIVASAN, K. AND CHELLAIAH, S., 2000, Bio efficacy of spinosad: A new class of insecticide against cabbage pest. *Pest. Manag. Hortic. Ecosyst.*, **6**(1): 40-46.
- RAJU, S. V. S. AND SINGH, H. N.,1995, Resistance levels in the field population of *Plutella xylostella* L. to certain commonly used insecticides. *Indian J. Entomol.*, **57**: 164-166.
- RENUKA, S. AND REGUPATHY, A., 1996, Monitoring of insecticide resistance in diamondback moth in Tamil nadu. *Pestic. Res. J.*, **8**: 168-171.
- ROUSH, R. T. AND DALY, J. C., 1990, The role of population genetics in resistance research and management. In: *Pesticide Resistance in Arthropods* ROUSH, R. T. AND TABASHNIK, B. E., (Eds.), Chapman and Hall, New York, USA., pp. 97–152.
- SANNAVEERAPPANAVAR, V. T., 1995. Studies on insecticidal resistance in the Diamondback moth *Plutellaxylostella* (L.) and strategies for the management. *Ph.D thesis* Univ. of Agril. Sci., Bangalore, pp.123-131.
- SANNAVERAPPANAVAR, V. T AND VIRAKTAMATH, C. A., 1997, Resistance to cartap hydrochloride and *Bacillus* thuringiensis products in diamondback moth. In Souvenir and Abstracts: First national Symposium on pestmanagement in horticultural crops: Environmental implications and thrusts.Bangalore, India. pp. 45.

- SASAKI, Y., 1982, Studies on insecticide resistance of the diamondback moth.In:Results on the pests control studies. In: *Annual report to Japan Plant Protection Association*. pp. 92-102.
- SAWANT, S. W., 1998, Biological Insecticides: Problems and Perspectives. In: National Symposium on Development of Microbial Pesticides and Insect Pest Management, Bhabha Atomic Research Centre, Mumbai and Hindustan Antibiotics Limited, Pune, India.
- SAXENA, J. D., RAI, S., SRIVASTAVA, K. M. AND SINHA, S. R., 1989, Resistance in the field population of the diamondback moth to some commonly used synthetic pyrethroids. *Indian J. Entomol.*, **51**: 265-268.
- SAYYED, A. H., HAWARD, R., HERRERO, S., FERRE, J. AND WRIGHT, D. J., 2000, Genetic and Biochemical approach for charecterisation of resistance to *Bacillus thuringiesis* toxin Cry1 Ac in a field population of the Diamondback moth. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, **66**: 1509-1516.
- SAYYED, A. H., CERDA, H. AND WRIGHT, D. J., 2003, Could *Bt* transgenic crops have nutritionally favourable effects on resistant insects?. *Ecol. Lett.*, **6**: 167-169.
- SAYYED, A. H., OMAR, D. AND WRIGHT, D. J., 2004, Genetics of spinosad resistance in a multi-resistant field selected population of *Plutella xylostella*. *Pest Manag. Sci.*, **60**: 827-832.
- SAYYED, A. H. AND WRIGHT, D. J., 2006, Genetics and evidence for an esterase associated mechanism of resistance to indoxacarb in a field population of diamondback moth (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae). *Pest Manag. Sci.*, **62**:1045-1051.
- SHELTON, A. M., KROENING, M. K., EIGENBRODE, S. D., PETZOLDT, C., HOFFMANN, M. P., WYMAN, J. A., WILSEY, W. T., COOLEY, R. J. AND PEDERSEN, L. H., 1996, Diamondback moth (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) contamination of southern-grown cabbage transplants and the potential for insecticide resistance problems. J. Entomol. Sci., **31**: 347–354.
- Sonoda, S. and Igaki, C., 2010. Characterization of acephate resistance in the diamondback moth *Plutellaxylostella*. *Pestic. Biochem. Physiol.*, **98**(1): 121–127.
- SUDDERUDDIN, K. T. AND KOK, P. F., 1978, Insecticide resistance in *Plutella xylostella* collected from the Cameron highlands of Malaysia. *FAO Plant Prot. Bull.*, pp. 2653-2657.
- TALEKAR, N.S. AND SHELTON A.M., 1993, Biology, Ecology and management of the diamondback moth. *Annu.Rev.Entomol.* 38: 275-301.

- UTHAMASAMY, S., KANNAR, M., SENGUTTUVAN, K. AND JAYAPRAKASH, S.A., 2011, Status, damage potential and management of Diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* (L.) in Tamil Nadu, India. pp. 270-279. In: SRINIVASAN, R., SHELTON, A.M. AND COLLINS, H. L. (Eds.), 2011, Proceedings of the Sixth International Workshop on Management of the Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Insect Pests, 2125 March 2011, Kasetsart University, NakhonPathom, Thailand. AVRDC – The World Vegetable Center, Publication No. 11755. AVRDC – The World Vegetable Center, Taiwan.321 p.
- VADODARIA, M.P., MAUSURIA, I.M., PATEL, R.B., PATEL, C.J. AND PATEL, U. G., 2000, Insect Growth Regulators (IGR) A new tool in the management of *Helicoverpa* on cotton in Gujrat. *Pestology.*, 24: 14.
- VASTRAD, A.S., LINGAPPA, S. AND BASAVANGOUD, K., 2002, Status of insecticide resistance in diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* (L.) (Plutellidae: Lepidoptera) in Karnataka. *Karnataka J. Agric. Sci.*, **15**(2): 379-383.
- VASTRAD, A.S., LINGAPPA, S. AND BASAVANGOUD, K., 2004, Monitoring insecticide resistance in diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* (L.) in Karnataka, India. *RPMN*. **13**(2): 22-34.
- WALKER, G.P., CAMERON, P.J. AND BERRYNA, 2002, Implementing programme for vegetable brassicae in New Zealand. The management of Diamondback moth and other crucifer pests. *Proc.* 4thInt. Workshop, *Melbourne, Australia.* pp. 26-29.
- WANG, X.G. AND WU, Y.D., 2012, High levels of resistance to chlorantraniliprole evolved in field populations of *Plutella xylostella. J. Econ. Entomol.*, **105**: 1019-1023.
- YU, S.J. AND NGUYEN, S.N., 1992, Detection and biochemical characterization of insecticide resistance in the diamondback moth. *Pestic. Biochem. Physiol.*, 44:74-81.
- ZHAO, J.Z., LI, Y.X., COLLINS, H.L., GUSUKUMA-MINUTO, L., MAU, R.F.L., THOMPSON, G.D. AND SHELTON, A.M., 2002, Monitoring and characterization of diamondback moth (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) resistance to spinosad. J. Econ. Entomol., 95: 430– 436.
- ZHAO, J.Z., COLLINS, H.L., LI, X., MAU, R.F.L. AND THOMPSON, G.D., 2006. Monitoring of diamondback moth (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) resistance to spinosad, indoxacarb and emamectin benzoate. J. Econ. Entomol., 99:176-181.

Mutation and Down-Regulation of nAChR-Beta1 Subunit is Associated with Imidacloprid Resistance in the Aphis gossypii

KIM JUIL, CHA DEOK JEA, KWON MIN, KIM GIL-HAH¹, LEE SI HYEOCK²

Highland Agriculture Research Center, NICS, RDA. E-mail: forwweek@korea.kr ¹Department of Plant Medicine, Chungbuk National University. E-mail: khkim@chungbuk.ac.kr ²Department of Agricultural Biotechnology, Seoul National University. E-mail: Shlee22@snu.ac.kr

Abstract

The cotton aphid, *Aphis gossypii* (Glover), is one of the main pests in various vegetable crops due to insecticide resistance in Korea. Neonicotinoid insecticide resistance in *Nilaparvata lugens, Bemisia tabaci* and *Myzus persicae* etc. has been associated with the over-expression of P450, particularly CPY6 family. However, *A. gossypii* is unique case having developed a non-P450 dependent resistance mechanism. Previously we reported that two point mutations (RtoT in nicotinic acetylcholine receptor, nAChR, beta 1 subunit and RtoT with LtoS in a transcript variant) contribute to imidacloprid resistance in *A. gossypii*. We surveyed the mutation(s) in various local field populations. Based on 3D modeling, we hypothesize that RtoT mutation can reduce the imidacloprid sensitivity. Stretch of 33 amino acids was deleted in the N-terminal region of original transcript of nAChR beta 1 subunit original transcript differentially expressed between imidacloprid susceptible and resistant strain (resistant ratio = 3,800). Six alpha subunit (1~5, 7) transcript levels were not significantly different between two strains. Therefore mutation and down-regulation of nAChR beta 1 subunit is also associated with imidacloprid resistance in the *A. gossypii*.

Keywords: Insecticide resistance, nicotinic acetylcholine receptor

THE cotton aphid, *Aphis gossypii* (Glover) (Hemiptera: Aphididae), is one of the most destructive pests in seed potato production and various vegetable cultivation, not only due to direct damage by feeding, but indirectly by virus transmission (Pan *et al.* 2009). Various insecticides, particularly neonicotinoids, have been intensively used to control this pest (Wang *et al.* 2002; Nauen and Elbert 2003; Shi *et al.* 2011).

Imidacloprid, the first marketed neonicotinoid insecticide exhibits strong insecticidal activity against sucking pests such as aphids, whiteflies and plant hoppers, and some coleopteran pests (Nauen and Denholm 2005; Millar and Denholm 2007; Nauen et al. 2008). Neonicotinoids act as agonists at the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor (nAChR), which mediates the signal transmission at cholinergic synapses in insects. Intensive use of imidacloprid has resulted in resistance development in several sucking insect species, including the green peach aphid Myzus persicae (Sulzer), the brown plant hopper Nilaparvata lugens (Stål) and the tobacco whitefly Bemisia tabaci (Gennadius) (Nauen et al. 2002; Foster et al. 2003; Liu et al. 2005; Szendrei et al. 2012). Increased detoxification by overexpressed P450s was responsible for neonicotinoid resistance in B. tabaci, N. lugens and M. persicae (Rauch and Nauen 2003;

Puinean et al. 2010). In addition to the enhanced detoxification by P450s, target site insensitivity mechanism has been reported to be involved in neonicotinoids resistance. nAChR, the target site of neonicotinoids, is a typical member of the cys-loop ligand-gated ion channel superfamily consisting of five subunits (homo- or hetero-pentameric structure) arranged around a central ionophore (Sine and Engel 2006). In insects, about 10 genes are known to encode different subunits of nAChR (Bass et al. 2006; Jones et al. 2005; Jones et al. 2006; Jones and Sattelle 2010). A point mutation (Y151S) in two alpha subunits (Nlá1 and Nlá3) of nAChR was reported to be associated with imidacloprid resistance in a laboratory-selected strain of N. lugens (Liu et al. 2005; Liu et al. 2006; Shao et al. 2011) but it has not been detected in field populations. Later, a novel mutation in the beta subunit of nAChR was found to be involved in imidacloprid resistance in a field population of M. persicae as a major resistance factor (Bass et al. 2011). We investigated the molecular mechanisms of imidacloprid resistance in A. gossypii and found that the same mutation in the beta subunit of nAChR is associated with resistance phenotype as a major factor without P450-mediated detoxification being involved (Koo et al. 2014). However, the R81T mutation was

also detected in relatively low level of resistant populations (Koo *et al.* 2014). Subsequently, additional point mutation was found in nAChR beta subunit variant (Kim *et al.* 2015). Therefore we hypothesized that the R81T mutation is not the single factor which involved in imidacloprid resistance in the *A. gossypii*. And we tried to find other factors such as expression patterns of nAChR could be contributing to the high level of imidacloprid resistance in *A. gossypii*. Here we report the surplus factors which involve in imidacloprid resistance in *A. gossypii*.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Aphid strains and bioassay

The imidacloprid resistant (IR) strain of A. gossypii was initially collected from a hot pepper green house in Daejeon, Korea, in 2010. The IR strain has been maintained and selected by 20 ppm (8% SC) imidacloprid on a regular basis approximately every two weeks in Highland Agriculture Research Institute, Pyeongchang, Korea. The isogenic susceptible (IGS) strain was generated by maintaining a subpopulation of IR (imidacloprid LC₅₀ was about 20 ppm in May, 2011) without any exposure to insecticide for about a year. Another susceptible strain (S) was obtained from Chungbuk National University, Chungju, Korea. These three laboratory strains of A. gossypii were reared on cucumber seedlings (Cucumis sativus) in plastic cages under the conditions of 25 ± 2 °C, 16L: 8D photoperiod, and 50~70% relative humidity. The susceptibility of A. gossypii to insecticides was determined by leaf-disk dipping method. In brief, technical grade imidacloprid (98.5%) was dissolved in distilled water with 0.2% triton X-100 to appropriate concentrations. In order to determine synergistic effects, diluted imidacloprid was combined with the same concentration and volume of three synergists; piperonyl butoxide (PBO, 98%), s,s,stributylphosphorotrithioate (DEF, 98%) and diethyl maleate (DEM, 98%). Cucumber leaf disks (5.5 cm diameter) were dipped into the test solution for 1 min and dried in a fume hood. The dried leaf disk was transferred onto a petri-dish, to which 10 adults were infested. Three replicates were used for each concentration tested and mortalities were recorded at 72 h post-treatment. LC_{50} value was estimated by probit analysis using SAS software (SAS institute 2009).

Protein preparation and two-dimensional electrophoresis (2DE)

Protein was extracted from 500 mg of wingless adult aphids of each strain. Each aphid sample was homogenized with 2DE rehydration buffer (7 M urea, 2 M thiourea, 4% CHAPS, 2.5% dithiothreitol, 10% isopropanol, 5% glycerol) using a glass-glass tissue grinder on ice. The resulting supernatant was purified using 2-D clean-up kit (Amersham Bioscience, Piscataway, NJ, USA) based on the manufacturer's protocol. For the first dimensional IEF, pH 3-10 IEF gel strips (7cm) were rehydrated overnight at room temperature after loading of 120µg of protein. Prior to the second dimensional SDS-PAGE, the IEF gels were equilibrated for 30min with shaking in equilibration solution (6 M urea, 2% SDS, 375 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.8, 20 % glycerol and 2.5 % acrylamide) for the reduction of proteins. Each protein-separated IEF gel strip was loaded vertically onto the top of an 8-16 % gradient gel lacking the stacking layer. SDS-PAGE was performed at a constant power of 120V / gel. Gels were stained by coomassie blue G-250 and then distained by distilled water overnight. Images of the stained gels were scanned with densitometer. Analysis of the relative expression pattern of 2DE gels was performed with Melanie programs (Geneva bioinformatics, GenBio, S.A., Geneva, Switzerland). 2DE analysis was replicated three times.

Native IEF

Enzyme was extracted from the 100mg of wingless adult aphids of each strain as well as susceptible and multi-resistant strain of *M. persicae* which used as internal control (Kim *et al.* 2014). Each sample was homogenized with 100 mM Tris-HCl (pH. 7.8) buffer using the glass-glass tissue grinder on ice. The supernatant was transfer a column (Qiagen, Valencia, CA, USA) and centrifuged at $5,000 \times g$ for 5 min at 4 °C to remove the lipid and remained cell debris. Protein concentration was determined according to the method of Bradford (1976) using the bovine serum albumin as a standard protein. Native IEF was performed in a vertical electrophoresis unit (Novex® mini cell, Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) by using the pH. $3\sim7$ pre-cast IEF gel (Invitrogen).

Equal amount (10 μ g) of the preparations and 10 μ g of pI marker (Sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA) were focused at 100 V for 1 h, 200 V for 1 h and 500 V for 30 min in a buffer system of Cathode buffer (20 mM Lysine, 20mM Arginine, Invitrogen) and IEF Anode buffer (7 mM Phosphoric acid, Invitrogen). Following the focusing, the gel was activity-stained to visualize esterase bands incubated with 1mM alpha naphthyl acetate (á-NA), butyrate (á-NB), propionate (á-NP), valerate (á-NV) as substrates in esterase.

Mutation survey in nAChR subunit genes, Transcriptome analysis and 3D structure modeling

Total RNA was isolated from about 500mg of adults of IGS and IR strains using Trizol according to the manufacturer's protocol (MRC, Cincinnati, OH, USA). The whole transcriptome shotgun sequencing (RNA seq) was performed at Macrogen Inc. (Seoul, South Korea) using the GS-FLX sequencer (Roche, Basel, Switzerland) with titanium chemistry following the GS-FLX manual. The adapter and primer sequences were removed and the A. gossypii transcriptome was assembled using the GS de novo assembler (Newbler v 2.6). All the contigs and singletons obtained were analyzed using the mega BLAST or BLASTn for more information. For comparative transcriptome analysis between IRS and IR strains, all contigs were mapped on Acyrthosiphon pisum genome database (Acyr_2.0). Following the pyrosequencing, assembly and annotation, nAChR subunit gene sequences were obtained. To acquire fulllength sequences of each nAChR subunit gene, rapid amplification of cDNA ends (RACE) was carried out using the 5'-full core set (TaKaRa, Shiga, Japan) with some modification in cDNA synthesis. Total RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis steps were almost same with previously described (Koo et al. 2014). After preparing the cDNA samples from three strains, mutation survey and quantitative real-time PCR (qrtPCR) were performed using suitable primer sets (Table 1) with KOD polymerase (TOYOBO, Osaka, Japan) and SYBR qPCR mix (TOYOBO), respectively.

The 3D structure of nAChR created by the automated and aligned comparative protein modelling program of Swiss model server (http://swissmodel.expasy.org/) and modelling was performed by UCSF Chimera an extensible molecular modeling system v. 1.8.1 (University of California, San Francisco, CA, USA).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Bioassay and synergist test

The IR and IGS strains exhibited 3,856 and 15 folds resistance to imidacloprid compared to the S strain, respectively, as determined by LC_{50} values (Table 2). When compared to the IGS strain, an isogenic strain to IR the resistance level of IR was 257 folds. In the synergistic bioassay, no significant synergistic effects were observed in any of the synergist tested, suggesting that metabolic factors mediated by P450, esterase or GST are not likely involved in resistance.

Comparison of transcriptome and proteome profiles

Following the transcriptome analysis using genome sequencer FLX titanium (GS-FLX), a total of 293,303,458 bases (710,636 reads) and 290,745,940 bases (700,417 reads) were obtained from the IR and IGS strains, respectively. After contig assembly, 18,124 contigs were produced and mapped to the A. pisum genome database (Acyr_2.0). Among the contigs, 12,389 genes had matches to the A. pisum database. To avoid false-positive contigs, mapped genes were selected from contigs with more than 30 reads in a strain. Overall expression levels of several housekeeping genes, such as actin, tubulin and ribosomal protein 3 (RPS3), were almost the same as calculated by number of reads, indicating that the quality of RNA seq data were reliable (Kim et al. 2015). When compared the transcription levels of several gene families that are associated with metabolic resistance, such as P450, esterase, GST, ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporter, and UDPglucuronosyltransferase (UGT), no significant differences between the IR and IGS strains were noticed in the majority of genes except for a few cases. All other P450 genes, including CYP6 subfamily that is known as one of the main factors in imidacloprid resistance in N. lugens (CYP6ER1), B. tabaci (CYP6CM1) and M. persicae (CYP6CY3) (Puinean et al. 2010; Karunker et al. 2008; Bass et al. 2011), exhibited no apparent difference in their transcription levels between IR and IGS strains. In particular, both IR and IGS strain showed almost the same level of transcription in the 6a13-like and 6a14like P450 genes, which are highly homologous to M. persicae CYP6CY3 that functions as a main detoxification factor in imidacloprid resistance

(Puinean et al. 2010; Bass et al. 2013). These findings suggest that P450 is not likely involved in imidacloprid resistance in IR strain, as did the synergist test results. To confirm the transcriptome analysis, five main CYP6 subfamily genes were checked in IR and IGS strains using qrtPCR (Fig. 1). However, the result was same. In case of the esterase family, FE4-like (LOC100163252) genes were mainly expressed in both strains and their transcription levels were almost alike. Although Wang et al. (2002) reported that esterase could be involved in the low levels of imidacloprid resistance and esterase can function as non-specific sequestration protein against imidacloprid (Philippou et al. 2010), our results suggest that esterase was not mainly associated with imidacloprid resistance in IR strain (Fig. 2). The esterase isozyme banding patterns and their intensities were almost identical between the S and IR strain in all tested model substrates (Figure 2). Only we confirmed the differences between S and MR strain from M. persicae as previously reported (Kim et al. 2014). The transcription levels of the GST and ABC transporter gene families were almost identical between the two strains. The UGT was reported to be an important detoxification enzyme, functioning as an insecticide resistance factor (Ahn et al. 2012). But UGT genes were transcribed in both strains at almost the same level. Taken together with synergistic bioassay results, detoxification factors are not likely involved in imidacloprid resistance in IR strain. Proteome profiles based on 2DE were also compared between the two strains (Fig. 3). 706 and 751 protein spots were detected in IGS and IR, respectively. Even though there was some replication variation, overall protein expression patterns were almost identical and no protein spots with differential expression level were detected. This finding confirms the whole transcriptome profiling results showing that the metabolic resistance mechanisms mediated by up or down-regulation of detoxification proteins is not responsible for imidacloprid resistance in IR strain. It further suggests that the target site insensitivity factor caused by the alteration of nAChR may be the major factor conferring imidacloprid resistance in IR strain of A. gossypii.

Two Mutations in nAChR subunit genes and down regulation putatively associated with imidacloprid resistance

Seven nAChR subunit genes (alpha 1~5, 7 and beta 1) were retrieved from the GS-FLX database of

A. gossypii. The partial beta 1 subunit variant fragment was adventitiously amplified with that of original fragment in CA-GPA_b1-F, R primer sets (Fig. 4A and B). After qrtPCR, approximate transcript levels were compared via gel electrophoresis (Fig. 4B). Even though a smaller amount of transcript was expressed than that of original, the beta 1 subunit variant was expressed in all three strains. The genomic DNA sequences of original beta 1 subunit and its variant remains to be elucidated. Down regulation was detected in IR strain (Fig. 4C). Cross-comparison of all A. gossypii nAChR subunit gene sequences among three strains revealed that no non-silent mutations were found in alpha 1~5 and 7 subunit genes from IR strain. Non-silent mutations were detected in only beta 1 subunit (Fig. 4D). The R81T mutation was previously reported to be responsible for reduced sensitivity of nAChR to imidacloprid, thereby conferring resistance in M. persicae. Considering that the amino acid sequence identity of beta subunit between M. persicae and A. gossypii is extremely high (99.2%), the function of R81T mutation as a resistance factor is most likely conserved between these two aphid species.

Novel transcript variant of beta 1 subunit (KJ000006) was observed in all the three A. gossypii strains examined. The beta 1 subunit variant showed a 141-bp deletion in the N terminal region (Fig. 5A and B). Nevertheless, since the deletion in the Nterminus did not impair the conserved Loop D domain and all other critical domains were still retained, the truncated beta 1 variant is likely functional (Fig. 5B). We hypothesized that partial sequence of beta 1 subunit was truncated after a duplication event. Based on 3D modeling results, the R81T mutation could contribute to insensitive against imidacloprid (Fig. 5C and D). Interestingly, an additional point mutation, L80S (leucine to serine substitution, T to C), was detected in the beta 1 subunit variant and it was only found in IR strain but not in either IGS or S strain (Fig. 4D). Although the transcription level of the beta 1 subunit variant was significantly less than that of main transcript (Fig. 4C), the L80S mutation appears to function as an additional resistance factor in that its location is right next to the R81T mutation site within the loop D, which is crucial for ligand binding, and the leucine-to-serine substitution, which results in the conversion of polarity at the site, likely causes a dramatic functional alteration of beta subunit (Fig.5). However, more detailed investigation would be

112

required to confirm the functional role of this mutation in imidacloprid resistance. Since these two mutations were not found in IGS strain that had been generated from IR strain by being maintained without imidacloprid selection for about a year, they appear to be unstable in the absence of imidacloprid selection pressure. These two mutations are strongly linked to imidacloprid resistance phenotype, and could be utilized as molecular markers for the detection of imidacloprid resistance in field populations of *A. gossypii*.

CONCLUSION

A. gossypii has its own imidacloprid resistance mechanism; p450 independent and appears to involve two point mutations with down regulation of nAChR beta 1 subunit.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This work was carried out with the support of Cooperative Research Program for Agriculture Science & Technology Development (Project title: Development of environment-friendly management model against pests of potatoes and cabbage at highland, Project No. PJ011278) Rural Development Administration, Republic of Korea. Some of tables and figures were modified from Kim *et al.* 2015.

References

- AHN, S.J., VOGEL, H. AND HECKEL, D.G., 2012, Comparative analysis of the UDP-glycosyltransferase multigene family in insects. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* **42**: 133-47.
- BASS, C., CARVALHO, R. A., OLIPHANT, L., PUINEAN, A. M., FIELD, L. M., NAUEN R, WILLIAMSON, M. S., MOORES, G. AND GORMAN, K., 2011, Overexpression of a cytochrome P450 monooxygenase, CYP6ER1, is associated with resistance to imidacloprid in the brown planthopper, *Nilaparvata lugens*. *Insect Mol. Biol.* 20: 763-73.
- BASS, C., LANSDELL, S. J., MILLAR, N.S., SCHROEDER, I., TURBERG, A., FIELD, L. M. AND WILLIAMSON, M. S., 2006, Molecular characterisation of nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunits from the cat flea, *Ctenocephalides felis* (Siphonaptera: Pulicidae). *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 36: 86-96.
- BASS, C., ZIMMER, C. T., RIVERON, J. M., WILDING, C. S., WONDJI, C. S., KAUSSMANN, M., FIELD, L. M., WILLIAMSON, M. S. AND NAUEN, R., 2013, Gene amplification and microsatellite polymorphism

underlie a recent insect host shift. *Proc. Natl. Acad.* Sci. USA. **110**: 19460-19465.

- BASS, C., PUINEAN, A. M., ANDREWS, M., CUTLER, P., DANIELS, M., ELIAS, J., PAUL, V. L., CROSSTHWATIE, A. J., DENHOLM, I., FIELD, L. M., FOSTER, S. P., LIND, R., WILLIAMSON, M. S. AND SLATER, R., 2011, Mutation of a nicotinic acetylcholine receptor b subunit is associated with resistance to neonicotinoid insecticides on the aphid *Myzus persicae*. *BMC Neurosci.* 12: 51.
- FENG, Y., WU, Q., WANG, S., CHANG, X., XIE, W., XU, B. AND ZHANG, Y., 2010, Cross-resistance study and biochemical mechanisms of thiamethoxam resistance in B-biotype *Bemisia tabaci* (Hemiptera: Aleyrodidae). *Pest Manag. Sci.* 66: 313-318.
- FOSTER, S. P., DENHOLM, I. AND THOMPSON, R., 2003, Variation in response to neonicotinoid insecticides in peach-potato aphids, *Myzus persicae* (Hemiptera: Aphididae). *Pest Manag. Sci.* **59**: 166-173.
- JONES, A. K., GRAUSO, M. AND SATTELLE, D. B., 2005, The nicotinic acetylcholine receptor gene family of the malaria mosquito, *Anopheles gambiae*. *Genomics*. **85**: 176-187.
- JONES, A. K., RAYMOND-DELPECH, V., THANY, S. H., GAUTHIER, M. AND SATTELLE, D. B., 2006, The nicotinic acetylcholine receptor gene family of the honey bee, *Apis mellifera*. *Genome Res.* **16**: 1422-1430.
- JONES, A. K. AND SATTELLE, D. B., 2010, Diversity of insect nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunits. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* **683**: 25-43.
- KARUNKER, I., BENTING, J., LUEKE, B., PONGE, T., NAUEN, R., RODITAKIS, E., VONTAS, J., GORMAN, K., DENHOLM, I. AND MORIN, S., 2008, Over-expression of cytochrome P450 CYP6CM1 is associated with high resistance to imidacloprid in the B and Q biotypes of *Bemisia* tabaci (Hemiptera: Aleyrodidae). Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 38: 634-644.
- KIM, J. I., KWON, M., SHIM, J.D., KIM, J. S., LEE, Y. G., JEE, S. N., LEE, J. T., RYU, J. S., YOO, D. L. AND LEE, G. J., 2014, Selection of Insecticide Resistance Markers in Field-collected Populations of *Myzus persicae*. Kor. J. Appl. Entomol. 53: 149-156.
- KIM, J. I., KWON, M., KIM, G. H., KIM, S. Y. AND LEE, S. H., 2015, Two mutations in nAChR beta subunit is associated with imidacloprid resistance in the *Aphis* gossypii. J. Asia-Pac. Entomol. 18: 291-296.
- Koo, H. N., AN, J. J., PARK, S. E., KIM, J. I. AND KIM, G. H., 2014, Regional susceptibilities to 12 insecticides of melon and cotton aphid, *Aphis gossypii* (Hemiptera: Aphididae) and a point mutation associated with imidacloprid resistance. *Crop Prot.* 55: 91-97.

- LIU, Z., WILLIAMSON, M. S., LANSDELL, S. J., DENHOLM, I., HAN, Z. AND MILLAR, N. S., 2005, A nicotinic acetylcholine receptor mutation conferring target-site resistance to imidacloprid in *Nilaparvata lugens* (brown planthopper). *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* **102**: 8420-8425.
- LIU, Z., WILLIAMSON, M. S., LANSDELL, S. J., HAN, Z., DENHOLM, I. AND MILLAR, N. S., 2006, A nicotinic acetylcholine receptor mutation (Y151S) causes reduced agonist potency to a range of neonicotinoid insecticides. J. Neurochem. 99: 1273-1281.
- MILLAR, N. S. AND DENHOLM, I., 2007, Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors: targets for commercially important insecticides. *Invert. Neurosci.* **7**: 53-66.
- NAUEN, R. AND DENHOLM, I., 2005, Resistance of insect pests to neonicotinoid insecticides: current status and future prospects. *Arch. Insect Biochem. Physiol.* **58**: 200-215.
- NAUEN, R. AND ELBERT, A., 2003, European monitoring of resistance to insecticides in *Myzus persicae* and *Aphis gossypii* (Hemiptera: Aphididae) with special reference to imidacloprid. *Bull. Entomol. Res.* **93**: 47-54.
- NAUEN, R., JESCHKE, P. AND COPPING, L., 2008, In Focus: neonicotinoid insecticides. *Pest Manag. Sci.* 64: 1081.
- NAUEN, R., STUMPF, N. AND ELBERT, A., 2002, Toxicological and mechanistic studies on neonicotinoid cross resistance in Q-type *Bemisia tabaci* (Hemiptera: Aleyrodidae). *Pest Manag. Sci.* **58**: 868-875.
- PAN, Y., GUO, H. AND GAO, X., 2009, Carboxylesterase activity, cDNA sequence, and gene expression in malathion susceptible and resistant strains of the cotton aphid, *Aphis gossypii. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B. Biochem. Mol. Biol.* **152**: 266-270.

- PHILIPPOU, D., FIELD, L. AND MOORES, G., 2010, Metabolic enzyme(s) confer imidacloprid resistance in a clone of *Myzus persicae* (Sulzer) (Hemiptera: Aphididae) from Greece. *Pest Manag. Sci.* **66**: 390-395.
- PUINEAN, A. M., FOSTER, S. P., OLIPHANT, L., DENHOLM, I., FIELD, L. M., MILLAR, N. S., WILLIAMSON, M. S. AND BASS, C., 2010, Amplification of a cytochrome P450 gene is associated with resistance to neonicotinoid insecticides in the aphid *Myzus persicae*. *PLoS. Genet.* 6: e1000999.
- RAUCH, N. AND NAUEN, R., 2003, Identification of biochemical markers linked to neonicotinoid cross resistance in *Bemisia tabaci* (Hemiptera: Aleyrodidae). *Arch. Insect Biochem. Physiol.* 54: 165-176.
- SHAO, X., LU, H., BAO, H., XU, X., LIU, Z. AND LI, Z., 2011, The mode of action of a nitroconjugated neonicotinoid and the effects of target site mutation Y151S on its potency. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* **41**: 440-445.
- SHI, X., JIANG, L., WANG, H., QIAO, K., WANG, D. AND WANG, K., 2011, Toxicities and sublethal effects of seven neonicotinoid insecticides on survival, growth and reproduction of imidacloprid-resistant cotton aphid, *Aphis gossypii. Pest Manag. Sci.* 67: 1528-1533.
- SINE, S. M. AND ENGEL, A. G., 2006, Recent advances in Cys-loop receptor structure and function. *Nature*. **440**: 448-455.
- SZENDREI, Z., GRAFIUS, E., BYRNE, A. AND ZIEGLER, A., 2012, Resistance to neonicotinoid insecticides in field populations of the Colorado potato beetle (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae). *Pest Manag. Sci.* 68: 941-946.
- WANG, K. Y., LIU, T. X., YU, C. H., JIANG, X.Y. AND YI, M. Q., 2002, Resistance of *Aphis gossypii* (Homoptera: Aphididae) to fenvalerate and imidacloprid and activities of detoxification enzymes on cotton and cucumber. *J. Econ. Entomol.* **95**: 407-413.

Session 5

Biology and non-chemical methods of management of diamondback moth and other crucifer pests

Biological Control of Diamondback Moth in A Climate of Change

M.J. FURLONG, M.P. ZALUCKI¹, A. SHABBIR² AND D.C. ADAMSON³

School of Biological Sciences, The University of Queensland, Brisbane, Australia, 4072. E-mail: m.furlong@uq.edu.au
 ¹School of Biological Sciences, The University of Queensland, Brisbane, Australia, 4072. E-mail: m.zalucki@uq.edu.au
 ²University of The Punjab,Quaid-E-Azam Campus, Lahore, Pakistan, 54590. E-mail:asad.iags@pu.edu.pk
 ³School of Biological Sciences, The University of Queensland, Brisbane, Australia, 4072. E-mail: d.adamson@uq.edu.au

Abstract

We have developed a CLIMEX model that describes the potential worldwide distribution of the diamondback moth (DBM) and also identifies regions where seasonal outbreaks of the pest could occur where it cannot persist year-round. IPM programs have been developed but the pest is still estimated to cost the world economy US\$ 4-5 billion per annum. In parts of Southeast Asia, India, China, the Philippines, New Zealand and Australia biological control programs have established the Palearctic endo-larval parasitoid *Diadegma semiclausum* Hellén (Hymenoptera: Ichneumonidae) and it can make a significant contribution to IPM strategies if insecticide use is managed appropriately. Here we outline a CLIMEX model for *D. semiclausum* that describes its spatial and temporal distributions in areas where it has become established. We combine the CLIMEX models to investigate the possible impact of predicted climate change on the interactions between DBM and *D. semiclausum* at selected sites where the introduced parasitoid has become an important natural enemy of DBM. We then examine in detail the changes in growth indices for DBM and *D. semiclausum* that are predicted to occur across Australia as a consequence of climate change by 2070 and show that the host-parasitoid relationship is likely to be severely disrupted in some key vegetable growing regions. Finally we use measured levels of DBM population suppression by *D. semiclausum* in the region and the likely costs of predicted climate change for DBM management.

Keywords: CLIMEX, Diadegma semiclausum, economic value of biological control, climate change

APPROACHES to diamondback moth (DBM) management that rely on insecticides as the principal control tactic inevitably result in failure (Furlong et al. 2013) and integrated strategies for the sustainable management of the pest have been central to research for decades (Talekar and Shelton 1993; Grzywacz et al. 2010). Fundamental to all of these programs are the conservation of natural enemies, frequent pest and natural enemy sampling and threshold-directed interventions with selective insecticides, particularly Bt (Sivapragasam 2004; Furlong et al. 2008; Shepard et al. 2009). The benefits of IPM adoption can include greater profits and yields, reduced input costs and reduced exposure of farmworkers and the environment to hazardous broad-spectrum insecticides (Sivapragasam 2004; Furlong et al. 2008).

The solitary endo-larval DBM parasitoid *Diadegma semiclausum* (Hellén) (Hymenoptera: Ichneumonidae) has been widely introduced as a classical biological control agent of DBM and in much of East, South and Southeast Asia, Australia and New Zealand it is a key component of the IPM programs that have been developed. The populations of the parasitoid that have been established can all be ultimately traced back to the north of England in the

United Kingdom where D. semiclausum and D. fenestrale (Holmgren) were collected from the field to initiate a mass rearing program for shipment to New Zealand in 1936 (Hardy 1938). Diadegma semiclausum and D. fenestrale can interbreed and Hardy (1938) noted that hybrid progeny exhibit morphological characteristics intermediate between the two species. However, D. fenestrale, for which Cnephasia stephensiana (Doubleday) (Lepidoptera: Tortricidae) is probably the main host (Fitton and Walker 1992), died out rapidly in culture and it is not clear what impact any hybrids between the two species had on the gene pool of the population that established in New Zealand. Similarly, the effects of hybridization between the introduced material and the native species *Diadegma novaezealandiae* (Azidah et al. 2000) have not been investigated. These issues notwithstanding, material subsequently collected from New Zealand has been directly introduced into Indonesia (Vos 1953), Australia (Wilson 1960), and Malaysia (Ooi 1992) where populations confirmed as D. semiclausum (Azidah et al. 2000) have established. In the 1980s the parasitoid was imported from Indonesia and established in Taiwan (Talekar et al. 1992), providing material for subsequent successful

introductions into the Philippines (Ventura 1997), India (Chandramohan 1994), Laos, Vietnam, China (Talekar 2004), and Kenya (Löhr et al. 2008). In 2005, D. semiclausum from Malaysia successfully established in the highland regions of Thailand (Upanisakorn et al. 2011). Hence, the provenance of the D. semiclausum populations that have established throughout South, Southeast and East Asia, Australasia, and parts of Africa is clear and well documented; all ultimately originate, via New Zealand, from the collections in the United Kingdom (Hardy 1938). As previously suggested (Fitton and Walker 1992), comparative studies between D. semiclausum material collected from New Zealand, the United Kingdom, continental Europe and the regions in which classical biological control programs have established the parasitoid would be instructive. Such studies could shed light on the genetic diversity of the various populations that are now established and would offer the possibility of identifying "biotypes" with improved characteristics for biological control. The recent report of a D. semiclausum population from Syria that might exhibit greater tolerance to higher temperatures than those typically endured by the introduced D. semiclausum populations studied to date (Kadirvel et al. 2011) make this an exciting proposition.

Studies on the effects of temperature on D. semiclausum populations introduced for biological control have been limited, but those that have been conducted indicate that the parasitoid does not perform well at temperatures 25°C (e.g. Talekar and Yang 1991; Dosdall et al. 2012). In the tropics the introduced populations persist in apparent isolation in the highland regions into which they were introduced while in the subtropics populations are typically highly seasonal (e.g., Furlong et al. 2004a). Here we describe a CLIMEX model for D. semiclausum that is based on both published data and previously unpublished data from investigations into the thermal requirements of a population of D. semiclausum collected from southeast Queensland, Australia. We link the model to a previously published CLIMEX model for DBM (Zalucki and Furlong 2011). We then use the models to investigate the current interactions between the pest and its parasitoid and consider the possible impact of predicted climate change on the relationship in selected regions where introduced *D*. *semiclausum* is an important component of IPM programs.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Model description

We have previously described a CLIMEX model for DBM (Zalucki and Furlong 2008, 2011; Li et al. 2012). Here we summarize a CLIMEX model for *D. semiclausum* (Table 1) that was developed using a very similar approach. Most of the temperature related parameters for the *D. semiclausum* model were taken from Dosdall et al. (2012), while others were obtained from previously unpublished data. Unknown or poorly measured values were estimated by an iterative procedure in which the predicted distribution was compared with actual distributions and parameter values adjusted accordingly (see Zalucki and Furlong 2011).

Investigating the impact of predicted climate change

The possible impact of predicted climate change on the spatial and temporal distributions of DBM and *D. semiclausum* was investigated by running the CLIMEX models using the "CliMond" set of interpolated climate surfaces (30' resolution) for 2070 (Kriticos et al. 2012). The climate change surfaces provided by CliMond have been generated by integrating selected global climate models with plausible future greenhouse gas emission scenarios given current trends (Kriticos et al. 2012); the climate change surfaces can be downloaded from http:// www.climond.org free of charge.

Estimating the economic impact of disruption of the DBM-D. semiclausum relationship in southeast Queensland, Australia

Previous research in southeast Queensland shows that an IPM program based on the strategic application of Bt can reduce the number of insecticide applications from an average of 8 crop⁻¹ in conventionally managed crops to an average of 4 crop⁻¹ in IPM managed crops (Furlong et al. 2004a). In IPM managed crops endemic natural enemies have a significantly greater impact on pest DBM populations than in conventionally managed crops (Furlong *et al.* 2004a, 2004b). We used the cost of insecticides in the different management scenarios to determine the economic "value" of natural enemies by subtracting the average cost of Bt applications made to a crop in the IPM strategy from the average cost of insecticide applications made to a crop in the conventional strategy; see Furlong *et al.* (2004a) for details of insecticides used. We used data from detailed lifetables for DBM in *Brassica* crops in southeastern Queensland in 2011-2012 (Murtiningsih 2015) to estimate the impact of *D. semiclausum* on DBM populations relative to that of other natural enemies in order to estimate the economic "value" of *D. semiclausum*.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Investigating the impact of predicted climate change

Based on the model parameters (Table 1), the predicted worldwide distribution for DBM, plotted as

the eco-climatic index (EI) (Figure 1a), is consistent with its known worldwide distribution (see Zalucki and Furlong 2011). Similarly, the model predictions for regions suitable for the persistence of *D. semiclausum* (Figure 1c) are consistent with the regions where classical biological control programs have been successful, e.g. highlands of Kenya, highlands of southern India, highland regions in Southeast Asia, Taiwan, southern and eastern China, highland regions of Papua New Guinea, eastern and southern Australia and New Zealand (Figure 1c). Note that *D. semiclausum* is not established in any parts of the Americas, despite climatic suitability in large areas of both continents (Figure 1c).

When driven by the CliMond climate surfaces, the CLIMEX model predicts that the suitability of much of the Earth's terrestrial surface for DBM persistence will change greatly by 2070 (cf. Figures TABLE 1a and 1c).

Climex parameter values used to generate (DBM) and D. semiclausum spatial and temporal distributions

			Value	
Limiting process	Parameter	Definition	DBM ¹	D. semiclausum
Temperature	DV0	Lower temp threshold (°C)	7	5.9
	DV1	Lower optimal temp (°C)	14	14
	DV2	Upper optimal temp (°C)	28	23
	DV3	Upper temp threshold (°C)	38	30
Moisture	SM0	Lower soil moisture threshold (%)	0.05	0.05
	SM1	Lower optimal soil moisture (%)	0.5	1
	SM2	Upper optimal soil moisture (%)	1.25	1.5
	SM3	Upper soil moisture threshold (%)	1.75	2.5
Stresses				
Cold (CS)	TTCS	Temp threshold at which CS accumulates (°C)	4	4
	THCS	Rate at which CS accumulates below TTCS (°C ⁻¹ d ⁻¹)	-0.0005	-0.0001
Heat (HS)	TTHS	Temp threshold at which HS accumulates (°C)	38	30
	THHS	Rate at which HS accumulates above TTHS (°C ⁻¹ d ⁻¹)	0.001	0.005
Dry (DS)	SMDS	Soil moisture threshold at which DS accumulates (%)	0.05	0.05
	HDS	Rate at which DS accumulates above SMDS (d-1)	-0.005	-0.005
Wet (WS)	SMWS	Soil moisture threshold at which WS accumulates (%)	1.75	2.5
	HWS	Rate at which WS accumulates above SMWS (d ⁻¹)	0.05	0.002
	PDD	Number of Degree days (DD) >DV to complete development	268	

¹See Zalucki and Furlong (2008, 2011) and Li et al. (2012).



a) DBM: Eco-climatic Index 2015

b) DBM: Eco-climate Index 2070

a) DBM: Eco-climatic Index 2015

c) D. semiclausum: Eco-climate Index 2015







c) D. semiclausum: Eco-climate Index 2015



Figure 1

Predicted worldwide distributions for DBM and D. semiclausum based on eco-climatic indices (EI) for a) DBM currently b) DBM in 2070 c) D. semiclausum currently and d) D. semiclausum in 2070

a) Current and predicted (2070) relationships: southest Queensland



b) Current and predicted (2070) relationships: Cameron Highlands



a) Current and predicted (2070) relationships: southest Queensland



b) Current and predicted (2070) relationships: Cameron Highlands



c) Current and predicted (2070) relationships: Lembang, West Java



d) Current and predicted (2070) relationships Kodaikanal



c) Current and predicted (2070) relationships:



d) Current and predicted (2070) relationships



Figure 2

Predicted seasonal phenologies for DBM and D. semiclausumbased on growth indices (GI) at four locations where classical biological control programs have established introduced D. semiclausum populations. Predicted current and 2070 weekly GIs for DBM and D. semiclausum in a) Gatton, southeast Queensland, Australia b) Tanah Rata, Cameron Highlands, Malaysiac) Lembang, West Java, Indonesia and d) Kodaikanal, Tamil Nadu, India

Much of South, East and Southeast Asia will become markedly less suitable for the pest, as will much of sub-Saharan Africa, northern regions of South America and inland regions eastern of Australia. However, changes are likely to be less pronounced in Europe, where northern expansion into the Iberian Peninsula is predicted, and in North America, where a similar slight northern expansion from the current distribution is to be expected. By 2070, the effect of predicted climate change on D. semiclausum populations established for classical biological control is likely to be more pronounced (cf. Figures 1c and 1d); regions in East Africa, China, Southeast Asia and eastern Australia with climate suitable for the persistence of D. semiclausum will contract markedly (Figure 1d).

At four locations where *D. semiclausum* has been established for DBM biological control investigation of current predicted weekly growth indices and those predicted by 2070 indicate that the suitability of all locations will change for both the pest and its parasitoid over time (Figure 2). While the conditions at two locations (southeast Queensland, Australia and Kodaikanal, Tamil Nadu, India) are predicted to become less suitable for DBM by 2070, those at the other locations are predicted to change little, or to increase in suitability (Figure 2). Conversely, the suitability of conditions for D. semiclausum is predicted to decline, but to varying degrees, at all sites. In southeast Queensland, Australia, it is predicted that conditions will change such that the region will be much less suitable for both DBM and D. semiclausum (Figure 2a), however the change is likely to have a greater impact on D. semiclausum (current annual GI= 23, 2070 GI= 6 [3.8-fold decline]) than on DBM (current GI= 52, 2070 GI= 20 [2.6-fold decline]) (Figure 2a). In the Cameron Highlands, Malaysia, conditions are predicted to become marginally more suitable for DBM (current GI= 46, 2070 GI= 56 [1.2-fold increase]) but less suitable for D. semiclausum (current annual GI= 45, 2070 GI= 27 [1.7-fold decline]) (Figure 2b). Conditions in West Java, Indonesia are also predicted to improve suitability marginally for DBM (current GI= 36, 2070 GI= 41 [1.1-fold increase]) but to decline more substantially for *D. semiclausum* (current annual GI= 26, 2070 GI= 11 [2.4-fold decline]) (Figure 2c). In Kodaikanal, Tamil Nadu, India conditions are predicted to decrease the suitability for DBM slightly (current annual GI= 73, 2070 GI= 64 [1.1-fold decline]) but have a greater impact on the suitability for D. semiclausum (current annual GI= 71, 2070 GI= 50 [1.4-fold decline]) (Figure 2d).

In order to understand the possible impact that the predicted effects of climate change might have on the relationship between DBM and D. semiclausum across Australia, we compared the current differences between the GIs for DBM and *D. semiclausum* across the continent with the differences predicted for 2070 (Figure 3a). Linear regression of the current differences in GIs versus the predicted differences in GIs in 2070 shows that the slope of the line (0.61) is <1, indicating that at the majority of sites the difference between the GI for DBM and the GI for D. semiclausum will increase by 2070 (Figure 3a). Thus overall, we predict that changed conditions expected by 2070 could lead to reduced biological control of DBM by D. semiclausum. However, this change is not predicted to be uniform and at some locations the difference between the GI for DBM and the GI for D. semiclausum is predicted to contract (Figure 3a). At these locations, we predict that biological control of DBM could improve. We further investigated the impact of the predicted changes by plotting the difference in the GI for DBM and the GI for *D. semiclausum* as a proportion of the GI for DBM across Australia. We plotted these data using current values (Figure 3b) and the values predicted for 2070 (Figure 3c). Using this proportion as a measure for the likely effectiveness of D. semiclausum as a biological control agent for DBM (at sites where DBM GI>0) current estimates suggest that D. semiclausum is least effective across northern Australia (Figure 3b, dark red shading). Its effectiveness is estimated to be greater in southeast Queensland and then it becomes more effective at increasing southerly latitudes through New South Wales and into Victoria (Figures 3b, lighter red and pink shading). In southern Victoria, southern South Australia and Tasmania the GI for D. *semiclausum* is currently > GI for DBM (Figure 3b, blue shading). By 2070, DBM is likely to be absent from large areas in central Australia (Figure 3c). The effectiveness of D. semiclausum is predicted to decrease in southeastern Queensland and through much of northern New South Wales (Figure 3 c, dark red shading) as the difference between GI for DBM and GI for D. semiclausum increases in these regions. Similarly, the effectiveness of the parasitoid is predicted to decline through southern regions of New South Wales (Figure 3c, previously pink shading (Figure 3b) changes to red shading) and into Victoria (Figure 3b) where the GI for DBM will increase to become > GI for *D. semiclausum* (Figure 3c, blue shading (Figure 3b) changesto pink shading). The predicted impact of the changed conditions by 2070 on D. semiclausum is likely to be least in Tasmania, where its GI is predicted to remain > GI for DBM (Figure 3c).



FIGURE 3

Effects of predicted climate change on the relationships between DBM and D. semiclausum in Australia (Qld= Queensland; NSW= New South Wales; SA= South Australia; Vic= Victoria; Tas= Tasmania) a) Relationship between the current (2015) differences between DBM and D. semiclausum growth indices (GIs) and the predicted differences in these indices by 2070; slope <1 indicates that at most locations in Australia the difference between DBM GI and D. semiclausum GI will be greater than it is in 2015. b) Differences between DBM GI and D. semiclausum GI expressed as a proportion of DBM GI for 2015. c) Predicted differences between DBM GI and D. semiclausum GI expressed as a proportion of DBM GI for 2070. In both b) and c) dark red shading show locations where DBM GI>1 and differences are greatest, lighter red and pink shading show locations where differences are less pronounced; blue shading shows locations where D. semiclausum GI is > DBM GI and yellow shading shows location where DBM GI= D. semiclausum GI

Estimating the economic impact of disruption of the DBM - D. semiclausum relationship in southeast Queensland, Australia

In IPM managed crops the average cost of insecticide input was \$252 (±48) ha-1 while in conventionally managed crops the average cost of insecticide input was \$498 (±48) ha⁻¹; see Furlong et al.(2004a) for details of insecticides used. As we have previously shown that yields under these different management programs are equal and that endemic natural enemies exert significantly greater impact on DBM populations in IPM-managed crops (Furlong et al. 2004a), we estimate that the economic value of natural enemies to a crop to be \$498-\$252= \$246 ha ¹. Across series of lifetables for DBM constructed in Brassica crops in the Lockyer valley, southeast Queensland in 2011-2012, D. semiclausum was responsible, on average, for 35% of all natural enemy mortality inflicted on experimental cohorts of DBM (Murtiningsih 2015). We thus estimated the current economic value of the parasitoid to be 0.35*246= \$86 ha⁻¹. Currently the ratio of the *D. semiclausum* GI to the DBM GI in southeast Queensland is 0.44 but by 2070 it is expected to decline to 0.30, representing a change of 32%. Assuming that this directly affects the impact of D. semiclausum on DBM in the region this could reduce the economic value of the parasitoid to \$58.5 ha⁻¹representing a cost of \$27.5 ha⁻¹.

CONCLUSION

The CLIMEX models presented allow predictions of where DBM and D. semiclausum may be found currently and their relative abundance at those locations. They also enable the effects of predicted climate change on these distributions and the relative abundance of the host and its parasitoid across their distributions to be tested. The DBM CLIMEX model was parameterized using a range of laboratory and field collected data and it has been iteratively refined so that the distributions that it predicts fit well with current known distributions of the pest (Zalucki and Furlong 2011). The D. semiclausum CLIMEX model was parameterized using laboratory data for introduced D. semiclausum that have established in southeastern Queensland, Australia; iterative refining of the D. semiclausum CLIMEX model in the manner of the DBM model has not been possible due to a lack of data. Nevertheless, it describes the seasonal phenology of D. semiclausum in southeast Queensland

well and its prediction of the current distribution of the parasitoid correlates well with reports of where the parasitoid has established following classical biological control programs. There will always be an element of conjecture when using simulation models to investigate the predicted effects of climate change on the future distribution and abundance of organisms. That notwithstanding, the simulations indicate that if current predictions of climate change are correct then the worldwide distributions and local relative abundances of DBM are likely to change substantially by 2070. Given that the DBM CLIMEX model has been rigorously tested and that DBM populations that have been investigated show no evidence of adaptation to local tropical or temperate climatic conditions (Shirai 2000), we can be reasonably confident in these predictions. The D. semiclausum CLIMEX model can undoubtedly be iteratively refined. Nonetheless, it clearly identifies the possibility that if the sub-populations of parasitoids that have been established throughout Asia and parts of Africa from the small founder populations established in New Zealand 80 years ago have similar thermal requirements to the sub-population established in southeast Queensland from New Zealand 50 years ago then predicted climate change could substantially disrupt its associations with DBM in those regions. It has long since been suggested that investigations of the genetics and thermal requirements of the different sub-populations of D. semiclausum that have been established should be conducted and that populations from these regions should be compared with material from Europe (Fitton and Walker 1992). The recent report of a population of material identified as D. semiclausum from Syria that might exhibit a different thermal profile to D. semiclausum derived from the population established in New Zealand (Kadirvel et al. 2011) adds weight to this argument. Such a study would not only provide results that could improve future biological control of DBM but it would also contribute to our understanding of how founder populations change over time and provide valuable information on how genetic diversity might be maintained, or introduced into parasitoid populations established for biological control.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

We thank the Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research (ACIAR), which has supported the DBM research at the University of Queensland through grants HORT/2002/063, HORT/2004/063, HORT/2010/090.

REFERENCES

- AZIDAH, A. A., FITTON, M. G. AND QUICKE, D. L. J., 2000, Identification of the *Diadegma* species (Hymenoptera: Ichneumonidae, Campopleginae) attacking the diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae). *Bull. Entomol. Res.*, **90**:375–89.
- CHANDRAMOHAN, N., 1994, Seasonal incidence of diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* (L.) and its parasitoidsin Nilgiris. J. Biol. Control.,**8**:77–80.
- DOSDALL, L. M., ZALUCKI, M. P., TANSEY, J. A. AND FURLONG, M. J., 2012, Developmental responses of the diamondbackmoth parasitoid *Diadegma semiclausum* (Hellén) (Hymenoptera: Ichneumonidae) to temperature and host plant species. *Bull. Entomol. Res.*, **102**:373–384.
- FITTON, M. AND WALKER, A., 1992, Hymenopterous parasitoids associated with diamondback moth: the taxonomic dilemma. In: TALEKAR, N. S. (ed.). *Proceedings of the Second International Workshop on Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Pests*. Tainan, Taiwan: Asian Vegetable Res. Dev. Cent. pp 225-232.
- FURLONG, M. J., JU, K. H., SU, P. W., CHOL, J. K., IL, R. C. AND ZALUCKI, M. P., 2008, Integration of endemic natural enemies and *Bacillus thuringiensis* to manage insect pests of *Brassica* crops in North Korea. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.*, **125**:223–238.
- FURLONG, M. J., SHI, Z. H., LIU, S. S. AND ZALUCKI, M. P., 2004b, Evaluation of the impact of natural enemies on *Plutella xylostella* L. (Lepidoptera: Yponomeutidae) populations on commercial *Brassica* farms. *Agric. For. Entomol.*, **6**:311–22.
- FURLONG, M. J., SHI, Z. H., LIU, Y. Q., GUO, S. J., LÜ, Y. B., LIU, S. S. AND ZALUCKI, M. P., 2004a, Experimental analysis of the influence of pest management practice on the efficacy of an endemic arthropod natural enemy complex of the diamondback moth. *J. Econ. Entomol.*, **97**: 1814-1827.
- FURLONG, M. J., WRIGHT, D. J. AND DOSDALL, L. M., 2013, Diamondback Moth Ecology and Management: Problems, Progress, and Prospects. Annu. Rev. Entomol., 58:517–541.
- GRZYWACZ, D., ROSSBACH, A., RAUF, A., RUSSELL, D. A., SRINIVASAN, R. AND SHELTON, A. M., 2010, Current control methods for diamondback moth and other *Brassica* insect pests and the prospects for improved management with lepidopteran-resistant Bt vegetable brassicas in Asia and Africa. *Crop. Prot.*, 29:68–79.

- HARDY, J. E., 1938, *Plutella maculipennis* Curt., Its natural and biological control in England. *Bull. Entomol. Res.*, **29**:343-373.
- KADIRVEL, P., SRINIVASAN, R., LIN, M. Y., AL-JOURI, E., IDRAW, M. W. AND DE LA PEÑA, R. C., 2011, Occurrence of *Diadegma semiclausum*, a parasitoid of diamondback moth in low lands of Syria. *J. Asia-Pacific Entomol.*, 14: 52-57.
- KRITICOS, D. J., WEBBER, B. L., LERICHE, A., OTA, N., MACADAM, I., BATHOLS, J. AND SCOTT, J. K., 2012, CliMond: global high-resolution historical and future scenario climate surfaces for bioclimatic modelling. *Methods Ecol. Evol.*, 3:53–64.
- LI, Z.Y., ZALUCKI, M. P., BAO, H. L., CHEN, H. Y., HU, Z. D. AND FENG, X., 2012, Population dynamics and 'outbreaks' of diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella*, in Guangdong Province, China: climate or the failure of management? *J. Econ. Entomol.*, **105**:739–752.
- LÖHR, B., GICHINI, G., ROSSBACH, A. AND NYAMBO, B., 2008, After-release dispersal of *Diadegma semiclausum* and its effect on diamondback moth population and damage, and indigenous parasitoids. pp. 182–189. In: SHELTON, A. M., COLLINS, H. L., ZHANG, Y. J. AND WU, Q. J., (eds.) *Proceedings of the Fifth International* Workshop on the Management of Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Pests. Beijing, China: China Agric. Sci. Technol. Press.
- MURTININGSIH, R., 2015, Predation of cabbage pests: a combined ecological and molecular approach. PhD Thesis, The University of Queensland, Queensland, Australia. 176.
- OOI, P. A. C., 1992, Role of parasitoids in managing diamondback moth in the Cameron Highlands, Malaysia. In: TALEKAR, N. S. (Ed.). Proceedings of the Second International Workshop on Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Pests. Tainan, Taiwan: Asian Vegetable Res. Dev. Cent., pp. 255-262.
- SHEPARD, B. M., HAMMING, M. D., CARNER, G. R., OOI P. A. C., SMITH, J. P., DILTS, R. AND RAUF, A., 2009, Implementing integrated pest management in developing and developed countries. In PESHIN, R., DHAWAN, A. K. AND DORDRECHT, (Eds.) Integrated pest management: dissemination and impact. The Neth.: Springer. pp. 275–305.
- SHIRAI, Y., 2000, Temperature tolerance of the diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera: Yponomeutidae) in tropical and temperate regions of Asia. *Bull. Entomol. Res.*, **90**:357-364.

- SIVAPRAGASAM, A., 2004, Brassica IPM adoption: progress and constraints in south-east Asia pp. 11–18. In: ENDERSBY N. M. AND RIDLAND P.M., (Eds.) Proceedings of the Fourth International Workshop on the Management of Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Pests. Melbourne, Aust.: The Regional Inst.
- TALEKAR, N. S. AND SHELTON, A. M., 1993, Biology, ecology and management of the diamondback moth. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.*, **38**:275-301.
- TALEKAR, N. S. AND YANG, J. C., 1991, Characteristics of parasitism of diamondback moth by two larval parasites. *Entomophaga.*, **36**:95-104.
- TALEKAR, N. S., 2004, Biological control of diamondback moth in Asia. In: Improving biocontrol of *Plutella xylostella* In: KIRK, A. A. AND BORDAT, D (Eds.). Proceedings of the International Symposium, Montpellier, France, 21–24 October 2002, Montpellier, France: CIRAD.pp. 103–15.
- UPANISAKORN, A., SAMMAWAN, S., KETELAAR, J. W. AND LIM,
 G. S., 2011, Introduction and establishment of *Diadegma semiclausum* in conjunction with farmer field school for diamondback moth control in intensively-sprayed crucifer production in northeastern Thailand. In: SRINIVASAN, R., SHELTON, A. M. AND COLLINS, H. L (eds.). Proceedings of the Sixth International Workshop on Management of the Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Insect Pests. Shanhua, Taiwan: AVRDC–The World Veg. Cent. 321. pp. 97–102.
- VENTURA, O. D., 1997, Experiences with biological control of diamondback moth in the Philippines. In: SIVAPRAGASAM, A., LOKE, W. H., HUSSAN A. K AND, LIM, G. S. (Eds.) The Management of Diamondback Moth andOther Crucifer Pests: Proceedings of the Third International Workshop, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, 29 October-1 November 1997. Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia: Malays. Agric. Res. Dev. Inst., pp. 67–70.
- Vos, H. C. C. A. A., 1953, Introduction in Indonesia of Angitia cerophaga Grav., a parasitoid of Plutella maculipennis. Contrib. Gen. Agric. Res. Stn. Bogor., 134:1–32.
- WILSON, F., 1960, A Review of the Biological Control of Insects and Weeds in Australia and Australian New Guinea. Tech. Commun. No. 1. Commonw. Inst. Biol. Control, Ottawa, Canada., 102.
- ZALUCKI, M. P. AND FURLONG, M.J., 2011, Predicting outbreaks of a major migratory pest: an analysis of

diamondback moth distribution and abundance revisited, In: SRINIVASAN, R., SHELTON, A. M. AND COLLINS H. L., (eds.). Proceedings of the Sixth International Workshop on Management of the Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Insect Pests. Shanhua, Taiwan: AVRDC–The World Veg. Cent. 321. pp. 8–14. ZALUCKI, M. P. AND FURLONG, M. J., 2008, Predicting outbreaks of a migratory pest: an analysis of DBM distribution and abundance, In: SHELTON, A. M., COLLINS, H. L., ZHANG, Y. J. AND WU, Q. J. (Eds.). The Management of Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Insect Pests: Proceedings of the Fifth International Workshop, China Agricultural Science and Technology Press, Beijing, China, pp. 122-131.

Field Validation of Integrated Pest Management Package Against Leaf Eating Caterpillars of Cabbage in Bangladesh

S. N. ALAM, D. SARKER, R. SRINIVASAN¹, M.A. MONIM² AND G. M. M. BARI²

Entomology Division, Bangladesh Agricultural Research Institute, Gazipur, Bangladesh. E-mail: snalambari@gmail.com ¹Entomology Unit, AVRDC – The World Vegetable Center, Shanhua, Tainan, Taiwan, Republic of China E-mail: srini.ramasamy@worldveg.org. ²Regional Agricultural Research Station, Barishal, Bangladesh

ABSTRACT

Studies were conducted in farmer's fields at Barishal and Jessore, situated in the southern part of Bangladesh during 2012-13 and 2013-14 winter season to validate a bio-rational management package against leaf eating prodenia caterpillar (*Spodoptera litura*) and diamond back moth (DBM) (*Plutella xylostella*). There were two treatments with six replications and the experiment was set following a dispersed RCB Design. The treatments were: I) IPM package: hand picking of infested leaves and caterpillars plus mass trapping with *S. litura* pheromone lures plus spraying of SNPV@ 0.2 g per liter of water at 10 day intervals after visible initial infestations plus application of Bt strain EG 7841 @ of 1g / litre of water at 10 day intervals after visible initial infestations, and II) Farmers' practice: spraying with different chemical insecticides every 3-7 days. The IPM package reduced leaf-eating caterpillars on cabbage during both study years. Pooled data showed a significantly lower head infestation of cabbage in IPM treated plots (3.2 %) compared to farmers' practice (31.7 %). Yields were 28-40 % higher in IPM plots compared to farmer's practice. A higher gross return and gross margin was also recorded from IPM than farmers practice in both years.

Keywords: Farmers field, yield, DBM, Spodoptera, cost benefit.

CABBAGE, Brassica oleracea L. is a popular vegetable in Bangladesh. Cabbage is attacked by a group of pests. Among them leaf eating caterpillar like diamond back moth (DBM), Plutella xylostella (L.) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae), and prodenia caterpillar, Spodoptera litura (F.) (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae), are considered as the major pests in Bangladesh (Alam et al. 2010). Worldwide diamondback moth has for many years been considered to be the most important pest of cabbages and other brassica crops (Talekar and Shelton, 1993; Shelton, 2004; Furlong et al., 2013), costing up to 4-5 billion US\$ per year in damage and control costs (Zalucki et al. 2012). Newly hatched DBM caterpillars feed as leaf miners inside the leaf tissue. Older caterpillars feed on all plant parts. In cases of severe infestation, entire leaves can be damaged. Larvae of Spodoptera feed on both foliage and cabbage head. Young larvae feed gregariously and skeletonize. As they mature, larvae become solitary and their feeding causes large irregular holes in foliage. They also burrow into the crown or center of the cabbage head. Farmers frequently apply toxic pesticides to protect their crops from the attack of these pests without much success because of the fact that the pesticides hardly reach the target once the

caterpillars enter the cabbage heads. Worldwide it has been reported that it is very difficult to control those two pests with synthetic chemical insecticides. Such pesticide use, besides being costly, detrimental to the environment and human health, is degrading the natural resource base by destroying potential predators and parasitoids of pest insects. So, it is important to develop integrated management packages to control those pests.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This study was undertaken on farmers' fields in Barishal and Jessore regions, situated in the southern part of Bangladesh during the winter season (October – March) of 2012-13 and 2013-14. At all locations the plot size was around 0.25 ha per treatment replicate. There were six dispersed replicates and the experiment was set in RCB design. There were two treatments: I) an IPM package that consisted of hand picking of infested leaves and caterpillars at weekly interval plus mass trapping with *S. litura* pheromone lures from two weeks of seedling transplanting plus spraying of SNPV@ 0.2 g per liter of water at 10 day intervals after visible initial infestations plus application of Bt strain EG 7841 @ 1g/litre of water at 10 day intervals after visible initial infestations, and II) Farmers' practice: routine application of different insecticides every 3-7 d. At Jessore region, Voliam flaxi 300SC @ 0.5 ml/litre of water or Dimethoate 40 EC @ 2.5 ml/litre of water or Cypermethrin 10 EC @ 1 ml/liter of water or Quinalphos 25 EC @ 1 ml/ liter of water etc, were applied twice a week, while at Barishal region those insecticides were applied at 7-10 days interval. A minimum distance of 500 m was maintained between the IPM and Farmer's practice plots.

Numbers of healthy and infested heads were counted and recorded from randomly selected 2 m² area of each treatment replicate every 7 days. For each treatment the percent heads infested was calculated from the pooled data of twelve observations during 2012-13 and fourteen observations during 2013-14. Number of DBM and prodenia caterpillars were counted and recorded from ten randomly selected heads at 7 day intervals. For benefit cost analysis, records of the costs incurred for labour, insecticide, bio-pesticide and application costs in each treatment replicate were recorded. The prices of the harvested marketable healthy heads of each treatment were calculated at market price. The result of benefit-cost analysis was expressed in terms of Marginal benefit cost ratio (MBCR). Data were analyzed by using CropStat 7.2.3 software for analysis.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

At all the locations cabbage head infestation by leaf eating caterpillars in the IPM plots were significantly less than that of farmers' practice. Percent head infestation in the IPM treated plots were 3.8 and 2.6 at Jessore and Barishal, respectively, compared to 36.7 and 26.7 % in the Farmer's practice plots. Lower head infestation in the IPM plots resulted in 1.27 and 1.39 times higher cabbage yield at Jessore and Barishal region that Farmer's practice fields (yield of cabbage was 58.6 and 54.8 t/ha, respectively at Jessore and Barishal, while that was 45.8 and 39.3 t/ ha in the farmer's plots) (Table 1).

TABLE 1

Effect of different treatments on the management of leaf eating caterpillars (DBM and Spodoptera) in cabbage as mean % heads infested and mean number of larvae per head (± SE) and their corresponding yield in Jessore and Barishal regions during winter 2012-13 & 2013-14 cropping season

Treatment	ent Insect pest infestations			Yield		
	Head	No. of	No. of	(t/ha)		
	infestation	DBM	S. litura			
	(%)	larvae/	larvae/			
		head	head			
Jessore						
IPM	3.8±0.1 b	0.2±0.1 b	1.2±0.4 b	58.6 b		
Farmer's	36.7±1.9 a	2.4±0.3 a	4.5±0.7 a	45.8 a		
practice						
Barishal						
IPM	2.6±0.2 b	0.3±0.2 b	0.9±0.3 b	54.8 b		
Farmer's	26.7±0.8 a	2.6±0.5 a	3.8±0.5 a	39.3 a		
practice						

 \pm SE, Means of 12-14 observations and 6 replications; Means followed by the same letter in a column did not differ significantly by paired t-test (p<0.01)

The benefit-cost ratio (BCR) based on the expenses incurred for total crop production cost and value of crops obtained from the IPM and Farmer's practice plots (Table 2) showed that at all the locations the highest benefit-cost ratios were calculated from the IPM trial plots (3.69 in IPM and 2.11 in Farmer's practice plots). The lower BCR in farmers practice plots could be attributed to the comparatively high prevalence of leaf eating caterpillars (even after repeated insecticide applications) leading to lower yield and the high cost of chemical insecticides.

TABLE 2

Overall benefit cost analysis of IPM and Farmer's practice in cabbage at Jessore and Barishal region combined

	Marke table yield (t/ha)	Gross return (Tk/ha)	Cost of producti on (Tk/ha)	Net return (Tk/ha)	B:C Ratio
IPM	56.7	554000	118000	436000	3.69
Farmer's practice	42.5	437000	140500	296500	2.11

CONCLUSIONS

The IPM package resulted in reduced leaf eating caterpillar damage on cabbage in the studied areas compared to standard local Farmers practice. The lower infestation status was reflected in the higher yield of healthy cabbage as well as higher gross return and gross margin. The developed IPM package can be utilized by the farmers for the sustainable management of leaf eating caterpillars in cabbage.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This research work is an output of the project "Improving incomes, nutrition and health in Bangladesh through potatoes, sweet potatoes and vegetables" financed by USAID and organized by AVRDC – The World Vegetable Center, International Potato Center (CIP) and Bangladesh Agricultural Research Institute (BARI).

REFERENCES

ALAM , S. N., DUTTA, N. K. AND SARKER, D., 2010. Leaf eating caterpillars: devastating pests of cabbage in

Bangladesh. Annual Report, Entomology Division, Bangladesh Agricultural Research Institute, Gazipur, Bangladesh.,168.

- FURLONG, M. J., WRIGHT, D. J. AND DOSDALL, L. M., 2013. Diamondback moth ecology and management: problems, progress, and prospects. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.*, 58: 517–541.
- SHELTON, A. M., 2004, Management of the diamond back moth; *deja vu* all over again? In: ENDERSBY, N. AND RIDLAND, P. M. (eds.), The management of diamond back moth and other curicifers pests. Proceedings of the 4th international workshops on diamond back moth, 26-29 Nov 2001, Melbourne, Australia., pp.3-8.
- TALEKAR, N. S. AND SHELTON, A. M., 1993, Biology ecology and management of the diamond back moth. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.*, **38**: 275-301.
- ZALUCKI, M. P., SHABBIR, A., SILVA, R., ADAMSON, D., LIU, S. S. AND FURLONG, M. J., 2012, Estimating the economic cost of one of the world's major insect pests, *Plutella xylostella*: just how long is a piece of string? *J. Econ. Entomol.*, **105**: 1115-1129.

Effect of Cabbage Plant Age on Parasitism of *Plutella xylostella* (L.) by *Cotesia vestalis* (Haliday): Implications for IPM

S. AMALINA, Y. MOHD HANIFAH¹, M.N. MOHAMAD ROFF² AND A.B. IDRIS³

School of Environmental and Natural Resource Sciences, Faculty Science and Technology, Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia, 43600 Bangi, Selangor, Malaysia. E-mail: amalina767@gmail.com

¹Pest and Disease Management Programme, Horticulture Research Centre, Malaysian Agricultural Research and Development Institute (MARDI). E-mail: hanifah58@yahoo.com

²Pest and Disease Management Programme, Horticulture Research Centre, Malaysian Agricultural Research And Development Institute (MARDI). E-mail: roff@mardi.gov.my

³School of Environmental and Natural Resource Sciences, Faculty Science and Technology, Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia, 43600 Bangi, Selangor, Malaysia. E-mail: idrisgh@ukm.edu.my or idrisyatie@yahoo.com.myAbstract

Abstract

Cotesia vestalis (Hymenoptera: Braconidae) is one of the important larval parasitoids of the major insect pest of cruciferous crops, the diamondback moth (DBM), *Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) in many parts of the world, including Malaysia. We assessed the parasitism of DBM larvae by *C. vestalis* on three different ages of cabbage plant, *Brassica oleracea* L. var. *capitata* cv. K-K Cross under glasshouse conditions. Second instar DBM larvae infesting 4, 8 and 12-week-old cabbage plants were exposed to *C. vestalis* for one, three and six hours. There was a significant difference (P < 0.05) in the percentage parasitism of DBM larvae on cabbage of different plant ages in all exposure durations. Parasitism was significantly higher (P < 0.05) on 4-week-old plants after one hour of exposure than on the other two groups of older plants. For three hours of exposure, parasitism differed significantly (P < 0.05) only between 4 and 12-week-old plants. More (P < 0.05) DBM larvae on both 4 and 8-week-old plants than on 12-week-old plants were parasitized in six hours of exposure. Young cabbage plants infested by DBM larvae were more attractive to foraging *C. vestalis* and this information should be considered when utilising this biological control agent in integrated pest management of DBM. The application of biopesticides is likely to be a better control option for DBM during young crop stages as it will be less disruptive to *C. vestalis*.

Keywords: Biological control, glasshouse conditions, exposure duration, host searching

DIAMONDBACK MOTH (DBM), Plutella xylostella (L.) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) is one of the most damaging insect pests of cruciferous crops around the world (Furlong et al. 2013). In Malaysia, DBM was first recorded in 1925 (Ooi 1986). Its' larvae attack cabbage plants from seedlings to harvest stage, reducing yield quality and quantity (Mahr et al. 1993). Excessive use of insecticides in conventional control practices has decimated natural enemies (Idris and Grafius 1993a) and led to resistance to almost all insecticide products including Bacillus thuringiensis (Bt) (Idris and Grafius 1993b; Sarfraz and Keddie 2005). In order to tackle the problem, efforts have been made to include natural enemies in managing this pest (Furlong et al. 2013; Talekar and Shelton 2003).

Cotesia vestalis (Haliday) (Hymenoptera: Braconidae) is one of the key natural enemies of DBM in Malaysia, which was discovered in 1975 (Lim and Ko 1975; Shaw 2003). This endoparasitoid is known as one of the major biological control agents in Malaysia IPM program for DBM (Sivapragasam *et al.* 2011). During host searching, this parasitoid uses chemical cues such as monoterpenes and glucosinolates produced by wounds made by its herbivorous host (Potting *et al.* 1999; Vuorinen *et al.* 2004). Glucosinolate content varies among different host plants of DBM (Hopkins *et al.* 1998; Ulmer and Dosdall 2006) and changes over time according to plant developmental stage (Hopkins *et al.* 1998). Therefore, the objective of this study was to investigate the effect of plant age of cabbage on parasitism of DBM by its parasitoid, *C. vestalis.* The results may provide a useful understanding of the host plant-parasitoid interaction for effective control of the pest in IPM program for DBM, particularly in cabbage farming systems.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Plants

Cabbage plants (*Brassica oleracea* L. var. *capitata* cv. K-K Cross) were planted using a suspended pot non-circulating hydroponic method (Kratky 2004) in Malaysian Agricultural Research and

Development Institute (MARDI), Serdang, Selangor. Cabbage seeds were individually sown on a piece of wet sponge (2 cm \times 2 cm) as a growing medium. After a week, the seedlings were transferred to net pots and the roots were immersed in nutrient solution. The solution was topped up throughout the plant growth. The plants were grown under glasshouse conditions at temperature 29 ± 4 °C, 78 ± 5 % relative humidity (RH) and a photoperiod of 12:12 (L:D) h. Three ages of plant were used in this study; 4-, 8- and 12-weekold plants.

Insects

The original cultures of C. vestalis and its host, DBM were initially collected from brassica vegetable farm in Kuala Lumpur. Both colonies were raised on Brassica campestris L. under laboratory conditions in MARDI at temperature 25 ± 2 °C, 63 ± 5 % RH and a 12:12 (L:D) h photoperiod. Adult insects of C. vestalis and DBM were fed with 10 % (v:v) honey solution. The two species had been reared over several generations before the test. Experimental C. vestalis were obtained by collecting cocoons from the stock culture and placed in mesh cage measuring 35 cm \times $20 \text{ cm} \times 20 \text{ cm}$ for adult emergence and mating. These adults were maintained without any contact with plant material or host larvae. Only 2 to 5-day-old mated naïve females were used in the test (Girling et al. 2011).

Effect of plant age on parasitism

The experiment was conducted in screen cage (1.5 m x 2.4 m x 1.5 m) under glasshouse conditions at 29 ± 4 °C and 78 ± 5 % RH. Three ages of cabbage plants were arranged in a completely randomized design (CRD) with 5 replicates. Each plant was infested with 30 second instar DBM larvae for 24 h prior to the experiment. Fifteen randomly selected naïve females of *C. vestalis* were released into the cage for three different exposure durations; 1 h, 3 h and 6 h. All exposed DBM larvae were collected and dissected to determine parasitism.

Data analysis

Parasitism data was transformed using arcsine square root transformation and data normality was confirmed with Anderson-Darling test. Data was then analyzed using two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and followed by Tukey's method when the analysis was significant (P < 0.05). All analyses were performed using Minitab Statistical Package Version 16 (Minitab, Inc., USA).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The mean percentage parasitism of DBM larvae was significantly different among cabbage plants of different ages (F = 34.95, df = 2, 36, P < 0.05) and among exposure durations of *C. vestalis* (F = 24.90, df = 2, 36, P < 0.05). However, there was no significant interaction effects (F = 1.43, df = 4, 36, P > 0.05) between plant age and exposure duration.

The mean percentage parasitism of DBM larvae by *C. vestalis* on 4-week-old plants was significantly higher (P < 0.05) than on 12-week-old plants in all exposure durations (Fig. 1). The longer the exposure durations, the more DBM larvae were parasitized by the parasitoid on 8-week-old plants compared to 12week-old plants suggesting that host searching female *C. vestalis* are initially more attracted to younger plants that are infested by its host.

The lower responsiveness of C. vestalis to older cabbage plants in this study might be due to low content of glucosinolate in these maturing plants (Hopkins et al. 1998; Lambdon et al. 2003; Wallace and Eigenbrode 2002). This secondary plant product plays an important role in producing allelochemicals that attract parasitoids (Ahuja et al. 2010; Dicke and van Poecke 2002). This may explain the preference of C. vestalis to parasitize more DBM larvae on younger cabbage plants. However, the longer the exposure durations, more DBM larvae feeding on 8week-old plants were parasitized. This may be because of the learning experience gained by the parasitoid. This was possibly explained by experiments by Karimzadeh (2005) showing that the preference of C. vestalis to parasitize DBM larvae feeding on a susceptible host plant compared to a partially-resistant host plant decreased and gradually disappeared when the exposure time was increased.

Talekar and Yang (1993) found that total parasitism by *C. vestalis* was greatest after cabbage transplanting and declined as the plant aged. Similar trend of parasitism was noticed by Sow *et al.* (2013) who reported significant relationship between the age of cabbage and total parasitism by natural enemies of DBM. However, parasitism by *Oomyzus sokolowksii* Kurdjumov, the eulophid that attacks older stage of DBM larvae was not affected by host-plant age (Talekar 1997). The different effects of ages of host plants could be explained by various complex combinations of abiotic factors that may influence the parasitoid behavior under field conditions (Fournier *et al.* 2005; Heimpel and Casas 2008; Idris and Grafius 1998).





Parasitism of DBM larvae by C. vestalis on three plant ages of cabbage in three exposure durations

CONCLUSION

Cotesia vestalis parasitized more DBM larvae feeding on younger cabbage plants. The use of biopesticides should be encouraged to control the pest during young age of cabbage plants when implementing the IPM for DBM to avoid killing this natural enemy.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This study was funded by UKM grant No. 06-01-02-SF0896 and ST-2013-015. The authors thank Pest and Disease Management Programme, Horticulture Research Centre, Malaysian Agricultural Research and Development Institute (MARDI), Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia for technical assistance and facilities. The first author is supported by Ministry of Education Malaysia doctoral scholarship.

REFERENCES

Defence mechanisms of Brassicaceae: implications for plant-insect interactions and potential for integrated

pest management- a review. *Agron. Sustain. Dev.*, **30**: 311-348.

- DICKE, M. AND VAN POECKE, R. P., 2002, Signaling in plantinsect interactions: signal transduction in direct and indirect plant defence. In: SCHEEL D. AND WASTERNACK C (eds.), *Plant signal transduction*. Oxford University Press, Oxford., 289-316.
- FOURNIER, F., PELLETIER, D., VIGNEAULT, C., GOYETTE, B. AND BOIVIN, G., 2005, Effect of barometric pressure on flight initiation of *Trichogramma minitum*: effects of ambient temperature, mates, food, and host eggs. *Entomol. Exp. Appl.*, **62**:147-154.
- FURLONG, M. J., WRIGHT, D. J. AND DOSDALL, L. M., 2013,. Diamondback moth ecology and management: problems, progress, and prospects. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.*, 58: 517-541.
- GIRLING, R. D., STEWART-JONES, A., DHERBECOURT, J., STALEY, J. T., WRIGHT, D. J. AND POPPY, G. M., 2011, Parasitoids select plants more heavily infested with their caterpillar hosts: a new approach to aid interpretation of plant headspace volatiles. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B.*, 278 (**1718**): 2646-2653.
- HEIMPEL, G. E. AND CASAS, J., 2008, Parasitoid foraging and oviposition behavior in the field. In: WAJNBERG, E., BERNSTEIN, C. AND VAN ALPHEN J., (eds.), *Behavioral Ecology of Insect Parasitoids: from Theoretical Approaches to Field Applications.*, Blackwell Publishing Ltd., UK., 51-70.
- HOPKINS, R. J., ЕКВОМ, В. AND HENKOW, L., 1998, Glucosinolate content and susceptibility for insect attack of three populations of *Sinapis alba. J. Chem. Ecol.*, **24**: 1203-1216.
- IDRIS, A. B. AND GRAFIUS, E., 1993a, Field studies on the effect of pesticides on the diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* (L.) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) and parasitism by *Diadegma insulare* (Cresson) (Hymenoptera: Ichneumonidae). J. Econ. Entomol., 86(4): 1196-1202.
- IDRIS, A. B. AND GRAFIUS, E., 1993b, Differential toxicity of pesticides to *Diadegma insulare* (Cresson) (Hymenoptera: Ichneumonidae) and its host, the diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* (L.) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae). *J. Econ. Entomol.*, 86(2): 529-536.
- IDRIS, A. B. AND GRAFIUS E., 1998, Diurnal flight activity of *Diadegma insulare* (Hymenoptera: Ichneumonidae) a parasitoid of the diamondback moth (Lepidoptera: Plutellaidae), in the field. *Environ. Entomol.*, **27**: 406-414.
- KARIMZADEH, J., 2005, Studies on tritrophic interactions between crucifers, the diamondback moth and an
endolarval parasitoid, *Phd Thesis*, Imperial College London, University of London., 179.

- KRATKY, B. A., 2004, A suspended pot, non-circulating hydroponics method. *Acta Hortic.*, **648**: 83-89.
- LAMBDON, P. W., HASSALL, M., BOAR, R. R. AND MITHEN, R., 2003, Asynchrony in the nitrogen and glucosinolate leaf- age profiles of *Brassica*: is this a defensive strategy against generalist herbivores? *Agr. Ecosyst. Environ.*, 97:205-214.
- LIM,G. S. AND KO, W. W., 1975, *Apanteles plutellae* Kurdj., a newly recorded parasite of *Plutella xylostella* (L.) in Malaysia. *MARDI Res. Bull.*, **3**(2): 94-95.
- MAHR, S. E., MAHR, D. L. AND WYMAN, J. A., 1993, Biological control of insect pest of cabbage and other crucifers. *North Central Regional Publication* .471: 54.
- OOI, P.A.C., 1986, Diamondback moth in Malaysia. In: TALEKAR, N. S. AND GRIGGS, T. D., (eds.), Diamondback Moth Management, *Proceedings of the First International Workshop*. AVRDC, Taiwan. pp. 25-34.
- POTTING, R. P. J., POPPY, G. M. AND SCHULER, T. H., 1999, The role of volatiles from cruciferous plants and preflight experience in the foraging behaviour of the specialist parasitoid *Cotesia plutellae*. *Entomol. Exp. Appl.*, **93**: 87-95.
- SARFRAZ, M. AND KEDDIE, A. B., 2005, Conserving the efficacy of insecticides against *Plutella xylostella* (L.) (Lep., Plutellidae). *J. Appl. Entomol.*, **129**: 149-157.
- SHAW, M. R., 2003, Revised synonym in the genus Cotesia (Hymenoptera: Braconidae: Microgastrinae): the identity of Microgaster vestalis Haliday, 1834, as a senior synonym of Apenteles plutellae Kurdjumov, 1912. Entomol. Gaz., 54: 187-189.
- SIVAPRAGASAM, A., LOKE, W. H. AND MOHAMAD ROFF, M. N., 2011, Implementation of IPM: experiences with the brassica pest management program against the

diamondback moth in Malaysia. In: SRINIVASAN, R., SHELTON, A. M. AND COLLINS, H. L., (eds.), Management of the diamondback moth and other crucifer insect pests. *Proceedings of the Sixth International Workshop.*, AVRDC, Taiwan., 280-284.

- Sow, G., DIARRA, K., ARVANITAKIS, L., BORDAT, D., 2013, The relationship between *Plutella xylostella*, climatic factors, cabbage crops and natural enemies in a tropical area. *Folia Hort.*, **25**(1): 3-12.
- TALEKAR, N. S., 1997, Characteristics of parasitism of diamondback moth by *Oomyzus sokolowskii* (Hymenoptera: Eulophidae). In: SIVAPRAGASAM A, LOKE, W. H., HUSSAN, A. K. AND LIM, G. S., (Eds.), The management of diamondback moth and other crucifer pests, *Proceedings of the Third International Workshop*. MARDI, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia., 97-103.
- TALEKAR, N. S AND SHELTON, A. M., 1993, Biology, ecology and management of the diamondback moth. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.*, **38**: 275-301.
- TALEKAR, N. S. AND YANG, J. C., 1993, Influence of crucifer cropping system on the parasitism of *Plutella xylostella* (Lep., Yponomeutidae) by *Cotesia plutellae* (Hym., Braconidae) and *Diadegma semiclausum* (Hym., Ichneumonidae). *Entomophaga.*, 38: 541-550.
- ULMER, B. J. AND DOSDALL, L. M., 2006, Glucosinolate profile and oviposition behavior in relation to the susceptibilities of Brassicaceae to the cabbage seedpod weevil. *Entomol. Exp. Appl.*, **121**: 203-213.
- VUORINEN, T., NERG, A. M., IBRAHIM, M. A., REDDY, G.V.P. AND HOLOPAINEN, J. K., 2004, Emission of *Plutella xylostella*-induced compounds from cabbage grown at elevated CO_2 and orientation behavior of the natural enemies. *Plant Physiol.*, **135**:1984-1992
- WALLACE, S. K. AND EIGENBRODE, S. D., 2002, Changes in the glucosinolate-myrosinase defense system in *Brassica juncea* cotyledons during seedling development. J. Chem. Ecol.,

Insecticidal Activity of Twelve Common Amazon Ecuadorian Plants Against *Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera : Plutellidae) : Laboratory Results

CERDA, H., LEDEZMA-CARRIZALEZ, A.C.¹, ANDINO, M.², CHIURATO, M.A.³ AND CARPIO, C.⁴

Escuela Superior Politécnica De Chimborazo (ESPOCH) Riobamba, Chimborazo, Ecuador E-mail: hugocerda04@gmail.com

1Escuela Superior Politécnica De Chimborazo (ESPOCH) Riobamba, Chimborazo, Ecuador

E-mail: cledezma974@gmail.com

²Universidad Estatal Amazónica (UEA), Puyo, Pastaza, Ecuador

E-mail: mandinoec@yahoo.com

³Universidad Estatal Amazónica (UEA), Puyo, Pastaza, Ecuador

E-mail: matteo.chiurato@gmail.com

⁴Escuela Superior Politécnica De Chimborazo (ESPOCH) Riobamba, Chimborazo, Ecuador

E-mail: fccarpio@yahoo.com

Abstract

Botanical insecticides are increasingly attracting research attention as an effective component for managing pests that have already developed resistance to conventional insecticides. Here, we report the insecticidal potential of twelve common Amazon Ecuadorian plants [Lonchocarpus nicou (Barbasco), Urtica dioica (Urticaria), Xanthosoma undipes (Camacho), Brugmansia sp. (Guanto), Xanthosoma purpuratum (Shungu panga), Ocotea quixos (Isupurunga), Piper aduncum (Matico), Clibadium sp. (Kakllambi), Thesioides baccharis (Ayaguachi), Dieffenbachia costata (Lalu), Nicotiana tabacum (Tabacco) and Ficus insipida Willd. (Oje)] against Plutella xylostella. Water extracts of W. solanacea, D. costata, L. nicou and N. tabacums howed statistically higher P. xylostella larval mortality compared with water control.Water extracts of Clibadium sp., X. purpuratum and W. solanacea showed oviposition deterrence against P. xylostella. Based on the results presented in this paper, simply-prepared extracts from readily-available Amazonian Ecuadorian plants can be potentially used as botanical insecticides against P. xylostella.

Keywords: Plutella xylostella, botanical insecticide, Ecuador, Amazon biodiversity

THE diamondback moth (DBM), Plutella xylostella (L.) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae), is the most important pest of crucifers worldwide (Shelton et al. 1993; Furlong et al. 2013). The estimated average control cost for DBM is greater than 4-5 billion dollars per year (Zalucki et al. 2012). Intensive insecticide use continues to be the primary method of control against P. xylostella (Grzywacz et al. 2010; Furlong et al. 2013), which represents a threat to the environment and human health (Devine et al.2008). Due to biological and behavioral traits of DBM (e.g., great ability to disperse, high fecundity and short life cycle) and conditions offered by the environmental sites (e.g., availability of various crucifers in neighbor fields and throughout the year), P. xylostella has developed a formidable resistance to chemical insecticides (Zalucki et al. 2012; Furlong et al. 2013). Therefore, research on alternative methods of control of this pest is essential. Botanical insecticide could play an important role as an alternative control method of this pest (Charleston et al. 2006; Boica Junior et al. 2013). Unlike their synthetic counterparts, botanical pesticides are made of many chemicals with complex and additive action mechanism such as lignans, neolignans, alkaloids, chalcones, kawapirones, flavones, essential oils, and amides (Miresmailli and Isman 2014). Worldwide four major types of botanical insecticides are being widely used for insect control, pyrethrum, rotenone, neem, and essential oils along with others in limited use (Isman 2006). Here, we report common Amazon Ecuadorian plants which potentially could have botanical insecticide properties against *P. xylostella*.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Sample collection

We collected leaves and roots of *Lonchocarpus* nicou (Barbasco), leaves of *Urtica dioica* (Urticaria), Xanthosoma undipes (Camacho), Brugmansia sp. (Guanto), Xanthosoma purpuratum (Shungu panga), Ocotea quixos (Isupurunga), Piper aduncum (Matico) and Baccharis thesioides (Ayaguachi), leaves and fruits of Clibadium sp. (Kakllambi), stem and leaves of Dieffenbachia. costata (Lalu), and bark of Ficus insipida willd. (Oje) within 2km of Centro de Investigación, Posgrado y Conservación Amazónica (CIPCA) of Universidad Estatal Amazónica (1°14'18.85" S, 77° 53' 4.30" W) Santa Clara, Pastaza, Ecuador in June-August 2014. The collected plants are traditionally used as food, medicine or natural products in the region.

Aqueous extracts

The collected materials from three or more plants of each species were thoroughly mixed, because secondary products chemistry can vary between individuals (Amoabeng *et al.* 2013). The mixed materials were dried at 60° C for 48 h in an oven, milled to fine powder and extracted with distilled water for 48 h to produce a plant aqueous extract.

Insect

Three hundred *Plutella xylostella* pupae were collected from a cabbage field near the city of Ambato (Ecuador) (1° 12' 16.65" S, 78°35'13.89" W) and cultured in cages containing potted plants of white heading Cabbage, *Brassica oleracea* convar. *capitata* L. var Alba OMBRIOS RS 91020 (Agripac CA, Ecuador). The population was maintained at room temperature of 20 to 28°C, 65-80% relative humidity (RH) and at natural photoperiod regime. Larvae or pupae were sometimes placed at 12°C to reduce the rate of development.

Larvalmortality bioassay

The bioassay was conducted using the leaf dip method as described by Tabashnik et al. (1990). Leaf discs (4.8 cm diameter) were cut from middle leaves of six week-old cabbage plants using a sharpened metal hole punch. Each disc was immersed, with gentle agitation, for 10 s in the test solution of the plant aqueous extract. The discs were then drained for a further 10s to allow run-off of surplus solution and dried with the adaxial surface uppermost on corrugated sheets of aluminum foil for 1-2 h at room temperature. Control leaves were dipped in distilled water containing 0.1% Sunlight® detergent solution to give a 1-5% v/v final concentration. Once dry, each leaf disc was placed in an individual Petri dish (5 cm diameter) containing a single, moistened filter paper (Whatman® No. 1, 4.5 cm diameter). Five, 1 to 2 dold 3rd instar larvae were placed on each leaf using a clean camel hairbrush. The test larvae were selected from lab culture in its third-sixth generation after field collection. Five petri dishes were set up per treatment, including the control. Petri dishes from each treatments group bound in stacks of 4 or 5 and kept at room environmental conditions. Larval mortality was determined after 5 d and the mortality percentage was calculated.

Anti-oviposition effect

Two cabbage leaf discs (4.8 cm diameter) were immersed in the test solution, drained and dried as briefed in the bioassay methodology. Two hours after treatment, the leaf cabbage discs were placed in plastic bottles with 40 *P. xylostella* adults that were 5–7 d old. After 2 d, the leaf discs were removed from the bottles and the number of eggs along the midrib of the leaf disc was counted.

Data analysis

Data of larval mortality was analyzed by Mann-Whitney test with p < 0.05 significance level. Data of oviposition deterrencewas analyzed using the t-test. The normality of the data was tested with the Shapiro-Wilk test. The complete statistical analysis was performed using the MINITAB 13.31 License WIN1331.05874 statistical PC program.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Table 1 showed that plant water extracts of *W. solanacea, Dieffenbachia.* costata, *L. nicou*, and *N. tabacum* resulted in statistically higher *P. xylostella* larval mortality, compared to water control. Table 2 showed that water extract of *Clibadium* sp., *X. purpuratum* and *W. solanacea* was the most effective deterrents against *P. xylostella* oviposition.

L. nicou and *N. tabacum* are already known to have in secticidal properties through rotenoids and nicotinoids, respectively (Lawson *et al.* 2010; Vandenborre *et al.* 2010). Hegazy *et al.* (1992) mentioned that *Dieffenbachia* sp. showed feeding deterrent effects on 2nd- and 4th-instar larvae of *Spodoptera littoralis* leading to mortality. They mentioned thiocyanates, tannins and alkaloids as possible active insecticidal compounds.

X. purpuratum has crystals of calcium oxalate (Finley 1999), which play a defensive role against herbivores (Konno *et al.* 2014). On the contrary in literature, *W. solanacea* did not have any insecticidal activity although Chinchilla-Carmona *et al.* (2014) mention its anti-leishmanial activity.

According to recent studies by Isman (2008 and2014), natural botanical insecticides have shown greater efficacy to control insects pests. These products are structurally very diverse. Unfortunately the mechanisms by which they exert their biological activity are not well known (Isman 2008 and 2014; Macias *et al.* 2008). Hence, additional research must be carried out to know the active compounds and mechanisms of action of the botanical insecticides screened in the current study.

Pest management using locally available botanicals offers producers the opportunity to reduce production costs substantially, because plants often grow wild around farms so that they can be obtained with little effort with zero or minimal cost. However, the selected botanical pesticides must be compatible with natural enemies in order to avoid resurgence of secondary pests. They should also possess low phyto and mammalian toxicities.

Table 1

Larval mortality effects of twenty common Amazon Ecuadorian plants against Plutella xylostella under laboratory conditions

Plant species	Mean (± SD) larval mortality (%) in plant extract	Mean (± SD) larval mortality (%) in control	Р
Mr. Javier Lonchocarpus nicou (Barbasco)	100 ± 0.0	24 ± 16.7	0.01*
Lonchocarpus nicou (Barbasco) with Urtica dioica (Ortiga)	24 ± 21.9	24 ± 16.7	0.92
Xanthosoma undipes(Camacho)	32 ± 39.0	24 ± 16.7	0.92
Brugmansia sp. (Guanto)	12 ± 11	12 ± 26.8	0.53
Leaves of Lonchocarpus nicou (Barbasco)	12 ± 17.8	12 ± 26.8	0.83
Roots of Lonchocarpus nicou (Barbasco) tree	100 ± 0.0	12 ± 26.8	0.01*
Xanthosoma purpuratum (Shungu panga)	28 ± 17.8	12 ± 26.8	0.30
Ocotea quixos (Isupurunga)	32 ± 30.3	16 ± 16.7	0.46
<i>Piper adencum</i> (Matico)	48 ± 33.5	16 ± 16.7	0.12
Leaves of <i>Momordica</i> sp. (achonchilla)	44 ± 32.9	20 ± 24.5	0.21
Leaves of Lycopersicon hirsutum (Tomatillo)	44 ± 8.9	20 ± 24.5	0.12
Thesioides baccharis (Ayaguachi)	48 ± 39	24 ± 26.1	0.35
Witheringia solanacea (Tsimbio)	100±0.0	28 ± 33.5	0.02*
Leaves of (Lalu) Dieffenbachia costata	92.0±17.8	28 ± 33.5	0.02*
<i>Clibadium</i> sp. (Kakllambi)	44 ± 38.5	24 ± 26.1	0.47
Bark of <i>Ficus</i> <i>insipida</i> Willd (Oje)	40 ± 24.5	28 ± 33.5	0.47
Stem of Dieffenbachia costata (Lalu)	60 ± 28.3	28 ± 33.5	0.17
leaves of Nicotiana tabacum (Tabaco)	100 ± 0.0	34 ± 19.4	0.01*

n=5 replicates. P to Mann-Whitney * P<0.05.

SD: Standard deviation of the mean

TABLE 2

Mean number of P. xylostella eggs laid on leaves treated withextracts from twenty different Amazonian Ecuadorian aqueous plant versus water control under laboratory conditions

Variable	N	No. of eggs	SD	Р
<i>Clibadium</i> sp. (Kakllambi)	5	34.60	19.87	0.002**
Control	5	90.60	11.24	
Tabacum	5	18.40	19.91	0.43
Control	5	28.80	19.69	
<i>Thesioides</i> <i>baccharis</i> (Ayaguachi)	5	10.60	10.21	0.10
Control	5	39.80	29.10	
Xanthosoma purpuratum (Shungu panga)	5	1.60	0.89	0.007**
Control	5	37.60	15.96	
Witheringia solanacea (Tsimbio)	5	3.60	2.70	0.04*
Control	5	22.00	12.79	

N= 5;p of student t test * p <0.05; ** p <0.01

CONCLUSION

Aqueous extracts of *W. solanacea*, *D. costata*, *L. nicou*, *Clibadium* sp. and *X. purpuratum* have potential to be used as new botanical insecticides against *P. xylostella*. However their effectiveness under field conditions, the active compounds and their phyto and mammalian toxicity should be investigated in detail.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This work was sponsored by the Prometeo Project of the Secretariat for Higher Education, Science, Technology and Innovation (SENESCYT) of the Republic of Ecuador and by Grant Number 006-EBIOEACI-CIPCA-2014 of Universidad Estatal Amazónica (UEA) of the Republic of Ecuador to Hugo Cerda. The senior author also acknowledges the travel grant from the World Vegetable Center sponsored DBM Workshop Fund.

REFERENCES

- AMOABENG, B. W., GURR, G. M., GITAU, C. W., NICOL, H. I., MUNYAKAZI, L. AND STEVENSON, P. C., 2013, Tri-trophic insecticidal effects of African plants against cabbage pests. *PLoS One.*, 8(10):78651.
- BOICA JUNIOR, A. L., JANINI, J. C., SARDINHA DE SOUZA, B. H. AND LOBATO RODRIGUES, N. E., 2013, Effect of cabbage cultivars and doses of aqueous extract of neem on feeding and biology of *Plutella xylostella* (Linnaeus) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae). *Biosci. J.*, 29(1): 22-31.
- CHARLESTON, D. S., KFIR, R., DICKE, M. AND VET, L. E., 2006, Impact of botanical extracts derived from *Melia azaderach* and *Azadirachta indica* on populations of *Plutella xylostella* and its natural enemies: A field test of laboratory findings. *Biol. Control.*, **39**(1): 105-114.
- CHINCHILLA-CARMONA, M., VALERIO-CAMPOS, I., SÁNCHEZ-PORRAS, R., BAGNARELLO-MADRIGAL, V., MARTÍNEZ-ESQUIVEL, L., GONZÁLEZ-PANIAGUA, A. AND RODRÍGUEZ-CHAVES, D., 2014, Anti-leishmanial activity in plants from a Biological Reserve of Costa Rica. *Revista de Biología Tropical.*, 62(3): 1229-1240.
- DEVINE, G. J., EZA, D., OGUSUKU, E., AND FURLONG, M. J., 2008, Uso de insecticidas: contexto y consecuencias ecológicas. *Revista Peruana de Medicina Experimentaly Salud Publica.*, **25**(1): 74-100.
- FINLEY, D., 1999, Patterns of calcium oxalate crystals in young tropical leaves: A possible role as an antiherbivory defense. *Revista de Biología Tropical.*, 47(1): 27–31.
- FURLONG, M. J., WRIGHT, D. J. AND DOSDALL, L. M., 2013, Diamondback moth ecology and management: problems, progress, and prospects. Annu. Rev. Entomol., 58: 517-541.
- GRZYWACZ, D., ROSSBACH, A., RAUF, A., RUSSELL, D. A., SRINIVASAN. R. AND SHELTON, A. M., 2010, Current control methods for diamondback moth and other brassica insect pests and the prospects for improved management with lepidopteran-resistant Bt vegetable brassicas in Asia and Africa. *Crop Prot.*, 29(1): 68-79.
- HEGAZY, G., ANTONIOUS, A. G., EL-SHAARAWY, M. F. AND YOUSSEF, L. A., 1992, Reaction of feeding the cotton leafworm, *Spodoptera littoralis* (Boisd.) on certain plant leaves. 2: Effect of plant extracts. *Mededelingen* van de Faculteit Landbouwwetenschappen, Rijksuniversiteit Gent.**57**(3A): 697-705.

- ISMAN, M. B., 2006, Botanical insecticides, deterrents, and repellents in modern agriculture and an increasingly regulated world. *Ann. Rev. Entomol.*, **51**(1) :45–66.
- ISMAN, M. B., 2008, Botanical Insecticides, for richer, for poorer. *Pest Manag Sci.*, 64(1): 8 - 11.
- ISMAN, M. B., 2014, Botanical insecticides: A global perspective. In: GROSS, A. D., COATS, J. R., DUKE, S. O. AND SEIBER, J. N. (Eds.), *Biopesticides: State of the Art and Future Opportunities, American Chemical Society Symposium Series.*, 1172: 21-31.
- KONNO, K., INOUE, T. A. AND NAKAMURA, M., 2014, Synergistic defensive function of raphides and protease through the needle effect. *PloS one.*, **9**(3):91341.
- Lawson, M. A., KAOUADJI, M. AND CHULIA, A. J., 2010, A single chalcone and additional rotenoids from *Lonchocarpus nicou.Tetrahedron Lett.*, **51**(47):6116-6119.
- MACÍAS, F. A., GALINDO, J. L. G., GARCÍA-DÍAZ, M. D. AND GALINDO, J. C. G., 2007, Allelopathic agents from aquatic ecosystems: potential biopesticides models. *Phytochemistry Reviews.*, 7(1), 155–178.
- MIRESMAILLI, S. AND ISMAN, M. B., 2014, Botanical insecticides inspired by plant-herbivore chemical interactions. *Trends Plant Sci.*, 19(1): 29-35.
- SHELTON, A. M., TANG, J. D., PEREZ, C., EIGEMBRODE, S. D., PREISLER, H. K., WILSEY, W. T. AND COOLEY, R. J., 1993, Resistance of Diamondback Moth (Lepidoptera/: Plutellidae) to *Bacillus thuringiensis* Subspecies in the Field. J. Econ. Entomol., 86(3), 697–705.
- TABASHNIK, B. E., CUSHING, N. L., FINSON, N. AND JOHNSON, M. W., 1990, Field development of resistance to *Bacillus thuringiensis* in diamondback moth (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae). J. Econ. Entomol., 83(5): 1671-1676.
- VANDENBORRE, G., GROTEN, K., SMAGGHE, G., LANNOO, N., BALDWIN, I. T. AND VAN DAMME, E. J. M., 2010, *Nicotiana tabacum* agglutinin is active against Lepidopteran pest insects. J. Exp. Bot., 61(4): 1003– 1014.
- ZALUCKI, M. P., SHABBIR, A., SILVA, R., ADAMSON, D., SHU-SHENG, L. AND FURLONG, M. J., 2012, Estimating the Economic Cost of One of the World's Major Insect Pests; *Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae): Just How Long Is a Piece of String? *J. Econ. Entomol.*, **105**(4):1115–1129.

Inundative Release of Egg and Larval Parasitoids as A Component of IPM of Leaf Eating Caterpillars of Cabbage

M.F. KHATUN, S.N. ALAM¹, N.K. DUTTA¹ AND D. SARKER¹

Department of Entomology, Bangabandhu Sheikh Mujibur Rahman Agricultural University, Bangladesh E-mail: k.fatemabsmrau@gmail.com ¹Entomology Division, Bangladesh Agricultural Research Institute Gazipur, Dhaka, Bangladesh

Abstract

We evaluated the efficacy of three *Trichogramma* species and a larval parasitoid, *Bracon hebetor* Say (Hymenoptera: Braconidae), against leaf eating caterpillars of cabbage; prodenia caterpillar, *Spodoptera litura* (F.) (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae) and diamond back moth (DBM), *Plutella xylostella* (L.) (Lepidoptera: PLutellidae); in microplots and fields during 2010-11 and 2011-12 winter season at BARI, Gazipur. In the micro plot study, two sets of experiments were done, in one set efficacy of only egg parasitoids was assessed and in other set both egg + larval parasitoids were evaluated against the pests in various treatment combinations. In the open field study there were two treatments, i) inundative release of the two parasitoids and ii) untreated control. Among the three species of *Trichogramma* in micro plots, highest parasitism of DBM were recorded from *T. chilonis* (84 % reduction in damage over untreated control) and lowest in *Trichogramma*. Together the egg and larval parasitoid significantly reduced leaf eating caterpillars in cabbage. In microplots, 85% DBM and 87 % *S. litura* caterpillars were reduced by the joint effort of *T. chilonis* and *B. habetor*. In the open field study, innundative release of *T. chilonis* and larval parasitoids reduced DBM and *S. litura* leaf eating caterpillar infestation by 45 and 56 % respectively over untreated control.

Keywords: natural enemy impact, parasitoids, field experiements, biologial control

CABBAGE, a more or less compact leaf formed head of Brassica oleracea L., is a popular vegetable in Bangladesh. Two leaf eating caterpillars, prodenia caterpillar, Spodoptera litura (F.) (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae) and diamond back moth (DBM), Plutella xylostella, (L.) (Lepidoptera: PLutellidae) are the most destructive pests of cabbage in Bangladesh (Alam et al. 2010). Worldwide diamondback moth has for many years been considered to be the most important pest of cabbages and other brassica crops (Talekar and Shelton, 1993; Shelton, 2004; Furlong et al. 2013), costing up to 4-5 billion US\$ per year in damage and control costs (Zalucki et al. 2012). In India, Krishnamoorthy (2003) reported a 52 % yield loss on cabbage due to diamond back moth. Worldwide it has been considered that biological control is the best option for effective management of these two pests (e.g. Furlong et al. 2004ab; Bopape et al. 2016). However, in Bangladesh farmers continue to apply toxic chemical pesticides indiscriminately to control these two pests. Such pesticide use, besides being costly, detrimental to the environment and to human

health, is also degrading the natural resource base by destroying predators and parasitoids. To better make use of natural enemies and reduce the pest population below economic injury level in a sustainable manner it is essential to assess their impact (MacFadyen *et al.* 2015; Zalucki *et al.* 2015). Here we assess the effect of different natural enemies using innundative releases of egg and larval parasitoids in small and larger scale field experiments..

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Studies were undertaken in microplot and field scales during 2010-11 and 2011-12 winter seasons at experimental fields of Entomology Division, Bangladesh Agricultural Research Institute (BARI), Gazipur, Bangladesh. Twenty five day-old cabbage (var. Atlas 70) seedlings were transplanted to a 10 m² area with 45cm x 45cm spacing during last week of December in both years. Recommended management practices except plant protection measures were followed for raising the crop. For microplot studies ten cabbage heads (free from any insect infestation)

were covered with 70 meshes net (1.5 m x 1.5 m) 35 d after transplanting. Four pairs of newly hatched male and female DBM and two pairs of S. litura adults were released in the micro plots after 20 d of setting nets. After 2 d of insect pest release three species of egg parasitoid, Trichogramma chilonis Ishii, T. evanescens Westwood and Trichogrammatoidea bactrae Nagaraja were released separately in different microplots and other treatments established in combination with the larval parasitod Bracon hebetor Say (Hymenoptera: Braconidae). In microplots, two sets of experiments were done, in one set only egg parasitoids were evaluated and in other set both egg plus larval parasitiods were studied. There were four treatments/ set, i) release of pests + T. chilonis, ii) release of pests + T. evanescens, iii) release of pests + Tr. bactrae, and iv) only pests release. In another set joint efficacy of both the egg and larval parasitoids were determined, where the treatments were, i) release of pests + T. chilonis+ B. hebetor, ii) release of pests + T. evanescens + B. hebetor, iii) release of pests + Tr. bactrae + B. hebetor, and iv) only pests release. At 15 d after release of parasitoids, the nets were removed and the total number of P. xylostella and S. litura larvae per head counted and recorded. Microplot experiments were laid out in randomized complete block design (RCBD) with three replicates per treatment. In the open field study there were two treatments, i) innundative release of these two parasitoids and ii) untreated control. The field experiment was laid out in dispersed RCB design with six replications. Each field was atleast 200m away from each other. The egg and larval parasitoids for field release were collected from IPM laboratory of Entomology Division, BARI, Gazipur.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Egg parasitoid efficacy in microplots

The three species of trichogrammatids parasitised both the caterpillars' eggs but parasitism percentage was higher in *T. chilonis* treatments than other two, which was reflected in the per cent head infestation by the two pests (Table 1). Highest parasitism of DBM were recorded from *T. chilonis* (84 % reduction in damage over untreated control) and lowest in *Trichogramma-toidea bactrae* (45 % reduction in damage over untreated control) in micro plots (Table 1). Parasitism of *S. litura* was less than the diamond back moth. However like DBM, highest percent parasitism was also recorded in *T. chilonis* treated plots.

Egg and larval parasitoid efficacy in microplots

Together egg and larval parasitoids significantly reduced leaf eating caterpillars in cabbage (Table 2). The lowest head infestations were observed in the microplots where both the egg and larval parasitoids were released, while it was highest in the untreated control plots. Highest reduction of DBM (85 % reduction over untreated control) and *S. litura* (87 % reduction over untreated control) were recorded from *T. chilonis* + *B. hebetor* treated plots (Table 2).

Egg and larval parasitoid efficacy in open field

Innundative release of egg and larval parasitoids, *T. chilonis* + *B. hebetor* significantly reduced leaf eating caterpillar infestation (45 % DBM and 56 % *S. litura*) over untreated control in cabbage fields (Table 3).

Several studies have so far been done and reported on the biological control of different insect pests of cabbage (e.g. Furlong et al. 2004ab; Uelese et al. 2014). Inundative releases have been used especially on DBM. Release of adults of Tr. bactrae at 40,000 -50,000 adults per week ha⁻¹, from transplanting for 6-7 weeks, reduced DBM infestation by 30 % (Krishnamoorthy & Mani 1999). A total of six releases, at 50,000 adults per release week ⁻¹ ha⁻¹. was recommended for effective control of DBM on cabbage (Krishnamoorthy 2003). Periodic releases of large numbers of egg parasitoids could also help in suppressing populations of S. litura (Singh & Jalali 1994). Result of the study here showed that there is considerable scope for increased use of natural enemies as components of IPM programmes for controlling different insect pests of cabbage, especially the most destructive ones, P. xylostella and S. litura, by combining egg and larval parasitoids.

Table 1

Treatments	% head infestation (Mean of 2 seasons)	No. of DBM larvae/ head (Mean of 2 seasons)	% reduction of DBM over control (Mean of 2 seasons)	No. of <i>S. litura/</i> head (Mean of 2 seasons)	% reduction of <i>S. litura</i> over control (Mean of 2 seasons)
T. chilonis	12.7±1.1 b	1.4±0.5	84.2	9.8±1.3	19.74
T. evanescens	16.8±0.9 b	2.8±0.8	67.81	10.3±1.7	15.65
Tr. bactrae	19.9±1.2 b	4.8±1.1	44.32	8.8±1.4	27.87
Control	64.4±3.2 a	8.7±2.2	-	12.2±1.9	-

Efficacy of three species of trichogrammatids against infestations of leaf eating caterpillars on head cabbage during December - March 2010-11 & 2011-12 combined at Entomology Division experimental field, BARI, Gazipur, Bangladesh

Means followed by the same letter(s) in a column do not differ significantly by LSD (p < 0.05)

TABLE 2

Efficacy of joint effort of egg and larval parasitoid against leaf eating caterpillars infestation in cabbage in the micro plots during December - March 2010-11 & 2011-12 combined at Entomology Division experimental field, BARI, Gazipur, Bangladesh.

Treatments	% head infestation (Mean	No. of DBM larvae/ head (Mean	% reduction of DBM over control (Mean	No. of <i>S. litura/</i> head (Mean	% reduction of <i>S. litura</i> over control (Mean of
	of 2 seasons)	of 2 seasons)	of 2 seasons)	of 2 seasons)	2 seasons)
T. chilonis + B. hebetor	3.4±1.3 b	1.4±0.6	85.4	2.1±0.4	86.7
T. evanescens + B. hebetor	7.7±1.8 b	2.2±1.1	77.1	2.8±0.7	82.3
<i>Tr. bactrae</i> + <i>B. hebetor</i>	8.9±1.1 b	3.2±0.7	66.7	2.7±0.8	83.1
Control	61.1±2.5 a	9.6±2.1	-	15.9±1.7	-

Means followed by the same letter(s) in a column do not differ significantly by LSD (p<0.05)

Table 3

Efficacy of egg and larval parasitoid against leaf eating caterpillars infestation in cabbage field during December - March 2011-12 at Entomology Division experimental field, BARI, Gazipur, Bangladesh

Treatments	% head infestation	No. of DBM larvae/ head	% reduction of DBM over control	No. of <i>S. litura</i> /head	% reduction of <i>S. litura</i> over control
IPM plots (T. chilonis + B. hebetor)	7.4±0.4 b	4.7±0.6	44.7	4.1±0.5	56.3
Untreated control plots	42.8±1.2 a	8.5±1.1	-	9.4±1.1	-

Means of 12 observations and 3 replications; Means followed by the same letter did not differ significantly by paired t-test (p < 0.01)

CONCLUSION

Together, egg and larval parasitoids significantly reduced leaf eating caterpillars in cabbage. Inundative release of egg and larval parasitoids can be an effective component of IPM programmes for controlling different insect pests of cabbage, especially the most destructive *P. xylostella* and *S. litura*.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The senior author acknowledges the travel grant from the World Vegetable Center sponsored DBM Workshop Fund.

References

- ALAM, S. N., DUTTA, N. K. AND SARKER, D., 2010, Leaf Eating Caterpillars: Devastating Pests Of Cabbage in Bangladesh. Annual Report, Entomology Division, Bangladesh Agricultural Research Institute, Gazipur, Bangladesh., 168.
- BOPAPE, M. J., NOFEMELA, R. S., MOSIANE, M. S. AND MODISE, D., 2017, Seasons Influence Comparison of Biological and Chemical Control Methods in Suppressing *Plutella xylostella* (L.) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) on Cabbage In South Africa. These processdings
- FURLONG, M. J., SHI, Z. H., LIU, Y. Q., GUO, S. J., LU, Y. B., LIU, S. S. AND ZALUCKI, M. P., 2004a, Experimental Analysis of The Influence of Pest Management Practice on The Efficacy of an Endemic Arthropod Natural Enemy Complex of The Diamondback Moth. J. Econ. Entomol., 97: 1814-1827.
- FURLONG, M. J., SHI, Z. H., LIU, S. S. AND ZALUCKI, M. P., 2004b, Evaluation of The Impact of Natural Enemies on *Plutella xylostella* L. (Lepidoptera: Yponomeutidae) Populations on Commercial *Brassica* Farms. *Agric. For. Entomol.*, 6: 311-322.
- FURLONG, M. J., WRIGHT, D. J. AND DOSDALL, L. M., 2013, Diamondback Moth Ecology And Management: Problems, Progress, And Prospects. Annu. Rev. Entomol., 58: 517–541.
- KRISHNAMOORTHY, A., 2003, IPM Package For Cabbage With Safe Pesticide Residue. IIHR, Bangalore, India. 8. (Extension Folder – 05).
- KRISHNAMOORTH, A. AND MANI, M., 1999, Biological Control of Cabbage Diamondback Moth, *Plutella xylostella by* an Egg Parasitoid, *Trichogrammatoidea bactrae*. In: *International Seminar On Integrated Pest Management, Hyderabad, India.* 69.

- MCFADYEN, S., DAVIES, A. P. AND ZALUCKI, M. P., 2015, Assessing the Impact of Arthropod Natural Enemies on Crop Pests at The Field Scale. *Insect Sci.*, **22**: 20-34.
- SHELTON, A. M., 2004, Management Of The Diamond Back Moth; Deja Vu All Over Again? In: ENDERSBY, N. AND RIDLAND, P. M., (eds.) The Management Of Diamond Back Moth And Other Curicifers Pests. Proceedings Of The 4th International Workshops On Diamond Back Moth, 26-29 Nov 2001, Melbourne, Australia., pp. 3-8.
- SINGH, S. P. AND JALALI, S. K., 1994, *Trichogrammatids*. IIHR, Bangalore, India. 93. (Technical Bulletin No. 7).
- TALEKAR, N. S. AND SHELTON, A. M., 1993, Biology Ecology and Management of The Diamondback Moth. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.*, **38**, 275-301.
- UELESE, A., RIDLAND, P., STOUTHAMER, R., HE, Y. R, ANG, G., ZALUCKI, M. P. AND FURLONG, M. J., 2014, Egg Parasitism Of *Crocidolomia pavonana* (F.) (Crambidae) In Samoa: The Potential of *Trichogramma chilonis* Ishii (Hymenoptera: Trichogrammatidae) As A Biological Control Agent. *Biological Control.*, **73**: 31-38.
- ZALUCKI, M. P., SHABBIR, A., SILVA, R., ADAMSON, D., LIU, S. S. AND FURLONG, M. J., 2012, Estimating The Economic Cost of One of The World's Major Insect Pests, *Plutella Xylostella*: Just How Long Is A Piece Of String? J. Econ. Entomol., 105: 1115-1129.
- ZALUCKI, M. P., FURLONG, M. J., SCHELLHORN, N. A., MACFADYEN, S. AND DAVIES, A. P., 2015, Assessing The Impact of Natural Enemies in Agroecosystems: Towards "Real" IPM or In Quest of The Holy Grail? *Insect Sci.*, 22: 1-5.

Effect of Nosema bombycis on the Preference and Performance of Plutella xylostella (L.) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae)

M.K. NADIA AND A.B. IDRIS¹

School of Environmental and Natural Resource Science, Faculty Science & Technology Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia, 43600 Bangi, Selangor, Malaysia. E-mail: nadia.khermani@yahoo.com 'idrisgh@ukm.edu.myor idrisyatie@yahoo.com.my

ABSTRACT

Biological control, using pathogenic microsporidia, may provide a safer alternative to using pesticides against the diamondback moth (DBM), *Plutella xylostella* (L.) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae). The microsporidium, *Nosema bombycis* (NB), is one of many disease agents that can be used in the Integrated Pest Management (IPM) of DBM. *Nosema bombycis* may affect DBM oviposition behaviour and their progeny performance on some host species. We infected second instar larvae of DBM and the emerged adults were used in preference and performance assays. Preferences and performance of DBM varied between plants. DBM performed best on *Brassica juncea* compared with the other plants used in this study (*B. chinese, B. rapa* and *B. oleracea*) with the greatest number of eggs laid, number of offspring emerged and the shortest developmental time. Interestingly, both normal and *Nosema*-infected DBM adults laid few eggs on cabbage. We suggest that *B. juncea* might be the best host plant to rear DBM. *Nosema* infection had negative impact on the fitness and performance of DBM but the infection has no effect on oviposition and performance of DBM on different plants. Knowledge of hierarchies of host plant oviposition preference by DBM females will be useful in understanding the population dynamics of this destructive pest, and for developing effective monitoring and management strategies.

Keywords: Plutella xylostella, Brassica, microsporidia, preference, performance

THE diamondback moth (DBM) Plutella xylostella (L.) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) causes considerable economic losses in cruciferous crops worldwide and occasionally other crops (Grzywacz et al. 2010). More than 90% of crop losses have been reported during outbreaks of P. xylostella (Verkerk and Wright 1997). Such outbreaks are in part due to the high population growth of P. xylostella with overlapping generations and its ability to migrate and disperse over long distances (Chapman et al. 2003; Li et al. 2012). The estimated cost for controlling this insect is US\$ 4-5 billion annually (Zalucki et al. 2012). Several strategies are commonly used to control DBM: pest monitoring, various agricultural practices such as overhead watering, chemical control, biological control using Bacillus thuringiensis and other entomopathogens. Control of this pest is usually achieved through the application of synthetic insecticides, but DBM has become resistant to almost every insecticide applied in the field including spinosyns, avermectins, neonicotinoids, pyrazoles, and oxadiazines in many crucifer-producing regions (Zhao et al. 2006; Furlong et al. 2013). DBM was the first species to develop field resistance to B. thuringiensis (Bt) Cry toxins (Shelton et al. 2007). The developed resistance, high cost of insecticides, environmental contamination, and pest resurgence (Zhao *et al.* 2002) have encouraged the search for alternatives, which are more compatible with the environment.

Biological control, which includes the use of pathogens, parasitoids, and predators is one of the more favored and feasible approaches to deal with DBM control (Furlong et al. 2013). Microbial control using entomopathogen, like microsporidia could be developed as part of an integrated pest management (IPM) program. Microsporidia are intracellular pathogens, now thought to be closely related to fungi (Hibbett et al. 2007), that attack a broad range of eukaryote hosts including humans and Drosophila. Microsporidia are one of the natural controlling factors of some economically significant insect pest populations (Onstad and Carruthers 1990). The microsporidium, Nosema locustae Canning, has been developed to commercial use as a microbial insecticide in the biological control of grasshoppers in many countries (Lange and Cigliano 1999; Lomer et al. 2001). However, the possible use of microsporidia in biological control of different pest insects is still under debate.

Microbial control is an environmentally sound option to applying chemicals for controlling DBM. The microsporidia, Nosema bombycis Negali (Microsporidia: Nosematidae), is one of several important mortality factors of DBM (Idris et al. 2001). Although Nosema sp. can cause high mortality in the laboratory, especially at high doses (Kermani et al. 2013), it is unclear what effect this microsporidium has on host populations under field conditions. DBM despite being often exposed to microsporidia they seem to survive the infection in the field. The physiological and /or behavioral responses to the infection are thought to be responsible (Holt et al. 2013). Most studies focus on the effect of Nosema infection on development, mortality and fecundity (Idris et al. 2011; Kermani et al. 2013), yet little is known about its effect on adult oviposition behavior. The effects of microsporidia on adults may have a significant impact on DBM behavior and might modify their oviposition choice and larval performance. Thompson (1988) defined the oviposition preference as the number of eggs laid by a female on each of the plant species, in a choice trial, in which plants are presented in equal abundance and availability. Performance is used here as a composite term for survival and developmental period at all immature stages (egg, larval, pupal), pupal weight, and resultant adult fecundity and longevity.

DBM is an important pest of cruciferous plants. Cruciferous plants are well characterized by the presence of glucosinolates, which stimulate oviposition of the adults and feeding by the larvae (Marazzi et al. 2004). DBM prefers surfaces with reduced wax for oviposition (Justus et al. 2000; Shelton and Nault 2004) and larvae move more rapidly and spend more time searching on surfaces with reduced wax (Eigenbrode et al. 1991a; Eigenbrode et al. 1991b; Ulmer et al. 2002). Many studies have evaluated the effects of cruciferous plants on performance of P. xylostella (e.g. Golizadeh et al. 2009; Zhang et al. 2012), but here we investigate the effect of Nosema infection on the oviposition behavior of DBM and their larval performance on different plants. The objectives of this study were: (1) To determine whether or not some species of Brassica vegetables were more attractive to oviposition of both non-infected and Nosema-infected DBM than the other Brassica species, and (2) To compare the performance of DBM developing on those host plants.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study site

Oviposition preference was conducted in a glasshouse while the larval performance was conducted in the parasitology laboratory at UKM, Bangi, Selangor, from August 2011 to December 2011. Experiments in the glasshouse were conducted in screen cages (1.50 m wide by 2.40 m long by 1.50 m high) covered with fine polyester mesh, at 25 ± 5 °C, 50-80 % RH

Experimental Plants and Insects

Four plant species were used in the study: sawi leaves (Brassica juncea), sawi bunga (B. chinese), pak choi (B. rapa var. Chinensis) and cabbage (B. oleracea var. capitata cv. K-K Cross). These plants were selected based on their importance as cultivated leafy green vegetables in Malaysia and they are commonly found in Malaysian food. Plants were grown in pots (11 cm diam.) filled with soil in screen cages. Plants at the 4-6 leaf stage were used in experiments. Experiments were conducted in the screen house at 25 ± 5 °C and a photoperiod of 12:12 (L: D) h. DBM larvae were obtained from a colony maintained at the Malaysian Agriculture Research and Development Institute (MARDI). They had been reared on Indian mustard to avoid possibly confounding effects of feeding history on host plant preference. After a few generations, 2nd instar larvae were treated by Nosema sp. spore concentration (103 spores/ìL) or sterile water as a control as described by Nadia et al. (2011).

Oviposition Preference Experiment in Screen house

To determine oviposition preference for different hosts by DBM females, a free-choice experiment was conducted in the glasshouse in August 2012. Oviposition preference was measured as the total number of eggs laid on the plant surface. Seven potted plants from each host plant species (i.e. a total of 28 plants) were randomly placed in wood-framed cages (1.50 m wide by 2.40 m long by 1.50 m high) with fine polyester mesh covers. The experiment was set up in completely randomized design. Plants were spaced at about 30 cm intervals. A total of 28 pairs in a 1:1 (male/female) sex ratio of newly emerged DBM adults were released in the cage and allowed to mate and oviposit. Adults of DBM were released in from a plastic container placed in the middle of the cage. Placement of moths in the cages was done within 3 h of either sunrise or sunset to avoid the intense, midday sun. Adults were supplied with a cotton wick placed in a vial of 10 % honey solution, placed at the bottom of the cage served as a food source. After 48h (before the eggs would hatch) we assessed oviposition by removing all leaves and counting the number of eggs per plant in the laboratory. This experiment was repeated three times with new sets of host plants and insects. A similar protocol was used to quantify the eggs laid by *Nosema*-infected DBM.

P. xylostella Performance on different hosts

The parameters used to evaluate larval performance were development time and survival of the immature stages: All experiments in this study were performed in the parasitology laboratory maintained at 25 ± 1 °C, 65 ± 10 % RH, and a 12:12 L:D photoperiod.

Percent of egg hatch

Freshly laid eggs were counted and kept in batches of 50 and replicated 5 times for each host plant (i.e., a total of 250 eggs/plant) for *Nosema*-treated and untreated controls. The eggs laid on a particular plant species were placed on a new fresh leaf of the same plant in plastic containers and allowed to hatch. More than one leaf was used if necessary to have 50 eggs in each container. Eggs were monitored daily until all had hatched and numbers of eggs hatched were recorded. The egg hatching rate was calculated as: egg hatching rate = (number of larvae/ number of eggs) × 100. All laboratory bioassays were conducted at 25 °C, 65 % RH and a photoperiod of 12:12 (L:D) h.

Survivorship of immature DBM

A total of 50 newly hatched first instars (ten per replicate) were randomly selected per treatment (control or *Nosema*-treated) per each host plant to record the surviving pupae and adults. Ten larvae were placed on moist filter papers in plastic containers ($5 \times 15 \times 15$ cm) and reared on excised leaves from the same plant species. Freshness of leaf was maintained by wrapping moist cotton on to the leaf petiole, which was then covered with aluminum foil. Larvae were provided with fresh leaves every 24 h until pupation. Pupae were harvested, and kept individually in transparent plastic vials until adult emergence.

Development of immature DBM

To study the developmental periods (days) from hatching to pupation, 15 newly hatched first instars from both control and infected cohort were used (= 15 replicates, one larva per replicate per host plant). Larva were placed individually in similar type of containers ($5 \times 15 \times 15$ cm) as previously mentioned and kept as above. Larvae were fed with leaf of the respective host plants and leaves were replaced (as above) daily until pupation. The time (days) when pupae formed was recorded and larval duration was described as the number of days from hatching of the larvae to the pupal stage. Pupae within 24h of pupation were weighed using an electronic balance, kept separately in jars (5×15 cm) and monitored for adult emergence. The pupal durations were recorded.

Data Analysis

All data were tested for normality using Anderson- Darling test. Transformation of data was applied using Log10 (x+1) when data was not normally distributed to achieve normality before analysis. All measurements were analyzed by two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with infection status (infected or control) and host plant species as independent variables. When the independent variables or interactions between them were significant at $\alpha = 0.05$, the means were separated with Tukey's multiple range test. All the statistical analyses were conducted using MiniTab release 16 statistical software.

RESULTS

Oviposition preference

The mean number of eggs laid by DBM adults was affected by type of plant species ($F_{3,160} = 48.24$; P < 0.05), *N. bombycis* infection ($F_{1,160} = 15.02$; P < 0.05) and by their interaction ($F_{3,160} = 6.09$; P < 0.05). Mean numbers of eggs deposited by uninfected DBM were higher (76 ± 4.90) than infected DBM (43 ± 3.30). Oviposition preference of *P. xylostella* differed significantly among host plants (Fig. 1). There were no significant differences in mean total eggs laid by DBM (infected and control) on sawi, sawi bunga and pak choi (P > 0.05). *Nosema* infection did not deter oviposition by DBM, though *Nosema* did affect negatively the numbers of eggs laid (P < 0.5) on all plants except for cabbage.



FIGURE 1

Mean \pm SE number of eggs laid on different host plants species by control and infected-DBM; means with different lowercase letters are significantly different from each other (P< 0.05; Tukey's test)

P. xylostella performance

The mean percentage of eggs that hatched dramatically decreased ($F_{1,32} = 29.77$; P < 0.05) in *Nosema*-infected DBM (40 ± 4.2 %) compared to untreated ones (71 ± 3.8 %) among the tested plants. However, there was no significant difference in egg hatch rate between host plants for the control DBM and infected treatments ($F_{3,32} = 1.57$; P = 0.215) nor was there an interaction effect ($F_{3,32} = 0.18$; P = 0.906).

The mean number of pupae developed from larvae ($F_{1,32}$ = 91.62; P < 0.5) and adults emerged ($F_{1,32}$ = 109.51; P < 0.5) from these pupae were significantly decreased in *Nosema*-infected DBM compared to untreated ones among the tested plants. The effect of plant type on the number of pupae ($F_{3,32}$ = 0.98; P = 0.414) and adults ($F_{3,32}$ = 1.06; P = 0.377) of DBM produced was not significant.

The effect of interactions between type of plant and *N. bombycis* infection on larval ($F_{2,112} = 2.31$; *P* = 0.080; Table 1) and pupae ($F_{3,112} = 0.57$; *P* = 0.633; Table 1) development was not significant. However, plant type and *Nosema*-infection significantly (*P* < 0.05) impacted larval and pupal development time (Table 1). The offspring of DBM infected with *N. bombycis* developed more slowly (mean ± SE, 10.2 ± 0.11 d; 4.40 ± 0.11 d; for larval and pupal duration, respectively) than the offspring of non-diseased ones (mean ± SE, 9.7 ± 0.12 d; 4.0 ± 0.11 d; for larval and pupal duration, respectively), regardless of the plant they were fed.

TABLE 1

Two-way ANOVA results for mean developmental time (das) of DBM emerging from larvae (control or Nosema-infected) fed on different host plants and the interactions between these factors. L.D. = Larval duration, P.D.= Pupal duration and D.P. = Developmental period

	Source Source	df df	Mean square	F- value	P- value
L. D	Plant	3	0.056	20.52	< 0.05
	Infection status	1	0.010	10.96	< 0.05
	Plant × Infection status	3	0.006	2.31	0.080
	Error	112	0.102		
P.D	Plant	3	0.237	19.47	< 0.05
	Infection status	1	0.038	9.34	< 0.05
	Plant × Infection status	3	0.007	0.57	0.633
	Error	112	0.455		
D. P.	Plant	3	0.111	45.38	< 0.05
	Infection status	1	0.001	0.03	0.869
	Plant × Infection status	3	0.007	2.89	< 0.05
	Error	112	0.091		

The developmental time of DBM larvae ($F_{3,112} = 20.52$; P < 0.05; Table 2) and pupae ($F_{3,112} = 19.47$; P < 0.05; Table 2) were significantly longer for control and infected DBM fed on cabbage than with other plants except the pupal period for DBM fed on sawi bunga (Figure 3). In contrast, the developmental time of DBM larvae and pupae fed on sawi, were significantly shorter than when fed on the other plants (Fig. 2 and 3). The developmental time from hatching until adult emergence (Fig. 4) were significantly ($F_{3,112} = 45.38$; P < 0.05; Table 2) different among the plants. It was shorter when larvae were fed on sawi and longer on cabbage. However, the infection with *Nosema* did not affect the developmental time significantly for any type of plant (P > 0.05; Table 2).



FIGURE 2

Mean development time (\pm SE) in days of DBM larvae (control and Infected) fed on each host plant. Means followed by the same letter are not significantly different from each other according to ANOVA, Tukey's test (P > 0.05)



FIGURE 3

Mean $(\pm SE)$ development time in days of DBM pupae (control and infected) developed from larvae fed on each host plant. Means followed by the same letter are not significantly different from each other according to ANOVA, Tukey's test (P > 0.05)



Mean (\pm SE) development time (days) from hatching to adult emergence in days of DBM (control and infected) developed from larvae fed on each host plant. Means followed by the same letter are not significantly different from each other according to ANOVA, Tukey's test (P> 0.05)

DISCUSSION

Oviposition preference and performance of DBM differed significantly among host plants. Most eggs were laid on B. juncea and the least on B. oleracea for both healthy and infected DBM. This study demonstrated that DBM oviposition choice varied among the tested plants, and B. juncea plants was the most preferred whereas B. oleracea was the least preferred plant in terms of oviposition. Badenes-Perez et al. (2004) reported similar observations and recorded more eggs, on the cruciferous B. juncea than on cabbage. However, Nosema infection did not affect host ranking but it did adversely impact the numbers of eggs laid on all plants except for cabbage. The reduction in the number of eggs laid may be related to several factors affecting the egg laying process, because Nosema infects certain tissues involved in egg production (Jolly and Sen 1972). The high spore concentration of Nosema in the gonads of A. mylitta Drury, Antheraea assamensis Helfer, and Bombyx mori L. was found to affect reproductive potential and fertility (Bansal et al. 1997). Reduction in the number of eggs deposited by infected females could be a response to the competition between the host and the microsporidia for nutrients (Goertz et al. 2008), as the microsporidia meets its nutritional requirements by taking resources directly from the host cytoplasm (Liu 1984). Infected females have been suggested to compensate for the loss of nutrients to the microsporidia by producing fewer eggs (Goertz et al. 2008). Our observations are consistent with our previous work on DBM (Kermani et al. 2013) and with the effects of other Nosema spp., such as N. pyrausta on the European corn borer, Ostrinia nubilalis (Hübner) (Bruck et al. 2001), and Nosema sp. on silkworm (Rath et al. 2003).

The mean percentage of egg hatching, pupae developed from larvae and adults emerged from pupae were dramatically decreased in *Nosema*-infected DBM compared to untreated ones among the tested plants. These results are similar with the sub-lethal effects of *Nosema* sp. on DBM (Kermani *et al.* 2013) and other microsporidia on insects (Becnel and Andreadis 1999). However, there were no significant differences in the egg hatching, pupae developed and adults between different host plants for the control and similarly for treated DBM. This means that the type of food plant did not affect the production of the DBM progeny. Also, *Nosema* infection did not alters DBM performance on specific plant species. However, there were more progeny produced when DBM fed on *B. juncea* than on *B. oleracea* but this difference was not significant. Our results are similar to who found that *P. xylostella* survival on *B. oleracea* was significantly lower than other plants.

As expected, the development time for Nosemainfected DBM increased significantly compared to the control. An increase in developmental period due to microsporidia has been confirmed (Down et al. 2004; Blaser and Schmid-Hempel 2005). This delay could be a tactic from the microsporidia to spread the spores (Down et al. 2008) and to get as much as possible of the host resources (Hurd et al. 2001). This delay in adult emergence has been reported in the spruce budworm, Choristoneura fumiferana (Clem.) infected by N. fumiferanae (Campbell et al. 2007). Rath et al. (2003) suggested that the extended developmental period could be a tactic from the larvae to ingest more food to obtain best growth and accumulate enough nutrients for pupa and adult stages by extended larval period. We found that the development time of DBM from egg hatching to adult emergence varied greatly on different hosts. The difference also differed among the developmental stages of P. xylostella. The development period of control and Nosema infected was longest on cabbage (15.1 and 15.8 days respectively) and shortest (12.4 and 12.6 days respectively) on B. juncea. This means that the infection does not affect the DBM behavior on different plants in terms of development time. Variation in development time could be due to variation in nutritional quality (Syed and Abro 2003)in different hosts. In fact each host plant affects insect development rates differently (Soufbaf et al. 2012).

There are many studies on the effects of different species of cruciferous on the performance of DBM (Golizadeh *et al.* 2009; Sarfraz *et al.* 2007; Soufbaf *et al.* 2010; Zhang *et al.* 2012). Most studies demonstrated that each host plant affects the behavior and development of DBM differently (Sarfraz *et al.* 2007, 2008; Golizadeh *et al.* 2009). We found that *P. xylostella* performed best on *B. juncea* compared with the other plants used in this study, with the greatest number of eggs laid, number of offspring emerged and the shortest developmental time.

Based on our results, we suggest that *B. juncea* might be the best host plant to rear *P. xylostella*. This also might help to predict the pest's manifestation

once it disperses to a new plant in adjacent fields. In general, *Nosema* infection had negative impact on the fitness and performance of *P. xylostella* in terms of life history parameters. However, infected DBM behaved very similarly to controls on different host plants. This means that the infection has no effect on oviposition and performance of DBM regarding to different plants. Females usually chose to lay egg on oviposition site which would be the best for their larvae (Jones 1991), and in our study this was true as the females preferred *B. juncea* for oviposition and their progeny performed better on it.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This research was supported by UKM grant No. (02-01- 02-SF0601). The authors also wish to thank Malaysian Agricultural Research and Development Institute (MARDI).

REFERENCES

- BADENES-PEREZ, F. R., SHELTON, A. M. AND NAULT, B. A., 2004, Evaluating trap crops for diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae). *J. Econ. Entomol.*, **97**(4): 1365-1372.
- BANSAL, A., SAXENA, N., SHUKLA, R., ROY, D., SINHA, B. AND SINHA, S., 1997, A new technique proposed for estimation of Pebrine in Grainages. *Sericologia.*, 37(1): 11-17.
- BECNEL, J. J. AND ANDREADIS, T. G., 1999, Microsporidia in Insects In: WITTNER, M., (ed.) the Microsporidia and Microsporidiosis. 1999., Asm Press, Washington, DC., 447–501.
- BLASER, M. AND SCHMID-HEMPEL, P., 2005, Determinants of virulence for the parasite *Nosema whitei* in its host *Tribolium castaneum*. J. Invertebr. Pathol., 89 (3): 251-257.
- BRUCK, D. J., LEWIS, L. C. AND GUNNARSON, R. D., 2001, Interaction of *Nosema pyrausta* and temperature on *Ostrinia nubilalis* egg production and hatch. J. *Invertebr. Pathol.*, **78** (4): 210-214.
- CAMPBELL, C., VAN FRANKENHUYZEN, K. AND SMITH, S., 2007, Incubation period, spore egestion and horizontal transmission of *Nosema fumiferanae* (Microsporidia: Nosematidae) in Spruce budworm (*Choristoneura* sp., Lepidoptera: Tortricidae): the role of temperature and dose. *J. Invertebr. Pathol.*, **94** (3): 204-210.
- CHAPMAN, J. W., REYNOLDS, D. R. AND SMITH, A. D., 2003, Vertical-looking radar: A new tool for monitoring high-altitude insect migration. *Biosci.*, **53** (5): 503-511.

- DOWN, R. E., BELL, H. A., BRYNING, G., KIRKBRIDE-SMITH, A. E., EDWARDS, J. P. AND WEAVER, R. J., 2008, Infection by the *Microsporidium vairimorpha necatrix* (Microspora: Microsporidia) elevates juvenile hormone titres in larvae of the tomato moth, *Lacanobiaoleracea* (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae). J. Invertebr. Pathol., 97 (3): 223-229.
- DOWN, R. E., BELL, H. A., KIRKBRIDESMITH, A. E., EDWARDS, J. P., 2004, The pathogenicity of Vairimorpha necatrix (Microspora: Microsporidia) against the tomato moth, Lacanobiaoleracea (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae) and its potential use for the control of Lepidopteran glasshouse pests. Pest Manag. Sci., 60 (8): 755-764.
- EIGENBRODE, S. D., ESPELIE, K. E. AND SHELTON, A. M., 1991a, Behavior of neonate diamondback moth larvae *Plutella xylostella* (L.) on leaves and on extracted leaf waxes of resistant and susceptible cabbages. *J. Chem. Ecol.*, **17** (8): 1691-1704.
- EIGENBRODE, S. D., STONER, K. A., SHELTON, A. M. AND KAIN, W. C., 1991b, Characteristics of leaf waxes of *Brassica oleracea* associated with resistance to diamondback moth. J. Econ. Entomol., 83:1609-1618.
- FURLONG, M. J., WRIGHT, D. J. AND DOSDALL, L. M., 2013, Diamondback moth ecology and management: problems, progress, and prospects. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.*, 58: 517–541.
- GOERTZ, D., GOLLDACK, J. AND LINDE A., 2008, Two different and sublethal isolates of *Nosema lymantriae* (Microsporidia) reduce the reproductive success of their host, *Lymantria dispar. Biocontrol Sci. Technol.*, **18** (4): 419-430.
- GOERTZ, D. AND HOCH, G., 2008, Horizontal transmission pathways of terrestrial microsporidia: aquantitative comparison of three pathogens infecting different organs in *Lymantria dispar* L. (Lep.: Lymantriidae) larvae. *Biol. Cont.*, **44** (2): 196-206.
- GOLIZADEH, A., KAMALI, K., FATHIPOUR, Y. AND ABBASIPOUR, H., 2009, Effect of temperature on life table parameters of *Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) on two brassicaceous host plants. *J. Asia-Pac. Entomol.*, **12** (4): 207-212.
- GRZYWACZ, D., ROSSBACH, A., RAUF, A., RUSSELL, D. A., SRINIVASAN, R. AND SHELTON, A. M., 2010, Current control methods for diamondback moth and other brassica insect pests and the prospects for improved management with Lepidopteran-resistant Bt vegetable brassicas in Asia and Africa. *Crop Prot.*, **29** (1): 68-79.
- HIBBETT, D. S., BINDER, M., BISCHOFF, J. F., BLACKWELL, M., CANNON, P. F., ERIKSSON, O. E., HUHNDORF, S., JAMES, T., KIRK, P. M. AND LÜCKING, R., 2007, A higher-level

phylogenetic classification of the fungi *Mycol. Res.*, **111** (5): 509-547.

- HOLT, H. L., ARONSTEIN, K. A. AND GROZINGER, C. M., 2013, Chronic parasitization by *Nosema* Microsporidia causes global expression changes in core nutritional, metabolic and behavioral pathways in honey bee workers (*Apis mellifera*). *BMC Genomics*.14 (1): 799
- HURD, H., WARR, E. AND POLWART, A., 2001, A Parasite That Increases Host Lifespan. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sci., 268 (1477): 1749-1753.
- IDRIS, A., ZAINAL-ABIDIN, B., NORAINI, I. AND HUSSAN, A., 2001, *Diadegma semiclausum* as a possible factor for the horizontal transmission of microsporidial disease of diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* L. in Pakistan. J. Biol. Sci., 4 (11): 1353-1356.
- IDRIS, A., ZAINAL ABIDIN, B. H. AND NORAZSIDA, R., 2011, Species characterization of Microsporidia isolated from Lepidopteran pests in Malaysia. pp 103-108 In: SRINIVASAN, R., SHELTON, A.M. AND COLLINS, H.L. (Eds.), 2011. Proceedings of the Sixth International Workshop on Management of the Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Insect Pests, 2125, Kasetsart University, Nakhon Pathom, Thailand. AVRDC – The World Vegetable Center, Taiwan. 321.
- JOLLY, M. AND SEN, S., 1972, Infection of *Antheraea mylitta* Drury (Lepidoptera: Saturniidae) by a Microsporidian (*Nosema* Sp.). *Indian J. Seric.*, **11** (1): 52-57.
- JONES, R., 1991, Host location and oviposition on plants. in BAILEY, W. J. AND RIDSDILL SMITH, T. J., (Eds.). *Reproductive Behaviour of Insects*. London: Chapman & Hall. pp. 108-138.
- JUSTUS, K. A., DOSDALL, L. M. AND MITCHELL, B. K., 2000, Oviposition by *Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) and effects of phylloplane waxiness. *J. Econ. Entomol.*, **93** (4): 1152-1159.
- KERMANI, N., ABU-HASSAN, Z.A., DIENG, H., ISMAIL, N. F., ATTIA, M. AND GHANI, A. B., 2013, Pathogenicity of *Nosema* Sp. (Microsporidia) in the Diamondback Moth, *Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae). *PLoS ONE.*, 8 (5): 62884.
- LANGE, C. E. AND CIGLIANO, M. M., 1999, The outcome of the introduction of a pathogen for the biologicalcontrol of grasshoppers (Orthoptera: Acridoidea) in Argentina. *Int. Org. Biol. Control Bull.*, 22:37.
- LI Z, Y., ZALUCKI, M. P., BAO, H. A., CHEN, H.Y., HU, Z. D., ZHANG, D. Y., LIN, Q. S., YIN, F., WANG, M. AND FENG, X., 2012, Population dynamics and 'outbreaks' of diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella*, in Guangdong province, China: climate or the failure of management? J. Econ. Entomol., **105**: 739–752.

- LIU, T., 1984, Ultrastructure of the Midgut of the Worker Honey Bee Apis mellifera Heavily Infected with Nosema Apis. J. Invertebr. Pathol., 44 (3): 282-291.
- LOMER, C., BATEMAN, R., JOHNSON, D., LANGEWALD, J. AND THOMAS, M., 2001, Biological Control of Locusts and Grasshoppers. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.*, **46** (1): 667-702.
- MARAZZI, C., PATRIAN, B. AND STÄDLER, E., 2004, Secondary Metabolites of the Leaf Surface Affected by Sulphur Fertilisation and Perceived by the Diamondback Moth. *Chem. oecol.*, **14** (2): 81-86.
- NADIA, M., ZAINALA-ABIDIN, B., MANSOUR, S. AND IDRIS, A., 2011, Effects of Temperature and Different Concentrations of *Nosemabombycis* (Microsporidia: Nosematidae) Spores On. The Sixth International Workshop on Management of the Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Insect Pests, 21-25 March 2011, Kasetsart University, Nakhon Pathom, Thailand. 109-113.
- ONSTAD, D. W. AND CARRUTHERS, R. I., 1990, Epizootiological models of insect diseases. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.*, **35**:399-419.
- RATH, S., PRASAD, B. AND SINHA, B., 2003, Food utilization efficiency in fifth instar larvae of *Antheraea mylitta* (Lepidoptera: Saturniidae) infected with *Nosema* sp. and its effect on reproductive potential and silk production. *J. Invertebr. Pathol.*, **83** (1): 1-9.
- SARFRAZ, M., DOSDALL, L. M. AND KEDDIE, B. A., 2007, Resistance of some cultivated brassicaceae to infestations by *Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae). J. Econ. Entomol., **100** (1): 215-224.
- SARFRAZ, M., DOSDALL, L. M. AND KEDDIE, B. A., 2008, Host plant genotype of the herbivore *Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) affects the performance of its parasitoid *Diadegmainsulare* (Hymenoptera: Ichneumonidae). *Biol. Cont.*, 44 (1): 42-51.
- SHELTON, A., ROUSH, R., WANG, P. AND ZHAO, J. Z., 2007, Resistance to Insect Pathogens and Strategies to Manage Resistance: An Update, In: LACEY, L. A. AND KAYA, H. K., (Eds.), *Field Manual of Techniques in Invertebrate Pathology, 2nd Ed.* Kluwer Academic, Boston, MA. Pp. 793–811
- SHELTON, A. M. AND NAULT, B. A., 2004, Dead-end trap cropping: A technique to improve management of the diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae). *Crop Prot.*, **23** (6): 497-503.
- SOUFBAF, M., FATHIPOUR, Y., HARIMZADEH, J. AND ZALUCKI, M. P., 2010, Development and age-specific mortality

of diamondback moth on Brassica host plants: pattern and cause of mortality under laboratory conditions. *Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am.*, **100**: 574-579.

- SOUFBAF, M., FATHIPOUR, Y., ZALUCKI, M. P. AND HUI, C., 2012, Importance of primary metabolites in canola in mediating interactions between a specialist leaffeeding insect and its specialist solitary endoparasitoid. *Arthropod-Plant Interactions.*, **6**: 241-250.
- SYED, T. AND ABRO, G. 2003, *Plutella xylostella* under laboratory conditions. *Pak. J. Biol. Sci.*, 6 (22): 1891-1896.
- TALEKAR, N. S. AND SHELTON, A. M., 1993, Biology, ecology, and management of the diamondback moth. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.*, **38**: 275-301.
- THOMPSON, J. N., 1988, Evolutionary ecology of the relationship between oviposition preference and performance of offspring in phytophagous insects. *Entomol. Exp. Appl.*, **47** (1): 3-14.
- ULMER, B., GILLOTT, C., WOODS, D. AND ERLANDSON, M., 2002, Diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* (L.), feeding and oviposition preferences on glossy and waxy *Brassica rapa* (L.) lines. *Crop Prot.*, **21** (4): 327-331.
- VERKERK, R. AND WRIGHT, D., 1997, Field-based studies with the diamondback moth tritrophic system in Cameron highlands of Malaysia: implications for pest management. *Int. J. Pest Manag.*, **43** (1): 27-33
- ZALUCKI, M. P., SHABBIR, A., SILVA, R., ADAMSON, D., LIU, S. S. AND FURLONG, M. J., 2012, Estimating the economic cost of one of the World's major insect pests, *Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae): just how long is a piece of string? *J. Econ. Entomol.*, **105** (4): 1115-1129.
- ZHAO, J., COLLINS, H., LI, Y., MAU, R. F. L., THOMPSON, G., HERTLEIN, M., ANDALORO, J., BOYKIN, R. AND SHELTON, A., 2006, Monitoring of Diamondback Moth (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) Resistance to Spinosad, Indoxacarb, and Emamectin Benzoate. J. Econ. Entomo., 99 (1): 176-181.
- ZHAO, J., LI, Y., COLLINS, H., GUSUKUMA-MINUTO, L., MAU ,R. F.L., THOMPSON, G. AND SHELTON, A., 2002, Monitoring and Characterization of Diamondback Moth (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) Resistance to Spinosad. J. Econ. Entomol., 95 (2): 430-436.
- ZHANG, P. J., LU, Y. B., ZALUCKI, M. P. AND LIU, S. S., 2012, Relationship between adult oviposition preference and larval performance of the diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella*. J. Pest Sci., 85: 247-252.

Management of Diamondback Moth, *Plutella xylostella* L. Through Biorationals in Cabbage

R.H. PATIL, H.M. SHAILA AND J.S. AWAKNAVAR

Department of Agricultural Entomology, University of Agricultural Sciences, Dharwad – 580 005, Karnataka, India E-mail: patilrh57@gmail.com

Abstract

In recent years there is a growing awareness and preference for organically produced crops. Governments of India and Karnataka have been earmarking significant funds for research and popularization of organic farming especially in consumable crops. This has led to development of organic packages of practices and modules to manage important insect pests of vegetables and particularly in cabbage. With this background, investigations on management of diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* L. through biorational pest control in cabbage were undertaken during 2011 and 2012 at University of Agricultural Sciences, Dharwad. The results of two year experimentation revealed that soil application of neem cake @ 500 kg/ha followed by sprays of vermiwash, garlic – chilli – kerosene extract + cow urine, NSKE 5 per cent and Neemazol at 15 d interval from 25 d after transplanting was found to be significantly superior in bio-efficacy and was comparable to the standard check, 100 per cent recommended dose of fertilizers (RDF) + recommended package of practices (RPP) (Malathion 50 EC @ 2.0 ml/l) in reducing the pest population and recording high yield. Among different eco-friendly insecticides tested, spinosad 48 SC @ 0.2 ml/l, emamectin benzoate 5 SG @ 0.25 g/l, indoxacarb 14.5 SC @ 0.3 ml/l proved significantly superior in reducing the larval population of *P. xylostella* throughout the crop period and recorded higher cabbage yield. Spinsoad proved to be cost effective and dipel, novaluron, spinosad and emamectin benzoate were in the mentioned order found to be safe to the parasitoids.

Keywords: Diamondback moth, Biorationals, Spinosad, IPM

INDIA is the second largest producer of vegetables next to China with an annual production of 81.0 mt from 5.12 m. ha (Fageria *et al.* 2000). Among the vegetables, crucifers are among the most commonly grown vegetables. Cabbage is cultivated in 0.37 m ha with a production of 8.01 mt and average productivity of 21.5 t/ha in India (Indian horticulture data base 2014). In Karnataka it is grown in all the seasons over an area of 3,200 ha with annual production of 200,000 metric t having an average productivity of 24.6 t/ha.

Insect pests the major production constraint that hampers successful cultivation of crucifers. Among the insect pests, diamondback moth (*Plutella xylostella* L.) is a cosmopolitan defoliator pest causing 52 per cent crop loss in cabbage (Anuradha 1997). In spite of large scale and repeated application of insecticides, the pest has been found to occur in severe form in all cabbage growing areas mainly because of the fact that it has developed resistance to all major groups of pesticides. Presence of insecticide residues, management failure, adverse effects on natural enemies, environmental pollution and spiraling cost of synthetic insecticides have encouraged the present study on development of non-chemical and ecofriendly strategies for the management of diamondback moth in cabbage during 2011 and 2012.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Field experiments were carried out for two *rabi* seasons (October–January) of 2011 and 2012 at Main Agricultural Research Station, University of Agricultural Sciences, Dharwad (15°272303N), Karnataka. Application of soil amendments was done at the time of transplanting and spraying was taken up at 15 day intervals based on economic threshold levels (ETL), starting from 25 days after transplanting (DAT). Population count of DBM larvae was taken on 15, 30, 60 and 75 DAT.

Eco-friendly management trials were laid out with 10 treatments and each being replicated thrice using the randomized complete block design (RCBD) (Table 1). Cabbage variety Super Ball (F_1) was selected and 25 days old seedlings were transplanted during first week of December. Treatments were sprayed after 25 days of transplantation when the population reached ETL. Subsequent sprays were given at 15 days interval. Assessment of population density of DBM was taken on 10 randomly selected plants in each treatment of each replication. Pretreatment and post-treatment counts were made on one, three, seven and ten days after the treatment imposition. Cabbage yield was recorded from each treatment. Statistical analysis of data was done by using analysis of variance (ANOVA) after square root and angular transformation, followed by Duncan's Multiple Range Test (DMRT) for mean comparison.

TABLE 1

Details of organic amendments and spray sequence evaluated against P. xylostella

Tr. No.	Treatment details
T ₁	50% RDF + Vermicompost (1250 kg/ha) superimposed with spraying of vermiwash 1:1 – NSKE (5 %) – GCK (1 %) + cow urine (5 %) – Neemazal (2 ml/l)
T ₂	50% RDF + Vermicompost (2500 kg/ha) superimposed with spraying of vermiwash 1:1 – NSKE (5 %) – GCK (1 %) + cow urine (5 %) – Neemazal (2 ml/l)
T ₃	50 % RDF + Neemcake (250 kg/ha) superimposed with spraying of vermiwash 1:1 – NSKE (5%) – GCK (1%) + cow urine (5%) – Neemazal (2 ml/l)
T ₄	50 % RDF + Neemcake (500 kg/ha) superimposed with spraying of vermiwash 1:1 – NSKE (5 %) – GCK (1 %) + cow urine (5 %) – Neemazal (2 ml/l)
T ₅	50 % RDF + Pongamia cake (250 kg/ha) superimposed with spraying of vermiwash 1:1 – NSKE (5 %) – GCK (1 %) + cow urine (5 %) – Neemazal (2 ml/l)
T ₆	50 % RDF + Pongamia cake (500 kg/ha) superimposed with spraying of vermiwash 1:1 – NSKE (5 %) – GCK (1 %) + cow urine (5 %) – Neemazal (2 ml/l)
T ₇	50 % RDF + Poultry manure (1 t/ha) superimposed with spraying of vermiwash 1:1 – NSKE (5 %) – GCK (1 %) + cow urine (5 %) – Neemazal (2 ml/l)
T ₈	50 % RDF + Poultry manure (2 t/ha) superimposed with spraying of vermiwash 1:1 – NSKE (5 %) – GCK (1 %) + cow urine (5 %) – Neemazal (2 ml/l)
T ₉	100 % RDF + RPP
T ₁₀	Untreated check (100 % RDF)

^{*}Spraying at 15 days interval starting from 25 DAT (days after transplanting)

RESULTS AND **D**ISCUSSION

Soil application of organic amendment with sequential sprays of botanicals revealed that treatments with neem cake (NC) were found to be the most effective, which recorded least larval population and were comparable with recommended package of practice (RPP). Among the other treatments, T2 [vermicompost (VC)-2500-SS)] was significantly superior at all the intervals followed by T1 (VC-1250-SS). However, at 75 DAT, all the treatments with neem cake and vermicompost were found to be on par. Treatments including Pongamia cake were next in the order of efficacy (Table 2).

Treatment effect was manifested on yield in both the years of study (2011-2012). The pooled data of yield indicated significantly higher yield of cabbage in T4 (NC-500-SS), which was as good as RPP. This was followed by T3 (NC-250-SS), while significantly lower yield was recorded in untreated check. Among the treatments, maximum benefit cost (B:C) ratio was recorded in RPP followed by T3 (NC-250-SS) and T4 (NC-500-SS). The lowest BCR was recorded for poultry manure (PM-1000) treatment. The highest net return was also recorded for RPP, followed by neem cake treatments (Table 2).

Eco-friendly molecules spinosad and emamectin benzoate recorded significantly maximum percent larval reduction at all observations. Pooled analysis of the data on larval population indicated that spinosad and emamectin benzoate were on par in efficacy. The next best molecules in bio-efficacy were indoxacarb, novaluron and dipel, whereas N. rilevi was found to be the least effective in reducing P. xylostella larval population (Table 3). Pest reduction in various treatments clearly translated in yield increase. Pooled yield of cabbage over two years did not vary significantly among plots treated with spinosad and emamectin benzoate. By virtue of good protection offered by these insecticides the yield increased significantly in spinosad and emamectin benzoate. They were followed by indoxacarb, novaluron, and dipel. The benefit to cost ratio (B:C ratio) was maximum in spinosad followed by indoxacarb.

Proportion of investment to benefit was so close between novaluron and dipel.

Insecticidal control of DBM has posed problems of resistance development and pesticide residues in cabbage and hence switching over to organic agriculture with development of a non-chemical package or a program with least pesticide usage is the need of the hour in cabbage production. In this context, use of organic soil amendments and botanical pesticides in crop production assume greater significance. With this idea, an attempt has been made in the present study to know the effect of various organic amendments along with a non-chemical spray sequence on pest activity and management on cabbage in two field trials during 2011 and 2012. The literature pertaining to effect of organic soil amendments in DBM management appears scanty except few reports. Krishnamoorthy et al. (2001) reported that soil application of neem cake @ 250 kg/ha led to significant reduction in DBM larval population compared to untreated check. Similarly, Chakraborti (2001) reported the superiority of pre-sowing application of neem cake @ 300 kg/ha, followed by foliar application of NSKE and 1-2 applications with phosphamidon to be effective against DBM. However, in the present study RPP was superior over other treatments with neem cake application. Perhaps the absence of any chemical in the spray sequence in the present study might be the reason for variation of these results. Further Krishnamoorthy et al. (2001) reported that three applications of NSKE enabled harmonious blending of effective components of pest control methods in the light of the importance of conserving natural enemies, while pesticides are being used as a tool for the control of DBM.

In the present investigation, spinosad, a fermentation product of soil actinomycete, Saccharopolyspora spinosa with novel mode of action and emamectin benzoate were found to have strong larvicidal property against DBM. Several earlier researchers have also reported the effectiveness of spinosad and emamectin benzoate against DBM (Arora et al. 2003; Pramanik and Chatterjee 2004; Kumar and Devappa 2006; Kanna et al. 2005). The superiority of indoxacarb against DBM is in accordance with the works of many of the earlier authors (Babu et al. 2002; Liu et al. 2003). Among the treatments, spinosad registered highest yield and proved highly productive treatment. This is in agreement with earlier report by Dhanraj (2000). This was found to be on par with emamectin benzoate treated plots, which corroborate with the results of Kumar and Devappa (2006) and Kanna et al. (2005).

CONCLUSION

Soil application of neem cake @ 500 kg/ha followed by sprays of vermiwash, garlic - chilli – kerosene extract + cow urine, NSKE @ 5 per cent and Neemazol at 15 days interval was found as effective as standard check, 100 per cent RDF + RPP in reducing the pest population and recorded higher yield. Among different insecticides tested, spinosad 45 SC @ 0.2 ml/l, emamecgin benzoate 5 SG @ 0.25 g/ l, and indoxacarb 14.5 SC @ 0.3 ml/l proved significantly superior in reducing the larval population of *P. xylostella* throughout the crop period. Spinosad was also proved to be highly cost effective. Among the tested chemicals, dipel, novaluron, spinosad and emamectin benzoate in the mentioned order were found to be safe to the parasitoids.

TABLE 2

	Larvae / plantYield						Net	-		
Treatments	15 DAT	30 DAT	60 DAT	75 DAT	Mean	(t/ha) (INR)	returns (INR)	Incremental returns	cost (INR)	IBCR
T ₁ - Vermicompost 1.25 t/ha+SS	1.38 ^{de} (1.37)	2.72 ^d (1.79)	2.65 ^d (1.77)	2.55 ^{abc} (1.74)	2.33	14.54 ^e	24350	19100	4200	4.54
T2- Vermicompost 2.5t/ha+SS	0.92 ^{cd} (1.19)	2.42 ^{cd} (1.71)	2.32 ^{cd} (1.68)	2.22 ^{abc} (1.65)	1.97	16.26 ^{cd}	28650	23400	5450	4.29
T ₃ - Neem cake 250 kg/ha+SS	0.62 ^{bc} (1.05)	2.15 ^{ab} (1.63)	1.98 ^{bc} (1.58)	1.83 ^{ab} (1.53)	1.65	17.34 ^{bc}	31350	26100	3950	6.60
T ₄ - Neem cake 500 kg/ha+SS	0.42 ^{ab} (0.95)	1.95 ^{ab} (1.56)	1.80 ^b (1.52)	1.62 ^{ab} (1.46)	1.45	18.90 ^{ab}	35250	30000	4950	6.06
T ₅ - Pongamia cake 250 kg/ha+ SS	2.22 ^f (1.65)	3.58 ^e (2.02)	3.47° (1.99)	3.35 ^{bc} (1.96)	3.16	13.76 ^{ef}	22400	17150	5200	3.30
T ₆ - Pongamia cake 500 kg/ha+ SS	1.68 ^{ef} (1.47)	3.33° (1.96)	3.25° (1.94)	3.12 ^{bc} (1.90)	2.85	15.17 ^{de}	25925	20675	7450	2.78
T ₇ - Poultry manure 1 t/ha+ SS	3.70 ^g (2.05)	5.20 ^g (2.39)	5.32 ^g (2.41)	5.00 ^d (2.34)	4.80	11.56 ^{fg}	16900	11650	3950	2.35
T ₈ - Poultry manure 2 t/ha+ SS	3.02 ^g (1.87)	4.37 ^f (2.20)	4.25 ^f (2.18)	4.07 ^{cd} (2.14)	3.93	12.33 ^g	18825	13575	4950	2.74
T ₈ - Recommended package of practice	0.10 ^a (0.77)	1.60 ^a (1.45)	1.27 ^a (1.33)	1.13a (1.27)	1.03	19.41ª	36525	31275	4523	6.91
T ₁₀ - Untreated control	5.60 ^h (2.46)	6.63 ^h (2.67)	11.00 ^h (3.93)	12.35e (3.58)	8.89	6.90 ^h	5250	-	-	_

Effect of organic amendments with spray sequence on P. xylostella population and influence on yield in cabbage (pooled data of two years)

Figures in parentheses are square root transformed values ("x+05)

In a column means followed by the same alphabet do not differ significantly by DMRT (0.05%)

DAT - Days after transplanting, SS - Spray sequence

												i
	Dosage	Per cent larval reduction over pre treatment						Net	Incre	Treat		
Treatments	(g	F	First spra	у	S	econd spr	ay	Yield (t/ha)	returns	mental	ment	IBC
	ai/ha)	1 DAS	3 DAS	7 DAS	1 DAS	3 DAS	7 DAS	(1/11a)	(INR)	(INR)	(INR)	
T ₁ - Spinosad 2.5 SC	15	59.75 ^a (0.63)	94.11ª (76.72)	87.55 ^a (69.63)	49.84 (44.92)	96.06 ^a (80.93)	93.37 ^a (77.06)	35.28ª	72700	51025	3720	13.71
T ₂ Emamectin- benzoate 5 SG	7.5	53.45 ^a (47.99)	84.97 ^a (71.98)	80.77 ^a (64.72)	42.76 ^a (41.01)	87.35ª (74.64)	88.01 ^a (71.71)	33.17ª	67425	48250	6038	7.99
T_3 - Novaluron 10 EC	50	30.11° (33.25)	40.29 ^{cd} (30.37)	64.74 ^b (53.73)	31.50° (34.05)	59.09° (50.32)	68.94 ^b (56.29)	25.69 ^{bc}	48725	29500	5600	5.28
T ₄ - Indoxacarb 14.5 SC	35	45.03 ^b (42.11)	71.26 ^b (57.96)	69.95 ^b (56.96)	39.75 ^b (39.03)	75.62 ^b (61.09)	72.99 ^b (58.98)	28.76 ^b	56400	37225	3600	10.34
T ₅ - Bt (Dipel 8L)	60	23.91 ^d (29.20)	32.28° (34.58)	37.00° (37.43)	26.60° (30.94)	52.27 ^{cd} (46.33)	46.85 ^c (43.19)	23.71°	43775	24600	4795	5.13
T ₆ - Nomuraea rileyi	2 g/l	11.69 ^f (19.53)	13.80° (21.61)	18.24 ^d (25.26)	8.53 ^{ef} (16.85)	15.83 ^g (23.03)	25.66 ^f (30.33)	10.79°	11475	-	1400	-
Τ ₇ - Beauveria bassiana	5 g/l	14.45 ^f (22.31)	20.22 ^d (26.67)	22.15 ^d (27.85)	11.30 ^{ef} (19.34)	27.04 ^f (30.91)	30.52 ^{ef} (33.50)	14.51 ^d	20775	1600	3100	1.45
T ₈ - NSKE	5%	20.97 ^{de} (27.23)	26.34 ^{cd} (30.85)	25.32 ^d (30.06)	20.46 ^d (26.58)	45.28 ^{dc} (42.28)	40.59 ^{cd} (39.55)	15.10 ^d	22250	3075	1200	2.50
T ₈ - Malathion 50 EC	250	18.54° (27.48)	23.43 ^d (28.92)	22.17 ^d (28.07)	12.30 ^e (20.33)	36.04 ^{ef} (36.88)	35.24 ^{de} (36.38)	16.50 ^d	25750	6575	1690	3.89
T ₁₀ - Untreated control	-	-3.93 ^g (11.36)	-3.87 ^f (11.31)	-5.46 ^e (13.35)	-7.87 ^f (-15.97)	-3.09 ^h (-9.80)	-6.35 ^g (-14.35)	7.67e	-	-	-	-

 TABLE 3

 Bioefficacy of eco-friendly insecticides against P. xylostella and their influence on yield of cabbage

In a column means followed by the same alphabet do not differ significantly by DMRT (0.05%)

DAS - Days after spray, Figures in parenthesis are angular transformed values ("x+05)

REFERENCES

- ANURADHA, M., 1997, Possibility on integration of bio-agent for the management of diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* (*L*.) (Lepidoptera :Yponumentidae)., *Ph. D. Thesis*, Univ of Agri Sci., Bengaluru.
- ANONYMOUS., 2014, National horticultural data base, www.indianhorticulturedatabase.org
- ARORA, R. K., KALRA, U. K. AND ROHILLA, H. R., 2003, Toxicity of some new and conventional insecticides to diamondback moth, *Plutella xyllostella*. *Indian. J. Ent.* 65 (1): 43-48.
- BABU, R. S., RABINDRA, R. J. AND KENNEDY, J. S., 2002, Relative toxicity of newer insecticides against the diamond back moth, *Plutella xyllostella* (L.). *Madras Agric. J.*, **89** (4-6): 332-334.
- CHAKRABORTI, S., 2001, Neem based management approaches for mustard insect pests. *J. Entomol. Res.*, **25** (3): 213-220.
- DHANARAJ, 2000, Population dynamics and management of defoliator pests of cabbage, *M.Sc. (Agri.) Thesis*, Univ. Agric. Sci. Dharwad. p.284.

- FAGERIA, M. S., ARYA, P. S. AND CHOUDHARY, A. K., 2000, Vegetable crops: Production Technology. Kalyani Publishers, New Delhi.
- KRISHNAMOORTHY, P. N., KRISHNA KUMAR N. K., AND EDWARD RAJU, M., 2001, Neem and pongamia cakes in the management of vegetable pests. *Proceedings of Second National Symposium* on integrated pest management in Horticultural crops: New molecules biopesticides and environment. pp. 74-75.
- KANNA, S. S., CHANDRASHEKHARAN, S., RAGUPATHY, A. AND STANLEY, S., 2005, Field efficacy of Emamectin 5 SG against tomato fruit borer *Helicoverpa armigera* (Huber). *Pestology*, **29** (4): 21-24.
- KUMAR, P. AND DEVAPPA, U., 2006, Bioefficacy of Emamectin benzoate 5 % SG against diamondback moth in cabbage. *Pestology.*, **30** (2): 23-25.
- LIU, T. T., SPARKS, A. AND CHEN, W., 2003, Toxicity persistence and efficacy of indoxacarb and two other insecticides on *Plutella xyllostella* (L.) immature in cabbage. *Int. J. Pest Manag.*, **49** (3): 235-241.
- PRAMANIK, P. AND CHATTERJEE, M. L., 2004, Effect of novaluron in the population of *Plutella xyllostella* (L.) and *Spodoptera litura* on cabbage. *Ann. Plant Protect. Sci.*, **12**(1): 193-242.

Session 6

Biotechnological tools and novel approaches to manage diamondback moth and other crucifer pests

Toxicity and Sublethal Effects of *Bacillus thuringiensis* B. δ-Endotoxin Cry1Ab on the Biological Parameters of Diamondback Moth, *Plutella xylostella* L.

M. KANNAN, S. LOKESH, J.N. PRITHIVA AND M. MOHAN¹

Department of Nanoscience and Technology, Tamil Nadu Agricultural University, Coimbatore - 641 003, India E-mail: kanento@gmail.com

¹Division of Molecular Entomology, National Bureau of Agricultural Insect Resources (NBAIR), Bengaluru - 560 024 E-mail: Mohan_iari@yahoo.com

ABSTRACT

The toxicity and sublethal effects of *Bacillus thuringiensis* (*Bt*) endotoxin Cry1Ab on development and reproductive behaviour of the diamond back moth, *Plutella xylostella* L. was assessed by leaf dip method. The results of probit regression analysis of dose response mortality data for the bioassay of Cry1Ab to *P. xylostella* was recorded and the LC_{25} , LC_{50} and LC_{75} were 0.014, 0.115, 0.916 ig/ml, respectively. The results of the present study indicated that prolonged developmental durations (egg, larval, pupal and adult periods), retardation in larval growth and development, reduction in adult emergence, increase in malformation, reduced fecundity, oviposition periods and fertility together with significant decrease in late larval and pupal weights with increased toxin concentrations. In the sublethally exposed insect the percentage of larvae that survived and pupated increased with a decrease in the toxin concentrations. Furthermore, delayed larval development with slow death may expose the pest to natural enemies and also reduce the risk associated with resistance development by decreasing the dominance and inheritance of resistance.

Keywords: Bacillus thuringiensis, toxicity, sublethal effects, Cy1Ab, P. xylostella

DIAMONDBACK moth (DBM), Plutella xylostella (Linnaeus) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae), is one of the most damaging cosmopolitan insect pests of cruciferous vegetables in many parts of the world. The crop loss is estimated to vary from 52 to 100 per cent (Calderson and Hare 1986). It is one of the major constrains in the profitable cultivation of cole crops. In 1993, the estimated annual cost for its control on cruciferous crops worldwide was \$ 1 billion USD, primarily with insecticides (Talekar and Shelton 1993). In 2012 the estimated annual total costs associated with damage and management of DBM worldwide was 4-5 billion USD (Zalucki et al. 2012) and in India, it is about 168 million USD (Sandur 2004). The main method of control has been the use of insecticides and the pest has become very serious in many regions because of its ability to establish in newer areas, coupled with high reproductive potential and shorter life cycle and year-round availability of host plants. Its rapid generation time, high proliferation and particularly extensive selection pressure in the field, resulted in resistance to various types of traditional insecticides. The extensive use of many commercial insecticides aggravated the development of resistance across various countries (Shelton et al. 1993).

Bt is a rod shaped, gram positive soil bacterium that, produces insecticidal crystal proteins during sporulation. The crystals comprising of one or more δ -endotoxins referred to as Cry proteins, vary among different Bt strains. The mode of action of Bt in the insect midgut includes the following steps: solubilization and enzymatic activation of crystal inclusions, binding of activated toxin to receptors on midgut epithelium and pore formation leading to osmotic imbalance and subsequent septicemia, toxemia and eventual death (Knowles and Dow 1993).

The bio-pesticide market currently accounts for 2 per cent of the worldwide crop protection market or about 600 million USD. Products based on *Bt* are the most successful microbial pesticides used in agriculture, forestry and public health accounting for more than 90 per cent of bio-pesticide sales (Sanchis and Bourguet 2008). Many commercial formulations containing high levels of δ -endotoxins have been proven to be as effective as chemical insecticides. Besides, they exhibit high specificity to target pests without detrimental effects on beneficial insects and animals. Furthermore, δ -endotoxins are primary translation products of bacterial genes and are amenable to genetic engineering techniques.

It was once believed that resistance development in insects would be unlikely for bio-pesticides like *Bt* because they have co-evolved naturally over millions of years. Subsequently, with laboratory and field evolved resistance to *Bt* documented in the diamondback moth demonstrated adaptation by pests is now considered the biggest threat to the long term success of *Bt* in *P. xylostella* management. Considering the importance of crucifer crops in India, it is essential to study the toxicity and effect of sublethal doses of *Bacillus thuringiensis* endotoxin Cry1Ab on the biological performance of *P. xylostella* to devise an appropriate resistance management strategy. Since, fitness costs can be a key factor influencing the evolution of resistance.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Insects

About 250 larvae were collected from Thondamuthur village of Coimbatore district, Tamil Nadu, India and mass cultured under laboratory condition on mustard and cauliflower at the Insectary, Department of Agricultural Entomology, TNAU, Coimbatore to establish the stock culture of *P. xylostella* (with a mean temperature of 27°C, 60% RH and with a photoperiod of 14:10 (L: D)). Larvae were examined regularly to ensure that they remained pathogen-free for rearing and maintained.

Purification of recombinant B. thuringinsis Cry1Ab endotoxin

Recombinant E. coli (JM 103) expressing the Cry1Ab gene which was cloned in pKK 223-3 was kindly provided by Dr. D.R. Zeigler, BGSC, Columbus, USA. Culturing, isolation, purification and quantification of Cry1Abprotein followed the protocol of Lee et al. (1992). Cells were cultured on Luria agar plates containing 50 µgml⁻¹ ampicillin for 48h at 37 °C. The cells were harvested by scraping, content was centrifuged at 8,000 rpm for 10 min and the pellet was suspended in 50 ml of lysis buffer (50 mM Trishydrochloride, 50 mM ethylene diamine tetra-acetic acid, 15% sucrose, pH 8.0, 2 mgml⁻¹ lysozyme) and incubated for 12 h at 37 °C. After sonicating the suspension, it was given extensive washing with ice cold 0.5 NaCl containing 2% Triton X-100 followed by 0.5M sodium chloride and sterile distilled water. In all the steps the protease inhibitor, phenyl methyl sulfonyl fluoride was added at 1mM concentration. The final pellet containing inclusion bodies was solubilized in 50 mM sodium carbonate buffer, pH 10.5, containing 10 mM dithiotheritol at 37 °C for 6 h. Then it was centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 10 min, and the supernatant containing the solubilized protoxin was activated by Bovine trypsin (0.1 mg stock) at 10:1 ratio for 12 h and then stored at -20 °C. Toxin protein was quantified by Bradford dye binding method (Bradford, 1976) and was estimated to be 0.33 mg/ml.

Bioassay method

Leaf-dip bioassay method was used (Tabashnik et al. 1991). The cabbage leaves were first washed with distilled water containing 0.1% Triton X-100 thoroughly and air-dried. Leaf discs of 6-8 cm diameter were cut and dipped in different concentrations of the toxin. Each disc was dipped for 5-10 seconds and allowed to air-dry under shade for 1 hour. After complete evaporation, the leaves were transferred to clean bioassay containers over a moistened filter paper. The leaf discs were placed on a slant to rest on the side of the container so that larvae could move on either side. Eight to ten 2rd instars were released in each dish and four to five replicates were maintained per treatment. A treatment without Bt protein served as control. Larval mortality was recorded every 24 h, consecutively for seven days. All the experiments were carried out in a room with a photoperiod of 12:12 (L: D) and experiments with control mortality more than 20% were discarded and repeated. The mortality of neonates was observed up to 7 days for LC_{25} LC_{50} LC_{75} and until adult emergence for growth and development studies. Probit regression analysis and ANOVA were carried out Finney (1971) and Gomez and Gomez (1984), respectively.

Exposure of P. xylostella *to sublethal doses* following

The development and reproductive behaviours of *P. xylostella* were studied by continuous exposure to sublethal doses of Cry1Ab. Dose levels were chosen to represent an LC₂₅ (0.014 ig/ml), LC₅₀ (0.115 ig/ml) and LC₇₅ (0.916 ig/ml), respectively as determined in the bioassays. The leaf discs coated with different doses of Cry1Ab toxin was used in the study. Hundreds of neonate larvae were released in each treatment and leaf discs were changed at every 3 days until pupation in respective doses. Data on the development *viz.*, egg, larval and pupal periods, adult

longevity, adult emergence, larval, and pupal weights were recorded. The reproductive behaviours of *P. xylostella viz.*, fecundity, fertility and fecundity period were studied by rearing the adults emerging from respective treatments. Adult emergence was recorded daily and the percentages for adult emergence, healthy and malformed, were calculated. The number and percentage hatch of eggs laid were recorded for each female (Salama *et al.* 1981).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Toxicity of Cry1Ab toxin to P. xylostella

The results of studies on the toxicity of Cry1Ab to *P. xylostella* by the leaf-dip bioassay method and

the result of probit regression analysis are shown in Table 1. The LC_{25} , LC_{50} and LC_{75} were 0.014, 0.115 and 0.916 ig/ml, respectively. The mean slope of the probit regression for Cry1Ab was 0.738. The results of the present study are in agreement with findings of Mohan and Gujar (2002), who reported that the populations from Iruttupallam and Ottanchathiram in the southern state of Tamil Nadu had significantly higher LC_{50} values (ranged from 0.007–1.25 igml^{"1}) than the populations collected from the northern part of India. Similarly, Phani on deshire and Gujar (2005) also reported that the populations of *P. xylostella* collected from seven states in India were susceptible to Cry1Ab (LC_{50} values ranged from 0.002 to 0.386 ig/ml).

Sub lethal dose (µg/ml) (seven days)	95% fiduo	cial limits	Slope + SF	v ^{2*}	Degree of Freedom
	Lower	Upper	Slope ± SE	۸.	(df)
LC ₂₅ (0.014)	0.0068	0.0305			
LC ₅₀ (0.115)	0.0538	0.2467	0.738 ± 0.22	0.389	4
LC ₇₅ (0.916)	0.2018	4.1573			

 TABLE 1

 Probit regression analysis of mortality data to Cry1Ab for P. xylostella

* In each case χ^2 value from the goodness-of-fit test was less than the tabular value, (p = 0.05), indicating that the data fit the probit model.

Sublethal effects of Cry1Ab on the developmental parameters of P. xylostella

The result of the present study indicated that prolonged developmental durations occurred: egg $(4.00, 3.00, 3.00 \text{ and } 4.00 \text{ days in } LC_{25}, LC_{50} LC_{75} \text{ and}$ control, respectively); larvae (11.00, 11.00, 10.00 and 12.00 days in LC_{25} , LC_{50} LC_{75} and control, respectively); pupae (4.00, 3.00, 3.00 and 4.00 days in LC₂₅, LC₅₀ LC₇₅ and control, respectively); adults (male: 8.00, 9.00, 9.00 and 8.00; female: 9.00, 10.00, 10.00 and 9.00 00 days in LC_{25} , LC_{50} , LC_{75} and control, respectively). There were also significant decreases in late larval (2.11, 2.02, 1.71 and 2.21 mg/larva in LC_{25} , $LC_{50}LC_{75}$ and control, respectively) and pupal weights (3.55, 3.53, 3.48 and 3.61 mg/pupa in LC₂₅, LC₅₀ LC₇₅ and control, respectively) (Table 2). In sublethally exposed insects the percentage of larvae that survived and pupated decreased with an increase in the toxin concentrations.

The results on sub lethal doses of Cry1Ab on *P. xylostella* prolonged the total developmental duration *viz.*, egg, larvae, pupae and adults and, reduced the larval and pupal weights. Similar results were observed in *Heliothis armigera* (Dulmage *et al.* 1978; Salama *et al.* 1981). In the present study, the larvae exposed to sublethal doses of ä-endotoxin Cry1Ab during 12 days showed severe reduction in larval, pupal weights and more of growth inhibition. These findings are in agreement with the results of Gujar and Mohan (2000). Kannan and Uthamasamy (2006) reported that exposure of *H. armigera* to low doses of *Bt* toxin delayed the larval and pupal periods, inhibited the larval growth and reduced the larval and pupal weights.

Table 2

Sub lethal dose (µg/ml)	Egg period (days)*	Larval period (days)*	Pupal period (days)*	12 th day larval weight (mg/larva)	Pupation* (%)	Pupal weight (mg/pupa)*	Oviposition Period (days)*
LC ₂₅ (0.014)	4.00a	11.00b	4.00a	2.11 ^{ab}	71.66b	3.55 ^b	5.00ª
LC ₅₀ (0.115)	3.00b	11.00b	3.00b	2.02 ^b	45.71c	3.53 ^b	5.00ª
LC ₇₅ (0.916)	3.00b	10.00c	3.00b	1.71°	32.00d	3.48°	4.00 ^b
Control	4.00a	12.00a	4.00a	2.21ª	86.66a	3.61ª	5.00ª
Grand Mean	3.50	11.00	3.50	2.01	59.00	3.54	4.75
SED	0.121	0.389	0.121	0.073	2.041	0.12	0.164
CD (0.05)	0.252	0.825	0.253	0.154	4.259	0.2621	0.342
CV (%)	5.75	5.71	5.75	5.83	6.19	5.70	5.75

Sublethal effects of Bacillus thuringiensis B. endotoxin Cry1Ab on the developmental parameters of Diamondback moth.

*Mean of 30 observations; means followed by different letters within a row indicate significant differences (P<0.05; LSD)

Sublethal effects of Cry1Ab on the reproductive parameters of P. xylostella

Sub-lethal exposure of P. xylostella larvae to the Cry1Ab toxin significantly influenced the reproductive capacity of moths. The present results show the existence of physiological infection of Cry1Ab on P. xylostella during developmental stages. There was a significant reduction in adult emergence $(90.00, 86.66, 80.00 \text{ and } 96.66 \text{ per cent in } LC_{25}, LC_{50}$ LC_{75} and control, respectively), increase in malformation (7.69, 15.38, 26.08 and 4.00% in LC₂₅, LC_{50} LC₇₅ and control, respectively) and a significant decrease in fecundity (59.00, 55.00, 41.00 and 67.00 eggs/ 2 pairs % in LC_{25} , LC_{50} , LC_{75} and control, respectively), oviposition period (5.00, 5.00, 4.00 and 5.00 days in LC_{25} , LC_{50} LC_{75} and control, respectively) and fertility (88.13, 80.45, 80.36 and 93.52 per cent in LC₂₅, LC₅₀, LC₇₅ and control, respectively) (Table 3). The present results thus, agree with the earlier studies of Salama et al. (1981). We believe that the low emergence, less fertility, less fecundity and malformation as a result of poor physiological condition of the survivors are the direct effects of the toxin on the sexual process.

Furthermore, the delayed growth and development are in turn significant from the concept of Integrated Pest Management, where insects die a slow death, exposing them to attack of parasitoids and predators (Gujar and Mohan 2000). The increased level of natural enemies interaction would aid in reducing the overall insect population. It may also reduce the risk associated with resistance development by decreasing the dominance and inheritance of resistance and such interactions are gaining importance as IPM is increasingly practiced in crucifer production systems.

CONCLUSION

The results of the above studies calculated LC_{25} , LC_{50} and LC_{75} values of 0.014, 0.115 and 0.916 ig/ml, respectively. Similarly, sub lethal doses of Cry1Ab on *P. xylostella* prolonged the total developmental duration *viz.*, egg, larvae, pupae and adults. Cry1Ab also reduced larval and pupal weights, reduced adult emergence, increased malformation and reduced fecundity, oviposition periods and fertility. These results on *P. xylostella* may favour natural enemies interaction with the host insect and thereby reduce insecticide applications which may benefit ecological based sustainable IPM in cruciferous crops.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The authors are grateful to the Professor and Head, Department of Agricultural Entomology, Tamil Nadu Agricultural University, Coimbatore for providing the necessary facilities. The senior author also acknowledges the conference accommodation grant from the World Vegetable Center sponsored DBM Workshop Fund.

Table 3

Sub lethal dose (µg/ml)	Adult emergence * (%)	Healthy adult emergence * (%)	Malformed adult emergence * (%)	Adult longevity male (days)	Adult Longevity female (days)	Fecundity (No. of eggs laid) **	Fertility ** (%)
LC ₂₅ (0.014)	90.00 ^b	92.30 ^b	7.69°	8.00 ^b	9.00 ^b	59.00 ^b	88.13 ^b
LC ₅₀ (0.115)	86.66°	84.61°	15.38 ^b	9.00ª	10.00ª	55.00°	80.45°
LC ₇₅ (0.916)	80.00 ^d	73.91 ^d	26.08ª	9.00ª	10.00ª	41.00 ^d	80.36°
Control	96.66ª	96.00ª	4.00 ^d	8.00 ^b	9.00 ^b	67.00ª	93.52ª
Grand Mean	88.33	80.11	17.88	8.50	9.5	55.5	85.6 ²
SED	3.145	2.926	0.780	0.361	0.346	1.865	2.96 ²
CD (0.05)	6.560	6.103	1.628	0.753	0.722	3.889	6.18°
CV (%)	5.73	5.77	6.90	5.71	5.70	5.85	5.77

Sublethal effects of Bacillus thuringiensis B. δ -endotoxin Cry1Ab on the reproductive parameters of Diamondback moth, Plutella xylostella

*Mean of 30 observations; means followed by different letters within a row indicate significant differences (P<0.05; LSD),

** No. of observation = 2 pairs

REFERENCES

- BRADFORD, M. M., 1976, A rapid and sensitive method for quantification of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein – dye binding. *Anal. Biochem.*, 74: 248 – 258.
- CALDERON, J. I. AND HARE, C. J., 1986, Control of diamondback moth in Southeast Asia by profenofos. In: Diamondback moth management. In: TALEKAR, N.S. AND GRIGGS, T.D. (eds.) Proceedings Ist. International Workshop, 15-20, March 1985, AVRDC, Taiwan, pp.289–295.
- DULMAGE, H. T., GRAHAM, H. M. AND MARTINEZ, E., 1978, Interactions between the tobacco budworm, *Heliothis virescens*; and the ä-endotoxin produced by the HD-1 isolate of *Bacillus thuringiensis var. Kurstaki*: relationship between length of the exposure to the toxin and survival. *J. Invertebr. Pathol.*, **32**: 40-50.
- FINNEY, D. J., 1971, Probit analysis, (3rd ed.) Cambridge University Press: London.
- GOMEZ, K. A. AND GOMEZ, A. A., 1984, *Statistical Procedures for Agricultural Research*. John Wiley & Sons, New York., p. 680.
- GUJAR, G. T. AND MOHAN, M., 2000, Effects of *Bacillus thuringiensis* Subspecies *kurstaki* and its endotoxin Cry 1Ab on growth and development of *Helicoverpa armigera* (Hubner). *Pesti. Res. J.*, **12**: 210 – 214.
- KANNAN, M. AND UTHAMASAMY, S., 2006, Effects of sublethal doses of *Bacillus thuringiensis* ä-Endotoxin Cry1Ac

on the developmental performance of the cotton bollworm, *Helicoverpa armigera* (Hubner). *Biopest C. Internl.*, **2**: 51-59.

- KNOWLES, B. H. AND DOW, J. A., 1993, The crystal *á*endotoxins of *Bacillus thuringiensis*: Models for their mechanism of action on the insect gut. *Bioessays.*, 15: 469-476.
- LEE, M. K., MILNE, A. AND DEAN, D. H., 1992, Location of *Bombyx mori* receptor binding region of a *Bacillus thuringiensis* δ- endotoxin. *J. Biol. Chem.*, **267**: 3115-3121.
- MOHAN, M. AND GUJAR, G. T., 2000, Susceptibility pattern and development of resistance in the diamondback moth *Plutella xylostella* L., to *Bacillus thuringiensis* Ber. var *kurstaki* in India. *Pest Manag. Sci.*, **56**: 189– 194.
- PHANI. K. K. AND GUJAR, G. T., 2005, Baseline susceptibility of the diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* (Linnaeus) to *Bacillus thuringiensis* Cry1A toxins in India. *Crop Prot.*, **24**: 207-212.
- SALAMA, H. S., FODA, M. S., SHARABY, A., MATTER, M. AND KHALAFALLAH, M., 1981, Development of some sublethal levels of endotoxins of *Bacillus thuringiensis* for different periods. *J. Invertebr. Pathol.*, **38**: 220-229.
- SANCHIS, V. AND BOURGUET, D., 2008, *Bacillus thuringiensis*: applications in agriculture and insect resistance management: A review. *Agron. Sustain. Dev.*, **28**: 11-20.

- SANDUR, S., 2004, Implications of diamondback moth control for Indian farmers. Consultant report for the Centre for Environmental Stress and Adaptation Research. La Trobe University, Victoria, Australia.
- SHELTON, A. M., WYMAN, J. A., CUSHING, N. L., APFELBECK, K., DENNEHY, T. J., MAHR, S. E. R. AND EIGENBRODE, S. D., 1993, Insecticide resistance of diamondback moth (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) in North America. J. Econ. Entomol., 86: 11–19.
- TABASHNIK, B. E., FINSON, N. AND JOHNSON, M. W., 1991, Managing resistance to *Bacillus thuringiensis*: Lessons

from the diamondback moth (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae). *J. Econ. Entomol.*, **84**: 49-55.

- TALEKAR, N. S. AND SHELTON, A. M., 1993, Biology, ecology and management of diamondback moth. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.*, **38**: 275-301.
- ZALUCKI, M. P., SHABBIR, A., ADAMSON, D. AND SHU-SHENG, L., 2012, Estimating the economic cost of one of the world's major insect pests, *Plutella xylostella* (*Lepidoptera; Plutellidae*): just how long is a piece of string. J. Econ Entomol., **105**: 1115-1129.

Progress in The Development of Transgenic Cabbage, Cauliflower and Canola Expressing Stacked Bts for Caterpillar Control and RNAi for Aphid Suppression

D.A. RUSSELL, D. HUANG¹, P. BHALLA², M. SINGH³, C. ROBIN⁴, J. GOLZ⁵, A. WILLIAMS⁶, R. GOOD⁷, O. EDWARDS⁸, B. CARROLL⁹, R.K. BHATNAGAR¹⁰, R.C. BHATTACHARYA¹¹, P. KALIA¹², G.T. GUJAR¹³ AND V. KALIA¹⁴

Faculty of Veterinary and Agricultural Sciences, University of Melbourne, Parkville, Australia 3010 E-mail: derek.russell@unimelb.edu.au

^{1 & 2} Faculty of Veterinary and Agricultural Sciences, University of Melbourne, Parkville, Australia 3010 E-mail: premlba@unimelb.edu.au

³ Faculty of Veterinary and Agricultural Sciences, University of Melbourne, Parkville, Australia 3010 E-mail: mohan@unimelb.edu.au

⁴School of Biosciences, University of Melbourne, Parkville, Australia 3010. E-mail: c.robin@unimelb.edu.au

⁵School of Biosciences, University of Melbourne, Parkville, Australia 3010. E-mail: j.golz@unimelb.edu.au

⁶School of Biosciences, University of Melbourne. Parkville, Australia 3010. E-mail: a.williams@unimelb.edu.au ⁷School of Biosciences, University of Melbourne, Parkville, Australia 3010

⁸CSIRO Land and Water Flagship, Floreat, Western Australia. E-mail: o.edwards@csiro.edu.au

⁹School of Chemistry and Biological Sciences, University of Queensland, St Lucia, Australia

E-mail: b.carroll@uq.edu.au

¹⁰International Centre for Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology, Aruna Asif Ali Marg, New Delhi 110067 E-mail: raj@icgeb.res.in

¹¹National Research Centre for Plant Biotechnology, Pusa Institute, New Delhi, India

E-mail: bhattacharyarc @rediffmail.com

¹²Division of Vegetable Science, Indian Agriculture Research Institute, New Delhi, India. E-mail: pritam.kalia@gmail.com ¹³Division of Entomology, IARI, New Delhi, India. E-mail: gtgujar@yahoo.com

¹⁴Division of Entomology, IARI, New Delhi, India. E-mail: vkalia_1998@yahoo.com

Abstract

Building on the earlier technical success of a Public Private Partnership in India using pyramided Bt genes cryIB and cryIC for the control of *Plutella xylostella*, *Crocidolomia pavonana*, *Hellula undalis and Pieris spp*. in cabbage and cauliflower, a consortium of Australian and Indian public institutions has been extending that work to include caterpillar control in canola in Australia and aphid control with RNAi in the three crops. A reengineered Bt construct has proved effective in trials with *Arabidopsis* and canola in Australia and is currently under test in transformed cabbage and cauliflower in India. The efficacy of constitutive and phloem specific promoters for aphid RNAi expression have been determined. *Myzus persicae* have been challenged with >20 RNAi sequences designed against genes involved in critical functions, without however identifying clearly effective, taxonomically unique, sequences. A targeted gene insertion system is under development to enable the insertion of aphid RNAi sequences next to existing Bt cassettes in the crop plants when effective sequences are demonstrated.

Keywords: Bt brassicas, aphid RNAi, Myzus persicae, Plutella xylostella

THE very considerable success of insect resistant transgenic crops, and in particular Bt crops, since 1996 has encouraged their deployment for the control of caterpillar and other insect pests in brassicas. Grzywacz *et al.* (2010) reviewed the potential contribution of caterpillar resistant Bt brassicas to farmers in Asia and Africa. Shelton *et al.* (2008) reviewed the progress in the development and use of Bts in brassica crops. Diamondback moth (DBM) was the first insect to develop resistance to sprayed Cry Bt proteins in the field (Tabashnik *et al.* 2003) resulting in work with stacked Bts with differing binding sites within diamondback moth which are better able to withstand resistance selection (Cao *et al.* 2002).

From 2002 to 2010 a public/private initiative, CIMBAA 'the Collaboration for Insect management in Brassicas in Africa and Asia' developed and tested stacked cry1B/cry1C Bt genes in cabbage and cauliflower for India with a view to commercialization there (Russell et al. 2008, 2011). Aphids are a major set of vectors of brassica viral diseases in addition to the damage caused directly by their feeding activity. but have not yet been shown to be sufficiently susceptible to Bts (even Bts modified with gut binding peptides (Chougule et al. 2013)) for Bts to provide a realistic prospect of control. A successor to the CIMBAA programme, the CARiB (Caterpillar and Aphid Resistance in Brassicas) (2012-16) project is attempting to use RNA interference for the control of key brassica aphid pests and to stack this with the cry1B/cry1C Bt combination.

The CIMBAA project (2002-2010)

A description of the structure of this public/ private partnership between Nunhems Seeds BV and the University of Greenwich, Cornell University, Melbourne University and AVRDC, the World Vegetable Center with support from a number of technical partners, notably TERI University and IARI in New Delhi, can be found in Russell *et al.* (2008). A discussion of the scientific advances made and the subsequent obstacles to commercialization resulting in the closing of this very technically promising programme can be found in Russell *et al.* (2008 and 2011) and Shelton *et al.* (2009). Here we briefly summarise the earlier technical advances on which the present work is predicated

After consideration of cross resistance patterns in diamondback moth between various Bt proteins (Zhao et al. 2001, 2003), the Bt gene combination cry1B/cry1C was chosen on the basis of efficacy, the polygenic resistance to Cry1C and having separate binding sites in the brush border membrane of diamondback moth (Ballister et al. 1999). Work using leaf-dip assays on 26 field collected populations in India, USA, China, Indonesia and Australia (Russell et al. 2008, Shelton et al. 2009) confirmed the efficacy of this protein combination against diamondback moth (with LC50s for Cry1B less than twice that of the standard susceptible (Geneva88) population and less than 3 times the value for the susceptible population for Cry1C). Crocidolomia pavonana and Hellula undalis also proved to be very susceptible to both of these proteins. Pieris rapae and B. brassicae were susceptible to Cry1B but P. rapae (from the USA) was rather less susceptible to Cry1C and Spodoptera litura and Helicoverpa armigera were considerably less susceptible to either protein.

The Bt *cry1B/cry1C* combination was transformed into cabbage and cauliflower varieties by the private sector partner and extensively tested and selected in greenhouse/ screenhouse trials in India from 2006 to 2010. As reported in Kaliaperumal *et al.* (2011) trials in India near Delhi and Bengaluru in 2008-2009 showed outstanding (100%) control of first instar *P. xylostella*, *C. pavonana* and *H. undalis* on selected elite lines of both cabbage and cauliflower. *P. brassicae* had no survival on Bt cauliflower but some larval survival (no pupation) on cabbage. *S. litura* mortality was > 90 % on cabbage and up to 80 % on cauliflower with no pupation on either crop. *H. armigera* was not well controlled but larval weights were strongly reduced with <4 % eventual pupation.

Attempts at Melbourne University to select for resistance in diamondback moth with Cry1B and Cry1C separately did not produce a resistance ratio over 20 generations of more than 20-fold. Resistance was autosomal, functionally recessive (dominance coefficient (h) 0.24-0.29 for Cry1B in a range of field strains and 0.4 for Cry1B) and highly unstable, implying considerable fitness costs. Neither 'resistant' strain proved to have heightened tolerance to a Cry1B/ Cry1C protein combination and efforts to select with that combination achieved an unstable resistance of less than 4 fold (Behere, Nair, Russell and Gujar unpublished). Further selection for resistance was undertaken in India, reaching >400 fold for Cry1B compared with Indian field strains and 20 fold for Cry1C. Neither 'resistant' strain showed any improved survival on the selected cry1B/cry1C Bt plants although some insects fed for longer than did the susceptible controls.

Work on the IPM context for Bt brassicas in India (Kaliaperumal *et al.* 2011) showed that in sprayed Bt fields (regulatory restrictions prevented Bt crop planting in open fields) predators and parasites were more active than in fields under conventional management. Control of aphids in those fields could be managed for up to 45 days post planting using imidacloprid (as Confidor® 600 FS) in experimental soil drenching and seed pelleting treatments, with one to two applications of *Verticillium lecanii* thereafter. The < 10 % of *S. litura* and *H. armigera* experimentally inoculated into the plots which survived the Bt sprays, could be controlled with their species-specific NPVs at $1.04x10^9$ PIB.

Despite a number of setbacks - most notably the decisions by AVRDC and the University partners not to play a role in the commercialization phase of the project outputs - by 2010 the selected Elite Event cabbage and cauliflower were ready to enter the Indian biosafety approvals process. However, the combination of pressure to provide transformed germplasm to other public and private bodies before it was approved for commercialization, the problems of asynchronous de-regulation in other regional growing or import countries and the very unfortunate decision by the Indian Minister of Environment and Forests in early 2010 not to proceed with the commercialization approval of Cry1Ac Bt brinjal (egg plant) resistant to brinjal stem borer (despite the recommendation of the regulatory body (Shelton 2010), resulted in a decision of the CIMBAA Board to terminate this very technically promising programme in March 2010. Details can be found in Russell et al. (2011).

The CARiB project (2012-16)

The Australia-India Strategic Research Fund, which had been a funder for some of the CIMBAA technical work, agreed to fund a fully public sector programme building on the basis of CIMBAA and adding the dimension of stacking along with the Bts, RNAi control of the key aphid pests of cabbage, cauliflower (Brassica oleracea) and mustard (B. juncea) in India and canola (B. napus) in Australia. Indian partners are the International Centre for Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology, the National Research Centre for Plant Biotechnology and the Indian Agricultural Research Centre's divisions of Vegetable Science and Entomology. Australian partners are Melbourne University, CSIRO's Land and Water Flagship and the University of Queensland. The project commenced in May 2012.

Bt construct

The CIMBAA Bt construct patent was granted to the private partner in 2010 (just after the closure of the project). This construct was offered to the Indian Council of Agricultural Research (ICAR) for continued development of the Bt crops wholly in the public sector within the new project. Unfortunately, ICAR had no mechanism to accept the offer, necessitating a re-design of the DNA sequences at the University of Melbourne to avoid patent infringement and potential liability risks for the private partner in the earlier project.

RNA interference for aphid control

RNA interference technology (RNAi) aims to block the translation of mRNA into proteins. Success in the agricultural arena has been achieved in plant viral suppression eg. papaya ring spot virus (Gonsalves 2014), plum pox virus (Scorza et al. 2013) and, bean golden mosaic virus (Bonfirm et al. 2007) (see Good et al. proceedings of this meeting and Good et al. 2015 for details). Christiaens and Smagghe (2014) and Smagghe and Swevers (2014) have recently reviewed this field. RNAi can be highly specific, down to the level of species within a genus (Whyard 2015). A maize cultivar using RNAi designed against corn rootworm beetle (Diabrotica virgifera) is progressing through regulatory approval in the USA (Bolognesi et al. 2012, Bachman et al. 2013).

RNAi control of pest aphids has proved challenging. Mutti *et al.* (2006, 2008) were able to affect a salivary gland transcript in the pea aphid (*Acyrthosiphon pisum*) and Pitino *et al.* (2011) have shown RNAi induced gene silencing in *Myzus persicae* feeding on transgenic *Arabidopsis*. Coleman *et al.* (2015) have gone on to show fecundity/population growth reductions and transgenerational effects on gene expression using RNAi designed against *Rack1* (shuttling and anchoring proteins and interaction with ribosomal machinery and cell surface receptors), *MP2* (salivary gland effector protein) and especially *C002* (aphid-plant interaction modulator). However, this effect has not yet come close to being adequate for deployment as a field control strategy.

Three aphid species are significant pests of leafy and oilseed brassicas in India and Australia: Myzus persicae (green peach aphid), Brevicoryne brassicae (cabbage aphid) and Lipaphis erysimi (mustard or turnip aphid). The project is seeking to stack RNAi mediated control of these species with the Bt control for caterpillars. Use could be made of RNAi sequences specific to each species of aphid and/or of sequences common to these (and possibly other) aphids but absent in non-target organisms. In principle effective RNAi target genes should be expressed in tissues likely to be exposed to a high dose of dietary RNAi; be stably expressed and vital regardless of environmental variables; have sequences confined to target pest species and be absent in other species likely to be exposed to the RNAi in the particular agroecosystem; and have a minimal chance of resistance development.

The technical challenges here are to identify taxonomically circumscribed vital genes susceptible to RNAi effects (see Good *et al.* (2015 and proceedings of this meeting) for methods of identifying such sequences), to achieve high enough levels of phloem expression to produce deleterious effects on the aphids and then to successfully stack them with the Bts, initially in *Arabidopsis* and then in crop plants.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

GENETIC CONSTRUCTS

Bt constructs

Sequences containing *cry1Ba2* and *cry1Ca4* driven by single or double subterranean clover stunt virus promotors and incorporating the *Bar* herbicide tolerance gene or the *NPTII* kanamycin gene as a selection marker were designed at the Univ. of

Melbourne, avoiding the earlier CIMBAA patent. These 'Bt-only' constructs were provided to IARI Vegetable Division for transformation into cabbage (cv Golden Acre) and cauliflower (cvs PBSK1 and Pusa Meghna) and to NRCPB for Indian mustard. These constructs were introduced into *Arabidopsis* in Melbourne by floral dipping with *Agrobacterium* and successful transformants selected using Basta.

RNAi sequences

RNAi sequences were designed against *M. persicae* sequences homologous to sequences from the *B. brassicae* partial transcriptome (the only available transcriptome from the three aphid species of interest). 20 genes in Australia and further candidates in India were targeted, drawn from genes involved in:

- *a. Phloem sucking* salivary proteins, phenol oxidase, other detoxifiers, aphid effectors, calcium binding proteins, osmotic pressure associated, C002
- *b. Buchnera associated Buchnera* encoded transporters, aphid encoded transporters, LOCs
- c. Life cycle, parthenogenesis, telescoping of generations ecdysone and juvenile hormone mechanisms
- d. Dosage sensitive housekeepers ribosomal proteins, elongation factors, other minutes, haplolethals, haplo/triplo lethals
- e. Membranes vacuolar ATPase, Alpha tubulin, ESCRT

dsRNAi was designed from candidate sequences and produced synthetically using Megascript[®] kits.

Bt+RNAi constructs in plants

An RNAi hairpin designed against four 'Best bet' candidate *M. persicae* genes (*Snf7, vATPase, ACE* and *C002*) which had shown transcript knockdown in published studies in a variety of organisms, were incorporated into a cassette with the *cry1B/cry1C* sequence. This construct was introduced using *Agrobacterium* into *Arabidopsis*, tobacco and canola and provided to the Indian team for possible use in cabbage, cauliflower and Indian mustard.

BIOASSAYS

Bt bioassays

Leaves from the selected Bt *Arabidopsis* and from the Bt+RNAi canola were placed on moist filter

paper in 40 mm diam x 50 mm high plastic cups and bioassayed against first instar diamondback moth larvae (10 larvae on each of two leaves per plant). Mortality and leaf feeding damage were assessed at 48 hrs (and 72 hrs if there was any survival in the treatments at 48 hrs).

RNAi diet and microinjection bioassays

RNAi designed against candidate genes and synthetically produced were bioassayed against *M. persicae* (CSIRO clone 61) < 48hrs old in artificial diet feeding assays (7.5 ng/ul of diet) using 5 neonates/ replicate and 10 replicates per treatment. Diet was replaced after 3 days. Impacts were assessed by weighing the aphids in each replicate after 3, 4 and 5 days as *M. persicae* commence asexual reproduction from 6-7 days onwards. Leather *et al.* (1984) demonstrated a direct relationship between mean relative growth rates of aphids and fecundity/ population growth rate.

Using a photometric technique at the University of Melbourne to measure the plan area of test aphids, a group of 8 candidates RNAs was assayed over 12 days on artificial diet, with and without the addition of chitosan, a cationic RNAi stabilizer and protectant (10 aphids per treatment).

Microinjection of candidate RNAi into *M. persicase* was undertaken at ICGEB/IARI in New Delhi using a Nanoject II to deliver 46 nl of RNA to aphids in groups of 25, replicated three times. Control aphids were injected with nuclease free water. Injected aphids were placed on excised young leaves to feed and target RNA expression levels measured after 24 hrs.

RNAi + Bt bioassays with transformed plants

Efficacy against DBM was assayed as previously described. *M. persicae* bioassays utilized clip cages (*see Figure 6*) with 10 adult females per cage. The number of resulting aphids was measured 8 days later (the aprox. maximum time for good leaf quality in excised leaves)

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

RNA expression in phloem

For interfering RNA to be present in useful quantities in the phloem, suitable promotors need to be found (perhaps with a focus on companion cell expression). Vascular tissue-specific expression would be more energetically efficient than constitutive expression. Work at the Univ. of Queensland using yellow fluorescent protein mRNA in a x3YFP:NLS incapable of passing through plasodesmata, showed cell localization of RNA for *Dem2* (meristem and vascular tissue), *RolC* and *Suc2* (phloem expression). However, phloem expression of RNA using the constitutive promotor 35S was > 10X higher than with the other promotors. Although SUC2 proved to be silenced less often than 35S, 35S has been the promotor of choice for subsequent construct design.

Bt expression in Arabidopsis

Cry1C expression in transformed *Arabidopsis* was 500-600 ppb (Figure 1), comparable to the levels in CIMBAA *B. oleracea* which had been shown to be effective in the control of a range of lepidopteran pests.

The use of single or double SCSV promotors to drive each Bt gene did not significantly affect Bt expression and the project has continued to use the double promotor version (as in CIMBAA).



Bt Cry1C expression in CARiB Arabidopsis (single and double SCSV promotors), CIMBAA B. oleracea (double SCSV promotor) and untransformed control. ELISA values ngCry1C/g fresh weight equivalent

Efficacy of Cry1B/1C plants against DBM

The bioassay system using excised leaves in plastic cups is shown in Fig 2. Bioassay of Cry1B/ 1C expressing *Arabidopsis* with first instar DBM using 10 insects/ cup resulted in 99 % larval death by 48 hrs and 100 % in 72 hrs with no leaf damage (Figure 3 B), against 1.5 % deaths in the controls which showed extensive plant feeding damage at 48 hrs (Figure 3A).

Initial cabbage and cauliflower transformations at IARI using kanamycin as the selection agent resulted in plants on which all 1st instar DBM died within 24 hrs. The Basta selection on the *Bar* version saw some survival to 3 days.



FIGURE 2 Canola leaf squares on moist filter paper in 5cm pots – controls damaged by DBM



FIGURE 3

DBM bioassay Arabidopsis (10 1st instar larvae per leaf). Leaf damage 3 days post inoculation. A. untransformed control; B. Cry1B/1C transformed

RNAi diet bioassays with Myzus persicae

Artificial diet bioassay with *M. persicae* at CSIRO (10 replicates per treatment, 5 aphids per replicate) showed no significant differences in mean aphid weights after 5 days when compared to the controls in any of the 20 RNAi candidates tested.

Using average aphid size (plan area) as a measure of growth, artificial diet assays at the University of Melbourne showed no effect of 8 RNAi candidates (SHRUB, VPS24, VPS2, KAT 60, ATPase 69, ATP SYN B, RpS19a, RpS 13) delivered together, with or without chitosan (Figure 4).



FIGURE 4

Effect on average size (plan area) after 12 days of M. persicae fed 8 RNAi candidates, with or without chitosan as a stabilising agent, compared to a diet only control. (Line in box is the median, box boundaries include 50% of measurements, bars are the max. and min. observations and circles are individual outliers)

The high osmotic pressure of their sugar rich diet is challenge for phloem feeding insects. Aphid osmoregulation requires a functional gut sucrase. IARI tested three siRNA sequences designed against a pea aphid *Acyrthosiphon pisum*) sucrase gene at 0.5µg siRNA/ gm in artificial diet assays (Table 1).

TABLE 1

Percentage mortality in B. brassicae and M. persicae using three siRNAs designed from A. pisum sucrase gene

Treatment	% Mortality							
0.5μg siRNA/gm of diet	24hrs	48hrs	72hrs					
Brevicoryne brassicae								
Control	0	6.6	13.3					
APSUC1	16.6	23.3	53.3					
APSUC2	10	43.3	73.3					
APSUC3	3.3	33.3	60					
Myzus persicae								
Control	0	10	30					
APSUC1	10	20	43.3					
APSUC2	10	40	50					
APSUC3	6.6	30	43.3					

Results for APSUC2 in particular are promising and further work is being undertaken.

RNA injection assays

Survival of M. persicae adults injected at ICGEB with nuclease free water (NFW) was c. 80 % (Table 2).

TABLE 2 Survival of M. persicae adults in nuclease free water microinjection assays

Sample	Volume	No of	Survival (Day)			
	injected	aphids	1	2	3	% 3
Injected	46 nl	25(x3)	23	22	20	80%
Control	46 nl	25(x3)	25	25	24	96%

Only one candidate gene target showed strong RNA knockdown as measured by RT-PCR following 24hrs of feeding on an excised leaf post injection (Figure 4) – a sucrase gene (A1). Further work is continuing with this target.



Relative RNA expression (+/- s.d.) as measured by RT-PCR of aphids injected with dsRNAi to a sucrose gene (1A) and nuclease free water (control)

Bt+RNAi 'Best-bet' construct assays in plants

Despite considerable efforts, canola transformation with the large construct proved challenging. Early assays with putatively transformed plants using 2 clip cages containing 10 adult *M. persicae* excised per leaf (Figure 6) did not result in significant reductions in fecundity compared with the controls. Elisa assay confirmed the presence of the Bt Cry1C sequence and PCR confirmed Cry1B and the RNAi construct only in one plant (transformant 45 of cv Bonanza). This plant was subsequently cloned and used for DBM and aphid bioassays. The DBM

bioassay used leaf squares (c. 2 cm²) from 10 of the cloned plants, with 2 leaves per plant and two pieces of each leaf in separate cups and with 10 1st instar DBM per cup (400 larvae in all) (Figure 2). This resulted in 100% mortality of DBM in 48 hrs on the Bt transformed leaves as opposed to 2 % mortality of the 200 DBM on leaves from 5 non-transformed control plants.

However, despite confirming the presence of the RNAi constructs in the canola by PCR, bioassay using 2 clip cages on individual leaves of 10 plant clones with 10 adult *M. persicae* adults per clip cage, did not result in any reduction in aphid fecundity over 7 days (mean production 1.6 nymphs per adult) when compared with results from non-transformed control canola (mean 1.7 nymphs per adult).



FIGURE 6 Clip cages with 10 adult aphids/ cage on individual leaves from putatively RNAi transformed canola

Tobacco proved to be more readily transformed with the Bt + RNAi construct (as confirmed by Elisa and PCR). However, clip cage tests with individual leaves in vials of water, over 7 days, also did not show any difference in aphid fecundity between transformed and untransformed plants. The Bonanza 45 plants using in these assays were close to seeding with leaves in early senescence and this work is being repeated using whole young plants from the next generation.

CONCLUSION

The redesigned cry1B/1C gene sequence expressed in *Arabidopsis* and canola is entirely effective in killing 1st instar DBM (efficacy in transformed cabbage and cauliflower is being tested now). The proteins express in *Arabidopsis* at a level close to that of the earlier CIMBAA cabbage and cauliflower plants.

The designed RNAi candidates did not result in slower *M. persicae* growth rates in diet bioassays individually or as a group of 8 (presented with or without chitosan). The four 'Best-bet' RNAi candidates incorporated as a single construct along with the Bts into tobacco and canola did not result in reductions in *M. persicae* growth rates using clip cages on leaves of mature plants. However, microinjection and diet bioassays of RNA candidates at ICGEB/IARI shows some initial prospects of knockdown of transcription using sucrase gene sequences.

However, the recent work of Coleman *et al.* (2015) suggests that population growth assays over a longer period (three generations – c. one month) may be necessary to show clear RNAi effects and this is being trialed now.

The project is working on a targeted gene insertion technology using a novel homologous recombination system. It is hoped that this will allow stacking, next to the Bt sequences in Bt transformed and characterized lines, of effective aphid RNAi sequences when these are proven

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Construct design work at Univ. Melbourne was greatly assisted by A. Williams, R. Good and C. Lumb. A. Ghodke undertook the RNA artificial diet bioassays and F. Tenazas assisted with the *Arabidopsis* and canola bioassays and maintained the DBM colony. M. Singla at ICGEB/IARI undertook the microinjection work. The work was funded under the Australia-India Strategic Research Fund, Grand Challenge Scheme – Grant No: GCF010009
REFERENCES

- BACHMAN, P. M., BOLOGNESI, R., MOAR, W. J., MUELLER, G. M., PARADISE, M. S., PARTHASARATHY, R., TAN, J., UFFMAN, J. P., WARREN, J., WIGGINS, B. E. AND LEVINE, S. L., 2013, Characterization of the spectrum of insecticidal activity of a double-stranded RNA with targeted activity against Western Corn Rootworm (*Diabrotica virgifera virgifera* LeConte). *Transgenic Res.*, 22: 1207–1222.
- BALLISTER, V., GRANERA, F., DE MAAGD R.A., BOSCH, B., MENSUA, J. AND FERRE, J., 1999, Role of *Bacillus thuringiensis* toxin domains in toxicity and receptor binding in the diamondback moth. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 65: 1900-1903.
- BOLOGNESI, R., PARTHASARATHY, R., ANDERSON, J., BACHMAN, P., CLINTON, W., FLANNAGAN, R., ILAGAN, O., LAWRENCE, C., LEVINE, S., MOAR, W., MUELLER, G., TAN, J., UFFMAN, J., WIGGINS, E., HECK, G. AND SEGERS, G., 2012, Characterizing the mechanism of action of double-stranded RNA activity against Western corn rootworm (*Diabrotica virgifera virgifera* LeConte). *PLoS. ONE.*, 7: e47534.
- BONFIM, K., FARIA, J. C., NOGUEIRA, E. O., MENDES, É. A. AND ARAGÃO, F. J., 2007, RNAi-mediated resistance to bean golden mosaic virus in genetically engineered common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*). *Mol. Plant Microbe Interact.*, 20(6): 717-726.
- CAO, J., TANG, J. D., SHELTON, A. M. AND EARLE, E. D., 2002, Transgenic broccoli plants with pyramided *cry1Ac* and *cry1C* Bt genes control diamondback moths' resistance to Cry1A and Cry1C proteins. *Theor. Appl. Genet.*, 105: 258-264.
- CHOUGULE, A., LI, H., LIU, S., LING, L., NAVARE, K., MEADE, T. AND BONNING, B., 2013, Retargeting of the *Bacillus thuringiensis* toxin Cyt2Aa against hemipteran insects. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.*, 110(21): 8465-8470.
- CHRISTIAENS, O. AND SMAGGHE, G., 2014, The challenge of RNAi-mediated control of hemipterans. *Curr. Opin. Insect Sci.*, 6: 15–21.
- COLEMAN, A. D., WOUTERS, R. H. M., MUGFORD, S. T. AND HOGENHOUT, S. A., 2015, Persistance and transgenerational effects of plant-mediated RNAi in aphids. J. Exp. Botany., 66(2): 541-548.
- GONSALVES, D., 2014, Hawaii's transgenic papaya story 1978–2012: A personal account. In: MING, R. AND MOORE, P., (eds), Genetics and Genomics of Papaya Springer New York pp. 115-142).
- GOOD, R., VARGHESE, T., GOLZ, J.F., RUSSELL, D.A., PAPANICOLAOU, A., EDWARDS, O. AND ROBIN, C., 2015, OffTargetFinder: a web tool for species-specific

RNAi design. *Bioinformatics.*, doi:10.1093/ bioinformatics/btv747

- GRZYWACZ, D., ROSSBACH, A., RAUF., RUSSELL, D., SRINIVASAN, R. AND SHELTON, A., 2010, Current control methods for diamondback moth and other brassica pests and the prospects for improved management with lepidopteran-resistant Bt vegetable brassicas in Asia and Africa. *Crop Prot.*, 29: 68-79.
- KALIA PERUMAL, R., RUSSELL, D. A., GUJAR, G. T., BEHERE,
 G., GRZYWACZ, D., DUTT, D., KRISHNA, G. K. AND
 MORDHORST, A., 2011, The efficacy and sustainability
 of the CIMBAA transgenic Cry1B/Cry1C Bt cabbage
 and cauliflower plants for control of lepidopteran
 pests. In: SRINIVASAN, R., et al. (Eds.), Proceedings of
 the Sixth International Workshop on Management of
 the Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Insect
 Pests, AVRDC The World Vegetable Center,
 Publication No. 11755. AVRDC The World
 Vegetable Center, Taiwan., pp. 305-311.
- LEATHER, S. R. AND DIXON, A. F. G., 1984, Aphid growth and reproductive rates. *Entomol. Exp. et Appl.*, 35: 137-140.
- MUTTI, N. S., PARK, Y., REESE, J. C AND RECK, G. R., 2006, RNAi knockdown of a salivary gland transcript leading to lethality in the pea aphid, *Acyrthosiphon pisum. J. Insect Sci.*, 6:38.
- MUTTI, N. S., LOUIS, J., PAPPAN, L. K., PAPPAN, K., GEGUM, K., CHEN, M-S., PARK, Y., DITTMER, N., MARSHALL, J., REESE, J. C. AND REECK, G. R., 2008, A protein from the slivary glands of the pea aphid, *Acyrthosiphon pisum*, is essential in feeding on a host plant., *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.*, 105(29): 9965-9969.
- PITINO, M., COLEMAN, A. D., MAFFEI, M. E., RIDOUT, C. J. AND HOGENHOUT, S. A., 2011, Silencing of aphid genes by dsRNA feeding from plants. *PLoS ONE.*, 6(10): e25709.
- RUSSELL, D. A., UIJTEWAAL, B., SHELTON, A. M., MAO, C., SRINIVASAN, R., GUJAR, G. T., RAUF, A., GRZYWACZ, D. AND GREGORY, P., 2008, Bt brassicas for DBM control: The CIMBAA public/private partnership. In: SHELTON et al. (Eds) Proceedings of the 5th International Workshop on the Management of Diamondback moth and other crucifer pests. China Agricultural Science and Technology Press., pp. 272-279.
- RUSSELL, D. A., UIJTEWAAL, R., DHAWAN, V., GRZYWACZ, D. AND KALIAPERUMAL, R., 2011, Progress and challenges in the Bt brassica CIMBAA public/private partnership. *In:* SRINIVASAN, R., SHELTON, A. M. AND COLLINS, H. L., (eds.), Proceedings of the Sixth International Workshop on Management of the Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Insect Pests, AVRDC – The World

Vegetable Center, Publication No. 11755. AVRDC – The World Vegetable Center, Taiwan.

- SCORZA, R., CALLAHAN, A., DARDICK, C., RAVELONANDRO, M., POLAK, J., MALINOWSKI, T., ZAGRAI, L., CAMBRA, M. AND KAMENOVA, I., 2013, Genetic engineering of plum pox virus resistance: 'HoneySweet' plum—from concept to product. *Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult.*, 115(1): 1-12.
- SHELTON, A. M., 2010, The long road to commercialization of Bt brinjal (eggplant) in India. *Crop Prot.*, 29: 412-414.
- SHELTON, A. M., FUCHS, M. AND SHOTKOSKI, F. A., 2008, Transgenic vegetables and fruits for control of insects and insect-vectored pathogens.. *In:* ROMEIS, J et al. (Eds) Integration of insect-resistant genetically modified crops within IPM Programmes. Progress in Biological Control Vol. 5. Springer. pp. 249-272
- SHELTON, A. M., GUJAR, G. T., CHEN, M., RAUF, A., SRINIVASAN, R., KALIA, V., MITTAL, A., KUMARI, A., KALIAPERUMAL, R., BORKAKATTI, R., ZHAO, J. Z., ENDERSBY, N., RUSSELL, D., WU, Y. D. AND UJJTEWAAL, B., 2009, Assessing the susceptibility of cruciferous

Lepidoptera to Cry1Ba2 and Cry1Ca4 for future transgenic cruciferous vegetables. *J. Econ. Entomol.*, 102(6): 2217-2223.

- SMAGGHE, G. AND SWEVERS, L., 2014, Pest and resistance -RNAi research in insects. *Curr. Opin. Sci.* 6: 4-5.
- TABASHNIK, B. E., CARRIERE, Y., DENNEHY, T. J., MORIN, S, SISTERSON, M. S., ROUSH, R. T., SHELTON, A. M. AND ZHAO, J. Z., 2003, Insect resistance to transgenic Bt crops: Lessons from the laboratory and field. *J. Econ. Entomol.*, 96: 1031-1038.
- WHYARD, S., 2015, Plant science. Insecticidal RNA, the long and short of it. *Science.*, 347: 950–951.
- ZHAO, J. Z., LI, Y. X., COLLINS, H. L., CAO, J., EARLE, E. D. AND SHELTON, A. M., 2001, Different cross-resistance patterns in the diamondback moth (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) resistant to *Bacillus thuringiensis* toxin Cry1C. J. Econ. Entomol., 94: 1547-1552.
- ZHAO, J. Z., CAO, J., LI, Y. X., COLLINS, H. L., ROUSH, R. T., EARL, E. D. AND SHELTON, A. M., 2003, Plants expressing two *Bacillus thuringiensis* toxins delay insect resistance compared to single toxins used sequentially or in a mosaic. *Nature Biotech.*, 21: 1493-1497.

Evaluation of Insecticidal Activity of Insecticidal Crystal Related Protein (ICRP) Toxin from *Photorhabdus luminescens* for the Control of Diamondback Moth

M. KSHIRSAGAR, S. MADANKAR¹, K. BABAR², S. PARIMI³ AND L. ALAMALAKALA⁴

Maharashtra Hybrid Seeds Co. Ltd.. At: Dawalwadi, Tq. Badnapur, P.O. Box-76, Jalna-431203, India E-mail: mangesh.kshirsagar@mahyco.com; ¹E-mail: santosh.madankar@mahyco.com

² E-mail: kiran.babar@mahyco.com; ³E-mail: srinivas.parimi@mahyco.com; ⁴E-mail: leela.alamalakala@mahyco.com

Abstract

The diamondback moth (DBM), *Plutella xylostella* (L.) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) is the most important pest of cruciferous vegetables worldwide. DBM has developed resistance to all classes of insecticides including *Bacillus thuringiensis* (Bt) spray formulations. Consequently it is becoming increasingly difficult to control this pest. One approach for effective pest control and resistance management is the deployment of proteins with novel modes of action. Here, we report the cloning of a gene of 411 bp from *Photorhabdus. luminescens*, designated as *Pl-ICRP* (*P. luminescens-* insecticidal crystal related protein) and the expression of histidine-tagged-ICRP recombinant protein (17 kDa) in *E. coli* BL21 (DE3) strain. The Pl-ICRP protein shares 29 % predicted amino acid sequence similarity to a 13.6 kDa crystal protein gene of *B. thuringiensis*. Protein expression was analyzed by SDS-PAGE and protein identity was confirmed by peptide mass fingerprinting. The insecticidal activity of His-tagged-ICRP protein was assessed against DBM larvae by cabbage leaf-dip bioassay. Larval mortality was observed in DBM at different Pl-ICRP protein concentrations (10 ppm-3000 ppm). Pl-ICRP could be a potential candidate for the development of transgenic crops resistant to the diamondback moth.

Keywords: Photorhabdus, Plutella xylostella, ICRP, Leaf-dip bioassay

THE diamondback moth, Plutella xylostella (L.) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) is considered to be the most destructive pest of cruciferous crops throughout the world (Talekar and Shelton 1993; Furlong et al. 2013). Due to its ability to rapidly develop resistance to insecticides (Zhao et al. 2006), chemical control of this pest remains difficult (Huang and Wu 2003; Li et al. 2012). Development of transgenic crops expressing insecticidal proteins is one of the most preferred strategies for pest control in agricultural systems, since it can lead to reduced insecticide applications and significant environmental benefits (Li et al. 2009). The success and benefits of transgenic technology can be compromised due to resistance evolution in target pests (Morin et al. 2004). One approach to effectively control DBM and manage resistance evolution is the deployment of novel insecticidal proteins or proteins with novel modes of action. Entomopathogenic soil bacteria produce a plethora of insecticidal proteins. Testing the activity of these bacterial proteins will facilitate the development of novel strategies for crop protection.

Photorhabdus luminescens, a gram-negative, entomopathogenic bacterium, produces a wide range of proteins with entomotoxic properties. These bacteria are associated with entomopathogenic nematodes of the family Heterorhabditidae (ffrenchConstant et al. 2003; Joyce et al. 2006), colonizing the intestine. P. luminescens produces a number of toxins that have been tested against different lepidopteran insect pests. The toxin complex (Tc) proteins (Waterfield et al. 2001) are insecticidal proteins that have been shown to be orally toxic to the Colorado potato beetle, Leptinotarsa decemlineata (Say) and sweet potato whitefly, Bemisia tabaci (Gennadius) (Blackburn et al. 2005). The Photorhabdus insecticidal toxin (Pit) protein demonstrated insecticidal activity against Galleria mellonella (Linnaeus) and Spodoptera litura (Fabricius) via hemocoel injection and inhibited the growth of S. litura and Helicoverpa armigera (Hübner) upon oral delivery (Li et al. 2009). Here we analyzed the insecticidal effects of a 411 bp gene designated as ICRP from P. luminescens subsp. luminescens strain Hb on laboratory-reared diamondback moth larvae. ICRP gene from P. luminescens was cloned into E. coli BL21 (DE3) cells for protein expression. Cabbage leaf-dip bioassay (Shelton et al. 1993) was conducted to evaluate the insecticidal activity of the partially purified PI-ICRP protein against DBM larvae.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Selection of Pl-ICRP candidate gene

The *ICRP* gene from *P. luminescens* was shortlisted as a probable candidate gene for testing

insect toxicity. The *Pl-ICRP* nucleotide sequence is available in the GenBank database under accession number DQ305347.1.

Total genomic DNA isolation

Photorhabdus luminescens subsp. *luminescens* strain Hb obtained from the American Type Culture Collection was grown from a single colony in Luria-Bertani (LB) medium (1 % tryptone, 0.5 % yeast extract and 1 % NaCl, pH 7.0) at 28 °C for 18 h with shaking at 180 rpm. High-molecular weight genomic DNA was isolated using CTAB method (Daborn *et al.* 2003)

Amplification, cloning and sequence analysis of Pl-ICRP gene

Pl-ICRP gene-specific forward and reverse primers containing NdeI and HindIII restriction sites, respectively, were designed. The desired gene was amplified using Taq DNA polymerase (Merck Genei, India) with the following primer set: forward primer: 5'-ATAGCATATGTCAGAGAT CGAAGC-3' and reverse primer 5'-CAGAAG CTTGCTTACAATCATA-3' in a 50-µl reaction volume in a Veriti 96-Well Thermal Cycler (Applied Biosystems). PCR conditions were as follows: 3 min initial denaturation at 95 °C, followed by 35 cycles of denaturation at 95 °C for 30 sec, annealing at 44 °C for 30 sec, and extension at 72 °C for 2 min and final extension for 7 min at 72 °C. The 411 bp PCR amplicon was purified using QIAquick gel extraction kit (Qiagen), and cloned into the pGEM-T Easy vector (Promega, USA). Competent Escherichia coli DH5á cells were used as a host strain for transformation, and the transformed E.coli DH5á were grown on LB agar plates with ampicillin (100 µg/ml) for 16 h at 37 °C. Broth cultures were grown from a single colony in LB containing ampicillin (100µg/ml) for 16 h with constant agitation (37 °C, 180 rpm). The recombinant plasmid was isolated using alkaline lysis method (Birnboim and Doly 1979). Gene cloning was confirmed by restriction digestion followed by sequencing (Applied Biosystems 3130xl Genetic Analyzer).

Expression of Pl-ICRP recombinant protein in E. coli BL21 (DE3) cells

The pGEM-T Easy recombinant plasmid containing *Pl-ICRP* gene was digested with *Nde* I/*Hind* III restriction enzymes and resulting gene

product was cloned into pET-20b (+) expression vector. Recombinant pET-20b (+) plasmid with Pl-ICRP gene was used for transformation of E. coli BL21 (DE3) cells. An isolated colony harboring Pl-ICRP gene was pre-cultured in 5 ml LB medium containing ampicillin (100 µg/ml) for 16 h with constant agitation (37 °C, 180 rpm). This pre-culture was added into 500 ml LB broth with ampicillin (100 µg/ml) and incubated for 8 h with constant agitation (37 °C, 180 rpm). Expression of ICRP was induced after 8 hours with Isopropyl 1-thio-â-Dgalactopyranoside (0.5 mM IPTG final concentration) and the culture was incubated further at same conditions for 16 hours for the induction of protein expression. The bacterial culture was centrifuged for 10 min at 10,000 rpm at 4 °C and the resulting pellet was suspended in lysis buffer (10 mM Tris buffer pH 8.0, 100 mM NaCl, 10 mM Imidazole, 100 µM Phenyl methylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF) and 1 % Triton X100). The cell suspension was vortexed and sonicated by applying twenty 15 sec pulses separated by 15 sec cooling (0.250, TRANS-O-SONIC, Mumbai). Sonicated cell lysate was centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 30 min at 4 °C. Soluble cellular supernatant was collected. Protein purification was performed at room temperature with gravity flow using Protino® Columns (35 ml) containing 1ml of Ni-NTA Agarose following the protocol described in The QIAexpressionistTM (Qiagen). After eluting the 6X His-tagged Pl-ICRP protein, dialysis was performed for desalting to prevent the potential toxic effects of imidazole in insect bioassays. The purified protein was quantified on Nanodrop 8000 spectrophotometer (ThermoFisher Scientific). The affinity column purified protein band (15 kDa Pl-ICRP with 2 kDa 6X-His tag) was analyzed by SDS-PAGE and Coomassie brilliant blue R-250 (Sigma-Aldrich) staining. The protein was confirmed by MALDI-PMF analysis.

Insect bioassay

Toxicity of ICRP was assessed using a leaf-dip bioassay. The DBM population used in this study was a laboratory colony maintained in the insectary (Mahyco, India). Leaf tissue from the cabbage plants (*Brassica oleracea* var. Dynasty) raised in the greenhouse was used for leaf-dip bioassays. The cabbage leaf was cut into squares (2 x 2 cm) covering either side of midrib, and individual leaf squares were immersed in the 6X His-tagged-Pl-ICRP protein solutions of different concentrations (i.e. 10 ppm, 100 ppm, 1000 ppm, and 3000 ppm) for 30 sec and allowed to air-dry for 1 h. For the controls, buffer (5 mM Tris, 100 mM NaCl) was used for dipping the leaf squares (for buffer control) and untreated cabbage leaves were used as untreated control. Moist filter paper (Whatman No. 1, 90 mm diameter) was placed inside an 8.75 cm diameter plastic Petri dish and treated cabbage leaf tissue was placed on top of the filter paper. Two first instar DBM larvae were released on a single cabbage leaf square in each Petri dish and 10 replications were prepared, resulting in a total of 20 larvae per treatment. The assay was maintained at suitable growth conditions (26 - 28 °C temperature and 65 - 70 % humidity) in a dark room. Observations on the larval mortality were recorded 72 h after the release of larvae.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Cloning and bioinformatics analysis of PI-ICRP gene

The PI-ICRP gene cloned in pGEM-TEasy vector and *pET-20b* (+) expression vector showed 100 % nucleotide sequence similarity with sequence available in the NCBI database.

Expression of Pl-ICRP recombinant protein in E. coli *BL21 (DE3) cells*

SDS-PAGE analysis of his-tagged-PI-ICRP protein purified by Ni-NTA chromatography showed good expression of the recombinant protein at the expected size (17 kDa) confirming the expression of PI-ICRP in *E.coli* BL21 (DE3) cells (Figure 1).



SDS-PAGE analysis (Coomassie blue stained) of 6X-Histagged-Pl-ICRP protein (17 kDa), Lane P1 and P2- Histagged-Pl-ICRP protein; M-molecular weight marker

Pl-ICRP protein identification

The Pl-ICRP protein band (17 kDa) analyzed by MALDI-TOF (**Figure 2 and Figure 3**) (Sandor Proteomics Pvt. Ltd., Hyderabad, India) further confirmed the presence of the desired protein.

Marker Mascot Search Results

Search title	1
Database	: NCBInr 20141019 (51471198 sequences; 18460256539 residues)
Taxonomy	: Bacteria (Eubacteria) (34995986 seguences)
Timestamp	: 27 Oct 2014 at 06:24:54 GMT
Top Score	: 91 for gi 83629109, insecticidal crystal-related protein [Photorhabdus luminescens subsp

FIGURE 2. MALDI-TOF analysis of PI-ICRP protein

S K. LKLIODSIRLDOGEWTTLPPOVINR. K.LIQDSIRLDQGEWITLPPQVINR. luminescens R. LDOGEWTTLPPOVINR. S R. SDSNSLLGGVSGR. R. SNDNTPGKAIWR. K.LKLIQDSIR.L K.LIODSIR.L [Photorhabdus luminescens subsp. R. SNDNTPCK. 8 Matches: Peptide 0.026 Miss 0 0 0 0 H OI End 35 Expect: 15 51 Start 53.56 12.65 52 37.96 59.44 91 protein Score: 843.4814 247.6106 357.6738 865.9636 084.6604 691.4344 Mr(calc) 2932.613 related 15042 Mass: crystal. 843.3650 084.5775 247.5285 357.5876 865.8526 2691.3196 2932.4740 Mr (expt) nsecticidal ai | 83629109 Observed 085.5848 248.5358 866.8599 358.5948 2692.3269 933.4813 844.3723 832 Figure 3

MALDI-TOF MS analysis of tryptic digests of Pl-ICRP protein fragments

Cabbage leaf-dip bioassay

Leaf-dip bioassays were conducted to determine the efficacy of Pl-ICRP protein against diamondback moth larvae. Growth inhibition was observed in P. xylostella larvae fed with cabbage leaves dipped in different concentrations (i.e. 10 ppm, 100 ppm, 1000 ppm, and 3000 ppm) of 6X-His tagged Pl-ICRP after 72 h (Table 1). The dead and moribund larvae were recorded after 72 h as larval mortality. Larval mortality greater than 75% was observed when Pl-ICRP protein concentrations of 1000 ppm or more were used to treat leaf squares. In leaf squares treated with 100 ppm of protein around 65-75 % larval mortality was observed. The lowest protein concentration used in this study was 10 ppm in which 25-40 % larval mortality was observed. No mortality was observed in DBM larvae feeding on untreated cabbage leaves. Less than 5 % mortality was observed in larvae feeding on leaves used as buffer control, which confirmed that the Pl-ICRP protein is responsible for mortality and growth inhibition of DBM larvae.

TABLE 1 Toxicity effect of His-tagged-Pl-ICRP protein on DBM larvae

Treatments	Percent mortality
Untreated Diet	0%
Buffer	<5%
10 ppm protein	25-40%
100 ppm protein	65-75%
>1000 ppm protein	> 75%



Leaf feeding assay-feeding damage by DBM larvae in Pl-ICRP treated (10 ppm, 100 ppm, 1000 ppm and 3000 ppm) and control (buffer treated and untreated) leaves

Leaf tissue damage due to insect feeding was minimal or not observed in leaves treated with ICRP protein (Fig. 4). At lower protein concentrations larval growth inhibition was observed whereas mortality was observed in insects feeding on leaves treated with protein concentrations > 1000 ppm. The bioassay clearly demonstrated the toxicity of Pl-ICRP protein to *P. xylostella* larvae when introduced orally and the observed biological effects *viz.*, larval mortality or growth inhibition was dependent on the protein concentration used.

CONCLUSION

We investigated the insecticidal activity of Pl-ICRP protein and established the efficacy of ICRP on diamondback moth larvae. The PI-ICRP gene was amplified, cloned and sequenced. Sequence analysis showed that PI-ICRP protein shares 29 % predicted amino acid sequence similarity to a 13.6 kDa crystal protein gene of B. thuringiensis. A recombinant protein of 17 kDa was successfully expressed in E.coli (BL21) cells. Cabbage leaf-dip bioassays showed that the Pl-ICRP possesses oral insecticidal activity towards P. xylostella larvae. The mortality of DBM larvae exposed to cabbage leaves treated with different concentrations of protein was significantly higher than that of DBM larvae exposed to leaves treated with buffer establishing the insecticidal potential of Pl-ICRP protein. It is hypothesized that the feeding inhibition probably caused the mortality of the DBM larvae. Gut histology studies will be carried out to decipher the mode of action of the protein. The present study thus opens up an avenue for developing transgenic crops resistant to diamondback moth based on the Pl-ICRP gene.

REFERENCES

- BIRNBOIM, H. C. AND DOLY, J., 1979, A rapid alkaline extraction procedure for screening recombinant plasmid DNA. *Nucleic Acids Research*. 7:1513-1523.
- BLACKBURN, M. B., DOMEK, J. M., GELMAN, D. B. AND HU, J. S., 2005, The broadly insecticidal *Photorhabdus luminescens* toxin complex a (Tca): Activity against the Colorado potato beetle, *Leptinotarsa decemlineata*, and sweet potato whitefly, *Bemisia tabaci. J. Insect Sci.*, 5:32-43.

- DABORN, P. J., DOWLING, A. J., FFRENCH-CONSTANT R.H. AND WATERFIELD, N. R., 2003, *Photorhabdus luminescens* mcf toxin genes and uses thereof. Patent WO 2003102129A2.
- FFRENCH-CONSTANT, R., WATERFIELD, N., DABORN, P., JOYCE, S., BENNETT, H., AU, C., DOWLING, A., BOUNDY, S., REYNOLDS, S. AND CLARKE, D., 2003, *Photorhabdus*: Towards a functional genomic analysis of a symbiont and pathogen. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.*, 26 :433–456.
- FURLONG, M. J, WRIGHT, D. J. AND DOSDALL, L. M., 2013, Diamondback moth ecology and management: problems, progress, and prospects. Annu. Rev.Entomol., 58: 517-541.
- HUANG, J. AND WU, W. J., 2003, Advance of studies on insecticide resistance to diamondback moth (*Plutella xylostella* L.). J. Guizhou Univ. **20**: 97-104.
- JONES, R. T., CONTRERAS, M. S., ISABELLA, V., AMOSM, R., YANG, G., UPADHYA, Y. A., POTTER, U. J., JOYCE, S. A., CICHETA., JENKINS, A. T., BAGBY, S., FFRENCH-CONSTANT, R. H. AND WATERFIELD, N. R., 2010, *Photorhabdus* adhesion modification protein (Pam) binds extracellular polysaccharide and alters bacterial attachment. *BMC Microbiol.*, **10**:141.
- JOYCE, S. A., WATSON, R. J. AND CLARKE, D. J., 2006, The regulation of pathogenicity and mutualism in *Photorhabdus. Curr. Opin. Microbiol.*, *9*:127-132.
- LI, M., WU, G., LIU, C., CHEN, Y., QIU, L. AND PANG, Y., 2009, Expression and activity of a probable toxin from *Photorhabdus luminescens. Mol. Biol. Rep.*, **36**:785-790.

- LI, Z-Y., ZALUCKI, M. P., BAO, H-A., CHEN, H-Y., HU, Z-D., ZHANG, D-Y., LIN, Q-S., YIN, F., WANG, M. AND FENG, X., 2012, Population dynamics and 'outbreaks' of Diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella*, in Guangdong province, China: climate or the failure of management?. J. Econ. Entomol. 105: 739–752
- MORIN, S., HENDERSON, S., FABRICK, J. A., CARRIERE, Y., DENNEHY, T. J., BROWN, J. K. AND TABASHNIK, B. E., 2004, DNA-based detection of Bt resistance alleles in pink bollworm. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.*, 34: 1225– 1233.
- SHELTON, A. M., WYMAN, J. A., CUSHING, N. L, APFELBECK, K., DENNEHY, T. J., MAHR, S. E. R. AND EIGENBRODE, S. D., 1993, Insecticide resistance of Diamondback moth (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) in North America. J. Econ. Entomol., 86:11-19.
- TALEKAR, N.S. AND SHELTON, A.M., 1993, Biology, ecology, and management of the diamondback moth. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.*, **38**:275–301.
- WATERFIELD, N.R., BOWEN, D.J., FETHERSTON, J.D., PERRY, R.D. AND FFRENCH-CONSTANT, R.H., 2001, The tc-genes of *Photorhabdus*: A growing family. *Trends Microbiol.*, 9:185-191.
- ZHAO, J.Z., COLLINS, H.L., LI, Y.X., MAU, R.F., THOMPSON, G.D., HERTLEIN, M., ANDALORA, J.T., BOYKIN, R. AND SHELTON, A.M., 2006, Monitoring of Diamondback moth (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) resistance in a fieldevolved multi-resistant population of *Plutella xylostella*. *Pest Manag. Sci.*, **66**: 176-181.

OffTargetFinder – A Web Tool for RNAi Target Design for *Brassica* Aphids and Other Pests

R.T. GOOD, T. VARGHESE¹, O. EDWARDS², C. ROBIN³ AND D.A. RUSSELL⁴

Genetics Department, Univeristy of Melbourne, Parkville, Australia 3010. E-mail: rtgood@unimelb.edu.au ¹Atlas of Living Australia, Facilities & Collections, CSIRO, Canberra, Australia 2601. E-mail: temi.varghese@csiro.au ²CSIRO Land and Water Flagship, Canberra, Act 2601, Australia. E-mail: o.edwards@csiro.edu.au ³Genetics Department, Univeristy of Melbourne, Parkville, Australia 3010. E-mail: c.robin@unimelb.edu.au ⁴Faculty of Veterinary and Agricultural Sciences, University of Melbourne, Parkville, Australia 3010 E-mail: derek.russell@unimelb.edu.au

ABSTRACT

Increasingly, pesticide resistance is emerging to a plethora of chemicals and alternative methods of control are urgently needed. The use of RNA interference (RNAi) to study gene function has become relatively commonplace in experimental animal models (*C. elegans, Drosophila, Danio, Mus*, etc) but it is increasingly becoming used as a tool in crop pest management. A major advantage of RNAi is the exquisite specificity of the process which means that it is possible to differentially inhibit the function of alleles that vary by only one SNP and so to target the specific gene sequence in particular insect species.

One delivery method for RNAi involves the molecule being genetically incorporated into plants being fed upon by the target pest(s). Potential concerns of the regulatory authorities as to the effects of RNAi on non-target species (especially beneficial ones) has prompted us to develop a bioinformatic tool to search the known transcriptional space for possible RNAi interactions that could potentially harm species other than the intended targets.

OffTargetFinder' is a web-based tool for searching for suitable RNAi targets for introduction into potential transgenic organisms (including crops). We have used it to design RNAi sequences for *M. persicae* and other brassica aphids in the context of a larger project for aphid control in cabbage and cauliflower in India and canola in Australia.

'OffTargetFinder' uses the 'bowtie' algorithm to rapidly search transcriptomes (currently 102, predominantly insects, plus some model organisms) for matching 21mers (with or without mismatches) for small interfering RNAi (siRNA) sequences of interest, which are then visualised in the '*canvasxpress*' genome browser package. The various outputs are then used to refine the appropriate region of a gene of interest to eliminate potential off-target effects in other arthropod species. Here we present a case study of the *Myzus Rdl* gene showing the capacity of OffTarget Finder to show the level of specificity to the target species.

Keywords: Myzus persicae, RNAi, off-targets, Off Target Finder

RNA interference technology (RNAi), which blocks the translation of mRNA into proteins, has been used for a number of years in transgenic plants capable of defending themselves from viral attack (Papaya Ring Spot Virus (Gonsalves 2014), Plum Pox Virus (Scorza et al. 2013), Bean golden Mosaic Virus (Bonfirm et al. 2007). The use of RNAi for insect pest control is now an advancing field (Smagghe and Swevers 2014). RNAi formulations have been proposed as speciesspecific (or species assemblage specific) insecticidal sprays and a genetically modified maize product using RNAi designed against a corn rootworm beetle (*Diabrotica virgifera*) Snf7 gene has been shown to be lethal and is in the advanced stages of regulatory approval by Monsanto (Bolognesi et al. 2012; Bachman et al. 2013). The extremely high level of species specificity attainable with RNAi (down to

species specificity within a genus (Whyard 2015)) is a great advantage of the method, minimizing unintended effects on non-target organisms both within and beyond the crop. However, specificity can only be assured if the targeted gene sequence is unique to the particular target organism(s). The active mechanism of RNAi for insect control involves the ingestion of double stranded RNA (dsRNA) applied topically on the plant by spraying or as a plant produced molecule. Within the target insect the dsRNA is then cut by Dicer enzymes into short double stranded fragments of c. 21 nucleotides - small interfering RNA (siRNA). Each siRNA strand unwinds into two single RNA molecules, a passenger strand which degrades and a guide strand which is incorporated into an RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC). When the guide strand binds to a

complimentary mRNA sequence in the cell cytoplasm this induces cleavage of the mRNA by the RISC enzyme Argonaute. In the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans and some other organisms this process is able to spread systemically, allowing major suppression of a gene product from an initially very limited quantity of RNAi ingested. In the corn rootworm example, Bachman et al. (2013) showed that, of the 10 insect families surveyed, only a few closely related beetles were affected and that these shared at least three of the 21-mers within the Snf7 sequence. In general, it would seem likely that only fairly conserved gene sequences in quite closely related organisms would share identical, multiple, 21 nucleotide sequences. However, given the enormous number of potential offtarget organisms in the world and the possibility that some may share sequences, there is concern within the scientific regulatory community that evidence be provided of the level of specificity of siRNAs resulting from specific dsRNA sequences. Making detailed searches of the specificity of all possible 21mers across the genomes available would be a very time consuming process if not automated, and the chance of missing matching sequences would be very high.

The authors are partners in a project aimed at adding aphid control by RNAi to the existing Bt control of caterpillars in brassica crops (cabbage and cauliflower in India and canola in Australia) (Russell et al. 2011; Russell et al. Proceedings of this meeting,) although this is expected to be challenging (Christaens and Smagghe 2014). Of the three target aphid species, Myzus persicae (green peach aphid), Bervicoryne brassicae (cabbage aphid) and Lipaphis erysimi (the mustard or turnip aphid), a partial transcriptome is available only for B. brassicae. As part of this programme we have developed software -OffTargetFinder (Good et al. 2015) which very greatly simplifies the process of checking sequence uniqueness and identifying taxonomic groups which might need to be screened for off-target effects if they occur in the agro-ecosystem of interest (Romeis et al. 2013).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

OffTargetFinder searches specific transcriptomes for close nucleotide sequence matches against all the possible 21 nucleotide siRNA molecules which may be produced from a provided DNA target sequence.

Bowtie software (Langmead et al. 2008) using a custom PEARL script is used for the search which is then visualized in the CanvasXpress genome browser (http://canvasxpress.org). The database of transciptomes searched includes sequences from the 1000 Insect Transcriptome Evolution (1KITE) data set (http://www.1kite.org) which is still in the process of development by an international consortium (Misof et al. 2014). At the time of writing, the searchable database includes 102 transcriptomes (mostly insects) from the Arthropoda (Hexapoda, Crustacea, Myriapoda and Chelicerata). Using Exonerate (Slater and Birney 2005) we have used the pea aphid transcriptome to annotate the M. persicae genome and it is included in the data set as are human, chicken. Arabidopsis and some other representative transcriptomes.

OffTargetFinder can be accessed free at http:// 146.118.96.106.rnai/.

USING THE PROGRAM

Entering a DNA sequence

The user pastes into the definition line a chosen DNA sequence (one which is potentially a good target in terms of its vital importance to insect survival) in FASTA format (coding for 24 amino acids plus 3 special codes), leaving no blank spaces. The system allows a user to specify the allowed number of mismatches (0,1,2,3) for which they wish the programme to show returns. At present the programme runs best in Chrome or Firefox browsers and less well in Explorer.

Submitting a query

Pressing the 'FindOffTargets' button submits the query. Processing takes c. 15 mins depending on the number of mismatches allowed. The job status appears in the 'History' table (Figure 1). When the job is complete the green text shows that hits were found and red where none are found. Clicking the 1Kite motif for a search shows the full results.



List of records on 'OffTargetFinder', 1 Myzus and one Plutella search complete, 2 Myzus queries still running

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Results are shown here for the *Myzus persicae* Rdl gene query sequence to demonstrate the tool's functionality.

Results panels

The results page shows the taxonomic position of each organism which has returned sequence alignments within the target sequence (allowing 0,1,2or 3 mismatches as selected by the user). Several views of the data are possible by selecting from the dropdown menu under the 'View' button.

Browser View

This view shows the position of the matching sequences for each species returning a hit (in yellow) against the target sequence (in red). With no mismatches (Figure 2) 10 species are shown to have at least one 21-mer of sequence identity within the target sequence.



FIGURE 2

Myzus persicae *RDL* gene – Browser view of sequence identity hits for other species (0 mismatches in 21-mer allowed)

Raw Data View

This view lists the species returning hits and the number of those hits within the sequence. In Figure 3, three other aphids in the list of organisms showed hits with >20 21-mer matches to the *M. persicae* sequence, while the other organisms had <5.



Myzus persicae Rdl Gene – Raw data view showing the number of 21mer hits on the target sequence per Off-Target species. (0 Mismatches per 21-mer allowed)

Bar Graph view

This view (Figure 4) has the x-axis as the species for which hits are returned and the y-axis shows the number of hits within the sequence (i.e. graphs the Raw Data view).



Myzus persicae *Rdl gene – Bar Graph view showing the* number of 21mer hits on the target sequence per off-target species. (0 mismatches per 21-mer allowed)

Query Hit Regions View

This view shows the exact nucleotide sequence hits within the supplied target sequence, which can be selected in the left panel for any taxon level which has returned hits. The matching sequences are shown in yellow for single hits in and in red for double hits. Figure 5 shows the result specifically for *Brevicoryne brassicae*.





Myzus persicae Rdl gene – Query Hit view showing the number of 21mer hits on the target sequence per off-target species. (0 mismatches per 21-mer allowed)

CONCLUSION

The example given in this paper shows how OffTargetFinder may be used to refine the target sequences for experimental testing of RNAi. Within a longer gene sequence query, there may be stretches of nucleotides which are not shared with the other organisms in the data base. These may prove to be better targets in terms of species specificity and avoidance of accidental non-targets, though those nontarget species would need to be present in the agroecosystem in which the RNAi strategy was to be used for any potential adverse impacts to be seen in practice. On the other hand, where multiple species are legitimate targets for pest management, sequence identity which is limited to that pest group may provide appropriate RNAi targets (e.g., In Figure 5, B. brassicae is a target aphid pest for the authors' current RNAi project along with M. persicase and there are shared sequences available).

OffTargetFinder (http://146118.96.106/rnai/) is a freely available web-based tool which allows checking for 21 –mer matches within proposed dsRNA molecules for unintended sequence identity with non-target organisms, and consequent sequence refinement for improved specificity. Currently this search facility is limited to just over 100 insect sequences (most from the 1Kite verified data base) but it is intended to add insect and other genomes as they become publically available.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The use of the 1Kite data is gratefully acknowledged. The work was funded under the Australia-India Strategic Research Fund, Grand Challenge Scheme – Grant No: GCF010009

References

- BACHMAN, P. M., BOLOGNESI, R., MOAR, W. J., MUELLER, G. M., PARADISE, M. S., PARTHASARATHY, R., TAN, J., UFFMAN, J. P., WARREN, J., WIGGINS, B. E. AND LEVINE, S. L., 2013, Characterization of the spectrum of insecticidal activity of a double-stranded RNA with targeted activity against Western Corn Rootworm (*Diabrotica virgifera virgifera* LeConte). *Transgenic Res.*, 22: 1207–1222.
- BOLOGNESI, R., PARTHASARATHY, R., ANDERSON, J., BACHMAN, P., CLINTON, W., FLANNAGAN, R., ILAGAN, O., LAWRENCE, C., LEVINE, S., MOAR, W., MUELLER, G., TAN, J., UFFMAN, J., WIGGINS. E., HECK, G. AND SEGERS, G., 2012, Characterizing the mechanism of action of

double-stranded RNA activity against Western corn rootworm (*Diabrotica virgifera virgifera* LeConte). *PLoS ONE.*, **7**: e47534.

- BONFIM, K., FARIA, J. C., NOGUEIRA, E. O., MENDES, É. A. AND ARAGÃO, F. J., 2007, RNAi-mediated resistance to bean golden mosaic virus in genetically engineered common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*). *Mol. Plant Microbe Interact.*, **20** (6): 717-726.
- CHRISTIAENS, O. AND SMAGGHE, G., 2014, The challenge of RNAi-mediated control of hemipterans. *Curr. Opin. Insect Sci.* 6: 15–21.
- GONSALVES, D., 2014, Hawaii's transgenic papaya story 1978–2012: A personal account. In: MING, R. AND MOORE, P., (eds), *Genetics and Genomics of Papaya*. Springer New York. pp. 115-142.
- GOOD, R., VARGHESE, T., GOLZ, J. F., RUSSELL, D. A., PAPANICOLAOU, A., EDWARDS, O. AND ROBIN, C., 2015, Off Target Finder: a web tool for species-specific RNAi design. *Bioinformatics*.
- doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btv747
- LANGMEAD, B., TRAPNELL, C., POP, M. AND SALZBERG, S. L., 2008, Ultrafast and memory-efficient alignment of short DNA sequences to the human genome. *Genome Biol.*, **10**: 25.
- MISOF, B., 2014, Phylogenomics resolves the timing and pattern of insect evolution. *Science.*, **346**: 763–767.
- ROMEIS, J., RAYBOULD, A., BIGLER, F., CANDOLFI, MP., HELLMICH, R L., HUESING, J. E. AND SHELTON, A. M., 2013, Deriving criteria to select arthropod species for laboratory tests to assess the ecological risks from cultivating arthropod-resistant genetically engineered crops. *Chemosphere.*, **90**: 901–909.
- RUSSELL, D. A., UIJTEWAAL, R., DHAWAN, V., GRZYWACZ, D. AND KALIAPERUMAL, R., 2011, Progress and challenges in the Bt brassica CIMBAA public/private partnership. *In*: SRINIVASAN, R., SHELTON, A. M. AND COLLINS, H. L. (Eds.). *Proceedings of the Sixth International Workshop on Management of the Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Insect Pests*, AVRDC – The World Vegetable Center, Publication No. 11755. AVRDC – The World Vegetable Center, Taiwan.
- SCORZA, R., CALLAHAN, A., DARDICK, C., RAVELONANDRO, M., POLAK, J., MALINOWSKI, T., ZAGRAI, L., CAMBRA, M. AND KAMENOVA, I., 2013, Genetic engineering of plum pox virus resistance: 'HoneySweet' plum—from concept to product. *Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult.*, **115** (1): 1-12.
- SLATER, G. ST. C. AND BIRNEY, E., 2005, Automated generation of heuristics for biological sequence comparison. *BMC Bioinformatics*, **6**:31.
- SMAGGHE, G. AND SWEVERS, L., 2014, Pest and resistance -RNAi research in insects. *Curr. Opin. Sci.*, **6**: 4-5.
- WHYARD, S., 2015, Plant Science. Insecticidal RNA, the long and short of it. *Science.*, **347**: 950–951.

Selection and Inheritance of Cry1Ac Resistance in Diamondback Moth

S.R. SANDHYA, S.N. MANDLIK¹, D.K. SHIRALE², M.G. PATIL³ AND S. PARIMI⁴

Maharashtra Hybrid Seeds Co. Ltd., Jalna. 431203, India

E-mail: sandhya.sr@mahyco.com; ¹E-mail: suneetamandlik@gmail.com; ²E-mail: dattatray.shirale@mahyco.com; ³E-mail: mangesh.patil@mahyco.com; ⁴E-mail: srinivas.parimi@mahyco.com

ABSTRACT

Diamondback moth (DBM) (*Plutella xylostella*), is a major pest on all the vegetables belonging to the family Brassicaceae. It was the first insect reported to have evolved resistance to Bt formulations in the field. There are several studies in DBM that demonstrate the laboratory-selected resistance to Bt proteins. In this study, a laboratory colony, DB-RM, was selected with Cry1Ac protein for several generations. DB-RM colony demonstrated 900-fold resistance compared to a laboratory susceptible colony. With an objective of understanding the inheritance of the selected Cry1Ac resistance in DB-RM colony, male and female larvae of resistant and susceptible colonies were separated at third instar stage and reared individually. The adults that emerged from resistant (DB-RM) and susceptible colonies were used as mating pairs for the crosses *viz.*, susceptible (\bigcirc) x DB-RM (\bigcirc) and DB-RM (\bigcirc)) x susceptible (\bigcirc). The F1 neonates of these crosses were subjected to bioassay using Cry1Ac protein and observations were recorded after 72 hrs. The LC₅₀ values were calculated and were used to estimate the dominance ratio (*D*). The calculated LC₅₀ values of the crosses DB-RM (\bigcirc) X S (\bigcirc) and DB-RM (\bigcirc) x S (\bigcirc) were 0.015 and 0.0061 ppm, respectively. The degree of dominance (*D*) as determined by Stone's formula indicated that the resistance to Cry1Ac protein in DBM larvae is an autosomal trait that is inherited in an incompletely recessive or partially recessive manner.

Keywords: Plutella xylostella, Cry 1Ac, inheritance

CRUCIFERS are among the most important vegetables used for consumption. Diamondback moth (DBM), Plutella xylostella (L.) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) is a destructive insect pest of cruciferous vegetables. The larval infestations of the crowns or growing points of young plants causes contamination and substantial economic losses in cabbage and cauliflower. In India the losses can be up to 90% when no insecticides are used and around 35% when used (Sandur 2004). The wide spread use of synthetic insecticides resulted in resistance of the pest to many insecticides (Sandur 2004). Several Bt proteins have been documented to be effective against DBM and are being used in developing cabbage/cauliflower tolerant to DBM. Consequently, understanding the risks involved in resistance development to these proteins and deciphering the mechanisms of resistance inheritance are important for designing sustainable resistance management plans. Here we present results of a study conducted to evaluate the inheritance of Cry1Ac resistance in DBM.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Two colonies of the insect were used in our study *viz*, laboratory susceptible colony (S) and a Cry1Ac-resistant colony (DB-RM). The Cry1Ac-resistant DB-RM colony was developed through selection of DBM

larvae using MVP II as the source of Cry1Ac protein. The selection of DBM to Cry1Ac was done at a concentration of 0.010 ppm initially and was later increased in successive generations.

A resistance inheritance study using a susceptible and resistant colony of DBM was carried out in laboratory conditions. Initially the third instars of each colony were identified and separated for rearing on cabbage leaves in separate containers. When the adults emerged from these containers, the adults of Cry1Acresistant and susceptible colonies were allowed to mate individually, resulting in development of two pairs of crosses *viz.*, Susceptible Female *X* Resistant Male and Resistant Female *X* Susceptible Male. The F1 progeny produced by single pair matings in separate containers were used in the bioassays.

The F1 neonates of these crosses were subjected to cabbage leaf dip bioassays with different concentrations of the Cry1Ac protein. The leaf discs were dipped in protein dilution and allowed to air dry for 30 min. Then four 48hr-old larvae were placed on the leaves. The leaves were dipped in 0.1 % Triton solution before dipping in the protein dilutions. Observations were recorded after 72 hrs of incubation for mortality and survival of larva. A temperature of $27 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C and relative humidity of 65 % was maintained in the incubation chamber. Mortality data were subjected to statistical analysis by using probit analysis (POLO Software) and LC₅₀ values and the estimate of dominance (D_{LC}) were calculated. The degree of dominance (d) was determined using the formula of Stone (1968) [d = (2x2 - x1 - x3)/x1 - x3, where, x1, x2, and x3 are the logarithms of the LC₅₀ (concentration for 50 % lethality) values for resistant, F1 hybrid, and susceptible strains, respectively. The estimate of dominance (D_{LC}) = (d+1)/2.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The susceptibility value of the resistant colony increased 900-fold compared to the susceptible laboratory colony after 64 generations of exposure to Cry1Ac protein (Fig 1).

The LC₅₀ value of resistant parent (DB-RM) after 64 generations of exposure (at 65th generation) was 0.728 ppm where as susceptible laboratory colony exhibited LC₅₀ value of 0.0028 ppm. The LC₅₀ values were 0.015 and 0.0061 ppm for the crosses DB-RM (\bigcirc) X S (\bigcirc) and DB-RM (\bigcirc) X S (\bigcirc), respectively (Table 1). The D_{LC} value varies from 0 to 1; 0-0.2 indicates recessive, 0.2-0.4 indicates incompletely recessive or partially recessive, 0.4-0.6 indicates semidominant, 0.6-0.8 indicates incompletely dominant or partially dominant, and 0.8-1.0 indicates dominance of resistance inheritance. The dominance ratios of the crosses were estimated at 0.30 and 0.14, for DB-RM (\bigcirc) X S (\bigcirc) and DB-RM (\bigcirc) x S (\bigcirc), respectively, which indicated that F1 is partially or completely recessive (Table 1).

Generally, DBM resistance to the Cry1A toxins has been found to be completely or partially recessive (Hama *et al.* 1992; Tabashnik *et al.* 1992; Martínez-Ramírez *et al.* 1995; Tabashnik *et al.* 1997; Tang *et al.* 1997 a & b; Sayyed *et al.* 2000).



Fold increase in susceptibility value of resistant colony in comparison with the susceptible laboratory colony

		•		
Population	n	χª	LC ₅₀ (95% CI) ^b	Dominance Ratio
DB-RM (Resistant)	120	0.18	0.728 (0.900-0.99)	-
S (Susceptible)	120	1.44	0.0028 (0.00018-0.0078)	-
DB-RM(@&) x S(B&)	140	1.12	0.015 (0.004-0.029)	0.30
DB-RM (B&) x S(@&)	140	2.21	0.006 (0.002-0.012)	0.14

 TABLE 1

 Summary of assay data and the heritability values estimated through Cry 1Ac leaf-dip bioassay

Cry1Ac resistance in DBM has never been found to be dominant, although a Thai strain appeared to have polyfactorial control of resistance (Imai and Mori 1999). Insect bioassays and assessment of resistance inheritance results preliminarily suggested the inheritance of resistance to a low level of Bt broccoli in a Cry 1Ac resistant strain to be recessive (Dengxia *et al.* 2015). Reciprocal genetic crosses between Cry1Ac-reselected and susceptible population (ROTH insects) indicated that resistance was autosomal and showed incomplete dominance. At the highest dose of Cry1Ac tested, resistance was recessive while at the lowest dose it was almost completely dominant (Sayyed *et al.* 2000).

A strain from South Carolina selected to > 60,000-fold resistance to Cry1C displayed autosomal, incompletely recessive inheritance when evaluated by a leaf-dip bioassay and completely recessive behaviour on Cry1C-expressing transgenic broccoli (Zhao *et al.* 2000). The inheritance of resistance evaluated in the progeny derived from the backcross of the offspring of the Cry1B resistant strain (University of Melbourne) crossed with the

susceptible Australian (Waite and Queensland) strain, to the Cry1B resistant strain was found to be recessive with dominance co-efficient (h) values of 0.24-0.29 (Kaliaperumal *et al.* 2011).

Inheritance of resistance to Cry toxins Cry1Aa, Cry 1Ab, Cry1Ac and Cry1F was recessive in Pennsylvania and Newton populations (Tabashnik *et al.* 1997a). The results presented here suggest that resistance of the NO-Q strain of diamondback moth to a commercial formulation of *B. thuringiensis* was recessive, autosomally inherited, and controlled by one or a few loci (Tabashnik *et al.* 1992).

CONCLUSION

This study indicates that laboratory selected *P. xylostella* developed 900-fold resistance when compared with laboratory susceptible colony. It was observed that resistance of the DB-RM to Cry1Ac is inherited as recessive or incompletely / partially recessive. The recessive form of inheritance fits into the basic assumptions of insect resistance management strategy for Bt crops. When the resistance inheritance is recessive in nature, the progeny from matings of resistant and susceptible insects will die on Bt crops, substantially slowing the evolution of resistance (Tabashnik *et al.* 2009).

REFERENCES

- CARRIE'RE, Y., ELLERS, K. C., HARTFIELD, K., LAROCQUE, B., DEGAIN, P., DUTILLEUL, T. J., DENNEHY, S. E., MARSH, D. W. AND CROWDER., X, L. I., 2012, Large-scale, spatially-explicit test of the refuge strategy for delaying insecticide resistance. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sc.*, USA., 109: 775–780.
- DENGXIA, Y., SHUSONG, C., LIMEI, Y., ZHIYUAN, F., YUMEI, L., MU, Z. AND YANGYONG, Z., 2015, Influences of Cry1Ac broccoli on larval survival and oviposition of diamondback moth. J. Insect Sci., 15(1). DOI:http:// dx.doi.org/10.1093/jisesa/ieu054
- FINNEY, D. J., 1971, *Probit Analysis*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 3rd edition.
- HAMA, H., SUZUKI, K. AND TANAKA, H., 1992, Inheritance and stability of resistance to *Bacillus thuringiensis* formulations of the diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* (Linnaeus) (Lepidoptera, Yponomeutidae). *Appl. Entomol. Zool.*, **27**: 355–362.
- IMAI, K. AND MORI, Y., 1999, Levels, inheritance and stability of resistance to *Bacillus thuringiensis* formulation in a field population of the diamondback moth, *Plutella*

xylostella (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) from Thailand. *Appl. Entomol. Zool.*, **34**: 23–29.

- KALIAPERUMAL, R., RUSSELL, D. A., GUJAR, G. T., BEHERE, G., DUTT, S., KRISHNA, G. K., MORDHORST, A. AND GRZYWACZ, D., 2011, The efficacy and sustainability of the CIMBAA transgenic Cry1B / Cry1C Bt cabbage and cauliflower plants for control of lepidopteran pests. In: SRINIVASAN, R., SHELTON, A. AND COLLINS, H. (Eds.), Proceedings of The Sixth International Workshop on Management of the Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Insect Pests. AVRDC, Taiwan.
- MARTÍNEZ-RAMÍREZ, A. C., ESCRICHE, B., REAL, M. D., SILVA, F. J. AND FERRÉ, J., 1995, Inheritance of resistance to a *Bacillus thuringiensis* toxin in a field population of diamondback moth (*Plutella xylostella*). *Pestic. Sci.*, 43: 115–120.
- PEREIRA, E. J. G., STORER, N. P. AND SIEGFRIED, B. D., 2008, Inheritance of Cry1Fresistance in laboratory-selected European corn borer and its survival on transgenic corn expressing the Cry1F toxin. *Bull. Entomol.* Res., **98**: 621–629.
- SANDUR, S., 2004, Implications of Diamondback moth control for Indian cabbage farmers. Report for Centre for Environmental Stress and Adaptation Research. La Trobe University Victoria 3086, Australia., pp-96.
- SAYYED, A. H., FERRÉ, J. AND WRIGHT, D. J., 2000, Mode of inheritance and stability of resistance to *Bacillus thuringiensis* var *kurstaki* in a diamondback moth (*Plutella xylostella*) population from Malaysia. *Pest Manag. Sci.*, 56: 743–748.
- SAYYED, A. H., HAWARD, R., HERRERO, S., FERRÉ, J. AND WRIGHT, D. J., 2000, Genetic and Biochemical Approach for Characterization of Resistance to Bacillus thuringiensis Toxin Cry1Ac in a Field Population of the Diamondback Moth, Plutella xylostella. Appl. Environ. Microbiol., 66(4): 1509-1516.
- STONE, B. F., 1968, A formula for determining degree of dominance in cases of monofactorial inheritance of resistance to chemicals, *Bull. World Health Organ.*, 38(2): 325–326.
- TABASHNIK, B. E., VANRENSBERG, J. B. J. AND CARRIE'RE, Y., 2009, Field-Evolved Insect Resistance to Bt Crops: Definition, Theory and Data. *J. Econ. Entomol.*, **102**(6): 2011-2025.
- TABASHNIK, B. E., LIU, Y. B., FINSON, N., MASSON, L. AND HECKEL, D. G., 1997, One gene in diamondback moth confers resistance to four *Bacillus thuringiensis* toxins. In: *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the United States of America ., 94, 1640–1644.

- TABASHNIK, B. E., LIU, Y. B., MALVAR, T., HECKEL, D. G., MASSON, L., BALLESTER, V., GRANERO, F., MENSUA, Y. L. AND FERRÉ, J. L., 1997, Global variation in the genetic and biochemical basis of diamondback moth resistance to *Bacillus thuringiensis*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.*, **94**: 12780–12785.
- TABASHNIK, B. E., SCHWARTZ, J. M., FINSON, N. AND JOHNSON, M. W., 1992, Inheritance of resistance to *Bacillus thuringiensis* in diamondback moth (Lepidoptera, Plutellidae). J. Econ. Entomol., 85: 1046–1055.
- TANG, J. D., GILBOA, S., ROUSH, R. T. AND SHELTON, A. M., 1997, Inheritance, stability, and lack-of-fitness costs of field-selected resistance to *Bacillus thuringiensis* in diamondback moth (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) from Florida. J. Econ. Entomol., **90**: 732–741.
- ZHAO, J. Z., COLLINS, H. L., TANG, J. D., CAO, J., EARLE, E. D., ROUSH, R. T., HERRERO, S., ESCRICHE, B., FERRÉ, J. AND SHELTON, A. M., 2000, Development and characterization of diamondback moth resistance to transgenic broccoli expressing high levels of Cry1C. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 66: 3784–3789.

Session 7

At the farm level; Barriers to and innovations for management of diamondback moth and other crucifer pests

Landscape-level IPM for Brassica Pests: Patterns, Problems and Prospects

N.A. SCHELLHORN

CSIRO, Brisbane, Australia. E-mail: Nancy.schellhorn@csiro.au

ABSTRACT

Landscape ecology studies show a general trend for a positive relationship between natural enemy abundance and habitat diversity; greater resources are provided to natural enemies in complex landscapes. A similar pattern is seen for the sub-set of studies on brassica insect pest abundance and suppression by natural enemies. However, increasing evidence shows that intensive farming practices such as habitat disturbance and frequency of insecticide application can mediate the effect of brassica pest-natural enemy interactions more than availability of resources. With the demands for agricultural products restricting habitat management interventions, such as increased areas of non-crop habitat for the capture of biological pest control in production landscapes, we must look for opportunities that can align with production goals and constraints. I show that fundamental to brassica insect pest suppression is identifying the interaction between species movement, disturbance, and the farm-landscape context. Yet, more has to be done to demonstrate the impact of such integrated pest management to increase adoption by farmers.

Keywords: landscape structure, biological control, disturbance, non-crop habitat, natural enemies, area-wide management, research impact

OVER the past 20 years brassica vegetable production has increased by 39 %, and oil-seed rape by 59 % (see review Furlong et al. 2013). Undoubtedly, our knowledge of the biology and ecology of diamondback moth (DBM), Plutella xylostella and other cruciferous pests has also increased, as well as solutions to pest management. However, what is the impact of this knowledge? This question is in line with that posed by Prof. Shelton in his opening key note address of this Workshop asking the audience whether we've met the Talekar challenge. The question of impact of our collective research is increasingly important as agriculture strives to meet the demand of food increases, while reducing farm inputs such as pesticides and fertilizers, minimizing the degradation of agricultural land, and reducing crop loss. This is nowhere more important than with the production of Brassica vegetables and crops. DBM continues to develop resistance to all chemical groups that it encounters, and insecticide use continues to rise. Although much is now known about the best way to manage DBM and other brassica pests, the demonstration of the uptake and impact of these management options is limited. Linked to the management objective, we need to provide evidence of lesser problem, greater savings, and adoption of science-based solutions for the management of Brassica pests. Here I describe the current state of play of landscape-level IPM for Brassica pests and evaluate the patterns, problems and prospects for the future. Two main messages are brought to bear in this

proceedings, firstly if Brassica pest management is going to meet the demands and challenges of increasing food production than we must think beyond the scale of the crop, and secondly we must demonstrate the impact of our work starting with a quantification of the problem prior to working towards solutions.

PATTERNS, PROBLEMS, PROSPECTS

Patterns

The seminal paper by Thies and Tscharnkte (1999) on landscape structure and biological control in agricultural systems moved the thinking of pest management beyond the scale of the crop. Using the oil-seed rape, pollen beetle (Meligethes aeneau), and Ichneumonid parasitoid system, they showed an increase in parasitism of pollen beetle with an increase in non-crop area, and a decrease in crop damage. This finding spurred many to ask similar questions across different production systems, landscapes and countries. The conclusion from now more than 65 studies is that the trend is positive for natural enemy (NE) abundance and diversity with increasing amount of non-crop area in agricultural landscapes (Chaplin-Kramer et al. 2011; Veres et al. 2013); few studies focus on pests, and even fewer have demonstrated pest suppression. Of these 65 studies nine are on brassica systems (Table 1). Four studies focus on the brassica vegetable-pest-natural enemy systems; two from the Netherlands using sentinel egg cards and sentinel

larvae in Brussels sprout and cabbage systems, one from Germany on Brussel sprout-pests-parasitoid system, and one from California, USA on broccolicabbage aphid-predator system; four studies are from Europe on oil-seed rape-pollen beetle-parasitoids; one from New Zealand using forage brassica-Plutella sentinel larvae-predation/parasitism. Most of these studies show increased natural enemy abundance and / or increased pest suppression with increased noncrop habitat (Table 1). One shows increased colonization of pests with increased land use intensification (Ludwig et al. 2014), while one shows that parasitism of P. xylostella by Diadegma semiclausum is more strongly affected by disturbance rather than the availability of complex habitats (Jonsson et al. 2012).

Problems

While studies on landscape scale ecology of natural enemies and pests has clearly demonstrated the link between multiple spatial scales, crop, farm, landscape and region, there are gaps that need filling. Most of these studies focus on habitat complexity and natural enemy abundance and diversity; we need more that focus on pests. Most are conducted in Europe and the USA; we need more in Asia, Africa and the southern hemisphere. Several are demonstrating pest suppression, for example predation or parasitism as a function of landscape complexity and percentage noncrop habitat, however pest suppression does not equal pest control, which informs about economic injury and impact (Schellhorn et al. 2015). A few studies are incorporating disturbance as an explanatory variable. Given the often high insecticide use with brassica production, we need more studies that include this factor. Reducing disturbance from broad-spectrum insecticides is a far more likely option than revegetating large areas of land. Therefore, understanding the strength of these various components is likely to point us to management actions.

Finally, numerous local in-field studies have shown natural enemies to significantly reduce Brassica pests, especially studies on parasitoids (Furlong *et al.* 2013). We must next go beyond the scale of the crop to ask about sub-populations of natural enemies that are available in habitats on-farm or in the local area to colonize new plantings of brassica crops. Where are the natural enemies found? Are they using other crops and non-crop habitat? When are they there?

Prospects

A way forward for landscape-scale IPM for brassica pests is to connect the multiple spatial and temporal scales, and to demonstrate impact of the science-based solutions. There are several ways to achieve this. Firstly, a tremendous amount of knowledge has been demonstrated on various aspects of brassica pest biology and ecology; plant insect interactions, host plant resistance, pest-natural enemy interactions, host finding, physiology and chemical ecology to name a few. However, more work is needed to connect these disciplines across scales, and integrate the knowledge into 'know-how' for pest management. For example, cover crops such as rolled cereal rye were shown to reduce host finding and colonization of DBM and Brevicoryne brassicae (Broad et al. 2008a, 2008b). A greater mechanistic understanding of these findings could be achieved by scaling down to understand the chemical ecology of the cover cropping, and links to foraging behavior, as well as by scaling up to understand whether the effect of reduced host finding will hold in different landscape contexts. For example, is host finding reduced on Brassica vegetable embedded in rolled cereal when present in landscapes dominated by brassica production compared to landscapes that are dominated by non-crop or non-host crop habitat?

Secondly, much evidence points to the need to think beyond the scale of the crop to capture the services of natural enemies, and to coordinate pest management practices. In general, arthropod pests are highly mobile, and Brassica pests are as well. Learnings from pests of grain and vegetable landscapes in Australia, including canola, show us that weeds harbor pests (especially weedy pasture), whereas native plants rarely harbor these pests, but are hosting many of the natural enemies (Parry et al. 2015). These natural enemies move from these native remnants into the crops (Macfadyen et al. 2015, Bianchi et al. in review). In some cases Lucerne provided the best source habitat for natural enemies, and aphid suppression was positively related to increasing area of Lucerne at 1.5 km (Costamagna et al. 2015). Given the high demands for agricultural products and lack of arable land, Lucerne provides a reasonable option as a habitat to support beneficial insects, not host pests of Brassica crops, and provide an economic return. On-farm habitat management and area-wide approaches are needed for hosting natural

enemies of Brassica systems. However, this will require highly coordinated groups of neighboring farmers working together to achieve shared outcomes.

Finally, prior to researching a solution, we must generate a baseline assessment of the pest problem. As standard practice, researchers should conduct surveys of growers prior to starting the research in order to benchmark the problem. We need to ask questions like 'when was the worst pest year, and why?', 'when was the lightest year, and why?', 'on a scale of 1-10, what year was most severe, and how bad was it (with 10 being the most severe)?'; 'what year did you spend the most money controlling the pest, and how much?'; 'what year did you spend the least money, how much?'; 'why was the pest problem light in those years?'; 'how much does it currently cost you to control brassica pests?'. These types of questions can be linked to management objectives and an assessment of the impact of the research program in terms of a lesser problem or greater savings on pest control. Towards the end of the research program, and beyond, follow-up surveys can assess the changes in awareness, and practices by the growers, and ultimately document any changes in the severity of the pest problem.

TABLE	1
-------	---

	Landscap	e Studies for Bras	ssica	pests & natural	enemies	
Crop and Country	Study System	Effect		Crop and Country	Study System	Effect
¹ Broccoli, CA, USA	<i>Brevicoryne</i> <i>brassicae</i> , syrphid -predation	Reduction of pests greater with increased complexity at local and landscape scale.		⁶ Oil-seed rape, Germany	<i>Meligethes</i> <i>aeneau</i> , parasitism	% non-crop area was negatively related to herbivory and positively related to parasitism of larvae.
² Brussels sprout, NL	Mamestra brassicae; egg parasitism/ predation	Predation and parasitism related to landscape variables at 0.3, 1, 2 and 10 km; positive relationship with predation and woody habitats,		⁷ Oil-seed rape, France	<i>Meligethes</i> <i>aeneau</i> , parasitism	Positive relationship with proportion of grassland and forest (small and large scales) and previous year OSR field.
	and parasitism pasture.	and parasitism and pasture.		⁸ Oil-seed rape, Austria	Meligethes	Stem weevil
³ Cabbage, NL	<i>Plutella xylostella</i> , parasitism/ predation	Parasitism positively related with the area of forests at scales of 1, 2 and 10 km.		Ausula	parasitism	negatively related to grassy fallow; pollen beetle parasitism positively related
⁴ Brussels sprout, Germany	Brevicoryne brassicae	Pest colonization	ization Brussels			to crop density and roadside strips
Germany	Aleyrodes proletella	sprouts in landscapes with greater area of oil- seed rape.		⁹ Forage Brassica; New Zealand	<i>Plutella</i> <i>xylostella</i> , parasitism	Parasitism declined with increasing annual crop cover;
⁵ Oil-seed rape, <i>M</i> Germany pa	<i>Meligethes aeneau</i> , parasitism	Oil-seed rape damage was lower and parasitism				decreasing habitat diversity in the landscape had little effect.
		structurally complex landscapes		¹ Chaplin-Dramer <i>e</i>	<i>t al.</i> 2012; ² Bianchi	<i>et al.</i> 2005; ³ Bianch

simple landscapes

with high areas of agriculture.

nchi et al. 2008; ⁴Ludwig et al. 2014; ⁵Thies and Tscharntke 1999; 6 Thies et al. 2003; 7 Rusch et al. 2011; 8 Zaller et al. 2009; 9Jonsson et al. 2012.

CONCLUSION

The discipline of Brassica pest management has generated considerable knowledge, but many challenges lie ahead. Managing pests beyond the scale of the crop is technically and socially challenging, and will require integration across disciplines and new knowledge on the role of surrounding habitats in supporting pests and natural enemies. In addition, it will require well- coordinated groups of farmers working towards shared goals. However, most important is the need for researchers to demonstrate impact of their programs in solving pest management problems. Such an approach can be highly impactful, and either highlights the gaps and the failings or shine the spot light on the successes.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The author wishes to thank the conference organizers for the invitation to present this research at the International Workshop. NAS was partially funded by the Julius Career Award Office of Chief Executive CSIRO.

REFERENCES

- BIANCHI, F. J. J. A., VAN WINGERDEN, W. K. R. E., GRIFFIOEN, A. J., VAN DER VEEN, M., VAN DER STRATEN, M. J. J., WEGMAN, R. M. A. AND MEEUWSEN, H. A. M., 2005. Landscape factors affecting the control of *Mamestra brassicae* by natural enemies in Brussels sprout. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.*, **107**:145–150.
- BIANCHI, F. J. J. A., GOEDHART, P. W. AND BAVECO, J. M., 2008, Enhanced pest control in cabbage crops near forest in The Netherlands. *Landsc. Ecol.*, 23:595–602.
- BIANCHI, F. J. J. A., WALTERS, B. J., CUNNINGHAM, S. A., HEMERIK, L. AND SCHELLHORN, N. A., 2016, Landscapescale mass-action of spiders explains early-season immigration rates in crops. *Landsc. Ecol.*, (in review).
- BROAD, S. T., SCHELLHORN, N. A., LISSON, S. N., MENDHAM, N. J. AND CORKREY, R., 2008a, Host location and parasitism of *Brevicoryne brassicae* in diversified broccoli cropping systems. *Entomol. Exp. Appl.*, 129:166-171.
- BROAD, S. T., SCHELLHORN, N. A., LISSON, S. N. AND MENDHAM, N. J., 2008b, Host location and oviposition of lepidopteran herbivores in diversified cropping systems. Agric. Forest Entomo., 10:157-165.
- CHAPLIN-KRAMER, R., O'ROURKE, M. E., BLITZER, E. J. AND KREMEN, C., 2011, A meta-analysis of crop pest and natural enemy response to landscape complexity. *Ecol. Lett.*, **14**:922-932.
- CHAPLIN-KRAMER, R. AND KREMEN, C., 2012, Pest control experiments show benefits of complexity at landscape and local scales. *Ecol. Appl.*, **22**:1936-1948.
- COSTAMAGNA, A.C., VENABLES, W. N. AND SCHELLHORN, N. A., 2015, Landscape-scale pest suppression is

mediated by timing of predator arrival. *Ecol. Appl.*, **25**:1114-1130.

- FURLONG, M. J., WRIGHT, D. J. AND DOSDALL, L. M., 2013, Diamondback moth ecology and management: Problems, Progress and Prospects. Annu. Rev. Entomol., 58:517-541.
- JONSSON, M., BUCKLEY, H. L., CASE, B. S., WRATTEN, S. D., HALE, R. J. AND DIDHAM, R. K, 2012, Agriculture intensification drives landscape-context effects on host-parasitoid interactions in agroecosystems. J. Appl. Ecol., 49:706-714.
- LUDWIG, M., SCHLINKER, T. H. AND MEYHOFER, R., 2014, Impact of oilseed rape on initial colonisation and preharvest infestation of Brussels sprout by cabbage aphid, cabbage whitefly and whitefly parasitoids. Conference proceedings of IOBC /WPRS IOBC-WPRS Bulletin Integrated Protection in field vegetables, **107**:163-169.]
- MACFADYEN, S., HOPKINSON, J., PARRY, H., NEAVE, M. J., BIANCHI FJJA., ZALUCKI, M. P. AND SCHELLHORN, N. A., 2015, Early-season movement dynamics of phytophagous pest and natural enemies across a native vegetation-crop ecotone. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.*, 200:110-118.
- PARRY, H. R., MACFADYEN, S., HOPKINSON, J. E., BIANCHI FJJA., ZALUCKI, M. P., BOURNE, A. AND SCHELLHORN, N. A., 2015, Plant composition modulates arthropod pest and predator abundance: Evidence for culling exotics and planting natives. *Basic Appl. Ecol.*, 16:531-543.
- RUSCH, A., VALANIN-MORISON, M., SARTHOU, J. P. AND ROGER-ESTRADE, J., 2011, Multi-scale effects of landscape complexity and crop management on pollen beetle parasitism rate. *Landsc. Ecol.*, **26**:473-486.
- SCHELLHORN, N. A., PARRY, H. R., MACFADYEN, S., WANG, Y. AND ZALUCKI, M. P., 2015, Connecting scales: Achieving in-field pest control from area wide and landscape ecology studies. *Insect Sci.*, 22:35-51.
- THIES, C. AND TCSHARNKTE, T., 1999, Landscape structure and biological control in agroecosystems. *Science*, **285**:893-895.
- THIES, C., STEFFAN-DEWNTER, I. AND TSCHARNTKE, T., 2003, Effects of landscape context on herbivory and parasitism at different spatial scales. *Oikos*, **101**:18-25.
- VERES, A., PETIT, S., CONORD, C. AND LAVIGNE, C., 2013, Does landscape composition affect pest abundance and their control by natural enemies? A review. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.*, **166**:110-117.
- ZALLER, J. G., MOSER, D., DRAPELA, T., SCHMÖGER, C. AND FRANK, T., 2009, Parasitism of stem weevils and pollen beetles in winter oilseed rape is differentially affected by crop management and landscape characteristics. *Biocontrol*, **54**:505–514.

Towards Developing an Integrated Pest Management Strategy for Cabbage Production Systems in Lowlands of Taiwan, Republic of China

R. SRINIVASAN, M.-Y. LIN¹, F.-C. SU² AND C.-C. HUANG³

Entomology, AVRDC – World Vegetable Center, Shanhua, Tainan 74151, Taiwan, Republic of China E-mail : srini.ramasamy@worldveg.org; ¹E-mail : mei-ying.lin@worldveg.org ²E-mail : fu-cheng.su@worldveg.org; ³E-mail : amy.huang@worldveg.org

Abstract

No single method of pest management can achieve a level of control of cabbage pests acceptable to producers in the lowlands of Taiwan, Republic of China. Therefore, an effective integrated pest management (IPM) strategy has been developed and validated. Since Indian mustard (*Brassica juncea*) has been reported to be an effective trap crop, we screened 89 Indian mustard accessions from the Genetic Resources and Seed Unit (GRSU) of AVRDC - The World Vegetable Center. We identified three very attractive accessions to diamondback moth viz., VI33061, VI33129 and VI36395. When these accessions were subsequently tested as trap crops with cabbage, the yield and pest damage did not show significant differences compared to the cabbage crop without trap crops. Improved sex pheromone lures of *Plutella xylostella* attracted significantly higher numbers of moths. However, the yield and pest damage did not differ significantly among the treatments. Seventeen chemical and bio-pesticides were tested against P. xylostella, Crocidolomia pavonana and Spodoptera litura. Spinetoram, spinosad, chlorfenapyr, chlorantraniliprole, emamectin benzoate, fipronil, cartap, indoxacarb and Bacillus thuringiensis were effective against P. xylostella at the recommended concentrations. C. pavonana was susceptible to almost all these insecticides, particularly to spinetoram, spinosad, indoxacarb, chlorfenapyr and chlorantraniliprole and B. thuringiensis. However, B. thuringiensis was not effective against S. litura. Based on these results, a pesticide window strategy was developed and evaluated in 2013. Significantly low pest damage and higher yields were recorded using the insecticide window strategy, compared to the farmers' practice. Trap cropping did not have any effects in managing the cabbage pests in the lowlands. Although the insecticide window strategy alone could provide sufficient control of major lepidopterans on cabbage in lowland production systems in Taiwan, Republic of China, it would be improved if combined with the pheromone lures which serve as the monitoring tool for timing applications.

Keywords: Cabbage, lowland, trap crop, sex pheromones, pesticide window strategy

INTRODUCTION

Cabbage (including Chinese cabbage) is an important vegetable crop in Taiwan, Republic of China. They are cultivated on ca 10,000 ha with an annual production of over 457,000 t (Council of Agriculture, 2014). Diamondback moth (DBM), Plutella xylostella, is one of the most serious pests of cabbages in Taiwan, Republic of China as well as other parts of the world. Though P. xylostella is the predominant pest in cabbages, it can be brought under reasonable control in the highlands of Taiwan, Republic of China by introduced parasitoids such as *Diadegma semiclausum* and Diadromus collaris. Although the lowlands of Taiwan, Republic of China and Southeast Asia have another parasitoid, Cotesia plutellae (Talekar and Shelton 1993), it alone cannot keep the P. xylostella populations below levels causing economic damage. In addition, pests of secondary importance including cabbage head caterpillar (CHC, Crocidolomia pavonana), cabbage web worm (CWW, Hellula undalis), common armyworm (CAW, Spodoptera *litura*), and imported cabbageworm (ICW, *Pieris rapae*) often lack parasitoids or other integrated pest management (IPM) strategies. Thus vegetable growers predominantly rely on chemical insecticides to control these secondary pests. However, this practice inadvertently kills the natural enemies of *P. xylostella*, resulting in the resurgence of *P. xylostella* populations in the lowlands of Taiwan, Republic of China as well as other parts of Southeast Asia (Talekar 2004). Hence, alternative pest management strategies are warranted for lowland brassica producers in Taiwan, Republic of China.

Indian mustard (*Brassica juncea*) has been reported to be an effective trap crop. It was proven to be effective in managing *P. xylostella* in India (Srinivasan and Krishna Moorthy 1992) and South Africa (Charleston and Kfir 2000). However, it was not attractive for the population in the Pacific (Muniappan *et al.* 2001). Badenes-Perez *et al.* (2004) reported that Yellow rocket (*Barbarea vulgaris*) may be a better trap crop than Indian mustard. Variable attractiveness of Indian mustard as a trap crop can be attributed to its genotypic variations. Hence, we screened about 89 Indian mustard accessions that are available with the Genetic Resources and Seed Unit of AVRDC – The World Vegetable Center, to identify the most attractive accession(s) to be used a trap crop(s).

Synthetic sex pheromone and new attractant formulations are highly effective in forecasting the occurrence of *P. xylostella* in cabbage and Chinese cabbage fields in Shanghai County, People's Republic of China (Dai *et al.* 2011). Besides using sex pheromone traps as an effective forecasting tool, they can also be employed as a control method. For instance, *P. xylostella* populations were reduced about 60 % by continuously using sex pheromone traps during a planting season in Yunnan, People's Republic of China (Chen *et al.* 2011). Hence, improved formulations of sex pheromone lures were evaluated in the current study.

Bio-pesticides have an important role in managing brassica insect pests. Bacillus thuringiensis toxins and formulations have been evaluated against the larvae of P. xylostella, C. pavonana, H. undalis and Pi. rapae. The toxins Cry1Ac, Cry1Aa and Cry1Ca were equally toxic to P. xylostella. C. pavonana was highly susceptible to all Cry1A toxins and it was least sensitive to Cry1Ca (Srinivasan and Hsu 2008). Cry 1A toxins are commonly found in B. thuringiensis subsp. kurstaki based formulations. Conversely, H. undalis was highly sensitive to Cry1Ca, but less susceptible to Cry1A toxins. Hence, the susceptibility of *H. undalis* to Xentari[®], a formulation containing Cry1C as a major toxin, was significantly higher (Srinivasan and Hsu 2008). This was also confirmed in earlier studies which showed that application of B. thuringiensis subsp. kurstaki based formulations was ineffective against H. undalis in Taiwan, Republic of China (AVRDC 1987). Hence, different formulations of B. thuringiensis can be deployed in managing various lepidopteran pests on cabbages. However, it will be more sustainable if the bio-pesticides are combined with chemical insecticides in a proper insecticide window strategy. In the window strategy, insecticides are rotated with each one used only during a specific 'window.' The insecticide window strategy has been shown to be effective in maintaining the susceptibility of P. xylostella in other countries. Therefore, we attempted to develop and validate an effective IPM strategy based on trap crops, sex pheromone lures and insecticide window strategy in lowland cabbage production in the current study.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

(1) Screening of Indian mustard germplasm against major lepidopteran insects

Seeds of 89 Indian mustard accessions were obtained from the GRSU of AVRDC – The World Vegetable Center, and sown in seedling trays. Three week-old seedlings were planted during the spring season of 2012. For each accession, two replications were maintained, and each replication had 10 plants. The plants were not sprayed with any insecticide.. Beginning three weeks after transplanting, the number of insects present on each plant was counted at weekly intervals for three weeks. The observations included *P. xylostella, C. pavonana, H. undalis, Pi. rapae* and *Phyllotreta striolata*. Based on the mean insect population, the most attractive accessions were selected for advanced screening.

The nine most attractive Indian mustard accessions from the spring trial were screened to confirm their attraction during the autumn season of 2012. Each accession was planted in three replications following a randomized complete block design (RCBD), and each replication had 10 plants. The plants were not sprayed with any insecticide. Beginning three weeks after transplanting, the number of insects present on each plant was counted at weekly intervals for three weeks. The observations included *P. xylostella, C. pavonana, H. undalis, Pi. rapae* and striped flea beetle (SFB, *Phyllotreta striolata*). Data were subjected to analysis of variance (ANOVA) and Tukey's Honest Significant Difference (HSD) test for mean comparisons.

(2) Evaluating Indian mustard as a trap crop against major lepidopteran pests of brassicas

The three most attractive accessions (VI33061, VI33129 and VI36395) were evaluated as trap crops. The trial conducted during spring 2013 included seven treatments *viz.*, three selected accessions in two modes of deployment each, and the untreated check containing only cabbage as the main crop. Each treatment was replicated for three times, following RCBD.

- we before and 25 in each tra
- (i) VI33061 planted twice (15 days before- and 25 days after planting of cabbage)
- (ii) VI33061 planted thrice (15 days before-, 25 days after- and 50 days after planting of cabbage)
- (iii) VI33129 planted twice (15 days before- and 25 days after planting of cabbage)
- (iv) VI33129 planted thrice (15 days before-, 25 days after- and 50 days after planting of cabbage)
- (v) VI36395 planted twice (15 days before- and 25 days after planting of cabbage)
- (vi) VI36395 planted thrice (15 days before-, 25 days after- and 50 days after planting of cabbage)
- (vii) Untreated check (cabbage only)

Five plants were randomly selected in each replication, and the total number of *P. xylostella, C. pavonana* and *Pi. rapae* larvae on each plant was counted at weekly intervals until the harvest starting from two weeks after transplanting. The mean number of larvae per plant for each pest species was compared between the treatments using ANOVA and Tukey's HSD for mean comparisons.

(3) Effectiveness of improved sex pheromone lures against P. xylostella for their potential in monitoring and/or mass-trapping

A field trial was conducted at AVRDC – The World Vegetable Center - during the autumn season of 2012 to evaluate the efficiency of an improved sex pheromone lure for *P. xylostella*, which was obtained from Bio-Control Research Laboratories (BCRL), Bangalore, India. There were two treatments: (i) sex pheromone lure and (ii) untreated check. Each treatment was replicated seven times, and the design was RCBD. The number of *P. xylostella* adults attracted to each trap was counted at weekly intervals. The total number of insects attracted in each treatment was subjected to ANOVA and Tukey's HSD for mean comparisons.

A second field trial was conducted in farmer's field in Shanhua during the autumn season of 2012 to evaluate the efficiency of improved sex pheromone lures for *P. xylostella*. There were three treatments: (i) sex pheromone lure – India; (i) sex pheromone lure – Taiwan; and (iii) check. Each treatment was replicated six times following the RCBD. The number of *P. xylostella* adults attracted to each trap was counted at weekly intervals. The total number of insects attracted

in each treatment was subjected to ANOVA and Tukey's HSD for mean comparisons.

According to the field trials conducted during autumn 2012, the pheromone lures could be used as a monitoring tool in an IPM strategy for *P. xylostella*. Since we received newer pheromone lures from Taiwan Agricultural Chemicals and Toxic Substances Research Institute (TACTRI), additional trials were conducted during 2013. The third trial had three treatments: (i) AVRDC pheromone lure, (ii) TACTRI pheromone lure, and (iii) check. The number of P. xylostella adults attracted to each trap was counted at weekly intervals. In addition, the number of P. xylostella and P. rapae larvae on ten plants in each replication was also counted randomly. The marketable yield of cabbage during harvest was recorded. The data were subjected to ANOVA and Tukey's HSD for mean comparisons.

(4) Development and evaluation of an insecticide window strategy against key lepidopteran pests

Commercially available bio-pesticide formulations based on *B. thuringiensis* such as Crymax[®] and strain E-911[®] (B. thuringiensis subsp. kurstaki), Xentari[®] (B. thuringiensis subsp. aizawai), and selected chemical pesticides were bio-assayed in the lab against P. xylostella, C. pavonana and S. litura. A few log-based concentrations (i.e. 10, 100, 1000 and 10000 ppm) for each bio-pesticide or chemical pesticide were used in the preliminary range-finding tests. At least five concentrations for each compound that caused 10-90% mortality, according to the preliminary tests, plus an untreated control were included in further bioassays. Insect bioassays were performed by treating the cabbage leaf discs with selected concentrations of each compound. Ten early second-instar larvae were introduced into each cup containing treated leaf disc that served as an experimental unit. The cups were covered with lids. The experiment was replicated five times. The cups were incubated at 27±1 °C, and 70±10 % RH, L12:D12. Larval mortality were recorded after 3-4 days; at each assessment, larvae were classed as either alive or dead. The lethal concentrations causing 50 % mortality (LC₅₀), 90 % mortality (LC₉₀), their 95 % fiducial limits (FL) and the slope value of probit line were assessed according to probit analysis methodology using the statistical program LdP line (Ehab Mostofa Bakr, Cairo, Egypt), and the LC_{50} values and relevant statistics were calculated.

Differences in toxicity were considered significant when 95% fiducial limits (FL) of LC_{50} values did not overlap.

An insecticide window strategy was developed using the chemical and bio-pesticides based on the bio-assay results, and a field trial was conducted in spring 2013.

Window 1 (spring): spinetoram, chlorfenapyr, indoxacarb and *B. thuringiensis* subsp. *kurstaki*

There were three treatments: (i) window strategy, (ii) farmers' strategy which was mainly based on chemical insecticides without regard to frequency of use, and (iii) untreated check plots. Each treatment was replicated four times, and the design was RCBD. Ten plants were randomly selected in each replication, and the total number of *P. xylostella* and *Pi. rapae* larvae on each plant were counted at weekly intervals for six weeks starting from four weeks after transplanting. The marketable yield of cabbage during harvest was also recorded. The data were subjected to ANOVA and Tukey's HSD for mean comparisons.

A second field trial was conducted during autumn 2013.

Window 2 (autumn): emamectin benzoate, fipronil, chlorantraniliprole and *B. thuringiensis* subsp. *aizawai*

There were five treatments: (i) window strategy, (ii) window strategy + *P. xylostella* sex pheromone lures, (iii) window strategy + *P. xylostella* sex pheromone lures + Indian mustard trap crop, (iv) farmers' strategy based on chemical insecticides alone, and (v) untreated check plots. Each treatment was replicated four times, and the design was RCBD. Ten plants were randomly selected in each replication, and the total numbers of *P. xylostella*, *Pi. rapae*, *C. pavonana* and *S. litura* larvae on each plant were counted at weekly intervals for six weeks starting from four weeks after transplanting. The marketable yield of cabbage during harvest was also recorded. The data were subjected to ANOVA and Tukey's HSD for mean comparisons.

RESULTS

(1) Screening of Indian mustard germplasm against major lepidopteran insects

Of the 89 accessions screened during spring 2012, the nine most attractive accessions, viz., V1010245, V1033061, V1033129, V1033134, V1036395, V1037401, V1041182, V1048139 and V1048315 were selected for advanced screening (data not shown). From the advanced screening trial, VI36395 was identified as the most attractive accession to. *striolata* (F=2.58; p=0.05), whereas VI33061 was found to harbor more P. xylostella and C. pavonana, although there was no significant difference among the accessions for P. xylostella (F=1.72; p=0.18), C. pavonana (F=2.30; p=0.07), H. undalis (F=1.63; p=0.19) and P. rapae (F=1.01; p=0.47) (Table 1). VI33129 was found to have more Pi. rapae larvae and VI37401 hosted more H. undalis larvae. Hence, three accessions (VI33061, VI33129 and VI36395) were evaluated as trap crops with cabbage as the main crop in the following trials to manage the major lepidopteran pests. Since H. undalis mostly appears only sporadically, VI37401 was not included in the subsequent trials.

(2) Evaluating Indian mustard as a trap crop against major lepidopteran pests of brassicas

None of the selected Indian mustard accession was able to reduce the number of larvae of *P. xylostella, Pi. rapae* and *C. pavonana* in either mode of deployment (Table 2). Hence, the larval population of *P. xylostella* (F=0.73; p=0.63), *Pi. rapae* (F=1.08; p=0.43) and *C. pavonana* (F=2.03; p=0.10) did not differ significantly on cabbage plants with or without the trap crop

(3) Effectiveness of improved sex pheromone lures against P. xylostella for their potential in monitoring and/or mass-trapping

The improved pheromone lure from BCRL, India attracted significantly higher numbers of *P. xylostella* adults (154/week) compared to the untreated check (51/week) (F=17.83; p=0.008) in the trial conducted at AVRDC during autumn 2012 (Table 3). Similarly, the improved pheromone lures from India and Taiwan attracted almost an equal number of insects recording 344 and 331 insects/week, respectively, which were significantly higher than the untreated check (145/week) (F=16.21; p=0.0007) (Table 4). Hence, we chose the Taiwan lures for subsequent trials.

TABLE 1 Attraction of selected Indian mustard accessions to major lepidopterans (autumn 2012)

Accession	Mean	Mean	Mean	Mean	Mean
	no. of				
	DBM /	CWW/	CHC /	ICW.	SFB /
	plant	plant	plant	plant	plant
VI10245	0.08 a	0.09 a	2.17 a	1.22 a	1.72 ab
VI33061	0.13 a	0.03 a	3.51 a	1.39 a	1.76 ab
VI33129	0.01 a	0.08 a	1.59 a	3.41 a	1.91 ab
VI33134	0.03 a	0.05 a	2.76 a	1.27 a	1.63 ab
VI36395	0.03 a	0.09 a	0.00 a	0.93 a	4.00 a
VI37401	0.00 a	0.43 a	2.92 a	1.31 a	2.33 ab
VI41182	0.00 a	0.17 a	2.15 a	1.48 a	1.63 ab
VI48139	0.00 a	0.00 a	0.75 a	1.93 a	1.59 ab
VI48315	0.00 a	0.00 a	0.29 a	2.57 a	0.32 b
F value	1.72	1.63	2.30	1.01	2.58
P value	0.18	0.19	0.07	0.47	0.05

Means followed by the same letter(s) in a column are not significantly different (p < 0.05) by Tukey's HSD.

TABLE 2

Effects of selected Indian mustard accessions as trap crop against major lepidopterans on cabbage (spring 2013)

Treatment	No. of DBM larve / Plant	No. of ICW larve / Plant	No. of CHC larve / Plant
VI33061	2.04	1.50	1.20
(15dB, 25dA)	2.04 a	1.50 a	1.29 a
VI33061			
(15dB, 25dA, 50dA)	2.73 a	1.65 a	2.71 a
VI33129			
(15dB, 25dA)	1.47 a	1.86 a	1.53 a
VI33129			
(15dB, 25dA, 50dA)	1.73 a	1.73 a	0.85 a
VI36395			
(15dB, 25dA)	2.80 a	1.21 a	1.87 a
VI36395			
(15dB, 25dA, 50dA)	1.96 a	1.42 a	0.78 a
Check	2.71 a	1.81 a	0.84 a
F value	0.73	1.08	2.03
P value	0.63	0.43	0.10

Means followed by the same letter(s) in a column are not significantly different (p < 0.05) by Tukey's HSD dB – days before transplanting main crop dA – days after transplanting main crop

(4) Effectiveness of improved sex pheromone lures against P. xylostella for their potential in monitoring and/or mass-trapping

The improved pheromone lure from BCRL, India attracted significantly higher numbers of *P. xylostella* adults (154/week) compared to the untreated check (51/week) (F=17.83; p=0.008) in the trial conducted at AVRDC during autumn 2012 (Table 3). Similarly, the improved pheromone lures from India and Taiwan attracted almost an equal number of insects recording 344 and 331 insects/week, respectively, which were significantly higher than the untreated check (145/ week) (F=16.21; p=0.0007) (Table 4). Hence, we chose the Taiwan lures for subsequent trials.

TABLE 3

Effectiveness of improved sex pheromone lure (India) against P. xylostella on cabbage (September – December 2012)

Treatment	Total no. of P. xylostella / trap
Pheromone lure	1228.80 a (7.07)
Check	409.00 b (5.85)
F value	17.83
P value	0.008

Means followed by the same letter(s) in a column are not significantly different (p < 0.05) by Tukey's HSD Figures in parentheses are log-transformed values

TABLE 4

Effectiveness of improved sex pheromone lures against P. xylostella on cabbage (Sept.–December 2012)

	-
Treatment	Total no. of P. xylostella / trap
Pheromone	1377.00 a
lure (India)	(7.21)
Pheromone	1323.00 a
lure (Taiwan)	(7.11)
Check	581.00 b (6.17)
F value	16.21
P value	0.0007

Means followed by the same letter(s) in a column are not significantly different (p < 0.05) by Tukey's HSD Figures in parentheses are log-transformed values

Both lures attracted a significantly higher number of *P. xylostella* adults compared to the untreated check (F=32.56; p=0.0001). However, it did not reduce the number of *P. xylostella* larvae (F=0.45; p=0.66) on cabbage plants among the treatments (Table 5). In addition, *Pi. rapae* larvae were also present on cabbage plants in all the treatments. This led to significant reduction in marketable yield in both pheromone treated as well as control plots, which was not statistically significant among the treatments (F=0.29; p=0.76). The marketable yield was less than 4 t/ha in all the treatments (F=0.13; p=0.88). Hence, this suggests that pheromone lures can be used only as a monitoring tool in lowland cabbage production and not as a means of lowering the population.

TABLE 5

Effectiveness of improved sex pheromone lures against P. xylostella on cabbage (January – April 2013)

	No. of	No. of Pla	larvae / ant	Yield (t/ha)	
Treatment	DBM adults / trap	DBM	ICW	Marke- table	Un mar ket- able
TACTRI lure	185.80 ab	2.70	1.46	3.92	33.54
AVRDC lure	328.00 a	2.67	1.24	3.83	35.41
Check	131.00 b	3.14	1.52	3.20	33.02
F value	32.56	0.45	0.52	0.13	0.29
P value	0.0001	0.66	0.62	0.88	0.76

Means followed by the same letter(s) in a column are not significantly different (p < 0.05) by Tukey's HSD

(5) Development and evaluation of an insecticide window strategy against key lepidopteran pests

Among the chemical pesticides, spinetoram was the most toxic to *P. xylostella* (Table 6). This was followed by spinosad and emamectin benzoate, which were equally toxic because of their overlapping fiducial limits. Indoxacarb was also highly toxic to *P. xylostella* with an LC₅₀ of 93.83 ppm. Chlorfenapyr, chlorantraniliprole and cartap were also on par in toxicity. Among the bio-pesticides, *B. thuringiensis* subsp. *aizawai* (Xentari[®]) was the most toxic, followed by *B. thuringiensis* subsp. *kurstaki* (Bt strain E-911) and *B. thuringiensis* subsp. *kurstaki* (Crymax[®]). Emamectin benzoate recorded the highest toxicity against *C. pavonana* (Table 7), which was followed by chlorantraniliprole and indoxacarb. Chlorfenapyr was also highly toxic to *C. pavonana* with a LC_{50} of 12.84 ppm.

Among the bio-pesticides, both *B. thuringiensis* subsp. *kurstaki* (Bt strain E-911) and *B. thuringiensis* subsp. *kurstaki* (Crymax[®]) were equally toxic. For *S. litura* larva also, emamectin benzoate recorded the highest toxicity (Table 8), which was followed by indoxacarb. Among the bio-pesticides, *B. thuringiensis* subsp. *aizawai* (Xentari[®]) recorded the lowest LC_{50} , followed by *B. thuringiensis* subsp. *kurstaki* (Crymax[®]). However, *S. litura* was not highly susceptible to *B. thuringiensis* subsp. *kurstaki* (Bt strain E-911).

The *P. xylostella* population was significantly higher when using the farmers' method which mainly involved calendar based spraying of chemical pesticides - chlorantraniliprole and fipronil (Table 9). Moreover, the population was significantly lower in the untreated check (F=3.35; p = 0.04). *Pi. rapae* population was significantly lowered in both window strategy and the farmers' method (F=61.74; p < 0.0001). Hence, the window strategy recorded significantly higher yield, followed by the farmers' method (F=6.09; p = 0.04).

In the second season, the pest population on cabbage did not differ significantly when the window strategy was deployed either alone or in combination with *P. xylostella* pheromone and/or trap crop (Table 10). Like the previous trial, *P. xylostella* population was significantly lower in untreated plots (F=3.35; p=0.04), which is mainly due to the presence of parasitoids. Both *Pi. rapae* (F=36.72; p<0.0001) and *C. pavonana* (F=5.88; p=0.006) population were significantly higher only in untreated plots. However, *S. litura* population did not differ among the treatments. The marketable yield was significantly lower only in untreated plots (F=38.48; p<0.0001).

Chemical or Bio- pesticide	LC ₅₀ (ppm)	Fiducial Limits (95%)	LC ₉₀ (ppm)	Fiducial Limits (95%)	Slope (SE)	× ²	df
Spinetoram	4.79	(4.32 – 5.26)	12.43	(10.78 – 14.94)	3.09 (0.25)	2.17	3
Metaflumizone	2680.71	(2109.20 – 3589.94)	30672.02	(18046.19 – 64601.63)	1.21 (0.11)	5.09	4
Chlorfenapyr	249.09	(208.25 – 290.78)	1094.89	(883.86 – 1452.86)	1.99 (0.18)	6.48	3
Chlorantraniliprole	335.51	(201.17 – 531.62)	2418.89	(1852.71 – 8661.13)	1.49 (0.14)	13.39	4
Spinosad	27.54	(23.06 – 33.83)	173.18	(120.17 – 283.80)	1.61 (0.13)	3.72	4
Bacillus thuringiensis subsp. aizawai (Xentari [®])	89.81	(75.35 – 107.08)	672.77	(487.41 – 1032.63)	1.47 (0.12)	5.86	4
B. thuringiensis subsp. kurstaki (Crymax [®])	348.36	(190.53 – 793.25)	2999.04	(2776.19 – 24036.33)	1.37 (0.12)	20.64	4
B. thuringiensis subsp. kurstaki (Bt strain E-911)	270.64	(166.86 – 421.88)	1689.32	(1231.83 – 4653.46)	1.61 (0.13)	12.78	4
Tolfenpyrad	1137.49	(978.06 – 1336.48)	5905.19	(4470.61 – 8466.60)	1.79 (0.13)	6.51	4
Emamectin benzoate	33.09	(18.28 - 55.60)	178.51	(139.25 – 552.58)	1.75 (0.13)	21.09	4
Fipronil	582.40	(397.19 – 833.60)	3069.22	(2232.05 – 6245.39)	1.78 (0.13)	10.81	4
Cartap	334.40	(285.52 – 391.14)	1929.66	(1481.16 – 2711.81)	1.68 (0.13)	3.03	4
Indoxacarb	93.83	(63.24 - 130.47)	5638.77	(2353.90 – 25928.13)	0.72 (0.10)	0.78	4

TABLE 6Toxicity of different chemical and bio-pesticides to Plutella xylostella larvae

	Table 7	
Toxicity of different	t chemical and bio-pesticides to	P Crocidolomia pavonana larvae

Chemical or Bio- pesticide	LC ₅₀ (ppm)	Fiducial Limits (95%)	LC ₉₀ (ppm)	Fiducial Limits (95%)	Slope (SE)	× ²	df
Emamectin benzoate Emamectin benzoate	0.004	(0.003 0.005)	0.038	(0.027 – 0.057)	1.32 (0.09)	9.04	4
Indoxacarb	1.97	(1.17 – 2.97)	9.11	(6.84 – 21.00)	1.93 (0.14)	16.98	4
Chlorfenapyr	12.84	(9.21 – 18.39)	37.92	(29.37 – 75.71)	2.72 (0.20)	8.56	3
Cartap	194.40	(120.16 – 574.85)	931.82	(1164.64 – 9932.53)	1.88 (0.15)	30.50	4
Tofenpyred	188.96	(125.66 – 287.27)	1098.69	(793.78 – 2618.21)	1.68 (0.13)	12.13	4
Methomyl	273.79	(242.13 - 307.13)	733.71	(627.82 - 894.14)	2.99 (0.24)	6.11	3
Fenvalerate	326.75	(192.37 - 633.33)	1413.02	(1247.14 - 6920.17)	2.02 (0.17)	13.45	3
Chlorantraniliprole	1.58	(1.03 - 2.19)	69.32	(34.42 - 221.80)	0.78 (0.11)	2.45	4
<i>B. thuringiensis</i> subsp. <i>aizawai</i> (Xentari [®])	386.16	(320.49 – 469.53)	2387.37	(1585.55 – 4591.66)	1.62 (0.20)	2.16	2
<i>B. thuringiensis</i> subsp. <i>kurstaki</i> (Crymax [®])	187.94	(148.77 – 234.17)	2648.22	(1687.83 – 5047.28)	1.12 (0.11)	3.23	4
<i>B. thuringiensis</i> subsp. <i>kurstaki</i> (Bt strain E-911)	176.43	(151.81 – 205.00)	720.90	(548.85 – 1068.02)	2.10 (0.22)	1.31	2

Chemical or Bio- pesticide	LC ₅₀ (ppm)	Fiducial Limits	LC ₉₀ (ppm)	Fiducial Limits	Slope (SE)	\times^2	df
		(95%)		(95%)			
Emamectin benzoate	1.24	(0.90 – 1.60)	16.75	(11.37 – 29.36)	1.13 (0.12)	9.40	4
Indoxacarb	23.54	(15.03 – 36.35)	83.50	(64.97 – 209.31)	2.33 (0.18)	10.72	3
<i>B.thuringiensis</i> subsp. <i>aizawai</i> (Xentari [®])	369.03	(273.24 - 508.90)	1939.01	(1414.70 - 3449.30)	1.78 (0.12)	12.29	5
<i>B.thuringiensis</i> subsp. <i>kurstaki</i> (Crymax [®])	544.23	(347.61 - 930.74)	4929.33	(3473.70 - 14951.46)	1.34 (0.10)	18.56	5
<i>B.thuringiensis</i> subsp. <i>kurstaki</i> (Bt strain E-911)	2183.41	(1875.06 - 2609.00)	8927.26	(6597.83 - 13548.68)	2.10 (0.19)	1.61	3

 TABLE 8

 Toxicity of different chemical and bio-pesticides to Spodoptera litura larvae

TABLE 9 Effectiveness of window strategy against P. xylostella and Pi. rapae on cabbage (January – April 2013)

Treatment	No. of insect	Yield	
	DBM	ICW	(t/na)
Window strategy	1.93 ab	0.23 b	38.90 a (6.21)
Farmer's method	3.57 a	0.38 b	30.49 ab (5.56)
Check	1.31 b	2.46 a	20.89 b (4.57)
F value	6.78	61.74	6.09
P value	0.03	< 0.0001	0.04

Means followed by the same letter(s) in a column are not significantly different (p<0.05) by Tukey's HSD

Figures in parentheses are square-root transformed values

TABLE 10

Effectiveness of window strategy against lepidopteran pests on cabbage (October – December 2013)

Treatment	M	Yield			
	DBM	CAW	ICW	СНС	(t/ha)
Window strategy	0.25 ab	0.02	0.12 b	0.00 b	37.52 a (6.16)
Window strategy + DBM pheromone	0.26 ab	0.06	0.09 b	0.00 b	36.87 a (6.10)
Window strategy + DBM pheromone + trap crop	0.26 ab	0.02	0.11 b	0.00 b	21.99 b (4.74)
Farmers' method	0.32 a	0.03	0.19 b	0.00 b	36.15 a (6.00)
Check	0.06 b	0.10	1.41 a	0.19 a	8.77 c (3.01)
F value	3.35	1.87	36.72	5.88	38.48
p value	0.04	0.18	< 0.0001	0.006	< 0.0001

Means followed by the same letter(s) in a column are not significantly different (p<0.05) by Tukey's HSD

Figures in parentheses are square-root transformed values

DISCUSSION

Indian mustard has been suggested as a trap crop for effective management of one or more lepidopteran insects including P. xylostella, C. pavonana, H. undalis and Trichoplusia ni on cabbage in India (Srinivasan and Krishna Moorthy 1992), South Africa (Charleston and Kfir 2000) and Hawaii (Luther et al. 1996). However, it was not attractive for the pest population in west Texas (Bender et al. 1999) and Guam (Muniappan et al. 2001). Rather, the P. xylostella population in Guam and continental United States was attracted to collards, Brassica oleracea acephala cv. Vates. Although Muniappan et al. (2001) speculated that the population of P. xylostella in the New World and the Pacific are different from those of South Asia and Africa, the differential responses could also be attributed to the genotypic and/or phenotypic variations that may exist within the Indian mustard germplasm in different geographical locations. Some of the Indian mustard accessions from AVRDC's Gene Bank were found to be highly attractive to major lepidopteran pests of brassicas. However, they failed to reduce the larval population on cabbage, when deployed as trap crops. In fact, Indian mustard accessions in this study were not highly attractive to P. xylostella and H. undalis, but attracted C. pavonana and Pi. rapae. This is consistent with the observation of Luther et al. (1996) who found that Indian mustard was attractive to H. undalis and T. ni, but not to P. xylostella. In addition, the trap crops failed to increase the yield or marketability of cabbage despite their attraction to H. undalis and T. ni. Bender et al. (1999) also confirmed that Indian mustard trap cropping was ineffective in managing cabbage pests. In addition, one of the important practical constraints in the adoption of Indian mustard as a trap crop is its multiple planting. According to Srinivasan and Krishna Moorthy (1992), the trap crop should be planted at least twice. However, cabbage growers may not find it convenient or economical to plant the trap crops two or three times during the cabbage season. Hence, Indian mustard as a trap crop may not be an economically viable IPM component technology.

Sex pheromone lures have also been reported to be an effective component in managing *P. xylostella* in brassicas. Suckling *et al.* (2002) found that improved pheromone lures were effective in monitoring *P. xylostella* and thus minimizing the use of chemical pesticides in New Zealand. Synthetic sex

pheromone and new attractant formulations were found to be highly effective in forecasting the occurrence of P. xylostella in cabbage and Chinese cabbage fields in Shanghai County, People's Republic of China (Dai et al. 2011). Besides P. xylostella population was reduced about 60 % by continuously using sex pheromone trap in a planting season in Yunnan, People's Republic of China (Chen et al. 2011). Despite the fact that P. xylostella pheromone lures in the current study were attractive to male moths, they failed to reduce the larval population on cabbage. Possibly, the lures may have attracted lesser moths. Interestingly, Evenden and Gries (2010) revealed that older lures were more attractive to male P. xylostella moths than fresh lures, and the pheromone release from aged lures was constant at very low release rates. They also found that even the most attractive commercially available sex pheromone lures attracted fewer P. xylostella males than calling virgin female moths. In the current study, we used freshly prepared lures. Hence, the age of the lures and the female moth population in field condition could have influenced the trap catches and the population build-up on cabbage plants. However, it is still possible that pheromone lures can be used as the monitoring tool for timely decision-making in brassica IPM programs.

The major lepidopterans were highly susceptible to spinosyn pesticides, emamectin benzoate, indoxacarb and chlorantraniliprole in this study. This result was consistent with earlier findings by Huang *et al.* (2011), Kannan *et al.* (2011) and Baker (2011) in different parts of the world. Among the biopesticides, they were susceptible to either *B. thuringiensis* subsp. *aizawai* or *B. thuringiensis* subsp. *kurstaki* or both. An earlier study by Srinivasan and Hsu (2008) has documented that *P. xylostella* was susceptible to both Cry1A and Cry1C toxins, whereas *C. pavonana* was susceptible only to Cry1A toxins and *H. undalis* was susceptible only to Cry1C toxins. Since *B. thuringiensis* subsp.

contain Cry1C as major toxin, it is not surprising that these pests are susceptible to either of the formulations in the current study. However, *S. litura* was also found to be susceptible to these formulations, although an earlier study found that *S. litura* was less susceptible to Cry1Ba2 and Cry1Ca4 toxins (Shelton *et al.* 2009).

The pesticide window strategy, which was developed using the most effective chemical and biopesticides showed significant effectiveness against the lepidopteran pests, especially C. pavonana and P. rapae during the first season. In the second season, the window strategy was combined with pheromone lures and/or trap crop. But neither the pheromone nor the trap crop offered any enhancement in the effectiveness of the window strategy. But the window strategy alone reduced the major lepidopteran pests significantly. In both seasons, window strategy was on par with the farmers' method, which predominantly relied on one or two chemical pesticides only throughout the season. Although the effectiveness was the same in both the treatments, the window strategy reduces the risk of resistance development, especially in P. xylostella. Carefully controlled greenhouse trials have demonstrated the value of the window strategy for P. xylostella (Zhao et al. 2010). It has already been proven that the inheritance of resistance mechanism was different for B. thuringiensis, chlorfenapyr and indoxacarb (Feng et al. 2011), which are the major control agents in this study. The pesticide window strategy has been proven effective for P. xylostella resistance management in different countries, including Australia (Baker 2011; Ridland and Endersby 2011), New Zealand (Walker et al. 2011), People's Republic of China (Feng et al. 2011) and Hawaii (Mau and Gusukuma-Minuto 2001). Thus, the two-window strategy is quite effective in curtailing the damage caused by major lepidopteran pests on cabbage in Taiwan.

An interesting observation in the window strategy experiment is the consistently lower *P. xylostella* population in untreated check plots. This might have been mainly due to the presence of *C. plutellae*, which kept the larval population in check. However, both the window strategy as well as farmers' method might have reduced the presence of *C. plutellae*, which slightly increased the *P. xylostella* population. However, the window strategy was found to have significant impact in reducing the population of *P. rapae* and *C. pavonana*, which reduced the marketable yield drastically in untreated check plots. Thus, the two-window strategy has an overall effect against key lepidopteran pests in lowland cabbage production systems.

In conclusion, Indian mustard was not an effective trap crop in managing the major lepidopteran

pests on lowland brassicas, although it remained attractive. The sex pheromone lures of *P. xylostella* attracted the male moths, but failed to reduce the larval population on cabbage. Hence, it needs further improvement as a mass-trapping tool, although it could currently be used as a monitoring tool in IPM programs. The lepidopteran pests were highly susceptible to recent chemical pesticides, especially spinosyn insecticides and *B. thuringiensis* formulations. The two-window strategy based on these chemical and biopesticides offers significant protection of brassicas in tropical lowlands, where the diversity of *P. xylostella* parasitoids was quite low and the secondary lepidopterans such as *C. pavonana* and *P. rapae* lack effective bio-control agents.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This study was supported by funds from the Bureau of Animal and Plant Inspection and Quarantine (*BAPHIQ*), Council of Agriculture, Republic of China (Taiwan, Republic of China).

REFERENCES

- AVRDC (Asian Vegetable Research and Development Center). 1987, 1985 Progress Report, Shanhua, Tainan, Taiwan: Asian Vegetable Research and Development Center, pp. 470.
- BADENES-PEREZ, F. R., SHELTON, A. M. AND NAULT, B. A., 2004, Evaluating trap crops for diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae). *J. Econ. Entomol.*, **97**: 1365-1372.
- BAKER, G. J., 2011, Crucifer vegetable insecticide resistance management strategies and issues in Australia. In: SRINIVASAN, R., SHELTON, A. M., AND COLLINS, H. L. (Eds.), Proceedings of the Sixth International Workshop on Management of the Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Insect Pests, AVRDC – The World Vegetable Center, Publication No. 11755. AVRDC – The World Vegetable Center, Taiwan. pp. 241-247.
- BENDER, D. A., MORRISON, W. P. AND FRISBIE, R. E., 1999, Intercropping cabbage and Indian mustard for potential control of Lepidopterous and other insects. *HortScience*. 34(2):275–279.
- CHARLESTON, D. S. AND KFIR, R., 2000, The possibility of using Indian mustard, *Brassica juncea*, as a trap crop for the diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella*, in South Africa. *Crop Prot.*, 19(7): 455-460.
- CHEN, A. D., ZHAO, X. Q., LI, X. Y. AND YIN, Y. Q., 2011, Occurrence and control of *Plutella xylostella*

(Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) in Yunnan, China. In: SRINIVASAN, R., SHELTON, A. M. AND COLLINS, H. L. (Eds.), Proceedings of the Sixth International Workshop on Management of the Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Insect Pests, AVRDC – The World Vegetable Center, Publication No. 11755. AVRDC – The World Vegetable Center, Taiwan. pp. 289-294.

- COUNCIL OF AGRICULTURE, 2014, Agricultural Production, Agricultural Statistics Year Book 2014.
- http://eng.coa.gov.tw/htmlarea_file/web_articles/coa/20617/ 2-1.pdf
- DAI, J. Q., HAN, S. C. AND DU, J. W., 2011, Studies on control technique of Plutella xylostella using attractant formulations in the fields. In: Abstracts from the Sixth International Workshop on Management of the Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Insect Pests, AVRDC Publication No. 11-746. AVRDC – The World Vegetable Center, Taiwan. pp. 39.
- EVENDEN, M. L. AND GRIES, R., 2010, Assessment of commercially available pheromone lures for monitoring diamondback moth (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) in canola. J. Econ. Entomol., 103(3): 654-661.
- FENG, X., LI, Z. Y., WU, Q. J., CHEN, A. D., WU, Y. D., HOU, Y. M., HE, Y. R., LI, J. H., XIE, S. H., ZHANG, J. M., WIE, F. AND MA, C. S., 2011, Rising to the challenge: a national project on sustainable control of DBM in China. In: SRINIVASAN, R., SHELTON, A. M. AND COLLINS, H. L. (Eds.), Proceedings of the Sixth International Workshop on Management of the Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Insect Pests, AVRDC – The World Vegetable Center, Publication No. 11755. AVRDC – The World Vegetable Center, Taiwan. pp. 15-18.
- HUANG, X. P., DRIPPS, J. E., QUIÑONES, S., MIN, Y. K. AND TSAI, T., 2011, Spinetoram, a new spinosyn insecticide for managing diamondback moth and other insect pests of crucifers. In SRINIVASAN, R., SHELTON, A. M. AND COLLINS, H. L. (Eds.), Proceedings of the Sixth International Workshop on Management of the Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Insect Pests, AVRDC – The World Vegetable Center, Publication No. 11755. AVRDC – The World Vegetable Center, Taiwan. pp. 222-227.
- KANNAN, M., VIJAYARAGHAVAN, C., JAYAPRAKASH, S. A. AND UTHAMSAMY, S., 2011, Studies on the biology and toxicity of newer insecticide molecules on cabbage head caterpillar, *Crocidolomia binotalis* (Zeller) (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae) in India. In: SRINIVASAN, R.,

SHELTON, A. M. AND COLLINS, H. L. (Eds.), Proceedings of the Sixth International Workshop on Management of the Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Insect Pests, AVRDC – The World Vegetable Center, Publication No. 11755. AVRDC – The World Vegetable Center, Taiwan. pp. 31-37.

- LUTHER, G.C., VALENZUELA, H. R. AND DEFRANK, J., 1996, Impact of Cruciferous trap crops on Lepidopteran pests of cabbage in Hawaii. *Environ. Entomol.*, **25**(1): 39-47.
- MAU, R. F. L. AND GUSUKUMA-MINUTO, L., 2001, Diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* (L.), resistance management in Hawaii. In: RIDLAND, P. M. AND ENDERSBY, N. M. (eds.). *Proceedings of the Fourth International Workshop on Management of the Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Insect Pests*, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia. pp. 307-311.
- MUNIAPPAN, R., CRUZ, J. AND BAMBA, J., 2001, Trap crops for diamondback moth and other crucifer pests in Guam. In: RIDLAND, P. M. AND ENDERSBY, N. M. (Eds.). Proceedings of the Fourth International Workshop on Management of the Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Insect Pests, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia. pp. 141-146.
- RIDLAND, P. M. AND ENDERSBY, N. M., 2011, Some Australian populations of diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella* (L.) show reduced susceptibility to fipronil. In: SRINIVASAN, R., SHELTON, A. M. AND COLLINS, H. L. (Eds.), *Proceedings of the Sixth International Workshop on Management of the Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Insect Pests, AVRDC The World Vegetable Center, Publication No. 11755.* AVRDC The World Vegetable Center, Taiwan. pp. 207-215.
- SHELTON, A. M., GUJAR, G. T., CHEN, M., RAUF, A., SRINIVASAN, R., KALIA, V., MITTAL, A., KUMARI, A., RAMESH, K., BORKAKATTI, R., ZHAO, J. Z., ENDERSBY, N., RUSSELL, D., WU, Y. D. AND ULITEWAAL, B., 2009, Assessing the susceptibility of cruciferous Lepidoptera to Cry1Ba2 and Cry1Ca4 for future transgenic cruciferous vegetables. J. Econ. Entomol., 102(6): 2217-2223.
- SRINIVASAN, K. AND KRISHNAMOORTHY, P. N., 1992, The development and adoption of integrated pest management for major pests of cabbage using Indian mustard as a trap crop. Diamondback moth and other crucifer pests, In TALEKAR, N. S. (Ed.). Proceedings of the Second International Workshop. Publication No. 92368, AVRDC – The World Vegetable Center, Taiwan, pp. 511-521.
- SRINIVASAN, R. AND HSU, Y. C., 2008, Susceptibility of major lepidopterans to ä-endotoxins and a formulation of *Bacillus thuringiensis (B.t.)* on vegetable brassicas in Taiwan. *Biocontrol Sci. Technol.*, **18**(9): 935–939.

- SUCKLING, D. M., GIBB, A. R., DALY, J. M., ROGERS, D. J. AND WALKER, G. P., 2002, Improving the pheromone lure for diamondback moth. *New Zealand Plant Prot.*, 55:182-187.
- TALEKAR, N. S. AND SHELTON, A. M., 1993, Biology, ecology and management of diamondback moth. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.*, **38**: 275-301.
- TALEKAR, N. S., 2004, Biological control of diamondback moth in Asia In: Improving Biocontrol of *Plutella xylostella*. In KIRK, A. A. AND BORDAT, D. (eds.), *Proceedings of the international symposium*, Montpellier, France. pp 103-115.
- WALKER, G. P., MACDONALD, F. H. AND WALLACE , A. R., 2011, Recent developments in the management of diamondback moth in New Zealand. In: SRINIVASAN, R., SHELTON, A. M. AND COLLINS, H. L. (Eds.), Proceedings of the Sixth International Workshop on Management of the Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Insect Pests, AVRDC – The World Vegetable Center, Publication No. 11755. AVRDC – The World Vegetable Center, Taiwan. pp. 234-240.
- ZHAO, J. Z., COLLINS, H. L. AND SHELTON, A. M., 2010, Testing insecticide resistance management strategies: mosaics vs rotations. *Pest Manag. Sci.*, **66**: 1101-1105.

Review and Status of FAO-assisted DBM Biological Control Programs in the Asia Region

J.W. KETELAAR, A.L.M. ABUBAKAR¹, A. UPANISAKORN² AND T.T.N. LE³

FAO IPM/Pesticide Risk Reduction Programme, FAO RAP, Bangkok, Thailand E-mail: Johannes.Ketelaar@fao.org

¹FAO IPM/Pesticide Risk Reduction Programme, FAO RAP, Bangkok, Thailand

E-mail: AlmaLinda.Abubakar@fao.org

²Biological Control Group, Department of Agricultural Extension, Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperatives, Bangkok, Thailand. E-mail: uareepan@yahoo.com

³Technical Division, Plant Protection Sub Department, Lam Dong, Vietnam. E-mail: thanhngadl@gmail.com

Abstract

FAO has supported member countries in the development and application of Integrated Pest Management (IPM) for key pests and diseases in brassica crops in Asia for the last two decades. Capacity building for biological control approaches for management of Diamondback Moth (DBM) and education of farmers in IPM Farmer Field Schools have played a central role in this assistance. Here we review assistance provided to date, assess current status, identify implementation challenges and propose recommendations for strengthening DBM management in selected FAO member countries in the Asia region.

Keywords: Plutella xylostella, Diadegma semiclausum, Farmer Field School, Integrated Pest Management, Southeast Asia

As the world population rises to a projected 9.2 billion in 2050, farmers must intensify crop production as to meet global food security. With declining yield growth rates, farmers face a series of unprecedented, intersecting challenges: increased competition for land, labor and water, rising fuel and fertilizer prices, and the impact of climate change. Induced by soaring commodity prices, national governments in the Asia region have promoted intensification of crop production in recent years. Incentives provided to farmers included subsidies for inputs, such as fertilizers and pesticides, which has induced widespread and indiscriminate use. Farmers have resorted to frequent calendar-based pesticide sprays and excessive amounts of chemical fertilizers in efforts to increase their yields.

Indiscriminate use of chemical inputs, both fertilizer and pesticides, puts agricultural production at risk. In particular, the overuse of pesticides is known to compromise vitally important ecosystem services provided by natural biological control, pollination and nutrient recycling systems. Indiscriminate use of insecticides can result in secondary pest outbreaks which jeopardizes national and regional food security. Intensive use of extremely hazardous chemicals by small-holder farmers continues to cause high incidence of farmer poisoning. Particularly, women and small children remain part of the most pesticide exposure risk-prone groups in rural communities. In addition, pesticide residues on harvested fresh produce regularly exceed Maximum Residue Levels (MRLs), a cause for domestic and international food safety concerns and jeopardizing export potential.

Given the future challenges to global food security, food safety and to the environment, sustainable intensification of agricultural production is emerging as a major priority for policy makers and international development partners. An ecosystem approach must underpin intensification of crop production and reduction of pesticide use. Adoption of Integrated Pest Management by smallholder farmers is deemed a vital component of such intensification efforts (FAO 2011).

The FAO Regional IPM Programme has been supporting governments through National IPM Programmes in the Asia region for over two decades as to address overuse and misuse of pesticides. National IPM Programmes implement farmer training in season-long Farmer Field Schools (FFS) to help farmers achieve more sustainable livelihoods through efficient, profitable, and ecologically-sound agricultural production using Integrated Pest Management. In tandem with such training efforts, FAO works with Governments to develop sustainable pest and pesticide management policies, to strengthen the regulatory framework to control the distribution and use of pesticides, and to enhance capacity for implementation of these policies and enforcement of pesticide legislation.

Integrated Pest Management (IPM) is an approach that uses a combination of techniques to suppress pests effectively, economically, and in an environmentally sound manner. IPM is a decisionmaking process involving the identification and monitoring of pest populations, and using the monitoring information to decide the timing of treatments that integrate a variety of control measures, and finally, evaluating the results. One of the most important elements of any robust IPM strategy is making optimal use of biological control (BC), which includes the use of natural enemies to regulate pest populations to a level where these will not cause yield losses.

Within this context, the FAO Regional IPM/ Pesticide Risk Reduction Programme supported the introductions of the parasitoid *Diadegma semiclausum* (Hellén) (Hymenoptera: Ichneumonidae) to control the Diamondback Moth in cabbage in Thailand (2005) and Vietnam (1996-1998). The Diamondback Moth (DBM), *Plutella xylostella* (L.) (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae), is a major constraint to crucifer vegetable production in the highlands of Petchabun, Thailand and Dalat, Vietnam. The introduction of the parasitoid was done in conjunction with IPM Farmer Field School (FFS) training.

An FFS is a discovery-based group learning process. Usually, a group of 25-30 farmers meet one morning weekly for an entire crop growing season and engage in experiential learning activities to gain an ecological perspective of managing ecosystems and skills in informed decision making based on locationspecific conditions. The learning process is facilitated by extension workers or trained farmers. Non-formal education methods are employed and the field is used as the primary resource for discovery-based learning. Hence, the FFS is often referred to as a "school without walls". The FFS aims to help small growers adopt IPM, grow healthy crops and produce more and safer food with less agro-chemicals. More specifically, the FFS on IPM in cabbage emphasized the reduction of chemical sprays and replacing these with effective and cost-efficient alternatives that would enhance the conservation and augmentation of natural enemies (i.e., the parasitoid D. semiclausum). In general, FFS develop groups of farmers to work together to address pesticide risk reduction in agriculture and deal with other broader rural community concerns (FAO 2013). The FFS is recognized as one of the best educational and capacity building tools for training farmers on acquiring complex and knowledge-intensive skills such as natural resource management (Swanson and Rajalathi 2010).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

In January-April 2015, the FAO Regional IPM/ Pesticide Risk Reduction Programme carried out an Assessment Study to review and assess current status of DBM control and pesticide use in key highland brassica farming systems in two Asian countries. The study, done in collaboration with the Governments through the Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperatives (Thailand) and Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development (Vietnam), aimed at formulating recommendations for strengthening IPM work relevant for farmers, government extension systems, regulatory systems and other stakeholders. The survey questionnaire included the key questions:

- What are key insect pests and what is current status of pesticide use in highland brassica farming systems?
- Have introduced parasitoids been established/ spread? How effective is natural biological control for population regulation of DBM and other key brassica pests?
- How effective have the FAO supported IPM interventions been in establishing IPM-based management systems? What, if anything, is needed to strengthen brassica IPM systems?

Two highland brassica farming systems were selected in Dalat, Vietnam and Petchabun, Thailand. A literature review was carried out in January 2015. Farmer surveys and field assessments, including rearing DBM larvae/pupae for assessment of parasitism rates, were conducted from February to March 2015. A total of 15 IPM FFS-trained and 15 non-IPM FFS-trained farmers were interviewed. Analysis of study findings, report writing and discussion of results with relevant stakeholders were carried out during the period March to April 2015.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

In Thailand, 533 parasitoid adults (57 % female) were released and 100 cocoons left in FFS fields in

one site in November 2005. Patches of crucifers were planted during off-season periods to provide yearround food for DBM, the host for the parasitoids. In this site, farmers participated in two rounds of consecutive IPM FFS. From January to October 2007, another 3,600 parasitoids were released in seven sites to cover 400 ha (area-wide) along with scaling-up of IPM FFS training. Surveys carried out until 2010 consistently confirmed the spread and establishment of the parasitoid over 800 ha with parasitism rates at 80% in fields where farmers practiced IPM (Upanisakorn *et al.* 2011). Further releases of *D. semiclausum* were done in 2011.

Results of the survey taken at the end of the dry season in March 2015 showed that farmers practicing conventional methods for DBM management continue to apply 6-12 pesticide sprays/season. On the other hand, farmers trained in IPM FFS apply bio-pesticide (Bacillus thuringiensis) 1-2 times/season and report about 50-80% DBM parasitism (Fig. 1), primarily from D. semiclausum. White butterfly (Pieris), flea beetles (Phyllotreta) and aphids are present but do not cause any serious concern. IPM FFS-trained farmers produce high yielding, profitable and safe cabbages certified through GAP/food safety programmes, marketed locally and internationally (e.g. exported to Dubai and Brunei) by private sector companies such as SWIFT and Good Thai Food. IPM farmers receive 40-50 THB/kg for their cabbages compared to 5-30THB that non-IPM farmers receive for their produce.

In Vietnam, although *D. semiclausum* was imported in 1996, it was not until 1998 when the first release of 2,500 parasitoids was carried out in four sites in Dalat, Lamdong province. Training of farmers in IPM FFS in cabbage commenced in Dalat in 1996 and continued until 2002, whereas parasitoid releases were carried out from the period 1998 to 2001. Surveys carried out from 1998 to 2001 in the release sites showed fluctuating parasitism levels, the highest at 57 %. Surveys were also carried out in non-release sites from 1998 to 2006 and whereas the parasitism levels were fluctuating, these were consistently higher at 60 % in non-release sites. The timing of the surveys (i.e., late season) influenced the results of the survey.

Results of the survey taken at the end of the Winter season in March 2015 (Figure 2) showed that farmers practicing conventional methods for DBM management continue to apply 6 pesticide sprays/

season (3-4 for DBM) and the rest for other target pests such as cut (*Agrotis*) and army (*Spodoptera*) worms, as well as flea beetles (*Phyllotreta*). On the other hand, farmers trained in IPM FFS apply biopesticide (*Bacillus thuringiensis*) 1-2 times/season and report about 60-75 % DBM parasitism, primarily from *D. semiclausum*. IPM FFS-trained farmers produce high yielding, profitable and safe cabbages in compliance with VietGAP standards for domestic markets. However, IPM farmers do not receive any premium for their produce. Farmer training through IPM FFS has continued, funded by local governments.



Percentage of parasitism by Diadegma semiclausum, Petchabun Highlands, Thailand



FIGURE 2 Survey on Diadegma semiclausum on cabbage, Dalat, Vietnam

CONCLUSION

Ten years after the introduction of *D.* semiclausum in Petchabun, Thailand (2005) and 17 years in Dalat, Vietnam (1998), the parasitoid is well established and has spread widely. Parasitism levels are established at 50-80 %. In tandem with other parasitoids such as *Cotesia* (providing parasitism at 2-3 % early season and 30-50 % in late season) and *Diadromus*, *D. semiclausum* is providing effective DBM biological control. The results are largely due to the combination of ecosystem-literacy education provided for smallholder farmers that enhances appreciation of biological control essential for the
conservation and sustainable management of the introduced parasitoids. Discovery-learning methods employed in Farmers Field Schools facilitate the development of farmer knowledge and skills for effective and sustainable IPM implementation. Local government buy-in to farmer education and policies in support of ecologically sound production practices contribute to successful and sustainable IPM for DBM. However, there is a need to continue support to strengthen biological control and IPM-FFS training and in particular continue to focus attention to IPMbased prevention and management for other brassica pests (and diseases). Policy support in terms of phasing out the registration and use of broad spectrum pesticides is needed to strengthen sustainable IPM for DBM. There is a need to provide advice to farmers for more effective and less toxic alternatives, where/ when chemical pesticide use is still needed. This is important for the conservation and sustainable management of the introduced parasitoids. Access to markets that promote sustainable crop production and provide premiums to farmers facilitate the application and sustainability of ecologically sound practices, including biological control.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The authors are grateful to the organizers of the Seventh DBM Workshop for the invitation to share their experiences in educating farmers in biological control. We also wish to thank the farmers, IPM Facilitators, National IPM Programmes and counterparts from the DOAE, Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperatives, Thailand and PPD, Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development, Vietnam for their support to IPM activities and for taking part in the survey for this study.

REFERENCES

- FAO. 2011, Save and Grow: A policymaker's guide to the sustainable intensification of smallholder crop production. Rome.
- http://www.fao.org/3/a-i2215e.pdf
- FAO, 2013, Empowering Farmers to Reduce Pesticide Risks. Bangkok. Source.
- http://v1.vegetableipmasia.org/docs/Empowering% 20Farmers%20To%20Reduce%20Pesticide% 20Risks%2028Oct.pdf
- SWANSON AND RAJALAHTI, 2010, Strengthening agricultural extension and advisory systems: Procedures for assessing, transforming, and evaluating extension systems. Agriculture and Rural Development Discussion Paper 45, Washington, DC, The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development and World Bank.
- UPANISAKORN, A., SAMMAWAN, S., KETELAAR, J. W. AND LIM G. S., 2011, Introduction and establishment of *Diadegma semiclausum* in conjunction with farmer field school for diamondback moth in intensivelysprayed crucifer production in north-eastern Thailand. In: SRINIVASAN, R., SHELTON, A. M. AND COLLINS, H. L., (eds). 2011. Proceedings of the Sixth International Workshop on Management of the Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Insect Pests, 2125 March 2011, Kasetsart University, Nakhon Pathom, Thailand. AVRDC – The World Vegetable Center, Taiwan. pp. 260-265.

Towards Developing an Integrated Pest Management Strategy for Striped Flea Beetle on Radish

R. SRINIVASAN, Y.-C. HSU¹, M.-Y. LIN², F.-C. SU³ AND C.-C. HUANG⁴

Entomology Unit, AVRDC – World Vegetable Center, Shanhua, Tainan 74151, Taiwan, Republic of China E-mail: srini.ramasamy@worldveg.org; ¹E-mail: yun-che.hsu@worldveg.org; ²E-mail: mei-ying.lin@worldveg.org ³E-mail: fu-cheng.su@worldveg.org; ⁴E-mail: amy.huang@worldveg.org

ABSTRACT

Radish is an important crop in Taiwan. Striped flea beetle, Phyllotreta striolata is a major pest of vegetable brassicas including radish. Resistant or tolerant varieties form the core of an integrated pest management (IPM) strategy. Hence, we screened 35 radish accessions from AVRDC's Genetic Resources and Seed Unit for their resistance to P. striolata infestation. Only one accession (VI039717) had a lower number of, and amount of damage by, P. striolata. The susceptible accession (VI045960) had almost twice the amount of glucosinolates compared with the moderately resistant accession (VI039717). In earlier studies, Chinese cabbage, pak-choi and winter rape were identified as the most attractive crops for *P. striolata*. However, the effect was not sufficiently strong for them to be used as trap crops. Subsequent studies evaluated their use in combination with non-host repellent crops in a 'push (repellent crop) – pull (trap crop)' strategy. Two field experiments were conducted with radish as a main crop, and tomato and winter rape as repellent and trap crops, respectively. However, the results have shown that the push-pull strategy did not reduce the P. striolata damage on radish. The push-pull strategy was subsequently combined with allylisothiocyanate (AITC), a glucosinolate hydrolysis product used in traps, and validated against P. striolata on radish. The results confirmed that the push-pull strategy combined with AITC was also not effective against P. striolata. Therefore, we currently do not have any effective and appropriate pest management strategy against P. striolata, except host plant resistance. However, recent research has indicated the promise of male borne aggregation pheromone either alone or in combination with host plant volatiles. In the future, this component technology may be combined with resistant or tolerant cultivars for the sustainable management of P. striolata on radish.

Keywords: Radish, Phyllotreta striolata, trap crops, push - pull strategy, AITC, aggregation pheromone

RADISH is an important crop in Taiwan, and is cultivated on an area of 2,650 ha with an annual production of over 101,000 t (Council of Agriculture, 2014). Striped flea beetle, *Phyllotreta striolata* (F.) (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) is one of the specialist insects feeding on brassica vegetables, including radish, and can cause severe crop damage even inside protective structures. Although *P. chotanica* Duvivier has recently been recorded for the first time in Taiwan (Lee *et al.* 2011) as a serious pest in organic farms, *P. striolata* still remains the key pest on vegetable brassicas in Taiwan.

Phyllotrata striolata often lacks parasitoids or other bio-control measures. For instance, natural parasitism of *P. striolata* is uncommon in Taiwan, although *Microctonus vittatae* Mues. (Hymenoptera: Braconidae) has been reported as the parasitoid of *P. striolata* in North America (Wylie 1982). The literature on the effectiveness of *Bacillus thuringiensis* against *P. striolata* is also very scanty. Wongnikong (2007) found that *B. thuringiensis* subsp. *tenebrionis* effectively controlled *P. sinuata* (a junior synonym of *P. striolata*) either alone or in combination with *Steinernema siamkayai* KB strain or chemical pesticides on Chinese radish in Thailand. Hence, radish growers predominantly rely on chemical insecticides to control this insect. However, *P. striolata* has developed resistance to insecticides in several countries including Taiwan (Feng *et al.* 2000), which prompts farmers to spray more insecticides to control the pest. Environmental degradation, human health impacts, resource loss and economic concerns due to pesticide misuse and/or overuse have triggered a growing interest in developing safer management techniques for this pest on radish.

Resistant or tolerant varieties form the core of an integrated pest management (IPM) strategy. However, there are no reported radish varieties with strong levels of resistance to *Phyllotreta* spp. flea beetles. Hence, it becomes imperative to identify if there is any resistant radish accessions available from the gene bank collection(s).

In earlier studies, we identified Chinese cabbage, pak-choi and winter rape as the most attractive crops for P. striolata. However, it is highly uncertain whether these attractive host plants can serve as an effective trap crop, since trap cropping has not been found effective in earlier studies. For instance, treatment of the trap crop, turnip rape (Brassica rapa L.) with insecticide had little effect on cabbage stem flea beetle, Psylliodes chrysocephala (L.) (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) on oilseed rape (Brassica napus L.) (Barari et al. 2005). Chinese cabbage as a trap crop failed to reduce the damage caused by flea beetles on white cabbage (Trdan et al. 2005). However, subsequent studies evaluated the use of trap crops in combination with non-host repellent crops in a 'push (repellent crop) – pull (trap crop)' strategy, which was proven effective against the pollen beetle (Meligethes aeneus) on oilseed rape (Cook et al. 2007). Hence, it is worth investigating the effects of a push-pull strategy against P. striolata on radish.

Phyllotreta cruciferae Goeze and *P. vittula* Redtenbacher males were reported to produce a major pheromone compound, which was attractive when combined with host plant volatiles such as 3-butenyl isothiocyanate or allylisothiocyanate (AITC) (Toth *et al.* 2005, 2007, 2012). A male-borne aggregation pheromone has shown enhanced attraction when combined with AITC under laboratory conditions (Beran *et al.* 2011). Hence, traps baited with aggregation pheromones and host plant volatiles may provide useful trapping of *P. striolata* in radish production systems. Thus, the current study was carried out to identify *P. striolata* resistant radish accessions, and investigate a push-pull strategy and aggregation pheromone based trapping strategy.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

(1) Screening of radish germplasm against P. striolata, and estimation of total glucosinolates in the least damaged accession

Radish germplasm (*Raphanus sativus*) used in this study was obtained from the Genetic Resources and Seed Unit, AVRDC – The World Vegetable Center, Taiwan. Eight commercially available varieties in Taiwan were also included. Preliminary screening was conducted in replicated trials. Four preliminary screening trials *viz.*, spring (March-April) 2009 (15 accessions), autumn (November-December) 2009 (13 accessions), spring (March-April) 2010 (12

accessions) and autumn (November-December) 2010 (56 accessions) in Shanhua, Taiwan were conducted. The trials were carried out in one field in each season. The trials were maintained following customary cultural practices, and without any pesticide application to control flea beetles. The trials were exposed to the natural infestation of flea beetles and the feeding damage was measured as shot-hole area per plant at weekly intervals starting from the first weeks after transplanting in the field for four or five weeks. Five plants of each accession were randomly selected for damage measurement. The mean P. striolata damage of the screened accessions was subjected to a statistical analysis based on mean (m)and standard deviation (sd) (AVRDC 1979), and categorized as follows: the accessions that had mean damage score (n) less than m-2sd were considered highly resistant; between m-1sd to m-2sd as resistant; between m to m-1sd as moderately resistant; between m to m+1sd as moderately susceptible; between m+1sd to m+2sd as susceptible; and more than m+2sd as highly susceptible.

The selected resistant radish accessions with the known susceptible check from preliminary screening trials were screened in an advanced screening trial during March - April 2011. This advanced trial was conducted using a randomized block design with three replications as a confirmatory screening. The crop management and screening method were similar to the preliminary screening trials. Three plants were randomly selected in each replication to record the flea beetles' population and feeding damage. Data obtained on flea beetle population were subjected to analysis of variance (ANOVA) with the Proc GLM procedure of SAS, version 9.1 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA). Least significant difference (LSD) test was used to separate the means at 5 % significance level of probability.

One of the least damaged accession was selected to be compared with a susceptible accession. These two accessions were compared for their total glucosinolate content in both leaves and roots. Total glucosinolate content was determined using microcolumn-enzyme procedure described in Kershaw and Johnstone (1990) with minor modification. Briefly, total glucosinolates in 0.3 g of fine powder were extracted two times with 5 mL of 50% methanol in water in a water bath at 80°C. The extracts were stored at -20°C until analyzed. Columns with pasteur pipettes (150 mm) and 4-cm bed of DEAE-SephadexTM A-25 (Amersham Biosciences, Sweden) were prepared. The column was equilibrated by passing the following solutions successively: 1 mL of dH2O, 1 mL of 0.5 M pyridine acetate (PA) buffer (pyridine:glacial acetic acid:water, 40:30:930), 1 mL dH2O, 1 mL 0.02 PA buffer. Plant extracts were applied to the columns after pH equilibration. The columns were washed twice with 1 mL dH₂O and 1 mL 0.02 M PA buffer. Myrosinase (thioglucosidase; E.C. 3:2:3:1, from Sinapsis alba, Sigma-Aldrich Chemie, Germany) solution was prepared by diluting 0.5 mL myrosinase (10 units/mL) to 9.5 mL 0.02 M PA buffer. An amount of 0.25 mL of the myrosinase solution was added into each column, while 0.02 M PA buffer was added onto the control columns. The columns were immediately plugged with rubber stoppers to create positive pressure to force the enzyme into, but not through, the columns. The columns were left for 16 h at room temperature of around 24 °C to allow enzyme reaction. After the enzyme reaction, 0.5 mL of dH₂O was passed through the columns and force-eluted using compressed air. A total of 1.25 mL of solution for each extract was collected. The glucose content of the aliquot was estimated using a glucose diagnostic kit (Diagnostic Chemicals Limited, USA). Absorbance was determined at 340 nm in a spectrophotometer (Hitachi U-2001, Japan). A calibration curve was made to calculate the amounts of total glucosinolate content.

(2) Evaluating a push-pull strategy against P. striolata

Winter rape, which was identified as one of the most preferred host plants of *P. striolata* from our earlier studies (unpublished) was used as the trap crop. A non-host crop (tomato) was used as the repellent crop. The trial conducted during spring 2009 included four treatments *viz.*, push-pull, push, pull and the check. Each treatment was replicated three times, and the design was a randomized complete block design (RCBD).

- (i) The push-pull plots had eight beds of radish, one bed of tomato after four beds of radish, and one bed of winter rape each before the first bed and after the eighth bed of radish.
- (ii) The push plots had eight beds of radish, one bed of tomato each before the first bed, after the fourth and eighth beds of radish.

- (iii) The pull plots had nine beds of radish, one bed of winter rape each before the first bed and after the eighth bed of radish.
- (iv) The check plots had eleven beds of radish only.

Ten radish plants were randomly selected in each replication, and the total number of *P. striolata* on each plant as well as the number of shot holes on two selected leaves in each plant were counted at weekly intervals for five weeks starting from two weeks after transplanting. The mean number of *P. striolata* and shot holes per plant were compared between the treatments using ANOVA.

A second trial conducted during autumn 2009 included five treatments, in which a second pull treatment using buckwheat was included besides the four treatments used in the spring. However, the number of shot holes in a 1-cm X 1-cm area were counted on two selected leaves, because of the large number of damage holes. The remaining details were similar to the spring trial.

The third field trial was conducted during spring 2011, and was exactly similar to the spring 2009 trial. However, a fifth treatment included a chemical pesticide targeting *P. striolata* control. In addition, the chemical pesticides (profenofos, cartap and abamectin) were also applied on the trap crop (winter rape) to prevent the movement of *P. striolata* to the main crop (radish). Because of the large number of beetles and feeding damage, we measured the shothole area using a leaf area meter, instead of counting the number of shot holes. The remaining details were similar to the spring 2009 trial.

(3) Evaluation of AITC and aggregation pheromone against P. striolata

During the trials in spring 2009, five different AITC-doses (0.2 ml, 0.4 ml, 0.8 ml, 1.6 ml and 3.2 ml) were compared to a check (without AITC) for attracting the *P. striolata*. The six treatments were applied in four replications in a RCBD. For each replication, two sticky traps baited with the AITC lures were erected. The number of *P. striolata* in each trap was collected and counted, and the AITC was filled to the original level every week. The experiment was continued till the harvest of radish. The data on trap counts, number of *P. striolata* on radish and mean number of shot holes per plant were analyzed by ANOVA to identify the effective doses of AITC.

A second field experiment was conducted during autumn 2009 with the chosen AITC-dose (0.4 ml/trap) to confirm its effectiveness in attracting striped flea beetle. AITC was mixed with an equal quantity (0.4 ml) of liquid paraffin and it was compared to the control treatment (0.8 ml liquid paraffin). Liquid paraffin was added to reduce the evaporation of AITC. The experiment was conducted using a RCBD with seven replications. For each plot, two sticky traps baited with the AITC lures were erected. The number of striped flea beetle in each trap was collected and counted, and the AITC was filled to the original level every week. The experiment was continued till the harvest of radish. The data on trap counts, number of *P. striolata* on radish and mean number of shot holes per plant were analyzed by ANOVA to confirm the effectiveness of AITC.

During the trials in autumn 2011, the aggregation pheromone was used to develop the lures and tested against *P. striolata* on radish. In addition, the lures were also developed by combining the AITC with the male-borne aggregation pheromone of *P. striolata*, and tested against *P. striolata* on radish under field conditions. There were six treatments: (i) AITC – 400 µl, (ii) aggregation pheromone – 250 µg, (iii) AITC – 200 µl + aggregation pheromone – 125 µg, (iv) AITC – 400 µl + aggregation pheromone – 250 µg, (v) chemical pesticides (profenofos and abamectin applied alternatively), and (vi) untreated check. The six treatments were applied in three replications following RCBD. The remaining details were similar to the above experiment.

(4) Evaluation of integrated management approaches against P. striolata

A field trial based on the integration of 'pushpull' strategy and AITC was conducted in spring 2010. There were eight treatments: (i) push-pull plots with tomato and winter rape, as repellent and trap crops, respectively, (ii) push plots with tomato, (iii) pull plots with radish, (iv) plots with AITC traps, (v) plots containing both tomato and AITC traps, (vi) plots containing both winter rape and AITC traps, (vii) chemical pesticide (profenophos), and (viii) check plots which had radish only. Each treatment was replicated three times, and the design was a RCBD. Fifteen plants were randomly selected in each replication, and the total number of *P. striolata* on each plant as well as the number of shot holes on two selected leaves in each plant were counted at weekly intervals for four weeks starting from two weeks after transplanting. The mean number of *P. striolata* and shot holes per plant were compared between the treatments using ANOVA. The yield was also recorded during harvest.

RESULTS

(1) Screening of radish germplasm against P. striolata

Of the 15 accessions screened during spring 2009, no accession was rated as highly resistant or resistant. However, eight accessions were selected as moderately resistant (data not shown). Similarly, no accession was rated as highly resistant or resistant out of 13 accessions screened during autumn 2009. Another eight accessions were selected as moderately resistant from this trial (data not shown). Of the 12 accessions screened during spring 2010, no accession was rated as highly resistant, resistant or moderately resistant. However, of the 56 accessions screened during autumn 2010, 33 accessions were rated as moderately resistant (data not shown). Thus 49 moderately resistant accessions were identified from four preliminary screening trials in 2009 and 2010. However, only 35 least damaged accessions from this list of 49 accessions were selected for further advanced screening trial. The results revealed that 22 accessions were confirmed to be moderately resistant based on the P. striolata damage (Table 1). However, based on the least feeding damage as well as lowest number of P. striolata adults per plant, only one accession (VI039717) was selected. Of the moderately susceptible accessions, VI045960 was selected as the susceptible check, because of the highest number of P. striolata adults per plant and more feeding damage on this accession.

Since glucosinolates are important feeding stimulants for *P. striolata*, the total glucosinolate content in VI039717 was compared with that of VI045960. VI045960 had significantly higher glucosinolates (113.17 µmole/100g) in its roots than VI039717 (61.98 µmole/100g) (t=22.24; p=0.002). Similarly, the glucosinolate content in the leaves of VI045960 was also significantly higher (104.93 µmole/100g) than VI039717 (48.40 µmole/100g) (t=56.54; p=0.0004).

R SRINIVASAN Y-C HSU et al.

Accession	Mean no. of	Mean hole	Resistance
	plant	(cm ²)/leaf	Tating
VI034560	19.30 (4.37) a-d	12.28	MS*
VI034594	12.00 (3.53) b-f	11.13	MS
VI038232	17.97 (4.26) b-d	9.48	MS
VI040000	14.22 (3.80) b-e	8.73	MR**
VI040031	14.36 (3.84) b-e	8.60	MR
VI040082	15.53(3.90)b-e	10.43	MS
VI039717	5.36 (2.30) f	5.28	MR
VI039718	9.03 (3.05) d-f	7.23	MR
VI039720	16.03 (4.03) b-e	8.01	MR
VI039722	9.36 (3.12) d-f	7.13	MR
VI041125	9.72 (3.15) d-f	6.57	MR
VI041164	16.00 (3.99) b-e	9.37	MS
VI041175	15.58 (3.96) b-e	9.84	MS
VI043327	11.53 (3.38) c-f	7.43	MR
VI043328	15.92 (3.95) b-e	7.72	MR
VI043330	16.45 (4.06) b-e	7.81	MR
VI045960	33.22 (5.68) a	12.75	MS
VI046024	14.75 (3.89) b-e	10.74	MS

TABLE 1 Resistance reaction of selected radish accessions to striped flea beetle (March – April 2015)

VI046025

VI046029

VI046031

17.84 (4.23) b-e

22.58 (4.73) a-c

9.12

8.87

7.56

MS

MS

MR

13.97 (3.66) b-f VI046226 9.11 (3.10) d-f 5.82 MR VI046227 11.33 (3.39) c-f 6.59 MR VI046610 12.00 (3.45) c-f 13.07 MS VI046616 18.08 (4.30) b-d 7.43 MR VI046728 15.81 (3.93) b-e 8.08 MR VI047201 12.36 (3.58) b-f 8.55 MR VI047221 14.72 (3.77) b-e 8.53 MR VI047243 9.86 (3.15) d-f 6.27 MR VI047367 11.89 (3.42) c-f 12.89 MS VI047694 8.31 (2.86) ef 7.63 MR VI048157 10.28 (3.19) d-f 7.72 MR VI050748 15.92 (4.04) b-e 9.12 MS VI050750 13.36 (3.64) b-f 7.92 MR VI050752 23.97 (4.89) ab 12.01 MS • † • • 7.42 13.17 (3.69) b-e MR F value 1.62 P value 0.04

(2) Evaluating a push-pull strategy against P. striolata

None of the treatments including the trap crop (winter rape) alone, repellent crop (tomato) alone and both trap crop and repellent crop together did not reduce the incidence and damage of P. striolata significantly during the spring season (Table 2).

Similarly, none of the treatments including the trap crop (winter rape), non-host repellent crops (tomato and buckwheat) failed to reduce the incidence and damage by P. striolata since there was no significant difference in mean number of P. striolata and shotholes among the treatments during the autumn season, as well (Table 3). Hence, the yield also did not vary significantly among the treatments.

	TABLE 2	
Evaluation of 'push-pull' str	rategy against striped flea beetle or	ı radish (May – June 2009)

Treatment	Mean no. of P. striolata/leaf	Mean no. of shot holes/leaf
Check (only radish)	1.73	8.05
Push (tomato with radish)	1.54	8.29
Pull (winter rape with radish)	1.51	7.60
Push-Pull (tomato & winter rape with radish)	1.44	7.60
F value	0.14	0.34
P value	0.94	0.80

TABLE 3

Evaluation of 'push-pull' strategy against striped flea beetle on radish (November – December 2009)

Treatment	Mean no. of P. striolata/leaf	Mean no. of shot holes/cm ²	Yield (t/ha)
Check (only radish)	1.15	1.63	8.81
Push (tomato with radish)	1.07	1.47	11.38
Push (buckwheat with radish)	0.62	1.42	7.63
Push-Pull (tomato & winter rape with radish)	1.27	1.35	10.49
Pull (winter rape with radish)	0.62	1.21	7.07
F value	1.53	0.41	1.29
P value	0.27	0.80	0.34

The third trial conducted during spring 2011 also confirmed the earlier results. Although chemical

pesticide was used on the trap crop to curtail the movement of *P. striolata* from winter rape to radish.

TABLE 4

Evaluation of 'push-pull' strategy against striped flea beetle on radish (March – May 2011)

Treatment	Mean no. of P. striolata/plant	Mean shot hole area (cm ²)/leaf	Yield (t/ha)
Check (only radish)	18.44	11.16	11.94 b
Profenofos	14.70	8.91	19.31 a
Pull (winter rape with radish)	18.50	10.93	10.82 b
Push (tomato with radish)	23.55	13.30	9.38 b
Push-Pull (tomato & winter rape with radish)	21.83	13.44	10.15 b
F value	0.94	1.08	20.22
P value	0.47	0.40	< 0.0001

Means followed by the same letter(s) in a column are not significantly different (p < 0.05) by Tukey's HSD

(3) Evaluation of AITC and aggregation pheromone against P. striolata

The total number of *P. striolata* trapped over six weeks was significantly higher in traps baited with AITC @ 0.4 ml and 3.2 ml per lure (Table 5). Other two doses of AITC also attracted higher number of beetles than untreated check (F=2.94; p=0.028). However, it did not reduce the incidence and damage by *P. striolata*, since there was no significant difference in mean number of beetles per plant and

shot holes among the treatments. The AITC treatment @ 0.4 ml with liquid paraffin also attracted significantly more striped flea beetle than untreated check (F=71.80; p=0.0001) (Table 6). However, this also did not result in a significantly lower beetle population on the plants (F=1.78; p=0.23). Unfortunately, the AITC treatment slightly increased the damage compared to the untreated check (F=6.74; p=0.04). Hence, AITC alone may not be effective in reducing the striped flea beetle damage.

INDEL J	Table	5
---------	-------	---

Evaluation of allyl isothiocyanate (AITC) against striped flea beetle on radish (February – April 2009)

Dose	Mean no. of P. striolata	Mean no. of P. striolata	Mean no. of shot holes	Yield
(ml/lure)	/ trap	/ plant	/leaf	(t/ha)
Check	252.00 (5.52) c	34.84	14.51	9.29
0.2	324.70 (5.57) bc	20.44	11.30	6.53
0.4	548.20 (6.18) a	24.29	14.49	7.34
0.8	480.70 (6.15) ab	28.85	13.39	7.73
1.6	400.00 (5.98) abc	23.67	12.07	4.99
3.2	541.30 (6.24) a	31.68	13.84	1.28
F value	2.94	1.18	1.02	1.12
P value	0.028	0.33	0.41	0.40

Means followed by the same letter(s) in a column are not significantly different (p<0.05) by Tukey's HSD Figures in parentheses are log-transformed values

	e (IIII e) against stripea j		100000000000000000000000000000000000000
Treatment	Mean no. of <i>P. striolata</i> / trap	Mean no. of <i>P. striolata</i> / plant	Mean no. of shot holes / leaf
0.4 ml AITC + 0.4 ml liquid paraffin	125.33 (4.82) a	2.18	2.78 a
0.8 ml liquid paraffin	19.42 (2.93) b	1.83	2.20 b
F value	71.80	1.78	6.74
P value	0.0001	0.23	0.04

Table 6

Evaluation of allyl isothiocyanate (AITC) against striped flea beetle on radish (October – November 2009)

Means followed by the same letter(s) in a column are not significantly different (p < 0.05) by Tukey's HSD Figures in parentheses are log-transformed values

The aggregation pheromone alone was unable to attract significantly higher number of beetles when it was tested in the trial in 2011. The number of beetles attracted in traps baited with aggregation pheromone was on par with traps without any lures (Table 7). Similarly, the aggregation pheromone did not have any synergistic or additive effects, since the number of beetles attracted in traps baited with AITC alone or AITC combined with aggregation pheromone (either half-dose or full dose) remained non-significant (F=7.25; p=0.002). However, as in the above experiments, higher attraction of beetles did not reduce the incidence and damage of *P. striolata*, since there was no significant difference in mean number of beetles on the leaves (F=1.42; p=0.28) and shot holes (F=0.96; p=0.48) among the treatments.

TABLE	7
-------	---

Evaluation of allyl isothiocyanate (AITC) and aggregation pheromone against striped flea beetle on radish (November – December 2011)

Treatment	Mean no. of <i>P. striolata /</i> trap	Mean no. of <i>P. striolata /</i> leaf	Mean no. of shot holes / cm ²
Check	5.00 (2.30) b	1.85 (1.52)	5.73 (2.49)
AITC (400 μl)	30.67 (5.55) a	1.31 (1.33)	6.06 (2.50)
Aggregation pheromone (250 µg)	6.67 (2.62) b	0.94 (1.18)	4.82 (2.27)
AITC (200 μ l) + Aggregation pheromone (125 μ g)	54.67 (6.90) a	1.52 (1.42)	4.80 (2.28)
AITC (400 μ l) + Aggregation pheromone (250 μ g)	59.33 (7.68) a	2.56 (1.73)	5.56 (2.46)
Profenofos	7.00 (2.72) b	1.13 (1.23)	4.08 (2.14)
F value	7.25	1.42	0.96
P value	0.002	0.28	0.48

Means followed by the same letter(s) in a column are not significantly different (p<0.05) by Tukey's HSD Figures in parentheses are square-root transformed values

(4) Evaluation of integrated management approaches against P. striolata

Two results have shown that the number of P. *striolata* beetles (F=0.78; p=0.61), its damage

(F=0.30; p=0.95) and yield (F=1.27; p=0.32) did not differ significantly among the treatments (Table 8). Thus the AITC alone or in combination with trap crops and/or repellent crops was unable to reduce the incidence of *P. striolata* on radish.

TABLE 8

Treatment	Mean no. of <i>P. striolata</i> /leaf	Mean shot hole area (cm ²)/leaf	Yield (t/ha)
Tomato and winter rape	4.06	9.67	2.22
Tomato as a repellent crop	3.79	8.74	2.09
Winter rape as a trap crop	3.76	11.61	2.11
AITC trap	4.75	8.68	1.41
Tomato and AITC trap	6.58	10.28	1.29
Winter rape and AITC trap	4.05	10.52	1.33
Profenofos	5.44	10.88	3.17
Control (only radish)	3.73	8.73	1.67
F value	0.78	0.30	1.27
P value	0.61	0.95	0.32

Evaluation of 'push-pull' strategy alone and in combination with allyl isothiocyanate (AITC) against striped flea beetle on radish (April – May 2010)

DISCUSSION

The screening results confirmed that there are no highly resistant radish accessions against P. striolata. Availability of resistant germplasm within Cruciferae to P. striolata is very limited. Sinapis alba cv. Ochre was reported to have high levels of resistance to P. cruciferae feeding (Bodnaryk and Lamb 1991), and antixenosis as well as tolerance were identified as the major mechanisms of resistance in this cultivar. In our study, glucosinolate content was associated with susceptibility of radish accession(s) to P. striolata, since it was found to be higher in the susceptible accession. However, further work is needed to determine whether it is a cause and effect relationship. Phyllotreta beetles are closely associated with glucosinolate-containing plants in the plant families including Brassicaceae, Resedaceae, Tropaeolaceae, and Capparaceae, on which they feed and complete their life cycle (Feeny et al. 1970; Nielsen 1988; Vig 2004). Since brassica crops with the highest as well as the lowest total glucosinolate content are equally preferred by P. striolata, Beran et al. (2008) assumed that the total glucosinolate content is not critical for their interaction. Gavloski et al. (2000) found that resistance to flea beetles within the Brassicaceae is a genetic trait and can be transferred by interspecific hybridization. Further work is needed to determine which specific glucosinolate is most closely related to resistance and whether radish accessions with lower glucosinolate content could be used in Phyllotreta resistance breeding programs. However, glucosinolates have been reported to lower the risk of certain types of cancers, and thus have potential health benefits. Hence, the nutritional importance of glucosinolates and their role in enhancing the susceptibility of crops to flea beetles should be thoroughly weighed.

Although several brassica crops such as Chinese cabbage, pak-choi and winter rape were found to be attractive to flea beetles, they failed to reduce the beetle damage on the main crops, when they were deployed as the trap crops. Trdan et al. (2005) also confirmed the inefficiency of Chinese cabbage as a trap crop in reducing flea beetle damage on white cabbage. Historically, trap crops showed variable efficiencies against various brassica pests in different locations. For instance, Indian mustard was proven to be an effective trap crop for diamondback moth in India (Srinivasan and Krishna Moorthy 1992) and South Africa (Charleston and Kfir 2000), however, it was not attractive for the population in the Pacific (Muniappan et al. 2001). Hence, we attempted a modified version of trap cropping in the current study. Recently, the deployment of repellent crop – trap crop in a 'push-pull' strategy has proven to be effective in managing devastating pests including corn stem borer (Cook et al. 2007). However, when we deployed tomato and buckwheat as 'push' crops and winter rape as a 'pull crop', it proved ineffective in curtailing the P. striolata infestation on radish.

Allylisothiocyanate (AITC), a mustard oil, is a breakdown product of glucosinolates, which is commonly present in brassicas. AITC is known to be attractive to various flea beetles including *P. striolata* (Pivnick *et al.* 1992; Tóth *et al.* 2007). Although AITC was found to be attractive in the current study, it failed

to translate the trap catches into reduced feeding damage on radish and thus improving the yield. Hence, we attempted testing the aggregation pheromone, which was recently reported by Beran et al. (2011) in P. striolata. However, aggregation pheromone alone was found to be only slightly attractive to P. striolata. Similar results have already been reported for P. cruciferae. For instance, the synthetic compounds were not or only slightly attractive although six male specific sesquiterpenes were identified. Only, (+)-(6R,7S)-himachala-9,11diene was identified as attractive to P. cruciferae (Tóth et al. 2005). However, aggregation pheromone was found to significantly enhance the attractiveness of AITC (Soroka et al. 2005; Tóth et al. 2005). We found a similar synergistic attractiveness in the current study. However, AITC when combined with the 'push-pull' strategy failed to reduce the flea beetle damage. Thus, utilization of AITC in combination with aggregation pheromone could be considered in the management of P. striolata on radish, as one of the components in an IPM program.

In conclusion, we failed to identify a highly resistant radish accession or cultivar for managing P. striolata. However, partial resistance is a possibility and it has to be integrated with other management strategies. Although lower glucosinolates may be associated with plant resistance to P. striolata, it might also reduce the nutritional value of an accession or cultivar since glucosinolates reduce the risk of certain cancer types. Our tests on trap cropping and the 'pushpull' strategy were not effective in managing P. striolata on radish. However, additional research may identify stronger repellent crops; but these repellent crops should have commercial value, which would guarantee the adoption of this technology by the small-holder brassica growers. Traps based on host plant volatiles and aggregation pheromone show promise in managing P. striolata, although this needs further refinement and validation.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This study was supported by funds from the Bureau of Animal and Plant Inspection and Quarantine (*BAPHIQ*), Council of Agriculture, Republic of China (Taiwan).

References

AVRDC (Asian Vegetable Research and Development Center), 1979, *Progress report for 1978.* Shanhua, Taiwan, Republic of China.

- BARARI, H., COOK, S. M., CLARK, S. J. AND WILLIAMS, I. H., 2005, Effect of a turnip rape (*Brassica rapa*) trap crop on stem-mining pests and their parasitoids in winter oilseed rape (*Brassica napus*). *Biocontrol.* 50: 69-86.
- BERAN, F., SRINIVASAN, R., BÜTTNER, C., MEWIS, I. AND ULRICHS, C., 2008, Developing new techniques for managing *Phyllotreta striolata*: analysis of host plant preference and impact of glucosinolates. *Journal of plant disease protection.* **116**: 39-40.
- BERAN, F., MEWIS, I., SRINIVASAN, R., SVOBODA, J., VIAL, C., MOSIMANN, H., BOLAND, W., BÜTTNER, C., ULRICHS, C., HANSSON, B. S. AND REINECKE, A., 2011, Male *Phyllotreta striolata* (f.) Produce an aggregation pheromone: identification of male-specific compounds and interaction with host plant volatiles. J. Chem. Ecol., 37: 85–97.
- BODYNARYK, R. P. AND LAMB, R. J., 1991, Mechanisms of resistance to the flea beetle, *Phyllotreta cruciferae* (Goeze) in yellow mustard seedlings, *Sinapis alba. Canadian journal of plant science.*, **17**: 13-20.
- CHARLESTON. D, S. AND KFIR, R., 2000, The possibility of using Indian mustard, *Brassica juncea*, as a trap crop for the diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella*, in South Africa. *Crop Prot.*, **19**(7): 455-460.
- Соок, S. M., KHAN, Z. R. AND PICKETT, J. A., 2007, The use of push-pull strategies in integrated pest management. *Annu. Rev. Ent.*, **52**: 375-400.
- COUNCIL OF AGRICULTURE, 2014, Agricultural production, agricultural statistics year book 2014.
- Http://eng.coa.gov.tw/htmlarea_file/web_articles/coa/ 20617/2-1.pdf
- FEENY, P., PAAUWE, K. L. AND DEMONG, N. J., 1970, Flea beetles and mustard oils—host plant specificity of *Phyllotreta cruciferae* and *P. striolata* adults (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae). Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am. 63(3): 832–841.
- FENG, H. T., HUANG, Y. J. AND HSU, J. C., 2000, Insecticide susceptibility of cabbage flea beetle (*Phyllotreta striolata* (Fab.)) In Taiwan. *Plant Prot. Bull. Taipei.*, **42**: 123-146.
- GAVLOSKI, J. E., EKUERE, U., KEDDIE, A., DOSDALL, L., KOTT, L. AND GOOD, A. G., 2000, Identification and evaluation of flea beetle (*Phyllotreta cruciferae*) resistance within Brassicaceae. *Can. J. Plant Sci.*, **80**: 881–887.
- KERSHAW, S. J. AND JOHNSTONE, R. A. W., 1990, Modification of a mini-column method for rapid routine determination of total glucosinolate content of rapeseed by glucose release. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society*. 67: 821–826.

- LEE, C. F., CHANG, H. Y., WANG, C. L. AND CHEN, W. S., 2011, A review of *Phyllotreta chevrolat* in Taiwan (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae: Galerucinae: Alticini). *Zoological studies*, **50**(4): 525-533.
- MUNIAPPAN, R., CRUZ, J. AND BAMBA, J., 2001, Trap crops for diamondback moth and other crucifer pests in Guam. In: In: RIDLAND, P. M., ENDERSBY, N. M. (eds.). Proceedings of the Fourth International Workshop on Management of the Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Insect Pests, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia. pp. 141-146.
- NIELSEN, J. K., 1988, Crucifer-feeding chrysomelidae: mechanisms of host plant finding and acceptance. In: JOLIVET P.H., PETITPIERRE E. AND HSIAO T.H. (Eds.), *Biology of Chrysomelidae*. Kluwer, Dordrecht, the Netherlands, pp. 25–40.
- PIVNICK, K. A., LAMB, R. J. AND REED, D., 1992, Response of flea beetles, *Phyllotreta* spp., to mustard oils and nitriles in field trapping experiments. *J. Chem. Ecol.*, **18**: 863–873.
- SOROKA, J. J., BARTELT, R. J., ZILKOWSKI, B. W. AND COSSÉ, A. A., 2005, Responses of flea beetle *Phyllotreta cruciferae* to synthetic aggregation pheromone components and host plant volatiles in field trials. J. *Chem. Ecol.*, **31**: 1829–1843.
- SRINIVASAN, K. AND KRISHNAMOORTHY, P. N., 1992, The development and adoption of integrated pest management for major pests of cabbage using indian mustard as a trap crop. In TALEKAR, N. S. (ed.). Diamondback moth and other crucifer pests, proceedings of the second international workshop. Publication no. 92368, AVRDC – The World Vegetable Center, Taiwan, pp. 511-521.
- Tóth, M., CSONKA, È., BAKCSA, F., BENEDEK, P., SZARUKÁN, I., GOMBOC, S., TOSHOVA, T., SUBCHEV, M. AND UJVÁRY, I., 2007, Species spectrum of flea beetles (*Phyllotreta* spp., Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) attracted to allyl

isothiocyanate-baited traps. Z. Naturforsch. C., 62: 772–778.

- TÓTH, M., CSONKA, E., BARTELT, R. J., COSSÉ, A. A., ZILKOWSKI, B. W., MUTO, S. E. AND MORI, K., 2005, Pheromonal activity of compounds identified from male *Phyllotreta cruciferae*: field tests of racemic mixtures, pure enantiomers, and combinations with allyl isothiocyanate. J. Chem. Ecol., 31: 2705–2720.
- TÓTH, M., CSONKA, E., BARTELT, R. J., COSSÉ, A. A. AND ZILKOWSKI, B. W., 2012, Similarities in pheromonal communication of flea beetles *Phyllotreta cruciferae* goeze and *P. vittula* Redtenbacher (Coleoptera; Chrysomelidae). *J appl Entomol.* **136**(9): 688–697.
- TRDAN, S., VALIC, N., ZNIDARCIC, D., VIDRIH, M., BERGANT, K., ZLATIC, E. AND MILEVOJ, L., 2005, The role of chinese cabbage as a trap crop for flea beetles (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) in production of white cabbage. *Scientia horticulturae* **106**: 12–24.
- VIG, K., 2004, Biology of *Phyllotreta* (alticinae), with emphasis on hungarian and middle european species. In: new developments in the biology of Chrysomelidae. JOLIVET, P., SANTIAGO-BLAY, J. A. AND SCHMITT, M., (Eds.), spb academic, Amsterdam. pp 565–578.
- WONGNIKONG, W., 2007, Using Bacillus thuringiensis subsp. tenebrionis and entomopathogenic nematodes Steinernema siamkayai for controlling striped flea beetle (Phyllotreta sinuata stepheni) in chinese radish field. Master of science (Entomology) thesis, Department of Entomology, Kasetsart university, pp118.
- WYLIE, H. G., 1982, An effect of parasitism by *Microctonus* vittatae (Hymenoptera: Braconidae) on emergence of *Phyllotreta cruciferae* and *Phyllotreta striolata* (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) from overwintering sites. Can. Ent., **114**: 727-732.

Plantwise- a Center for Agriculture and Bioscience International (CABI)–led Extension Program for Farmers

A. SIVAPRAGASAM AND W. H. LOKE¹

CABI Southeast Asia Regional Center, Building A19, MARDI, Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia E-mail: a.siva@cabi.org; ¹E-mail: w.loke@cabi.org

Abstract

This paper described the broad aspects of the Center for Agriculture and Bioscience International (CABI)led *Plantwise* program which supports and complements national plant health system including extension programs in developing countries. Essentially, *Plantwise* provided smallholder farmers with better access to advice and information - and thus losing less of what they grow due to plant health problems. The three key components of *Plantwise* were briefly discussed, *viz.*, plant clinics run by trained plant doctors and supported by a range of stakeholders including agro-dealers, the Knowledge Bank and Monitoring and Evaluation. Some aspects of these components were illustrated using brassicas and the concomitant pests and diseases. Aspects examined included the types of brassica crops that the farmers bring to the plant clinics, the key problems diagnosed by plant doctors and their management recommendations. The paper also included examples of farmer-friendly extension materials such as pest and disease factsheets and the pest management decision guide. The opportunities and challenges to implementing *Plantwise* in target countries are also addressed.

Keywords: Plantwise, brassica farmers, plant clinics, pests, diseases

MANY plant health problems threaten crop production. These include pests which are estimated to destroy 30-40 % of smallholder farmers' produce. Helping farmers to reduce losses can therefore make significant improvements in their livelihoods and family food security. In this context, effective management of plant health problems is crucial towards the many depending on it for their livelihoods.

Shelton (2017) in his keynote address presented in this Conference titled: The Talekar Challenge: What Have We Learned and Where Are We Going with Practical DBM Research and Extension since 1985?, highlighted the continuing challenges for the management of the diamondback moth (DBM), the key pest of brassicas worldwide causing billions of dollars in losses. Amongst these challenges were "creating practical outreach programs that enable farmers to manage DBM in a more sustainable manner" and the bridging of the 'disconnect between the Science and Service to Farmers". Friis-Hansen and Egelyng (2007) (as quoted by Danielsen et al. 2011) made a comparative study of five major funds created to support local innovations, and revealed that there is a tendency for projects to focus on technologies, farmer learning, experimentation and farmers' motives, with less emphasis on innovations in delivery of services and information to farmers. This happened despite the historic failures with

establishing advisory services. Danielsen *et al.* (2011) also suggested that the emphasis on projects has limited institutional innovations needed to create systemic changes in service delivery and integration of effort across the plant health spectrum *e.g.*, research, extension, input supply and regulatory services, which remain largely disconnected in many countries.

Issues in the current extension systems

Amongst the key issues that pervade many extension systems in countries include: (i) Weak horizontal and vertical integration of stakeholders across the plant health spectrum viz., policy makers, research, extension, input supply and regulatory services. Essentially, many of the stakeholders remain largely disconnected, (ii) Lack of resources and access to provide basic services especially for marginal or peripheral rural communities, (iii) Poor accessibility of advisory services which is generally based on a 'as and when' basis. Currently, government-based extension services provide advisory services to farmers who bring their problems to them. However, not all farmers, especially those in the deep rural landscape, are able to access such services, and (iv) Inadequate or incomplete record keeping for future referencing and data mining for strategic and tactical interventions.

CABI-LED PLANTWISE PROGRAM

Plantwise (PW) is a global alliance, led by the Centre for Agriculture and Biosciences International (CABI), working together with various partners to improve food security and the lives of the rural poor by providing them knowledge they need to feed more and lose less to pests. The program helps countries to develop sustainable national plant health systems where community-based plant clinics provide practical advice to smallholder farmers when they need it. Thus, the PW program is about building crop production resilience, enhancing equity of smallholders and it integrates, both horizontally and vertically, with various stakeholders involved with the wellbeing of farmers, providing equal opportunity in terms of gender, accessibility and quality of service through effective farmer-friendly communication channels. The plant clinics play a pivotal role in providing plant health advisory services to farmers as well as inserving as an entry point for the Plantwise approach and catalyzing new patterns of interaction between stakeholders (Figure 1). Plantwise, through the knowledge bank, also strengthens the availability and exchange of knowledge, data and information among plant health system stakeholders. Thus, the CABI-led PW program provides a strengthened extension approach, supported by the knowledge bank (KB) and diagnostics components. PW is functional through three key components, viz., (i) plant clinics (PCs) supported by a range of stakeholders including agro-dealers; (ii) a comprehensive Knowledge Bank (KB) (www.plantwise.org/Knowledge Bank) and (iii) Monitoring and Evaluation system in place to assess the quality of PCs implemented. The key entry point relies on the establishment and operation of plant clinic (Figure 2) networks which provide primary health care and are run by trained 'plant doctors' (PDs) supported by the global knowledge bank. Generally, PDs are local extension staff with agriculture and/or plant protection background. The KB is made up of an open-access area, which is freely-accessible online for anyone with an internet connection (and offline as a USB) wanting to access information about pest and disease identification and management and a closed

access area in the Plantwise Online Management System (POMS), where data from clinics is kept under secure access control for viewing only by the incountry stakeholders. POMS providesdata management support across *Plantwise*, including analytics. For more salient details of the PW program, refer to the following website: www.plantwise.org.

The early proponents of PW-based clinics (PCs) (Boa 2009; Bentley and Boa 2011) suggested that plant clinics are a catalyst, an entry point for improving and widening access to extension services. The overarching goal is to achieve sustainable productivity increases by making advisory services more effective, increasing outreach and providing timely, reliable and regular information. PCs are regular clinics (= visible extension) linked with diagnostics (= quality control) connected to in-country labs with international lab back-up with remote microscopy, consolidated support data (knowledge bank), which are country-specific. Although the plant clinics are usually run in a fixed location to meet the convenience of the farmers, there are also mobilebased services provided e.g., in Thailand and Vietnam due to poor accessibility of farmers to the fixed PCs.

Based on the summary statistics from the Plantwise Annual Report 2014 (www.plantwise.org), the *Plantwise* programme is operating in 33 countries by the end of 2014. Nearly 2 million households (estimate: 1.9 million) were reached through direct and indirect reach of plant clinics and complementary activities. Plantwise Partnership Agreements signed with partners in Asia, Africa and Latin America. Plantwise training courses on various topics (field diagnosis, giving advice, producing extension materials, data management, monitoring and evaluation) delivered to 4,400 personnel from partner organizations. A total of 661 plant clinics were newly established in 2014 (1,413 plant clinics in total). Successful trials of using digital tablets at plant clinics in Kenya and India for more efficient information exchange with and among plant doctors were conducted and over 75,000 plant clinic records from 20 countries were deposited in the POMS.



FIGURE 1

A plant health system is defined by the set of all national plant health stakeholders and their linkages. This diagram illustrates with orange arrows which stakeholder linkages Plantwise most effectively strengthens through plant clinics and other activities



FIGURE 2 Examples of plant clinics in action attended by plant doctors (in uniform) in Myanmar (top) and Thailand (bottom)

PLANTWISE AND BRASSICA PESTS & DISEASES

Here, we briefly describe how the *Plantwise* program assists farmers against brassica pests and diseases. It should be mentioned that the paper outlined only some aspects of the *Plantwise* program. There are many other areas of activities, such as plant health rallies which are conducted as a mass communication approach to inform farmers on specific problems or issues, elements of the M&E component such as PC monitoring for performance, cluster meetings held with PDs and relevant stakeholders to discuss issues, improvements of PC performance, *etc.*

Use of data records

To elicit information on brassica pests and diseases, we examined data entries from the POMS. Essentially, each country's PC data are entered into POMS after checking on the accuracy of the data entries for symptoms, diagnosis and recommendations. We obtained the following data: (i) List of Brassica crops that were brought to the PCs by farmers, (ii) Key pests and diseases, and (iii) List of recommendations given by PDs for managing the diamondback moth, a key pest of brassicas worldwide.

(i) Brassica crops brought to the PCs by farmers

Of the over 75,000 plant clinic records from 20 countries deposited in the POMS, more than 4000 records are of various species of Brassicas grown globally. The number of brassica records increased gradually from 45 (2011), to 672 (2012), 1269 (2013) and 1825 (2014). The crops recorded and examined in POMS included head cabbage (Brassica oleracea var. capitata), green or Indian mustard (B. juncea (L.) , broccoli (B.oleracea var. italica), cauliflower (B. oleracea var. botrytis), tronchuda cabbage or Portuguese kale (B. oleracea var. acephala), Chinese kale or kailan (B. oleracea var. alboglabra), kohlrabi (B. oleracea var. gongylodes), Brussels sprouts (B. oleracea var. gemmifera), canola (B. napus) and Chinese turnip (B. rapa var. rapa). For example, the distribution map for plant clinics in Cambodia and Vietnam with brassicas reports is shown in Figure 3.



FIGURE 3 Map showing distribution of plant clinics showing brassica reports in Cambodia and Vietnam

(ii) Key pests and disease problems

Table 1 provides a sample crucifer pest and disease records from various countries. The majority of the problems (>90%) addressed at the PCs by the PDs were biotic (*e.g.*, pests and diseases), whereas the rest were abiotic (*e.g.*, nutrient deficiency) problems. Amongst the key pests recorded by PDs were the diamondback moth (DBM), armyworm, aphids, cutworm, leaf-miners and the diseases included soft rot, black rot, and leaf spot. Globally, the DBM infested crops based on the number of records (in parentheses) were as follows: cabbage (128), Chinese kale (46), Chinese cabbage (11), rape (9), mustard (7), cauliflower (4) and kohlrabi (3). Figure 4 shows an example of a map on the distribution of plant clinics and DBM reports in Cambodia and Vietnam.

TABLE 1
Sample crucifer pest and disease records from
various countries

Damping off disease	Bangladesh
Diamondback Moth (DBM)	Cambodia
Cabbage head caterpillar	Cambodia
Cabbage looper	Cambodia
Cabbage webworm	Cambodia
Chinese kale - downy mildew	Cambodia
Chinese kale - striped flea beetle	Cambodia
Diamondback Moth	China
Downy Mildew of Chinese Cabbage	China
Rape Sclerotium	China
Soft Rot of Chinese Cabbage	China
Aphid in cabbage	Grenada
Cabbage aphid	India
Alternaria	Kenya
Aphids	Kenya
Armyworms on Brassica	Kenya
Bacterial leaf spot on Brassica	Kenya
Bacterial soft rot on Brassica	Kenya
Bagrada bug on Brassica	Kenya

(iii) Recommendations/Management options

At the PCs, the pest management recommendations for DBM were largely aligned towards the use of insecticides (54 %), followed by cultural (40 %) and biological control (5 %). Suggestions were also provided to monitor the problem. In addition to the recommendations given in a PC prescription form, where appropriate, farmers are also provided with farmer-friendly factsheets (FS) (examples on DBM and black rot of cabbage; Figures 6 and 7) and Pest Management Decision Guides (PMDGs) (example of DBM; Figure 8). The Plantwise PMDGs are based on the Green and Yellow Lists of Plant Protection Measures based on the IOBC IP tool box that enables and supports the implementation of Integrated Production (IP) into practice (Source:https://www.iobc-wprs.org/ip_ipm/ IOBC_IP_Tool_ Box.html#4). To further demonstrate the use of the Knowledge Bank, one

could also access some of the KB content. For example, search related to DBM has 43 records which include FS (indicate number of records) for farmers (12); PMDG (7); Technical FS (9); External FS (14) and video FS (1). The FSs are written in various languages (indicate number of records) which include English (27), Chinese (2), Spanish (2), Portuguese (1), Tamil (1) and Vietnamese (1). The KB also has news articles, pest alerts, images and global distribution map for DBM.



FIGURE 4

Map showing distribution of plant clinics showing diamondback moth reports in Cambodia and Vietnam

For identification of unknown pests or disease problems, the PW program also has a Directory of Diagnostic Services (DODS) both within and outside the country, to help the PDs for special or new problems. This is in addition to the referencing made using the KB as a source of diagnosis and identification. Where necessary, technical backstopping visits (Figure 5) and plant health rallies are conducted to monitor and create awareness of key problems diagnosed in the PCs.



FIGURE 5

Cabbage with a club root problem (left) and (right) CABI experts helping with the diagnosis and explaining to a farmer on the management of the problem

FACTSHEETS FOR FARMERS Orated in Tarcania, Sectember 2013



Field sanitation to reduce Diamondback moth

Recognize the problem

The diamondback moth, also called cabbage moth, is a pest of all types of cabbages including Chinese cabbage. In Swahili the pest is called Kipepeo wa kabichi'. The adult is a tiny, thin moth about 1 cm long. It is greyish brown and has a damond pattern on the back of its wings, hence the name. When shaking the plants, the moths fly from plant to plant. The young pale-green larvae feed from the underside of the leaves. The older larvae, up to 1 cm long, also feed on the growing buds of the plant. In severe attacks, leaves appear window-like. This reduces cabbage quality.

a provinsion least. (Photo to an gov. and dist. Ac.gov.au



Background

Diamondback moths can spread by flying from one field or nursery to another The moths lay yellowish eggs on cabbage leaves which hatch after 3 to 4 days. Lange feed on cabbage for 2 to 3 weeks. Pupation, where lange develop into pupae, takes place inside a sliken cocoon that sticks to the underside of a leaf The pest can live on all types of cabbage plants, any cabbage growth stage, and on cabbage residues. Therefore, field hygiene is needed.

Management

Farmers are advised to scout the field once or twice a week to discover the pest and damage. Scouting should start 2 weeks after transplanting, and is continued until cabbage head formation, To maintain field sanitation:

- · Flant seeding beds away from production fields
- · Remove all cabbage residues of the part season by burning or deep burying to break the diamondback moth life cycle
- · Deep ploughing crop residues after harvest helps
- · Remove all alternative host plants, such as any volunteer cabbage type of crops and weeds, mustard or radish from in or around the field
- Remove old or damaged leaves from cabbage, because they usually host many pest larvae and eggs

Field hygiene also helps to reduce cabbage diseases. Other cultural control options against diamondback moth are crop rotation with non-cabbage crops. early planting, or intercropping with tomato.

Scientific namels) > Mutello vykostelko



FIGURE 6

An illustration of a factsheet for farmers on field sanitation for the diamondback moth

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

Plantwise is a dynamic program that fits well within and strengthens the extension framework of various countries. As for vegetable brassicas, about 70% of which comes from Asia, the impact of pests and diseases on the livelihoods of the resource-striven Asian farmers cannot be overemphasized. Thus, a concerted focus on pests, such as the DBM, which is one of the world's significant agricultural pests costing farmers billions of dollars every year, the PW program could bring sustainable returns to investments based on its holistic approach. We already see some trends in certain aspects. For example, in PW countries, as result of the use of the PMDGs by PDs, we currently see evidence of a tactical shift of pest management recommendations to more 'greener' approaches (e.g., cultural and biological control measures) from the unilateral use of pesticides.

In terms of the over-riding policy implications, PW offers the message that systematic, cogent and responsible crop health advice and information is the key to sustainable agriculture and rural development. However, there are challenges that need to be addressed as PW evolves. Currently, many of the PW projects implemented in various countries are in the pilot phase, and as with any innovation, PW is still being refined and improved with the final objective of making the program a much broader holistic framework and an effective interface for total crop health i.e. any crop, any problem- beyond its current focus on pests and diseases. Danielsen et al. (2014) cautioned that for PCs, which are central to PW, to succeed, the fundamental issues of governance, resources and implementation structure need to be considered. They also underscored the importance of understanding not only the policy and institutional frameworks in which plant clinics operate, but also the effects of political imperatives and donors on policy implementation.



Figure 7

An Illustration of A Factsheet For Farmers on Black Rot of Cabbage



Figure 8

An illustration of a Pest Management Decision Guide (PMDG) for farmers e.g. the diamondback moth

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The authors are grateful for the financial support provided to him by CABI to participate in the VII International Workshop on Management of the Diamondback Moth and Other Crucifer Insect Pests held in Bangalore, India. He also acknowledges the organizers of the Workshop viz., the University of Agricultural Sciences, Bengaluru in association with Cornell University, USA, and AVRDC-The World Vegetable Center, Taiwan for their invitation and kind hospitality. The comments by Dr. Claire Beverley, the Knowledge Bank Development Manager/Product Owner, Plantwise, Dr. Wade Jenner, Integrated Crop Management Advisor & Plantwise Program Support Manager, and the technical support provided by CABI colleagues of the Plantwise Knowledge Bank, viz., from the Technical Solutions Team that included Timothy Holmes, Abigail Rumsey and Tim Beale, are deeply appreciated.

REFERENCES

- Boa, E., 2009, How the global plant clinic began. *Outlooks in Pest Management*, **20**(3):112-116.
- BENTLEY, B. AND BOA, E., 2011, Today plant clinics, tomorrow plant health systems. In: *Proceedings of the Latin American Summit*, 8-12 November, 2011, Cochabamba, Bolivia (mimeo.).
- DANIELSEN, S., MATSIKO, F. B. AND KJAER, A. M., 2014, Implementing plant clinics in the maelstrom of policy reform in Uganda. In: *Food Security. The Science, Sociology and Economics of Food Production and Access to Food.* Published online with open access in Springerlink.com on 18 October 2014.
- DANIELSEN, S., JULIO, C., JULIO, L., LILLIAM, L., GREGARIO, V., PATRICIA, C., CONY, N., IVANIA, Z., FRANCISCO, P. AND ERIC, B., 2011, Innovations in plant health services in Nicaragua: from grassroots experiment to systems approach. J. Int. Dev. Online publication in Wiley Online Library.

(wileyonlinelibrary.com) doi:10.1002/jld.1786.



NAIK BHAVAN AN ADMINISTRATIVE FULCRUM OF UNIVERSITY